
HAMILTON UNIFIED SCHOOL DISTRICT 
REGULAR BOARD MEETING AGENDA 

Hamilton High School Library/Zoom/Facebook Live 
Wednesday, March 24, 2021 

 
5:30 p.m.  Public session for purposes of opening the meeting only via Zoom:  
5:30 p.m.  Closed session to discuss closed session items listed below via Zoom (For Board Only) 
6:00 p.m. Reconvene to open session no later than 6:30 p.m. via Facebook Live or Zoom (see below) 

 

Hamilton Unified School District Board Meetings are open to the public. We are still adhering to social distancing for 
public safety so in-person seating capacity in the Hamilton High School Library is limited to thirteen attendees.  
As authorized by the Governor’s Emergency Executive Orders issued on March 12 and 17, 2020, the Hamilton Unified 
School District Board of Education will continue to conduct Board of Education meetings by video conference until further 
notice. Please join the meeting by attending the livestream via Facebook Live on the District’s Facebook page or through 
the below Zoom link or dial by phone as listed below: 
 

Join Zoom Meeting 
https://us02web.zoom.us/j/89019205775?pwd=bjFURUIvZzlVTVFHOUNqNkJDMW5xQT09 
 
Meeting ID: 890 1920 5775 
Passcode: board 
 
Dial in: 
        +1 669 900 6833 
Meeting ID: 890 1920 5775 
Passcode: 136281 

 

1.0 OPENING BUSINESS: 
a. Call to order and roll call 

 
_______Hubert “Wendell” Lower, President  _______Rod Boone, Clerk   _______Gabriel Leal 
_______Genaro Reyes    _______Ray Odom 

 
2.0 IDENTIFY CLOSED SESSION ITEMS: 

 
3.0 PUBLIC COMMENT ON CLOSED SESSION ITEMS: Public comment will be heard on any closed session items. The board 

may limit comments to no more than three minutes per speaker and 15 minutes per item. 
 

4.0 ADJOURN TO CLOSED SESSION: To consider qualified matters. 
a. Government Code Section 54957 (b), Personnel Issue. To consider the employment, evaluation, reassignment, 

resignation, dismissal, or discipline of a classified and certificated employees. 
b. Public Employee Performance Evaluation. Government Code section 54957, subdivision (b)(1). Superintendent. 
c. Government Code Section 54957.6, Labor Negotiations. To confer with the District’s Labor Negotiator, 

Superintendent Jeremy Powell regarding HTA and CSEA negotiations. 
d. Government Code Section 54956.9, Subdivision (a), Existing litigation. Name of case: Crews v. Hamilton Unified 

School District, Glenn County Superior Court, Case No. 15CV01394. 
e. Conference with Real Property Negotiators. Property: Westermann property north of Hamilton High School, 

approximately located at 500 Sixth Street, Hamilton City, CA 95951 (APN: 032-230-015-000). Agency 
Negotiator: Jeremy Powell, Superintendent; Matt Juhl-Darlington, Attorney for District. Negotiating Parties: 
Westermann Family and Hamilton Unified School District. Under negotiation: Price and terms of payment. 

f. Conference with labor Negotiator Gov. Code sec. 54957.6, subd. (a). Agency designated representative: Dr. 
Jeremy Powell; Employee Organization: Hamilton Teachers Association. 

 
Report out action taken in closed session. 

 
5.0 PUBLIC SESSION/FLAG SALUTE:   

 

Page 1

https://www.google.com/url?q=https://us02web.zoom.us/j/89019205775?pwd%3DbjFURUIvZzlVTVFHOUNqNkJDMW5xQT09&sa=D&source=calendar&ust=1614616279306000&usg=AOvVaw059XbFrGJY5pbefjw6iRAY


6.0 ADOPT THE AGENDA: (M) 
 

7.0   COMMUNICATIONS/REPORTS: 
a. Board Member Comments/Reports. 
b. District Reports (written) 

i. Technology Report by Frank James & Derek Hawley (p. 4) 
ii. Nutrition Services Report by Sean Montgomery (p. 5) 

iii. Operations Report by Alan Joksch (p.6) 
c. Principal and Dean of Student Reports (written) 

i. Kathy Thomas, Hamilton Elementary School Principal (p. 7) 
ii. Maria Reyes, District Dean of Students (p. 8) 

iii. Cris Oseguera, Hamilton High School Principal (p. 9) 
iv. Sylvia Robles, Adult School (p. 10) 

d. Chief Business Official Report by Kristen Hamman (written) (p. 11) 
e. Superintendent Report by Jeremy Powell (written) (p. 12) 

 
8.0  PRESENTATIONS: 

a.  None 
 

9.0  CORRESPONDENCE: 
a. None 

 
10.0   INFORMATION ITEMS: 

a. HUSD Enrollment History for 5 years (p. 13) 
b. Bond Status (Fund 21) Update (p. 15)  
c. HHS Site Expansion Permitting Status Update – Mike Cannon (p. 18) 
d. Remember that your Form 700 must be filed on or prior to April 1st  

 
11.0   DISCUSSION ITEMS: 

a. LCAP/Strategic Planning (handout) 
b. COVID-19 Funding Update (p. 20) 
c. CSBA March 2021 Policies for 1st Reading and Review (p. 21) 

i. Board Policy 0420.42 – Charter School Renewal 
ii. Board Policy 3110 – Transfer of Funds 

iii. Board Policy 3230 – Federal Grant Funds 
iv. Administrative Regulation 3230 – Federal Grant Funds 
v. Administrative Regulation 3311.2 – Lease-Leaseback Contracts 

vi. Administrative Regulation 3311.3 – Design Build Contracts 
vii. Administrative Regulation 3320 – Claims and Actions Against the District 

viii. Board Policy 3452 – Student Activity Funds 
ix. Board Pollicy 3515.3 – District Police/Security Department 
x. Administrative Regulation 3515.3 – District Policy/Security Department 

xi. Board Policy 3600 – Consultants 
xii. Exhibit 4112.9/4212.9/4312.9 – Employee Notifications 

xiii. Administrative Regulation 4161.2/4261.2/4361.2 – Personal Leaves 
xiv. Administrative Regulation 4161.8/4261.8/4361.8 – Familty Care and Medical Leave 
xv. Board Policy 6142.8 – Comprehensive Health Education 

xvi. Administrative Regulation 6142.8 – Comprehensive Health Education 
xvii. Board Policy 7210 – Facilities Financing 

 
12.0   PUBLIC COMMENT: Public comment on any item of interest to the public that is within the Board’s jurisdiction will be 

heard (agenda and non-agenda items). The Board may limit comments to no more than three minutes per speaker and 
15 minutes per topic. Public comment will also be allowed on each specific action item prior to board action thereon. 

  

Page 2



 
13.0   ACTION ITEMS: 

a. Accept HUSD 2018-2019 and 2019-2020 Measure F Bond Building Fund Audit Reports (p. 154) 
b. Approve HUSD 2021-2022 Option A Calendar Chosen by HULC (p. 199) 

 
14.0   CONSENT AGENDA: Items in the consent agenda are considered routine and are acted upon by the Board in one 

motion.  There is no discussion of these items prior to the Board vote and unless a member of the Board, staff, or public 
request specific items be discussed and/or removed from the consent agenda. Each item on the consent agenda 
approved by the Board shall be deemed to have been considered in full and adopted as recommended. 

a. Minutes from Regular Board Meeting on February 24, 2021 (p. 201) 
b. Minutes from Special Board Meeting on March 10, 2021 (p. 207) 
c. Warrants and Expenditures (p. 209) 
d. Interdistrict Transfers (new only; elementary students reapply annually). 

i. Out 
1. Hamilton Elementary School 

a. None 
2. Hamilton High School 

a. None 
ii. In 

1. Hamilton Elementary School 
a. None 

2. Hamilton High School 
a. None 

 
e. Personnel Actions as Presented: 

i. New hires: 
Kenneth Mason Varsity Softball Coach 

 
HHS 

Luis Perez Temporary English teacher 
(intern) 
 

HES 

Luke Widener Long Term Substitute Teacher 
– Position ending June 2021 
 

HUSD 

Shannon Taylor Temporary Preschool Teacher 
(Classified) Position ending 
June 2021 
 

Preschool 

Salvador Hernandez Campos Adult Ed Computer Literacy 
Instructor 

Adult Ed 

 
 

ii. Resignations/Retirement: 
None 
 

 
 

15.0   ADJOURNMENT: 

Page 3



Technology Report 

Board Meeting on March 24, 2021 

Frank James, Director of Technology 

Derek Hawley, Information Systems Technician 

 
Completed and in Progress Tasks – March 2021 

1. Exchange Patch:  Frank was able to ensure that our on-prem exchange server is fully 

patched and we are not susceptible to the current Exchange Hack that has been going 

around. Furthermore, we don’t allow Outlook Web Access to our Exchange Server as 

that presents vulnerabilities. 

2. Staff Support: We have experienced a pretty stead supply of tickets and we have been 

able to stay on top of them and support staff in a timely manner. 

3. Crow’s Nest: It’s football season once and again! The Crow’s Nest was tested out in 

advance of our first game and appears to be in good working order. 

4. Email Licenses: We have been auditing our Office 365 license to ensure that all former 

employees not longer have licenses applied to them. Account are always disabled on 

their last day of employment and licenses are cleaned up in June. Due to the number of 

student teachers and temp employees we had to move this up in order to accommodate 

all the new accounts.  

5. E-waste and Old Equipment: We have been steadily moving old and outdated 

equipment to e-waste. Hopefully we can arrange a e-waste pick up as soon as summer 

arrives.  

 

Page 4



HUSD Food Service Report  

Board Meeting on March 24, 2021 

Sean Montgomery, Director of Nutrition and Student Welfare 

 

• As of March 16th, we have finished a year of operating during the Covid-19 Pandemic.   

o We have done exclusively curbside pick-up.    

o We’ve done a combination of delivering to students’ residences and curbside.   

o We’ve also delivered to the classrooms.   

Elementary School: 

• We now, after months of tinkering, serve the elementary students at their point of entry and exit.   

o The morning cohorts receive a breakfast as they enter the campus and a lunch as they leave 

for the day.   

o The afternoon cohort receives a lunch and a snack as they enter the campus in the afternoon.  

High School: 

• The High School has a portable breakfast station set up at 8:50 outside the cafeterias main entrance, 

clearly visible from the south parking lot.   

o We serve a choice of a hot breakfast entrée along with a variety of fresh fruit, juice, milk, 

water.   

o There is also a choice of cereal and a Danish.   

• For high school lunch at 11:16, we serve several hot items from the portable station as well as cold 

sandwiches.   

o For example, today we served pepperoni pizza, cheeseburgers, beef soft tacos, hot dogs.   

o We also served apple slices, bananas, peach cups and baby carrots.  

o For beverages we served orange juice, milk and cold water.  

• We are able to serve more of a daily variety at the high school because students are not required to 

stay on campus for lunch. As a result, we have a much smaller number of participants so we only have 

to make, for example, 20 hot dogs as opposed to over 300 at the elementary 

• This week we started serving a grab and go meal outside the main High School office for students who 

don’t normally make it to the south end of campus. 

State Pre-school: 

• We also deliver around 10 meals a day to the State Pre-school on the high school campus. 

Independent Study: 

• We presently deliver a breakfast and a lunch, daily to one student on Independent Study 

Meals Re-cap: 

• From March 1st - March 16th we have served 2,205 breakfasts and 3,577 lunches at school sites. 

• From March 1st - March 16th for the Boys and Girls Club we have served 891 suppers and 891 snacks. 

Page 5



HUSD Maintenance Report 

Board Meeting on March 24, 2021 

Alan Joksch, Director of Maintenance and Transportation 

 
Facilities 

• We have worked with the cleaning contractors (Wizard Cleaning) and adjusted their schedule to 

only clean at the Elementary on Thursdays and Fridays. 

• Sophie Montgomery is settling into her role as our newest part-time custodian. 

• All custodians are busy ensuring that each campus is safe and clean. 

  

Maintenance 

• The maintenance tractor had a complete brake system rebuilt at Valley Tractor in Chico. 

• With a rebuilt brake system our tractor can now begin mowing the football field. 

• A ruptured pipe fitting in the main line under the kindergarten was repaired on March 12th. 

• We fully prepped and painted the field for our first football game on Friday, March 12th. 

• We replaced fuses to the football field lights following a brief power disruption during the game. 

• We will be installing solar motion sensor lighting on top of the Crows Nest as a back up plan in 

case of future power issues with the lighting. 

• Boys’ soccer field has been painted and set up as practice has begun. 

• We are prepping the baseball field so they are ready for practice once football ends. 

 

 Transportation 

• This month we moved the Orland bus stop to the Grange parking lot. The new location allows 

for: 

o Safer bus and car parking  

o Students can now be socially distanced while waiting 

• All other bus routes continue without changes. 

• Track has been using the big vans to go to Cross Country meets. 

Page 6



HAMILTON ELEMENTARY SCHOOL 

Board Meeting on 3/15/2021 

Submitted by  

Kathryn Thomas, Principal 

Enrollment: 419 

                     

Attendance: February 

Grade Mode Percentage 

TK Synchronous/Asynchronous 82.91% 

K Synchronous/Asynchronous 91.14% 

1 Synchronous/Asynchronous 96.72% 

2 Synchronous/Asynchronous 93.21% 

3 Synchronous/Asynchronous 93.72% 

4 Synchronous/Asynchronous 95.44% 

5 Synchronous/Asynchronous 95.25% 

6 Synchronous/Asynchronous 94.72% 

7 Synchronous/Asynchronous 96.72% 

8 Synchronous/Asynchronous 97.35% 

 
Campus News:  

• In March/April, HES is celebrating the virtue of Honesty. Our last recognition will be the end of 
April.  

• Leadership and ASB students supported Read-Across-America with Dress Up day and winning 
classrooms received Lobo Bucks (next drawing will be the end of April for chance of gift card, 
drone, or Bluetooth earbuds).  

• Report Cards will be mailed 3/26/21 

• The School Site Council meets on 3/23/21 to look over schoolwide performance data and the 
SPSA 
 

Instructional News: 

• Teachers are fine-tuning their essential standards and alignment with assessment and report 
cards. 

• Friday interventions are continuing to be well attended 

• ELPAC testing (proficiency of our English Learners) is almost complete.  

• The testing schedule for Statewide testing is set for April 26th - May 21.  
 

 
Coming Up: 

• SST Meetings April 14th 

• El Dia del Nino (TBD) 
 

Page 7



Alternative Education Report 

Board Meeting on Wednesday, March 24, 2021 

Maria Reyes, Dean of Students 

 
 

 

• As we head into the fourth quarter, students are working diligent earning credits and attending 

school in am/pm schedule.   

• We will be preparing for CAASPP testing in the coming month.   

• 3rd quarter ends on 3/18/21.   

Enrollment: 

12TH grade = 9 (two of the nine are in Independent Study) 
 
11TH grade = 2    
 11 

    

Page 8



Page 9



Hamilton Adult Education 

Board Meeting Report-March 24, 2021 

Silvia Robles/Director 

 

Completed and in Progress Tasks – February, 2021 

1. Enrollment and students served to date for all 2020-2021 programs:  

• Citizenship ..................................................................14  

• Computer Basics ........................................................16 

• CPR/First Aid scheduled for March  ...........................10 

• ESL ..............................................................................31  

• Floral Design ...............................................................22 

• Forklift Training ..........................................................24 

• High School Diploma ..................................................26  

• Job Readiness scheduled for February and March ....8 

TOTAL:  ...................................................... 151 

 

2. Assist participants with the barriers and challenges of distance learning  

3. Connecting with adult students who chose to continue with distance learning via Zoom or phone.  

4. Meeting with HSD students to assist in the completion of credits. 

5. A presentation by California Human Development was provided via Zoom to our students. 

6. Enrollment-ongoing 

7. Recruitment-ongoing 

8. Adult Ed Teacher for Job Readiness Prep Course has been hired and class started March 15th. 

9. Forklift Training for March and April is full. 

10. Floral Design for March and April is full. 

Page 10



Hamilton Unified School District

General Fund - Unrestricted and Restricted

March 24, 2021 Board Report

2020-21 2020-21 2019-20 2019-20

Revised Budget Year To Date Revised Budget Year To Date

Second Interim As of 3/17/21 Second Interim As of 3/17/20

Revenues

LCFF Sources 7,714,760$    4,632,874$     7,833,272$    4,832,714$    

All Other Federal Revenue 1,162,188$    891,691$        332,568$        198,250$       

Other State Revenue 561,743$        274,532$        454,493$        154,461$       

Other Local Revenue 150,442$        163,181$        109,577$        65,868$         

Other Financing Sources -$                 -$                 -$                 -$                

Total Revenues 9,589,133$    5,962,278$     8,729,910$    5,251,293$    

Expenditures

Certificated Personnel Salaries 3,115,770$    2,069,146$     3,475,572$    2,225,402$    

Classified Personnel Salaries 1,046,639$    689,093$        1,268,602$    791,089$       

Employee Benefits 1,748,336$    1,204,905$     1,986,270$    1,259,002$    

Books and Supplies 745,160$        553,391$        475,163$        249,990$       

Travel and Conferences 79,145$          10,004$          132,133$        53,760$         

Dues and Memberships 15,920$          10,334$          12,000$          14,843$         

Other Insurance 93,766$          93,766$          100,695$        100,695$       

All Other Utilities 275,450$        178,762$        275,450$        206,559$       

Rents/Leases/Repairs 64,745$          32,301$          77,099$          47,677$         

Other Operating Expenditures 615,921$        416,610$        285,627$        216,159$       

Capital Outlay 410,340$        396,240$        420,978$        242,032$       

Other Outgo 998,074$        31,676$          861,565$        392,678$       

Total Expenditures 9,209,266$    5,686,228$     9,371,154$    5,799,886$    

Net Increase (Decrease) in Fund 379,867$        276,050$        (641,244)$      (548,593)$     

Beg. Fund Bal. (2019-20 Unaudited Actuals) 887,322$        

Projected End. Fund Bal. 1,267,189$    

Page 11



HUSD Superintendent Report  

Board Meeting on February 24, 2021 

Jeremy Powell, Ed. D. 

 
Target Goals created by District Cabinet: 

• Focus on Dual Immersion-Bilingual/Biliterate/Bicultural 

• All students at Standard and Achievement Gap Closed 

• Graduates who are College and Career Ready 
 

One year ago, this week, we closed our doors for what, unbeknownst to us, would be the last time for students on April 
16, 2020.  Since then, our District has worked diligently to ensure our students the best possible education, but more 
importantly, provide our students (and our community) with emotional support to ensure we all get through this time 
together.  Below are excerpts from my report to the Board on March 25, 2020.  It is remarkable to step back and see the 
strong steps we took in the early stages of the pandemic that would help support our students for the rest of the school 
year: 

This has been an unprecedented time in my career and I believe in the careers and lives of many people.  I would like to 
take this time to point out what our district has endured and achieved in the last two weeks: 

● Teachers:  On one day notice of closure, we were able to provide a reassuring tone for all of our students in the 
district.  Each teacher has reached out to their students individually to connect with them to ensure the students 
and their families’ needs are being met.  All teachers have changed the method in which they are teaching and 
are transitioning to what looks like a long period of distance learning. 

● Classified Staff: They have continued to be the backbone of support for our students, families, and community.  
Their tireless work in providing support to teachers and administrators has provided as seamless a transition as 
possible during this situation. 

● Maintenance Staff: Disinfecting of EVERY classroom and meeting room throughout the district including all door 
handles and jambs, all desk tops, chairs and counters, misting of all keyboards and mice, cleaned phones, light 
switches, staplers, pencil sharpeners, and any pull handles to cabinets, outside drinking fountains have been 
cleaned and bathrooms have been scrubbed out. 

● School Offices:  Have worked to provide necessary information to our families and communities, even as that 
information was changing minute by minute.  The school offices provided a sense of calm and re-assurance that 
ensured that our families and community knew they would be taken care of. 

● Nutrition Services: Have rapidly transitioned to serving a To-Go Breakfast and Lunch for our students.  In three 
days, they have served over 200 meals to our students with an increasing demand daily. 

● Technology Services:  Have led the discussion of what distance learning can look like for our students and how to 
best get the technology (when needed) into the hands of our students. 

● School Administrators: Have continuously communicated with their staff and students to help support this 
rapidly changing crisis. 

● District Office Staff: Have responded to this rapidly changing crisis with professionalism and positivity to ensure 
that we feel supported and are put at ease regarding employment and what is coming next.   

● School Board: You have acted swiftly to ensure the health and well-being of our students and community are 
protected. 

Upcoming District Events: 
● 3/26: HHS Open House (tentative) 
● 4/2-4/11: Spring Break 
● 4/21: HULC at 3:30 
● 4/28: Board Meeting 5:30 @ HHS Library 

Page 12



HUSD ENROLLMENT OVER SIX YEARS

2015-2021

304 HHS 264 HHS 269 HHS 286 HHS 265 HHS 292 HHS

9 EBHS 14 EBHS 12 EBHS 9 EBHS 13 EBHS 10 EBHS

K-5 K-5 279 K-5 292 K-5 272 K-5 273 K-5

6-8 6-8 133 6-8 125 6-8 153 6-8 145 6-8

728 ENROLLMENT 692 ENROLLMENT 693 ENROLLMENT 712 ENROLLMENT 703 ENROLLMENT 720 ENROLLMENT

712.26 ADA 669.29 ADA 672.21 ADA 687.87 ADA 668.36 ADA 681.77 ADA

Enrollment and ADA totals above are based on P2 Data Reporting except current year based on current reporting

6

2020-21

5

2020-21 ADA based on Month 6 report (12/28/2020-1/22/2021)

2019-202018-192017-182016-172015-16

1 2 3 4

414415

728

692 693

712

703

720

712.26

669.29
672.21

687.87

668.36

681.77

2015-16 2016-17 2017-18 2018-19 2019-20

D
is

tr
ic

t 
En

ro
llm

e
n

t 
&

 A
D

A

Enrollment  ADA

Enrollment & ADA by School Year

Page 13



HUSD ENROLLMENT OVER SIX YEARS

2015-2021

#STU GRADE #STU GRADE #STU GRADE #STU GRADE #STU GRADE

13 TK 13 TK 12.11 13 TK 12.08 13 TK 11.93 13 TK 11.91

42 K 42 K 41.11 43 K 41.30 41 K 35.59 41 K 39.40

41 1 40 1 40.53 40 1 40.16 40 1 38.14 40 1 38.05

47 2 45 2 43.11 43 2 42.95 43 2 41.11 44 2 41.08

40 3 40 3 37.84 40 3 38.14 40 3 37.34 40 3 37.44

42 4 42 4 40.11 42 4 40.51 42 4 39.70 42 4 39.79

50 5 49 5 48.05 48 5 47.81 48 5 46.21 49 5 46.21

41 6 41 6 39.21 41 6 39.78 39 6 39.21 40 6 38.95

60 7 59 7 59.68 60 7 59.54 60 7 59.61 61 7 59.59

44 8 44 8 43.05 44 8 43.32 43 8 42.23 43 8 42.91

74 9 76 9 73.68 77 9 74.35 78 9 75.15 78 9 75.56

65 10 66 10 62.63 67 10 63.62 68 10 64.46 68 10 64.97

80 11 79 11 76.85 77 11 77.41 77 11 75.94 77 11 76.04

74 12 74 12 70.57 74 12 72.13 73 12 70.94 73 12 70.51

713 TOTAL 710 TOTAL 688.53 709 TOTAL 693.1 705 TOTAL 677.56 709 TOTAL 682.41

#STU GRADE #STU GRADE #STU GRADE #STU GRADE #STU GRADE

13 TK 11.96 14 TK 11.79 TK TK TK

40 K 39.29 42 K 39.13 K K K

41 1 37.97 41 1 38.18 1 1 1

42 2 41.13 45 2 41.26 2 2 2

39 3 37.38 41 3 37.50 3 3 3

41 4 39.68 43 4 39.84 4 4 4

48 5 46.2 47 5 46.12 5 5 5

41 6 38.87 41 6 38.87 6 6 6

61 7 59.43 60 7 59.36 7 7 7

44 8 42.74 44 8 42.75 8 8 8

80 9 75.69 81 9 76.02 9 9 9

70 10 65.17 71 10 65.22 10 10 10

73 11 73.67 76 11 75.00 11 11 11

74 12 72.92 74 12 70.73 12 12 12

707 TOTAL 682.1 720 TOTAL 681.77 0 TOTAL 0 0 TOTAL 0 0 TOTAL 0

2020-21

ADA5/17-6/11/2021

2020-21 2020-21

12/28-1/22/2021 01/25-2/19/2021

2020-21

8/11-8/17/20

2020-21

8/05-8/30/20

ADA ADA

2020-21

ADA

2020-21

11/2-11/27ADA ADA

2020-21

ADA4/19-5/14/2021

2020-21

09/07-10/02
ADA

3/22-4/16/2021

2020-21

11/2-12/25ADA

Page 14



 Building Fund 21 (Bond) Expenditures for 2020-21

For March 24, 2021 HUSD Board Meeting

Total Expenditures through March 17, 2021

PO # Date Vendor Description Amount

PV 1 7/22/2020 Bank of New York Mellon Paying Agent Fee; RE: Election of 2018, GO Bonds, Series A 750.00$                 

423 9/23/2020 Dannis Woliver Kelley Legal fees related to land acquisition 490.50$                 

423 10/21/2020 Dannis Woliver Kelley Legal fees related to land acquisition 2,256.00$             

423 12/2/2020 Dannis Woliver Kelley Legal fees related to land acquisition 90.00$                   

423 12/9/2020 Dannis Woliver Kelley Legal fees related to land acquisition 12,913.50$           

423 2/3/2021 Dannis Woliver Kelley Legal fees related to land acquisition 3,598.50$             

423 2/24/2021 Dannis Woliver Kelley Legal fees related to land acquisition 10,069.50$           

PV 12 10/7/2020 Department of Toxic Substances Control - DTSC Property purchase testing 577.58$                 

21-150 8/19/2020 Educational Facilities Program Management LLC Program Management Services 3,360.00$             

21-150 9/16/2020 Educational Facilities Program Management LLC Program Management Services 4,480.00$             

21-150 10/14/2020 Educational Facilities Program Management LLC Program Management Services 3,920.00$             

21-150 11/10/2020 Educational Facilities Program Management LLC Program Management Services 4,200.00$             

21-150 12/9/2020 Educational Facilities Program Management LLC Program Management Services 2,520.00$             

21-150 1/13/2021 Educational Facilities Program Management LLC Program Management Services 1,120.00$             

21-150 2/10/2021 Educational Facilities Program Management LLC Program Management Services 1,120.00$             

PV 32 11/10/2020 Hamilton Unified Revolving Fund for Glenn County File a parcel map in Glenn County 1,136.00$             

19-515 11/10/2020 Placeworks Inc. CEQA Study/Expansion 2,097.38$             

19-515 11/10/2020 Placeworks Inc. CEQA Study/Expansion 2,186.63$             

21-152 8/19/2020 Robertson Erickson Inc Final survey and map package for county recorder 1,650.00$             

21-152 10/21/2020 Robertson Erickson Inc Final survey and map package for county recorder 740.00$                 

21-152 12/16/2020 Robertson Erickson Inc Final survey and map package for county recorder 540.00$                 

21-152 12/16/2020 Robertson Erickson Inc Final survey and map package for county recorder 1,105.00$             

21-152 2/3/2021 Robertson Erickson Inc Final survey and map package for county recorder 180.00$                 

21-152 2/24/2021 Robertson Erickson Inc Final survey and map package for county recorder 740.00$                 

448 9/2/2020 Sacramento Valley Mirror Legal ad for public hearing related to high school expansion 82.00$                   
Total expenditures through 3/17/2021 61,922.59$           

Page 15



 Building Fund 21 (Bond) Expenditures for 2019-20

For HUSD Board Meeting August 26, 2020

PO # Date Vendor Description Amount

423 9/27/2019 Dannis Woliver Kelley Legal Fees related to land acquisition - matter ending 518 802.00$                

423 10/30/2019 Dannis Woliver Kelley Legal Fees related to land acquisition - matter ending 518 1,126.00$             

423 11/13/2019 Dannis Woliver Kelley Legal Fees related to land acquisition - matter ending 518 165.00$                

423 12/11/2019 Dannis Woliver Kelley Legal Fees related to land acquisition - matter ending 518 2,969.00$             

423 1/8/2020 Dannis Woliver Kelley Legal Fees related to land acquisition - matter ending 518/1103 807.00$                

423 5/6/2020 Dannis Woliver Kelley Legal Fees related to land acquisition - matter ending 518 754.50$                

423 5/20/2020 Dannis Woliver Kelley Legal Fees related to land acquisition - matter ending 518 1,833.50$             

423 6/24/2020 Dannis Woliver Kelley Legal Fees related to land acquisition - matter ending 518 1,194.50$             

423 6/30/2020 Dannis Woliver Kelley Legal Fees related to land acquisition - matter ending 518 2,179.50$             

423 6/30/2020 Dannis Woliver Kelley Legal Fees related to land acquisition - matter ending 518 9,317.00$             

19397 9/27/2019 Holdrege & Kull (NV5) Prelim Assessment #032-230-015 1,057.63$             

19397 9/27/2019 Holdrege & Kull (NV5) Prelim Assessment #032-230-015 1,445.00$             

19397 10/16/2019 Holdrege & Kull (NV5) Prelim Assessment #032-230-015 2,960.00$             

19397 10/23/2019 Holdrege & Kull (NV5) Prelim Assessment #032-230-015 171.62$                

19397 12/11/2019 Holdrege & Kull (NV5) Prelim Assessment #032-230-015 12,940.58$           

19397 2/5/2020 Holdrege & Kull (NV5) Prelim Assessment #032-230-015 12,895.93$           

19397 2/5/2020 Holdrege & Kull (NV5) Prelim Assessment #032-230-015 560.00$                

19397 3/18/2020 Holdrege & Kull (NV5) Prelim Assessment #032-230-015 4,475.12$             

19397 3/18/2020 Holdrege & Kull (NV5) Prelim Assessment #032-230-015 1,252.38$             

19397 6/17/2020 Holdrege & Kull (NV5) Prelim Assessment #032-230-015 1,366.98$             

19515 9/27/2019 Placeworks Inc. CEQA Review; expansion project 4,692.02$             

19515 10/2/2019 Placeworks Inc. CEQA Review; expansion project 5,009.48$             

19515 11/20/2019 Placeworks Inc. CEQA Review; expansion project 9,667.98$             

19515 11/20/2019 Placeworks Inc. CEQA Review; expansion project 14,715.59$           

19515 6/17/2020 Placeworks Inc. CEQA Review; expansion project 15,933.69$           

19515 6/30/2020 Placeworks Inc. CEQA Review; expansion project 430.49$                

19515 6/30/2020 Placeworks Inc. CEQA Review; expansion project 9,341.19$             

19515 6/30/2020 Placeworks Inc. CEQA Review; expansion project 2,588.26$             

20202 9/27/2019 Department of Toxic Substances Control - DTSC Property Purchase Testing 14,480.00$           

20219 9/27/2019 Educational Facilities Program Management LLC Consulting for HHS Expansion Project 5,040.00$             

20219 9/27/2019 Educational Facilities Program Management LLC Consulting for HHS Expansion Project 4,200.00$             

20219 11/13/2019 Educational Facilities Program Management LLC Consulting for HHS Expansion Project 4,480.00$             

20219 12/11/2019 Educational Facilities Program Management LLC Consulting for HHS Expansion Project 3,080.00$             

20219 1/15/2020 Educational Facilities Program Management LLC Consulting for HHS Expansion Project 2,520.00$             

20219 2/12/2020 Educational Facilities Program Management LLC Consulting for HHS Expansion Project 2,380.00$             

20219 3/11/2020 Educational Facilities Program Management LLC Consulting for HHS Expansion Project 4,480.00$             

20219 4/15/2020 Educational Facilities Program Management LLC Consulting for HHS Expansion Project 5,320.00$             

20219 5/20/2020 Educational Facilities Program Management LLC Consulting for HHS Expansion Project 3,920.00$             

20219 6/17/2020 Educational Facilities Program Management LLC Consulting for HHS Expansion Project 4,200.00$             

20219 6/30/2020 Educational Facilities Program Management LLC Consulting for HHS Expansion Project 5,180.00$             

20247 11/20/2019 Timios Title Title Report for new property 400.00$                

20287 10/9/2019 Robertson Erickson Inc. Survey for land 3,250.00$             

20287 6/30/2020 Robertson Erickson Inc. Survey for land 3,250.00$             

20495 6/30/2020 Integrated Educational Planning & Programming Building/Expansion Project 4,800.00$             

PV 98 3/11/2020 Sacramento Valley Mirror Legal Ad - Notice of Prep. of a Prelim. Environmental Assess. 90.20$                  

PV 119 6/17/2020 Sacramento Valley Mirror Legal Ad - Expansion Project 139.40$                
Total expenditures through 6/30/2020 193,861.54$        

Page 16



2018-19 Bond and Property Expenses

PO # Vendor Description Amount Reimbursable

19-567 California Appraisals Appraisal for future site 4,000.00$   Yes

19-134 Educational Facilities Program Management LLC Bond Development & Election 34,440.00$ Yes

PV#69 Glenn County Elections Bond Election Fees 3,466.00$   No

19-309 Holdrege & Kull (NV5) Environmental Site Assessment 4,600.00$   Yes

19-397 Holdrege & Kull (NV5) Prelim Assessment #032-230-015 4,060.62$   Yes

19-524 HUSD Revolving Fund New property project 1,500.00$   Yes

19-514 Placeworks Inc. Title 5 Risk Assessment 15,210.00$ Yes

19-515 Placeworks Inc. CEQA Review; Expansion Project 5,877.75$   Yes

18-639 School Works Inc. Development Fee Study 6,000.00$   No

19-596 Western Valuation Professional Appraisal - new property 3,500.00$ Yes

423 Dannis Woliver Kelley matter # 10518 Property Purchase Negotiation 6,470$         Yes

423 Dannis Woliver Kelley matter # 10418 2018 Bond Discussions 1,017$         No

Total Amount Expended 90,140.87$ 

Reimbursable Total 79,657.87$ 

2018-2019 Bond and Property Related Expenses

Page 17



HAMILTON UNIFIED SCHOOL DISTRICT 

HAMILTON HIGH SCHOOL SITE EXPANSION-PERMITTING STATUS 

BOARD INFORMATION & DISCUSSION ITEM 

March 24, 2021 

 

CURRENT SITE PURCHASE STATUS & TIMELINE- (Defer to Supt. & Legal Counsel) 

CDE SITE PERMITTING REQUIREMENTS 

DEPARTMENT OF TOXIC SUBSTANCES CONTROL (NV5) 

• Final PEA completed; submitted to DTSC 2/11/2020.  Required 30-day Public Comment Period 

opened 2/17/2020; closed 3/20/2020.  Public Comment Hearing completed at Board Meeting 

2/26/2020.  No adverse comments from DTSC received; No Further Action (Final Approval 

Letter) from DTSC (see attached) received 4/29/2020.  No further action required by the District; 

requirements completed. 

CALIFORNIA ENVIRONMENTAL QUALITY ACT (PLACEWORKS) 

• CEQA Final Report now completed; Initial Study/Mitigated Negative Declaration on District 

Agenda for review 4/22/2020 (see separate Agenda item). Notice of Intent to Adopt and 30 

Public Comment period from 4/20/2020 through 5/20/2020; no public comments received to 

date. Board adoption and final Notice of Determination on August 26, 2020 Board Agenda for 

approval.  Final Notices of Determination filed with Glenn County Planning Commission ant 

California Office of Planning and Research.  CEQA requirements completed. 

TITLE 5 REPORTS (PLACEWORKS) 

• Pipeline Safety Study: Research & Report Complete.  SUMMARY-No mitigation measures 
required. 

• Railway Safety Study: Research & Report Complete.  SUMMARY:  No special risks or mitigation 
required.  

• Dam Inundation Study: Research & Report Complete.  SUMMARY: Dam Inundation: No special 

risks or mitigation required. 

EDUCATIONAL SPECIFICATIONS (iep2) 

• Initial Steering Committee Meeting held 2/11/2020; focus group meetings now being conducted 

for functional interest groups, parents, students and community members through April 2021. 

GEOLOGICAL HAZARDS STUDIES (EFPM/LLC) 

• Geological Hazards Study completed by EFPM/LLC after consultation with Department of 

Education/Facilities Division. 

  

Page 18



HAMILTON UNIFIED SCHOOL DISTRICT 

HAMILTON HIGH SCHOOL SITE EXPANSION-PERMITTING STATUS 

BOARD INFORMATION & DISCUSSION ITEM 

March 24, 2021 

 

FINAL SITE SURVEY 

• Fieldwork for final site survey for escrow closure and recording completed by Robertson 

Erickson Surveying & Engineering in August 2020; final report now being held pending final 

resolution of specified metes & bounds.  

PLANNING COMMISSION SUBMITTAL (EFPM/LLC) 

• Request for Glenn County Planning Commission review (per Section 21151.2. Public Resources 

Code) submitted on 6/10/2020, with a requested return within 45 days. Public hearing and 

comments by Planning Commission at its August 19, 2020 Commission Meeting (see attached 

Glenn County Planning Commission Staff Report). Planning Commission submission requirement 

completed. 

WILLIAMSON ACT FILINGS (EFPM/LLC) 

• Initial Williamson Act abatement filings to County Planning Office and State Department of 

Conservation reviewed by District Legal Counsel and submitted to the State Department of 

Conservation and the Glenn County Planning Commission on 6/15/2020. Approval by 

Department of Conservation on 7/23/2020; review and comment by Glenn County Planning 

Commission at its August 19, 2020 Commission Meeting (see above).  Department must file 

copy of final executed purchase agreement with Department of Conservation. 

DEPARTMENT OF EDUCATION FILINGS 

• CDE Initial Filings & SFPD 4.03 submitted, including all completed studies/documents noted 

above. Now pending submission of executed purchase agreement to begin final CDE review. 

 

Page 19



Page 20



CSBA MANUAL MAINTENANCE SERVICE CHECKLIST – March 2021 
 

 

District Name:  Hamilton Unified School District 
 

 

Contact Name: Tiffany Wilhelm Phone:530-826-3261 x-6011Email: twilhelm@husdschools.org 
 

 

 

1 

POLICY TITLE OPTIONS/BLANKS ADOPT 

DATE 

BP 0420.42 Charter School Renewal New Law  

BP 3110 Transfer of Funds New Law  

BP 3230 Federal Grant Funds New Regulation  

AR 3230 Federal Grant Funds New Regulation  

AR 3311.2 Lease-Leaseback Contracts New Law  

AR 3311.3 Design-Build Contracts New Law  

AR 3320 Claims and Actions Against the District New Law  

BP 3452 Student Activity Funds Regulatory Update  

BP 3515.3 District Police/Security Department OPTION 1:     

OPTION 2:     

 

AND 

 

OPTION 1:     

OPTION 2:     

 

AR 3515.3 District Police/Security Department   

BP 3600 Consultants New Law  

E 4112.9 

4212.9 

4312.9 

Employee Notifications New Law  

AR 4161.2 

4261.1 

4361.2 

Personal Leaves New Law  

Page 21

mailto:twilhelm@husdschools.org


CSBA MANUAL MAINTENANCE SERVICE CHECKLIST – March 2021 
 

 

District Name:  Hamilton Unified School District 
 

 

2 

POLICY TITLE OPTIONS/BLANKS ADOPT 

DATE 

AR 4161.8 

4261.8 

4361.8 

Family Care and Medical Leave OPTION 1:     

OPTION 2:     

 

OPTION 3:     

 

OPTION 4:     

 

AND 

 

OPTION 1:     

OPTION 2:     

 

BP 6142.8 Comprehensive Health Education Policy Update  

AR 6142.8 Comprehensive Health Education Policy Update  

BP 7210 Facilities Financing Policy Update  

 

Page 22



CSBA POLICY GUIDE SHEET 

March 2021 

 

 

Note:  Descriptions below identify revisions made to CSBA's sample board policies, administrative regulations, 

board bylaws, and/or exhibits. Editorial changes have also been made. Districts and county offices of education 

should review the sample materials and modify their own policies accordingly. 

 
Board Policy 0420.42 - Charter School Renewal 

Policy updated to reflect NEW LAW (SB 98, 2020) which amends the criteria for renewal when the two 

consecutive years immediately preceding the renewal include the 2019-20 school year (i.e., renewals 

submitted in 2020-21 and 2021-22).  Policy adds the requirement that  the determination of a charter school's 

academic progress be based on all the state indicators in the California School Dashboard for which it receives 

performance levels, provided that the charter school has schoolwide performance levels on at least two 

measurements of academic performance per year and for at least two student subgroups.  Policy also reflects 

action taken by the State Board of Education (SBE) in November 2020 to approve a list of valid and reliable 

indicators of academic progress and postsecondary outcomes that may be used to demonstrate a charter 

school's academic performance. 

 

Board Policy 3110 - Transfer of Funds 

Policy updated to reflect NEW LAW (SB 98, 2020) which authorizes, for the 2020-21 and 2021-22 fiscal 

years if the state defers any payments owed to districts, the temporary transfer of up to 85 percent of the 

maximum amount held in any fund or account for the payment of obligations.  Item #4 revised to clarify 

requirements for transfers from special reserve funds for capital outlay or other purposes into the general 

fund for general operating purposes of the district. 

 

Board Policy 3230 - Federal Grant Funds 

Policy updated to reflect NEW FEDERAL REGULATIONS (85 Fed. Reg. 49506), effective November 

12, 2020, which clarify and renumber requirements for the use and accounting of federal grant funds pursuant 

to the Office of Management and Budget's Uniform Administrative Requirements, Cost Principles, and Audit 

Requirements for Federal Awards (commonly called the "Uniform Guidance").  Policy reflects an 

amendment to the Uniform Guidance which extends the timeframe for submitting the final performance 

report from 90 to 120 calendar days after the ending date of the grant. 

 

Administrative Regulation 3230 - Federal Grant Funds 

Regulation updated to reflect NEW FEDERAL REGULATIONS (85 Fed. Reg. 49506), effective 

November 12, 2020, which clarify and renumber requirements for the use and accounting of federal grant 

funds pursuant to the Uniform Guidance.  Regulation reflects amendments to the Uniform Guidance which 

(1) extend the timeframe for paying all obligations of federal funds from 90 to 120 calendar days after the 

end of the funding period; (2) require districts to give a preference to the purchase, acquisition, or use of 

goods, products, or materials from the United States as practicable; and (3) increase the threshold for "micro-

purchases" and "small purchases" that qualify for simplified procurement procedures.  Regulation also adds 

the requirement to provide for disciplinary actions to be applied when officers, employees, or representatives 

of the district violate conflict of interest standards.  Section on "Personnel" revised to (1) add the district's 

responsibility to check employee records and ensure that the charges are accurate, allowable, and properly 

allocated and (2) clarify the documentation requirements for employees whose salary is paid with state or 

local funds but is used to meet a cost-sharing or matching requirement of the federal grant. 

 

Administrative Regulation 3311.2 - Lease-Leaseback Contracts 

Regulation updated to (1) include the maximum term for the lease-leaseback contract as specified in law, (2) 

reflect the requirement for site and plan approval prior to entering into an agreement, (3) add optional 

language for a board resolution declaring the intent to enter into a lease-leaseback contract, and (4) move 

evaluation criteria into the list of items that must be included in the request for sealed proposals.  Regulation 

also reflects NEW LAW (AB 2311, 2020) which requires districts to include in all bid documents and 

construction contracts a notice that the project is subject to state "skilled and trained workforce" requirements.   

Page 23



 

Administrative Regulation 3311.3 - Design-Build Contracts 

Regulation updated to reflect NEW LAW (AB 2311, 2020) which requires districts to include in all bid 

documents and construction contracts a notice that the project is subject to state "skilled and trained 

workforce" requirements.  Regulation also adds a definition of "skilled and trained workforce," and describes 

the district's responsibilities if the contractor fails to demonstrate compliance with these requirements. 

 

Administrative Regulation 3320 - Claims and Actions Against the District 

Regulation updated to add introductory information explaining the procedures that may be used to file a claim 

for money or damages against the district depending on the cause of action.  Section on "Time Limitations" 

reorganized and clarified, especially with regard to the time limits for claims related to causes of actions 

which are excepted from the Government Claims Act, are not governed by any other claim presentation 

statute or regulation, and are addressed through procedures established by the district.  Regulation also 

reflects NEW LAW (SB 1473, 2020) which allows a person to submit a claim, amendment to a claim, or 

application for a late claim by electronic means, if so authorized by a board resolution, in which case the 

subsequent notices provided by the district must be sent to the electronic address from which the claim was 

sent unless the claimant specifies an alternative electronic address for that purpose. 

 

Board Policy 3452 - Student Activity Funds 

Policy updated to clarify that the policy does not apply to school-connected organizations that are not 

composed entirely of students or subject to the board's control and regulation.  Section on "Fundraising" adds 

a reference to policy that addresses online fundraising, and addresses fundraising events that involve the sale 

of foods and/or beverages.  Section on "Management and Reporting of Funds" updated to reflect 

Governmental Accounting Standards Board (GASB) Statement 84, which provides that, if the district has 

administrative or direct financial involvement with the student organization's assets, as defined, the student 

activity fund may be considered a governmental fund subject to specific accounting and financial reporting 

requirements. 

 

Board Policy 3515.3 - District Police/Security Department 

Policy updated to reflect NEW LAW (SB 98, 2020) which encourages districts to redirect resources currently 

allocated to district police departments into student support services and professional development on cultural 

competency and restorative justice. Policy also updates the board's philosophical statement, adds optional 

language regarding staff training on appropriate contact with district police or security officers, and reflects 

NEW LAW (AB 846, 2020) which requires districts to review the job description that is used in recruitment 

and hiring and make changes that emphasize community-based policing and collaborative problem solving 

while de-emphasizing the paramilitary aspects of the job.  Section on "Conduct of Officers" revised to 

prohibit discrimination based on protected characteristics, prohibit district officers from assisting with 

immigration enforcement at district schools, and reflect requirement for district police departments to adopt 

policy that provides a minimum standard on the use of force.  Policy also reflects the district's eligibility to 

receive surplus military equipment if the board approves the acquisition of such equipment, and adds a section 

on "Records" which limits officers' access to or release of student records except when otherwise authorized 

or required by law.  

 

Administrative Regulation 3515.3 - District Police/Security Department 

Regulation updated to reflect law which, effective July 1, 2021, extends the requirement to complete a 

specified course of training to include security officers who work 20 hours per week or less.  Regulation also 

clarifies that the additional training requirements of Penal Code 832 apply to security officers who carry a 

firearm while performing their duties.  Section on "Qualifications of Police Officers" adds the requirement 

to complete specialized training within two years of the first date of employment.  New section on "Use of 

Force" reflects (1) NEW LAW (AB 1196, 2020) which prohibits a law enforcement agency from authorizing 

the use of carotid restraints or choke holds, and (2) the requirement for district police departments to adopt 

policy that provide a minimum standard on the use of force that includes specified components and is 

consistent with guidelines established by the Commission on Peace Officer Standards and Training. 

 

 

 

Page 24



Board Policy 3600 - Consultants 

Policy updated to reflect NEW LAW (AB 2257, 2020) which recodifies the three-part test established in 

Dynamex Operations West, Inc. v. Superior Court of Los Angeles to determine whether a person providing 

services for remuneration should be classified as an employee or an independent contractor, and NEW 

LAWS (AB 2257 and AB 323, 2020) which establish exceptions to the use of the three-part test. 

Requirement to afford equal opportunity for contracts revised to add ethnicity and reflect NEW LAW (AB 

3364, 2020) which changes the term "military and veteran status" to "veteran or military status." 

 

Exhibit 4112.9/4212.9/4312.9 - Employee Notifications 

Exhibit updated to add employee notifications related to (1) the rights of employees who are victims of crime 

or abuse; (2) potential exposure to COVID-19 at a district facility; (3) the right and procedure to access the 

district's injury and illness prevention program; (4) nondiscrimination on the basis of sex and contact 

information for the district's Title IX Coordinator; and (5) following an investigation of an alleged 

misconduct of a district police officer, the district's decision to impose discipline. 

 

Administrative Regulation 4161.2/4261.2/4361.2 - Personal Leaves 

Regulation updated to reflect NEW LAW (AB 2992, 2020) which extends leave for employees who are 

victims of domestic violence, sexual assault, or stalking to include employees who are victims of a crime that 

caused physical injury, or mental injury with a threat of physical injury, and employees whose immediate 

family member is deceased as a direct result of a crime.  Regulation also reflects provisions of AB 2992 

which require districts to inform employees of their rights for such leave and authorize employees, when an 

unscheduled absence occurs, to submit documentation from a victim advocate or any other form of 

documentation that reasonably verifies that the crime or abuse occurred, including, but not limited to, a 

written statement signed by the employee or an individual acting on the employee's behalf.   

 

Administrative Regulation 4161.8/4261.8/4361.8 - Family Care and Medical Leave 

Regulation updated to reflect NEW LAW (SB 1383, 2020) which, for purposes of leave under the California 

Family Rights Act, (1) revises the definition of "child" to include the child of a registered domestic partner; 

(2) includes an employee's grandparent, grandchild, sibling, and registered domestic partner as persons for 

whom an employee may take leave for a serious health condition; (3) repeals a provision of law which had 

limited any leave related to the birth or placement of the child to only one parent if a district employs both 

parents, thereby requiring the district to grant leave to each employee; (4) eliminates the district's authority 

to deny reinstatement, upon return from leave, for an employee who is among the highest paid 10 percent of 

district employees when the employee's absence would cause substantial and grievous economic injury to 

district operations; and (5) authorizes military family leave to attend to an exigency arising when the 

employee's registered domestic partner is on active duty or on call to active duty status in the National Guard 

or Reserves or is a member of the regular Armed Forces on deployment to a foreign country. 

 

Board Policy 6142.8 - Comprehensive Health Education 

Policy updated to reflect the 2019 state curriculum framework for health education, including emphasis on 

the physical, mental, and social well-being of students and integration of health education with other content 

areas of the district's curriculum.  Policy also reflects law which authorizes districts to provide age-

appropriate comprehensive sexual health education prior to grade 7, and law which authorizes instruction in 

grades K-12 in sexual abuse and sexual assault awareness and prevention provided students are allowed to 

be excused from such instruction with the written request of the parent/guardian. 

 

Administrative Regulation 6142.8 - Comprehensive Health Education 

Regulation updated to more directly reflect state content standards for injury prevention and safety and for 

personal and community health.  Regulation also adds a new section on "High School Health Education" for 

districts that require a course in health education for graduation, which reflects law requiring that the course 

in health education include instruction in sexual harassment and violence and instruction in performing 

compression-only cardiopulmonary resuscitation.  Section on "Students Excused from Health Instruction" 

expanded to address excusals from (1) comprehensive sexual health education and HIV prevention education; 

(2) instruction in sexual abuse and/or sexual assault awareness and prevention; (3) any exam, survey, or 

questionnaire which contains questions about the student's or family's personal beliefs or practices in sex, 

Page 25



family life, morality, or religion; and (4) anonymous, voluntary, and confidential tests, questionnaires, and 

surveys containing age-appropriate questions about students' attitudes concerning or practices relating to sex. 

 

Board Policy 7210 - Facilities Financing 

Policy updated to add state facilities funding from the Leroy F. Greene School Facilities Act as a method of 

funding facilities and to reflect NEW LAW (SB 820, 2020) which requires filing the audit of completed 

facilities projects with the California State Controller.  Policy also adds the requirement to comply with law 

and board policy regarding debt issuance and management. 

Page 26



CSBA Sample 
Board Policy 
 

Philosophy, Goals, Objectives, and Comprehensive Plans BP 0420.42(a) 

 

CHARTER SCHOOL RENEWAL 

 

 
Note:  The following policy is optional.  When the term of a charter granted by the Governing Board pursuant 

to Education Code 47605 (see BP/AR 0420.4 - Charter School Authorization) is due to expire, the charter 

school must submit a petition for renewal to the Board in accordance with Education Code 47607, as amended 

by AB 1505 (Ch. 486, Statutes of 2019), and Education Code 47607.2, as added by AB 1505.   

 

For a charter that was granted by the State Board of Education (SBE) on appeal after being denied by the 

district, the renewal petition must first be submitted to the district board that denied the charter, pursuant to 

Education Code 47605. A petition for the renewal of a charter that was originally granted by the County Board 

of Education on appeal after being denied by the district must be submitted directly to the County Board as 

the chartering authority pursuant to 5 CCR 11966.5. 

 

The Governing Board believes that the ongoing operation of a charter school should be 

dependent on the school's effectiveness in achieving its mission and goals for student learning 

and other student outcomes. Whenever a charter school submits a petition for renewal of its 

charter, the Board shall review the petition thoroughly and in a timely manner, consistent with 

the timelines set out in the Education Code. The Board shall consider renewal petitions only 

of charters originally authorized by the Board itself or by the State Board of Education (SBE) 

on appeal after initial denial by the Board. 

 
(cf. 0420.4 - Charter School Authorization) 

(cf. 0420.41 - Charter School Oversight) 

(cf. 0420.43 - Charter School Revocation) 

(cf. 0500 - Accountability) 

 

The Board shall deny the renewal petition of any charter school operated as or by a for-profit 

corporation, a for-profit educational management organization, or a for-profit charter 

management organization.  (Education Code 47604) 

 

When a charter school, concurrently with its renewal petition, proposes to expand operations 

to one or more additional sites or grade levels, the charter school shall request a material 

revision to its charter.  The material revision may be made only with the approval of the Board 

and in accordance with the standards and criteria in Education Code 47605 for material 

revisions.  (Education Code 47607) 

 
Note:  The following optional paragraph may be revised to reflect district timelines for the submission of 

charter renewal petitions.  Education Code 47605, as amended by AB 1505 and AB 1595 (Ch. 543, Statutes 

of 2019), requires that the Board grant or deny the renewal petition within 90 days of receiving the petition; 

see section entitled "Timelines for Board Action" below. However, it is recommended that charter schools 

submit their petition sufficiently early (e.g., as much as nine months before the term of the charter is due to 

expire) so that, in the event that the Board denies the renewal, the charter school may be able to appeal to the 

County Board and then to SBE and, if the school closes, to allow students of the charter school to transfer to 

another school. 

 

Page 27



 BP 0420.42(b) 

 

 

CHARTER SCHOOL RENEWAL  (continued) 

 

 

The Board recommends that a charter school submit its petition for renewal to the Board 

sufficiently early before the expiration of the term of the charter to allow the Board's 

deliberations and decision on the renewal petition to be completed with minimal disruption to 

the charter school's educational program in the renewal year. 

 

The petition for renewal shall include a reasonably comprehensive description of how the 

charter school has met all new charter school requirements enacted into law after the charter 

was originally granted or last renewed.  (Education Code 47607; 5 CCR 11966.4) 

 

Criteria for Granting or Denying Renewal 

 
Note:  AB 1505 amended Education Code 47607 and added Education Code 47607.2 to revise the criteria for 

granting or denying charter renewals and to authorize different lengths of renewals for high-performing, 

middle-performing, and low-performing charter schools. 

 

Pursuant to Education Code 47607, charter renewals are subject to the same standards and criteria as initial 

charter authorizations as specified in Education Code 47605, except that the Board may not deny the renewal 

of an existing charter school based on a finding that (1) the district has a negative or qualified interim 

certification and is not positioned to absorb the fiscal impact of the proposed charter school or (2) the charter 

school is unlikely to serve the interests of the entire community in which the school will be located (i.e., the 

school would substantially undermine or duplicate existing district services or programs). However, these two 

criteria may be used to deny a proposed expansion of an existing charter school.  See AR 0420.4 - Charter 

School Authorization for more information regarding the standards and criteria for initial charter 

authorizations and renewals. 

 

Renewals shall be governed by the same standards and criteria that apply to new charter 

petitions as set forth in Education Code 47605. However, a charter renewal shall not be denied 

based on the fiscal impact of the charter school on the district or a finding that the charter 

school is unlikely to serve the interests of the entire community in which the school is located, 

as described in Education Code 47605.  (Education Code 47607) 

 

The signature requirement for charter authorization petitions is not applicable to petitions for 

renewal.  (Education Code 47607)  

 
Note:  Pursuant to Education Code 47607.2, the review of the charter school's academic performance must 

be based on "verified data" from assessments and other indicators approved by SBE. defined as data that 

are derived from nationally recognized, valid, peer-reviewed, and reliable sources that are externally produced 

and include measures of postsecondary outcomes.  SBE is required to identify, by January 1, 2021, a list of 

valid and reliable assessments that must be used by the Board for this purpose. Until such a list is available, a 

charter school under consideration for renewal may present data consistent with the definition of "verified 

data." In November 2020, SBE approved a list of valid and reliable indicators of academic progress and 

postsecondary outcomes that may be used to demonstrate a charter school's academic performance. 

Such indicators are available on CDE's web site. 

 

 

 

Page 28



 BP 0420.42(c) 

 

 

CHARTER SCHOOL RENEWAL  (continued) 

 

 

In determining whether to grant a charter renewal, the Board shall review both schoolwide 

performance and the performance of numerically significant student subgroups on the state 

and local indicators included in the California School Dashboard, giving greater weight to 

performance on measurements of academic performance.  If the Dashboard indicators are not 

yet available for the most recently completed academic year before renewal, the Board shall 

consider verifiable data provided by the charter school related to the Dashboard indicators, 

such as data from the California Assessment of Student Performance and Progress, or any 

successor system, for the most recent academic year. The Board shall only consider data 

from sources adopted by SBE.  (Education Code 47607, 47607.2) 

 

Following the Board's review, a renewal of the charter petition may be granted in accordance 

with a three-tiered system based on school performance, as follows:   

 
Note:  Pursuant to Education Code 47607, as amended by SB 98 (Ch. 24, Statutes of 2020), the criteria 

described in item #1 below may be achieved for two of the three years immediately preceding the 

renewal, rather than for the two consecutive years immediately preceding the renewal, if the two 

consecutive years immediately preceding the renewal include the 2019-20 school year.   

 

1. Renewal of Five to Seven Years 

 

a. A renewal shall be granted for a period of five to seven years to a charter school 

that is not eligible for technical assistance pursuant to Education Code 47607.3 

shall be granted renewal for a period of five to seven years when, and that, 

for two consecutive years immediately preceding the renewal, or for two of the 

three years immediately preceding the renewal for any renewal submitted 

in the 2020-21 or 2021-22 school year, the charter school achieved either of 

the following:  (Education Code 47607) 

 

(1) Received the two highest performance levels schoolwide on all the state 

indicators included in the Dashboard for which the charter school 

receives performance levels, provided the charter school has 

schoolwide performance levels on at least two measurements of 

academic performance per year in each of the two years 

 

(2) For all measurements of academic performance, received performance 

levels schoolwide that are the same or higher than the state average and, 

for a majority of numerically significant student subgroups performing 

statewide below the state average in each respective year, received 

performance levels that are higher than the state average, provided that 

the charter school has performance levels on at least two 

measurements of academic performance for at least two subgroups 

 

 

 BP 0420.42(d) 
Page 29



 

 

CHARTER SCHOOL RENEWAL  (continued) 

 

 

b. If the charter school satisfies the above criteria, it shall only be required to 

update the renewal petition to include a reasonably comprehensive 

description of any new requirement of charter schools enacted into law 

after the charter was originally granted or last renewed and, as necessary, 

to reflect the current program offered by the charter school. (Education 

Code 47607) 
 

2. Renewal of Five Years 
 

a. A renewal shall be granted for five years if clear and convincing evidence, 

demonstrated by verified data, shows either of the following:  (Education Code 

47607.2) 
 

(1) Measurable increases in academic achievement, as defined by at least 

one year's progress for each year in school 
 

(2) Strong postsecondary outcomes, as defined by college enrollment, 

persistence, and completion rates equal to similar peers 
 

b. For any such charter school, the Board may deny the renewal petition upon 

making written factual findings that the charter school failed to meet or make 

sufficient progress toward meeting standards that provide a benefit to students 

at the school, that the closure of the charter school is in the best interest of 

students, and that the Board’s decision provided greater weight to performance 

on measurements of academic performance.  (Education Code 47607.2) 

 
Note:  Education Code 47607.2, as amended by SB 98, authorizes the Board to deny renewal of a charter 

if the criteria described in item #3 below apply in two of the three years immediately preceding the 

renewal, rather than for two consecutive years immediately preceding the renewal, if the two 

consecutive years immediately preceding the renewal include the 2019-20 school year.   

 

3. Denial/ with Option for Two-Year Renewal 

 

a. The Board shall generally not renew a charter if, for two consecutive years 

immediately preceding the renewal decision, or for two of the three years 

immediately preceding the renewal for any renewal submitted in the 2020-

21 or 2021-22 school year, either of the following applies:  (Education Code 

47607.2) 

 

(1) The charter school has received the two lowest performance levels 

schoolwide on all the state indicators included in the Dashboard for 

which it receives performance levels., provided the charter school has 

schoolwide performance levels on at least two measurements of 

academic performance per year in each of the two years 

 BP 0420.42(e) 

 

Page 30



 

CHARTER SCHOOL RENEWAL  (continued) 

 

 

(2) For all measurements of academic performance, the charter school has 

received performance levels schoolwide that are the same or lower than 

the state average and, for a majority of numerically significant student 

subgroups performing statewide below the state average in each 

respective year, received performance levels that are lower than the state 

average., provided that the charter school has performance levels on 

at least two measurements of academic performance for at least two 

subgroups  

 

b. However, the Board may grant a two-year renewal to any such charter school 

if the Board makes written factual findings, setting forth specific facts to 

support the findings, that:  (Education Code 47607.2) 

 

 

(1) The charter school is taking meaningful steps to address the underlying 

cause(s) of low performance, and those steps are reflected, or will be 

reflected, in a written plan adopted by the governing body of the charter 

school. 

 

(2) There is clear and convincing evidence, demonstrated by verified data, 

showing achievement of the criteria specified in item #2a above 

 

In addition to all the grounds stated above for denial of a charter renewal, the Board may deny 

renewal of a charter upon a finding that the school is demonstrably unlikely to successfully 

implement the program set forth in the petition due to substantial fiscal or governance factors 

or a finding that the school is not serving all students who wish to attend. When denying a 

charter renewal for either of these reasons, the Board shall provide the charter school at least 

30 days' notice of the alleged violation and a reasonable opportunity to cure the violation, 

including the submission of a proposed corrective action plan. The Board may deny the 

renewal shall be denied if the Board finds either that for these reasons only upon a finding 

that either the corrective action proposed by the charter school has been unsuccessful or that 

the violations are sufficiently severe and pervasive as to render a corrective action plan 

unviable.  Any finding that a school is not serving all students who wish to attend shall 

specifically identify the evidence supporting the finding.  (Education Code 47607) 

 
Note:  Charter schools that serve high-risk students may qualify for the state's Dashboard Alternative School 

Status (DASS) program, which uses modified methods of measurement for accountability indicators when 

appropriate. Charter schools that participate in the DASS are subject to the following criteria specified in 

Education Code 47607 46607, as amended by AB 1505. 

 

A charter school that is eligible qualifies for the state's Dashboard Alternative School Status 

shall not be subject to any of the above criteria. Instead, in determining whether to grant a  

 

 BP 0420.42(f) 

 

 
Page 31



CHARTER SCHOOL RENEWAL  (continued) 

 

 

charter renewal for such a charter school, the Board shall consider, in addition to the charter 

school's performance on the state and local indicators included in the Dashboard, the charter 

school's performance on alternative metrics applicable to the charter school based on the 

student population served. The Board shall meet with the charter school during the first year 

of the charter school's term to mutually agree to discuss alternative metrics to be considered 

and shall notify the charter school of the alternative metrics to be used within 30 days of this 

meeting. The Board may deny a charter renewal only upon making written findings, setting 

forth specific facts to support the findings, that the closure of the charter school is in the best 

interest of students.  (Education Code 47607) 

 

Timelines for Board Action 

 
Note:  State law does not expressly provide a timeline for a public hearing on the renewal petition or for the 

Board's final decision on the renewal. However, pursuant to Education Code 47607, renewals are generally 

subject to the same standards and criteria applicable to initial charter authorizations, as specified in Education 

Code 47605.  As amended by AB 1505 and AB 1595, Education Code 47605 extends the timeline for the 

hearing for a charter petition from 30 to 60 days of the receipt of the petition.  In addition, Education Code 

47605 defines receipt of the petition as the date that the petitioner submits the petition to the district, and 

requires the Board to publish staff recommendations regarding the petition at least 15 days prior to the hearing 

at which the Board will grant or deny the petition. The following section reflects the timelines established for 

initial charter authorizations. 

 

Within 60 days of receiving the renewal petition, the Board shall hold a public hearing to 

review documentation submitted by the charter school, determine the level of support for 

the petition, and obtain public input. A petition is deemed received on the day the petitioner 

submits a petition to the district office, along with a signed certification that the petitioner 

deems the petition to be complete.  (Education Code 47605) 

 

The Board shall either grant or deny the charter renewal within 90 days of receiving the petition 

or within 120 days with the consent of both the petitioner and the Board.  The date may be 

extended by an additional 30 days if both the petitioner and the Board agree to the 

extension.  (Education Code 47605) 

 

At least 15 days before the public hearing at which the Board will grant or deny the charter 

petition, the Board shall publish all staff recommendations and recommended findings 

regarding the petition.  During the public hearing, petitioners shall have equal time and 

opportunity to present evidence and testimony to respond to the staff recommendations and 

findings.  (Education Code 47605) 

 

If the Board fails to make a written factual finding when required for denial of the petition 

pursuant to the section "Criteria for Granting or Denying Renewal" above within the required 

time period, the absence of a written factual finding shall be deemed an approval of the renewal 

petition.  (5 CCR 11966.4) 

 

 BP 0420.42(g) 

 

 

Page 32



CHARTER SCHOOL RENEWAL  (continued) 

 

 

The Superintendent or designee shall provide notification to CDE, within 10 calendar days of 

the Board's action, whenever a renewal of the charter is granted or denied.  (Education Code 

47604.32; 5 CCR 11962.1) 

 

If the Board denies a renewal petition, the charter school may submit its application for renewal 

to the County Board within 30 days of the Board's written factual findings supporting the 

denial.  (Education Code 47605, 47607.5) 

 

School Closure 

 

If a charter is not renewed and the charter school ceases operation, the Board and/or the charter 

school shall implement the school closure procedures specified in the charter in accordance 

with Education Code 47605 and 5 CCR 11962 shall be implemented.  (Education Code 

47603.32 47604.32, 47605) 

 

 

 
Legal Reference: 

EDUCATION CODE 

47600-47616.7  Charter Schools Act of 1992 

52052  Definition of numerically significant student subgroup 

56145-56146  Special education services in charter schools 

60600-60649  Assessment of academic achievement 

CODE OF REGULATIONS, TITLE 5 

11960-11969  Charter schools 

11962-11962.1  Definitions 

11966.4  Submission of charter renewal petition 

11966.5  Charter petitions that have not been renewed; submission to county board of education 

UNITED STATES CODE, TITLE 20 

7223-7225  Charter schools 

 
Management Resources: 

CSBA PUBLICATIONS 

The Role of the Charter School Authorizer, Online Course 

Charter Schools: A Guide for Governance Teams, rev. 2016 

WEB SITES 

CSBA:  http://www.csba.org 

California Charter Authorizing Professionals:  https://calauthorizers.org 

California Charter Schools Association:  http://www.calcharters.org https://www.ccsa.org 

California Department of Education, Charter Schools:  http://www.cde.ca.gov/sp/csch 

National Association of Charter School Authorizers: http://www.charterauthorizers.org 

https://www.qualitycharters.org 

U.S. Department of Education:  http://www.ed.gov 

 (10/18  3/20)  3/21 

 
Policy Reference UPDATE Service 

Copyright 2021 by California School Boards Association, West Sacramento, California 95691 

All rights reserved. 

CSBA Sample 

Page 33



Board Policy 

 

Business and Noninstructional Operations BP 3110(a) 

 

TRANSFER OF FUNDS 

 

 

Note:  Education Code 41010 and 42600 requires districts to expend funds in accordance with the 

classification of expenditures included in their adopted budget and in the California School Accounting 

Manual.  However, in certain limited circumstances, the Governing Board may approve interfund 

borrowing or the transfer of money between funds. The following policy may be revised to reflect 

district practice.  The following optional policy may be revised to reflect district practice. 

 

The Governing Board recognizes its responsibility to monitor the district's fiscal practices to 

ensure accountability regarding the expenditure of public funds and compliance with legal 

requirements. 

 
(cf. 0460 - Local Control and Accountability Plan) 

(cf. 3100 - Budget) 

(cf. 3400 - Management of District Assets/Accounts) 

(cf. 3460 - Financial Reports and Accountability) 

 

Note:  Education Code 42600 requires the district to expend funds in accordance with the classification of 

expenditures included in its adopted budget. However, other provisions of state law provide exceptions under 

which money may be transferred from one fund or account to another, as reflected in items #1-5 below. 

 

AB 97 (Ch. 47, Statutes of 2013) repealed Education Code 17583 which provided a process for the transfer 

of excess local funds in the deferred maintenance fund to any other expenditure classifications whenever state 

funds for deferred maintenance are insufficient to fully match local funds. 

 

AB 97 also repealed Education Code 42605, which provided temporary flexibility for specified "Tier 3" 

categorical programs, and redirects the funding for those categorical programs into the local control funding 

formula (LCFF) (Education Code 42238.01-42238.07).  The supplemental and concentration grant portions 

of the LCFF may be used for any schoolwide or districtwide educational purpose in accordance with state 

regulations to be adopted by January 31, 2014, with the goal of increasing or improving services for students 

who are eligible for free and reduced-price meals, English learners, and foster youth; see BP/AR 0460 - Local 

Control and Accountability Plan and BP/AR 3100 - Budget. 

 

The total amount budgeted by the district for each major classification of expenditures, as listed 

in the California Department of Education's budget forms, shall be the maximum amount 

which the district may expend for that classification for the school year.  (Education Code 

42600) 

 

However, when it is in the best interest of the district, the Board may: 

 

1. At any time, adopt a written resolution providing for transfers from the designated fund 

balance or the unappropriated fund balance to any expenditure classification or between 

classifications.  The resolution shall be filed with the County Superintendent of Schools 

and the Ccounty Aauditor.  (Education Code 42600) 

 BP 3110(b) 

 

 

Page 34



TRANSFER OF FUNDS  (continued) 

 

 
(cf. 9323.2 - Actions by the Board) 

 

2. Direct the temporary transfer of monies held in any district fund or account to another 

fund or account as necessary for the payment of obligations. Such borrowing shall 

occur only when the fund or account receiving the money will earn sufficient income 

during the current fiscal year to repay the amount transferred.  No more than 75 percent 

of the maximum amount held in any fund or account during the current fiscal year may 

be transferred.  Amounts transferred shall be repaid in the same fiscal year, or in the 

following fiscal year if the transfer takes place within the final 120 calendar days of a 

fiscal year.  (Education Code 42603) 

 
Note:  Education Code 42603.1, as added by SB 98 (Ch. 23, Statutes of 2020), adds the following 

authorization for the temporary transfer of funds for the 2020-21 and 2021-22 fiscal years, if the state 

defers any payments owed to districts.  

 

For the 2020-21 and 2021-22 fiscal years only, if the state defers any payments 

owed to districts, the Board may direct the temporary transfer of up to 85 

percent of the maximum amount held in any fund or account during the 

current fiscal year for the payment of obligations.  Such borrowing shall occur 

only when the fund or account receiving the money will earn sufficient income 

during the current fiscal year to repay the amount transferred.  Prior to 

exercising this authority, the Board shall hold a public hearing and adopt a 

resolution authorizing such transfer.  (Education Code 42603.1)  

 

Note:  Pursuant to Education Code 42601, the district, with the approval of the Governing Board, may 

identify and request that the County Superintendent of Schools make transfers at the close of a school year in 

order to permit the payment of district obligations incurred during that school year, as provided in item #3 

below. For elementary school districts with average daily attendance (ADA) of 900 or less, high school 

districts with ADA of 300 or less, or unified districts with ADA of 1,500 or less, the County Superintendent 

may identify and make the transfers, with the consent of the Board. 

 

3. At the close of a school year, request that the County Superintendent make transfers 

between the designated fund balance or the unappropriated fund balance and any 

expenditure classification(s), or balance any expenditure classifications of the district 

budget as necessary for the payment of obligations incurred during that school year.  

(Education Code 42601) 

 

4. Specify amounts to be transferred by the county auditor and treasurer from the district's 

general fund to the special reserve fund during the fiscal year.  If any special reserve 

funds that are maintained for purposes other than capital outlay or other purposes 

pursuant to Education Code 42842 if monies in the special reserve fund are not 

actually encumbered for ongoing expenses, the Board maytransfer those  

 

 BP 3110(c) 

 

 

TRANSFER OF FUNDS  (continued) 

Page 35



 

 

 monies into the general fund for the general operating purposes of the district.  If any 

monies remainin the special reserve fund at the conclusion of a project, the Board may 

submit a, by written request to the County Superintendent, Aauditor, and Ttreasurer, 

to discontinue the special reserve fund and transfer those monies to the district's 

general fund.  (Education Code 42841-42843) 

 

5. Transfer monies between other funds or accounts when authorized by law. 

 

 

 
Legal Reference: 

EDUCATION CODE 

78  Definition, governing board 

5200  Districts governed by boards of education 

16095  Transfer of district funds to district state school building fund 

41010  California School Accounting Manual 

41301  Section A state school fund allocation schedule 

42125  Designated and unappropriated fund balances 

42238-42251  Apportionments to districts, especially: 

42238.01-42238.07  Local control funding formula 

42600  District budget limitation on expenditure 

42601  Transfers between funds to permit payment of obligations at close of year 

42603  Temporary Transfer of monies held in any fund or account to another fund; repayment 

42603.1  Temporary transfer of monies held in any fund or account to another fund; state deferrals; 

fiscal years 2020-21 and 2021-22 

42840-42843  Special reserve fund 

52616.4  Expenditures from adult education fund 

 
Management Resources: 

CALIFORNIA DEPARTMENT OF EDUCATION PUBLICATIONS 

California School Accounting Manual 

WEB SITES 

CSBA: http://www.csba.org 

California Department of Education:  http://www.cde.ca.gov 

Fiscal Crisis and Management Assistance Team:  http://www.fcmat.org 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 (11/11  10/13)  3/21 

 
Policy Reference UPDATE Service 

Copyright 2021 by California School Boards Association, West Sacramento, California 95691 

All rights reserved. 

CSBA Sample 
Board Policy 

Page 36



 

Business and Noninstructional Operations BP 3230(a) 

 

FEDERAL GRANT FUNDS 

 

 
Note:  All grants awarded by the federal government, including formula grants (e.g., Title I funding, Part B 

of the Individuals with Disabilities Education Act) and discretionary grants, are subject to the requirements 

contained in the Office of Management and Budget's (OMB) Uniform Administrative Requirements, Cost 

Principles, and Audit Requirements for Federal Awards (commonly called "Uniform Guidance"), as specified 

in 2 CFR 200.0-200.521 and Appendices I-XII.  2 CCR 200.109 requires that the Uniform Guidance be 

reviewed every five years.  Revisions to the Uniform Guidance (85 Fed. Reg. 49506), effective November 

12, 2020, address the information that grant recipients are required to report, implement relevant 

statutory requirements, and clarify existing requirements.  

 

The Uniform Guidance, adopted in December 2014, includes new provisions but primarily consolidates 

guidance from earlier OMB circulars. 

 

Pursuant to 2 CFR 200.110, the Uniform Guidance applies to all new and continuing grant awards made on 

or after December 26, 2014, except that, as amended by 82 Fed. Reg. 94, districts may choose to delay 

implementation of the new procurement standards until July 1, 2018 or such later date as may be approved in 

the Uniform Guidance. See the accompanying administrative regulation for optional language accepting the 

delayed implementation.  

 

Pursuant to 2 CFR 200.302, 200.318, and 200.319, the district is mandated to adopt written procedures related 

to procurement, conflict of interest, cash management, payments, and allowable costs. In addition to the 

following policy, it is recommended that districts maintain a detailed administrative regulation or procedures 

manual addressing the mandated components. 

 

The Governing Board recognizes the district's responsibility to maintain fiscal integrity and 

transparency in the use of all funds awarded through federal grants. The district shall comply 

with all requirements detailed in any grant agreement with an awarding agency and with the 

federal Uniform Administrative Requirements, Cost Principles, and Audit Requirements for 

Federal Awards specified in 2 CFR 200.0-200.521 and any stricter state laws and district 

policy.  

 

Any goods or services purchased with federal funds shall be reasonable in cost and necessary 

for the proper and efficient performance or administration of the program. 

 

The Superintendent or designee shall ensure that the district's financial management systems 

and procedures provide for the following:  (2 CFR 200.302) 

 

1. Identification in district accounts of each federal award received and expended and the 

federal program under which it was received 

 
(cf. 3100 - Budget) 

 

 

 

 BP 3230(b) 

 

 

FEDERAL GRANT FUNDS  (continued) 

Page 37



 

 

2. Accurate, current, and complete disclosure of the financial and performance results of 

each federal award or program in accordance with the reporting requirements of 2 CFR 

200.327 and 200.328 and 200.329 

 
(cf. 3460 - Financial Reports and Accountability) 

 

3. Records and supporting documentation that adequately identify the source and 

application of funds for federally funded activities, including information pertaining to 

federal awards, authorizations, financial obligations, unobligated balances, assets, 

expenditures, income, and interest 

 
(cf. 1340 - Access to District Records) 

(cf. 3580 - District Records) 

 

4. Effective controls over and accountability for all funds, property, and other assets and 

assurance that all assets are used solely for authorized purposes 

 

5. Comparison of actual expenditures with budgeted amounts for each federal award 

 

6. Written procedures to implement provisions governing payments as specified in 2 CFR 

200.305 

 

7. Written procedures for determining the allowability of costs in accordance with 2 CFR 

200.400-200.475 and the terms and conditions of the federal grant award 

 
(cf. 3400 - Management of District Assets/Accounts) 

 

The Superintendent or designee shall develop and implement appropriate internal control 

processes to reasonably assure that transactions are properly executed, recorded, and accounted 

for so that the district can prepare reliable financial statements and federal reports, maintain 

accountability over assets, and demonstrate compliance with federal laws, regulations, and 

conditions of the federal award.  (2 CFR 200.61, 200.62, 200.303) 

 

Equipment purchased with federal funds shall be properly inventoried and adequately 

maintained to safeguard against loss, damage, or theft of the property. 

 
(cf. 3270 - Sale and Disposal of Books, Equipment and Supplies) 

(cf. 3440 - Inventories) 

(cf. 3512 - Equipment) 

 

All staff involved in the administration or implementation of programs and activities supported 

by federal funds shall receive information and training on the allowable use of federal funds, 

purchasing procedures, and reporting processes commensurate with their duties. 

 BP 3230(c) 

 

 

FEDERAL GRANT FUNDS  (continued) 

 

Page 38



 
(cf. 4131 - Staff Development) 

(cf. 4231 - Staff Development) 

(cf. 4331 - Staff Development) 

 
Note: Pursuant to 2 CFR 200.328 and 200.329, districts must submit financial and performance reports at 

the interval required by the awarding agency, which shall be at least annually but no more often than quarterly 

except in unusual circumstances.  Status reports due annually must be submitted no later than 90 

calendar days after the reporting period, and reports due quarterly or semi-annually must be submitted 

no later than 30 calendar days after the reporting period.  As amended by 85 Fed. Reg. 49506, 2 CFR 

200.329 increases the time period for submitting final performance reports from 90 to 120 days after 

the performance end date.  The district may request an extension of the due date for any performance report 

for justifiable reasons. 

 

In addition, the California Department of Education (CDE) is required under Education Code 64001 to 

monitor districts' compliance with legal requirements for federal categorical programs. This monitoring is 

accomplished through the Federal Program Monitoring process, which is based on a combination of data and 

document reviews and on-site visits.  For further information, see the CDE's website and BP 6190 - Evaluation 

of the Instructional Program. 

 

The district shall submit financial and performance reports to the awarding agency in 

accordance with the schedule and indicators required for that federal grant by law and the 

awarding agency. As required, such reports may include a comparison of actual 

accomplishments to the objectives of the federal award, the relationship between financial data 

and performance accomplishments, the reasons that established goals were not met if 

applicable, cost information to demonstrate cost-effective practices, analysis and explanation 

of any cost overruns or high unit costs, and other relevant information. The final performance 

report shall be submitted within 90 no later than 120 calendar days after the ending date of 

the grant.  (2 CFR 200.301, 200.328, 200.329) 

 
(cf. 0500 - Accountability) 

(cf. 6190 - Evaluation of the Instructional Program) 

 

 

 
Legal Reference: (see next page) 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 BP 3230(d) 

 

 

FEDERAL GRANT FUNDS  (continued) 

 

Page 39



 

 
Legal Reference: 

EDUCATION CODE 

42122-42129  Budget requirements 

64001  School plan for student achievement, consolidated application programs 

CODE OF FEDERAL REGULATIONS, TITLE 2 

180.220  Amount of contract subject to suspension and debarment rules 

200.0-200.521  Federal uniform grant guidance, especially: 

200.1-200.99  Definitions 

200.100-200.113  General provisions 

200.317-200.326  Procurement standards 

200.327-200.329  Monitoring and reporting 

200.333-200.337  Record retention 

200.400-200.475  Cost principles 

200.500-200.521  Audit requirements 

CODE OF FEDERAL REGULATIONS, TITLE 34 

76.730-76.731  Records related to federal grant programs 

CODE OF FEDERAL REGULATIONS, TITLE 48 

2.101  Federal acquisition regulation; definitions 

 
Management Resources: 

CALIFORNIA DEPARTMENT OF EDUCATION PUBLICATIONS 

California Department of Education Audit Guide 

California School Accounting Manual 

EDUCATION AUDIT APPEALS PANEL PUBLICATIONS 

Guide for Annual Audits of K-12 Local Education Agencies and State Compliance Reporting 

U.S. DEPARTMENT OF EDUCATION PUBLICATIONS 

Questions and Answers Regarding 2 CFR Part 200, March 17, 2016 

WEB SITES 

California Department of Education: http://www.cde.ca.gov 

Education Audit Appeals Panel: http://www.eaap.ca.gov 

Office of Management and Budget, Uniform Guidance: https://www.whitehouse.gov/omb/grants_docs  

State Controller's Office: http://www.sco.ca.gov 

System for Award Management (SAM): http://www.sam.gov/SAMportal/SAM/##11 

U.S. Department of Education: http://www.ed.gov 

U.S. Government Accountability Office: http://www.gao.gov 
 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 (9/16)  3/21 

 
Policy Reference UPDATE Service 

Copyright 2021 by California School Boards Association, West Sacramento, California 95691 

All rights reserved. 

CSBA Sample 
Administrative Regulation 
 

Page 40



Business and Noninstructional Operations AR 3230(a) 

 

FEDERAL GRANT FUNDS 

 

 
Note:  The following administrative regulation reflects the major requirements of the Office of Management 

and Budget's Uniform Administrative Requirements, Cost Principles, and Audit Requirements for Federal 

Awards (commonly called "Uniform Guidance"), as specified in 2 CFR 200.0-200.521 and Appendices I-XII, 

as amended by 85 Fed. Reg. 49506.  The Uniform Guidance which governs the use of federal formula and 

discretionary grant funds awarded to districts all grants awarded by the federal government, including 

formula grants (e.g., Title I funding, Part B of the Individuals with Disabilities Education Act) and 

discretionary grants. Pursuant to 2 CFR 200.302, 200.318, and 200.319, the district is mandated to adopt 

written procedures related to procurement, conflict of interest, cash management, payments, and allowable 

costs. 

 

Pursuant to Public Contract Code 20111, as amended by SB 544 (Ch. 395, Statutes of 2017), clarifies that 

districts participating in a federally funded child nutrition program, such as the National School Lunch and/or 

Breakfast Program, must comply with the federal procurement standards of 2 CFR 200.318-200.326. 

 

The requirements of the Uniform Guidance are extensive and are not fully covered in the following 

administrative regulation.  It is recommended that the district expand the following regulation and/or 

maintain a comprehensive procedures manual which contains internal controls and grant management 

standards used by the district to ensure the lawful expenditure of federal funds, including, but not limited to, 

procedures and protocols for cash management, procurement, inventory management, allowability of 

expenditures, "time and effort" reporting by personnel, and record retention. 

 

To ensure the lawful expenditure of any federal formula or discretionary grant funds awarded 

to the district, the Superintendent or designee shall comply with the requirements of the Office 

of Management and Budget's Uniform Administrative Requirements, Cost Principles, and 

Audit Requirements for Federal Awards (the "Uniform Guidance"), as contained in 2 CFR 

200.0-200.521 and Appendices I-XII. 

 

Allowable Costs 

 
Note:  2 CFR 200.302 mandates that districts develop written procedures for determining the allowability of 

costs in accordance with 2 CFR 200.400-200.475 and the terms and conditions of the federal grant award. 

Districts may revise this section or their detailed procedures manual to reflect those requirements. 

 

Prior to obligating or spending any federal grant funds, the Superintendent or designee shall 

determine whether a proposed purchase is an allowable expenditure in accordance with 2 CFR 

200.400-200.475 and the terms and conditions of the award. He/she The Superintendent or 

designee shall also determine whether the expense is a direct or indirect cost as defined in 2 

CFR 200.413 and 200.414 and, if the purchase will benefit other programs not included in the 

grant award, the appropriate share to be allocated to the federal grant. 

 
(cf. 3350 - Travel Expenses) 

 

 AR 3230(b) 

 

 

FEDERAL GRANT FUNDS  (continued) 

 

 

Page 41



Note:  Pursuant to Education Code 42126, which requires the Superintendent of Public Instruction to prescribe 

a uniform format for district budgets, districts are required to use the Standardized Account Code Structure 

(SACS). SACS ensures that districts meet state and federal reporting guidelines and comply with generally 

accepted accounting principles prescribed by the Governmental Accounting Standards Board.  The California 

Department of Education's California School Accounting Manual provides guidance regarding coding of 

revenues and expenditures and reflects the Uniform Guidance. 

 

The Superintendent or designee shall review and approve all transactions involving federal 

grant funds and shall ensure the proper coding of expenditures consistent with the California 

School Accounting Manual. 

 
(cf. 3300 - Expenditures and Purchases) 

(cf. 3314 - Payment for Goods and Services) 

 

Period of Performance 

 
Note:  Pursuant to 2 CFR 200.343 200.344, any federal funds that are not obligated or paid within the 

appropriate timeframes must be returned to the awarding agency. Thus, districts should closely monitor 

spending throughout the grant cycle. 

 

As amended by 85 Fed. Reg. 49506, 2 CFR 200.344 increases the number of days for districts to liquidate 

all financial obligations from 90 days to 120 days.  

 

All obligations of federal funds shall occur on or between the beginning and ending dates of 

the grant project and shall be paid no later than 90 120 calendar days after the end of the 

funding period, unless specifically authorized by the grant award to be carried over beyond the 

initial term of the grant.  (2 CFR 200.77, 200.308, 200.309, 200.343200.344) 

 

Procurement 

 
Note: 2 CFR 200.110, as amended by 82 Fed. Reg. 22609, authorizes districts to delay implementation of the 

procurement standards in the Uniform Guidance (2 CFR 200.317-200.326) until July 1, 2018 or such later 

date as may be approved in the Uniform Guidance. Districts that choose to delay implementation are 

mandated by 2 CFR 200.110 to document this decision in their procurement policies and should revise the 

following paragraph accordingly.  Districts are required to comply with the procurement standards 

specified in 2 CFR 200.317-200.327 as well as state laws pertaining to bidding and procurement. 

 

2 CFR 200.322, as added by 85 Fed. Reg. 49506, requires districts, to the extent practicable under a 

federal award, to give preference to the purchase, acquisition, or use of goods, products, or materials 

from the United States. 

 

When procuring goods and services with a federal grant, the Superintendent or designee shall 

comply with the standards contained in 2 CFR 200.317-200.326 200.327 and Appendix II of 

Part 200, or and with any applicable state bidding or procurement law or district policy that 

is more restrictive. 

 

 AR 3230(c) 

 

 

FEDERAL GRANT FUNDS  (continued) 

 

 

Page 42



As appropriate to encourage greater economy and efficiency, the Superintendent or designee 

shall avoid acquisition of unnecessary or duplicative items, give consideration to consolidating 

or breaking out procurements, analyze lease versus purchase alternatives, consider entering 

into an interagency agreement for procurement of common or shared goods and services, 

and/or use federal excess or surplus property.  (2 CFR 200.318) 

 
Note:  2 CFR 200.318 mandates that districts have written procedures that address all applicable laws 

regarding the use of federal grant funds in procurement transactions. The U.S. Department of Education's 

(USDOE) Questions and Answers Regarding 2 CFR Part 200 clarifies that such procedures must address 

issues related to the bid process (e.g., source evaluation, protests, and claims) since 2 CFR 200.318 provides 

that the district is solely responsible for settlement of all contractual and administrative issues arising out of 

the procurement process. 

 

The following list reflects major requirements contained in the Uniform Guidance. Districts may revise the 

following list or the district's comprehensive procedures manual to include additional detail, such as a 

description of the documents that will be used (e.g., purchase order, requisition), staff responsibilities, and the 

process for soliciting and receiving bids. 

 

The procurement of goods or services with federal funds shall be conducted in a manner that 

provides full and open competition in accordance with state laws and district regulations and 

the following requirements: 

 
Note:  2 CFR 200.67 and 200.320 permits districts to establish simplified procurement procedures for "micro-

purchases," as described in item #1 below.  Pursuant to 2 CFR 200.320, districts are responsible for 

determining and documenting an appropriate micro-purchase threshold based on internal controls, an 

evaluation of risk, and district procurement procedures.  Pursuant to 2 CFR 200.320, as amended by 

85 Fed. Reg. 49506, and 48 CFR 2.101, the threshold for such purchases is $3,500 cannot exceed $10,000 

except as otherwise specified, and will be periodically adjusted for inflation.  However, pursuant to 2 CFR 

200.320, as amended, a district may be eligible to establish a micro-purchase threshold up to $50,000 

on an annual basis if the district is able to self-certify that it may do so, with documentation of one of 

the following criteria: (1) the district's qualification as a low-risk auditee in accordance with 2 CFR 

200.520; (2) an annual internal institutional risk assessment to identify, mitigate, and manage financial 

risks; or (3) a higher threshold consistent with state law.  Districts may establish a threshold higher 

than $50,000 with approval of the appropriate federal agency.  Item #1 may be revised to reflect the 

threshold established by the district. 

 

Use of the simplified procedures requires that the district determine the price to be "reasonable." According 

to the USDOE's Questions and Answers Regarding 2 CFR Part 200, a documented review of web sites would 

meet this requirement. 

 

As amended, 2 CFR 200.320 increases tThe "small purchases" limit under the Uniform Guidance (item #2 

below) is $150,000 to $250,000 in accordance with 48 CFR 2.101. However, the more restrictive California 

bid limits in Public Contract Code 20111 and district procurement policies must be applied to define the "small 

purchase" requirements. 

 

Any purchases above the California bid limits (see BP/AR 3311 - Bids) must follow California law. See 

BP/AR 3311 - Bids for more information regarding bids and bid limits. 

 

 

 AR 3230(d) 

 

 

FEDERAL GRANT FUNDS  (continued) 

 

 

Page 43



1. Any purchase of supplies or services that does not exceed the "micro-purchase" 

threshold specified in established by the district in accordance with 48 CFR 2.101 

may be awarded without soliciting competitive quotes, provided that the district 

considers the price to be reasonable and maintains written evidence of this 

reasonableness in the record of all micro-purchases.  (2 CFR 200.67, 200.320) 

 

2. For any purchase that exceeds the micro-purchase threshold but is less than the bid 

limit required by Public Contract Code 20111, the Superintendent or designee shall 

utilize "small-purchase" procedures that include obtaining price or rate quotes from an 

adequate number of qualified sources.  (2 CFR 200.320) 

 

3. Contracts for goods or services over the bid limits required by Public Contract Code 

20111 shall be awarded pursuant to California law and AR 3311 - Bids, unless exempt 

from bidding under the law. 

 
(cf. 3311 - Bids) 

 

4. If a purchase is exempt from bidding and the district's solicitation is by a request for 

proposals, the award may be made by either a fixed-price or cost-reimbursement type 

contract awarded to the entity whose proposal is most advantageous to the program, 

with price and other factors considered.  (2 CFR 200.320) 

 
(cf. 3312 - Contracts) 

 

5. Procurement by noncompetitive proposals (sole sourcing) may be used only when the 

item is available exclusively from a single source, the need or emergency will not 

permit a delay resulting from competitive solicitation, the awarding agency expressly 

authorizes sole sourcing in response to the district's request, and/or competition is 

determined inadequate after solicitation of a number of sources.  (2 CFR 200.320) 

 

6. Time and materials type contracts may be used only after a determination that no other 

contract is suitable and if the contract includes a ceiling price that the contractor 

exceeds at its own risk.  Time and materials type contract means a contract for which 

the cost is the sum of the actual cost of materials and direct labor hours charged at fixed 

hourly rates that reflect wages, general administrative expenses, and profit.  (2 CFR 

200.328 200.318) 

 
Note:  2 CFR 200.213 200.214 restricts districts from procuring goods or services from entities that have been 

debarred, suspended, or otherwise excluded from participation in federal assistance programs or activities. 

Districts may require certification of eligibility from the vendor or use the federal System for Award 

Management website to determine whether a particular entity has been excluded. 

 

 

 

 AR 3230(e) 

 

 

FEDERAL GRANT FUNDS  (continued) 

 

 

Page 44



For any purchase of $25,000 or more, the Superintendent or designee shall verify that any 

vendor which is used to procure goods or services is not excluded or disqualified by the federal 

government.  (2 CFR 180.220, 200.213 200.214) 

 
Note: 2 CFR 200.319 mandates that districts have written procedures for procurement transactions that 

include the following components. 

 

All solicitations shall incorporate a clear and accurate description of the technical requirements 

for the material, product, or service to be procured. Such description shall not, in competitive 

procurements, contain features which unduly restrict competition. The description shall avoid 

detailed product specifications to the extent possible, but may include a statement of the 

qualitative nature of the material, product, or service to be procured and, when necessary, shall 

set forth those minimum essential characteristics and standards to which it must conform if it 

is to satisfy its intended use. When it is impractical or not economical to make a clear and 

accurate description of the technical requirements, a brand name or equivalent description may 

be used to define the performance or other salient requirements of procurement, clearly stating 

the specific features of the named brand which must be met by offers. In addition, every 

solicitation shall identify all requirements which the offer must fulfill and any other factors to 

be used in evaluating bids or proposals.  (2 CFR 200.319) 

 

The Superintendent or designee shall maintain sufficient records to document the procurement, 

including, but not limited to, the rationale for the method of procurement, selection of the 

contract type, contractor selection or rejection, and the basis for the contract price.  (2 CFR 

200.318) 

 

The Superintendent or designee shall ensure that all contracts for purchases using federal grant 

funds contain the applicable contract provisions described in Appendix II to Part 200 - Contract 

Provisions for Non-Federal Entity Contracts Under Federal Awards.  (2 CFR 200.326 200.327) 

 

Capital Expenditures 

 
Note: 2 CFR 200.313 and 200.439 require a district receiving federal grant funds to obtain prior written 

approval from the awarding agency before incurring the cost of a capital expenditure, as defined in 2 CFR 

200.12 and 200.13. See AR 3512 - Equipment for further information about requirements related to equipment 

purchased with federal funds, including labeling, maintenance, and inventory of the equipment and continued 

use of the equipment after the program ceases to be supported by federal funds. 

 

The Superintendent or designee shall obtain prior written approval from the awarding agency 

before using federal funds to make capital expenditures, including the acquisition of land, 

facilities, equipment, and intellectual property and expenditures to make additions,  

 

 

 AR 3230(f) 

 

 

FEDERAL GRANT FUNDS  (continued) 

 

 

Page 45



improvements, modifications, replacements, rearrangements, reinstallations, renovations, or 

alterations to capital assets that materially increase their value or useful life.  (2 CFR 200.12, 

200.13, 200.20, 200.33, 200.48, 200.58, 200.89, 200.313, 200.439) 

 

Conflict of Interest 

 
Note: 2 CFR 200.318 mandates that districts maintain written standards of conduct covering conflicts of 

interest and the performance actions of employees engaged in the selection, award, and administration of 

contracts.  The district's standards of conduct must also provide for disciplinary actions to be applied 

when officers, employees, or representatives of the district violate conflict of interest standards. The 

district should revise this section or its detailed procedures manual to reflect district practice. 

 

No Governing Board members, district employees, orand other district representatives shall 

not participate in the selection, award, or administration of a contract supported by federal 

funds if he/she has they have a real or apparent conflict of interest, such as when he/she they 

or a member of his/her their immediate family, his/her their partner, or an organization which 

employs or is about to employ any of them has a financial or other interest in or a tangible 

personal benefit from a firm considered for a contract. Such persons are prohibited from 

soliciting or accepting gratuities, favors, or anything of monetary value from contractors or 

subcontractors unless the gift is an unsolicited item of nominal value.  (2 CFR 200.318) 

 

Employees engaged in the selection, award, and administration of contracts shall also comply 

with BB 9270 - Conflict of Interest. 

 
(cf. 9270 - Conflict of Interest) 

 

Persons involved in the selection, award, or administration of a contract supported by 

federal funds shall be subject to discipline for any violation of conflict of interest 

standards.  (2 CFR 200.318) 

 
(cf. 4118 - Dismissal/Suspension/Disciplinary Action) 

(cf. 4218 - Dismissal/Suspension/Disciplinary Action) 

(cf. 4218.1 - Dismissal/Suspension/Disciplinary Action (Merit System)) 

 

Cash Management 
 

Note: Pursuant to 2 CFR 200.302, districts are mandated to develop written procedures to implement the 

requirements of 2 CFR 200.305. 

 

The Superintendent or designee shall ensure the district's compliance with 2 CFR 200.305 

pertaining to payments and cash management, including compliance with applicable methods 

and procedures that minimize the time elapsing between the transfer of funds to the district and 

the district's disbursement of funds.  (2 CFR 200.305) 
 

 AR 3230(g) 

 

 

FEDERAL GRANT FUNDS  (continued) 

 
 

Page 46



Note: Pursuant to 2 CFR 200.305, a district may be paid in advance by the awarding agency if it maintains 

written procedures that minimize the time elapsing between the transfer of funds and disbursement by the 

district as well as financial management systems that meet the standards for fund control and accountability 

as established in the Uniform Guidance. 

 

When authorized by law, the district may receive advance payments of federal grant funds, 

limited to the minimum amounts needed and timed in accordance with the actual immediate 

cash requirements of the district for carrying out the purpose of the program or project. Except 

under specified conditions, the district shall maintain the advance payments in an interest-

bearing account. The district shall remit interest earned on the advanced payment to the 

awarding agency on an annual basis, but may retain interest amounts specified in 2 CFR 

200.305 for administrative expenses.  (2 CFR 200.305) 

 

When required by the awarding agency, the district shall instead submit a request for 

reimbursement of actual expenses incurred. The district may also request reimbursement as an 

alternative to receiving advance payments.  (2 CFR 200.305) 

 

The Superintendent or designee shall maintain source documentation supporting the 

expenditure of federal funds, such as invoices, time sheets, payroll stubs, or other appropriate 

documentation. 

 

Personnel 

 
Note:  In order to charge staff compensation as an allowable expense of federal grant funds pursuant to 2 CFR 

200.430, employees must document the amount of time they spend on grant activities supported by federal 

funds. These documents, known as "time and effort" records, are used to charge the costs of personnel 

compensation to federal grants. It is recommended that the district's administrative regulation reflect district 

practice for documenting time and effort, such as the type of documentation maintained, signature 

requirements, how often certifications will be completed, and review of the records by a supervisor. 

 

All district employees who are paid in full or in part with federal funds, including employees 

whose salary is paid with state or local funds but is used to meet a required match or in-kind 

contribution to a federal program, shall document the amount of time they spend on grant 

activities.  Such records shall be incorporated into the official records of the district and 

shall be subject to a system of internal controls which provides reasonable assurance that 

the charges are accurate, allowable, and properly allocated in accordance with 2 CFR 

200.430.  (2 CFR 200.430) 

 

Salaries and wages of employees whose salary is paid with state or local funds but are 

used to meet a cost-sharing or matching requirement of the federal grant shall be 

documented in the same manner as salaries and wages claimed for reimbursement under 

a federal grant.  (2 CFR 200.430) 

 

 

 AR 3230(h) 

 

 

FEDERAL GRANT FUNDS  (continued) 

 

 

Page 47



Records 

 

Except as otherwise provided in 2 CFR 200.333 200.334, or where state law or district policy 

requires a longer retention period, financial records, supporting documents, statistical records, 

and all other district records related to a federal award shall be retained for a period of 

threeyears from the date of submission of the final expenditure report or, for a federal award 

that is renewed quarterly or annually, from the date of the submission of the quarterly or annual 

financial report.  (2 CFR 200.333 200.334) 

 
(cf. 1340 - Access to District Records) 

(cf. 3580 - District Records) 

 

Audits 

 
Note: Pursuant to 2 CFR 200.501, districts that expend $750,000 or more in federal grant funds during a fiscal 

year must have a single audit conducted in accordance with 2 CFR 200.514, unless it chooses to have a 

program-specific audit conducted in accordance with 2 CFR 200.507. Districts that expend more than $50 

million in federal funds are subject to the requirements specified in 2 CFR 200.513. District audits are also 

subject to the requirements in Education Code 41020, the state Education Audit Appeal Panel's Guide for 

Annual Audits of K-12 Local Education Agencies and State Compliance Reporting, and the California 

Department of Education Audit Guide. See BP/AR 3460 - Financial Reports and Accountability for further 

information about audit requirements. 

 

Pursuant to 2 CFR 200.501, districts that expend less than $750,000 in federal grant funds per fiscal year are 

exempt from federal audit requirements but must make records available for review or audit by the awarding 

agency, the pass-through entity, and U.S. Government Accountability Office. Such districts may delete the 

following section. 

 

Whenever the district expends $750,000 or more in federal grant funds during a fiscal year, it 

shall arrange for either a single audit or a program-specific audit in accordance with 2 CFR 

200.507 or 200.514.  (2 CFR 200.501) 

 

The Superintendent or designee shall ensure that the audit meets the requirements specified in 

2 CFR 200.500-200.521. 

 

Specified records pertaining to the audit of federal funds expended by the district shall be 

transmitted to the clearinghouse designated by the federal Office of Management and Budget 

and shall be made available for public inspection. Such records shall be transmitted within 30 

days after receipt of the auditor's report or within nine months after the end of the audit period, 

whichever is sooner, unless a longer period is agreed to in advance by the federal agency or a 

different period is specified in a program-specific audit guide.  (2 CFR 200.512) 

 

 

 

 

 AR 3230(i) 

 

 

FEDERAL GRANT FUNDS  (continued) 

 

 

Page 48



In the event that the audit identifies any deficiency, the Superintendent or designee shall 

promptly act to either correct the identified deficiency, produce recommended improvements, 

or demonstrate that the audit finding is invalid or does not warrant action.  (2 CFR 200.26, 

200.508, 200.511) 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 (9/16  3/18)  3/21 
Policy Reference UPDATE Service 

Copyright 2021 by California School Boards Association, West Sacramento, California 95691 

All rights reserved. 

CSBA Sample 
Administrative Regulation 

 

Business and Noninstructional Operations AR 3311.2(a) 

 

Page 49



LEASE-LEASEBACK CONTRACTS 

 

 

Note: The following administrative regulation addresses construction financing contracts that are commonly 

described as "lease-leaseback" contracts. Education Code 17406, as amended by AB 2316 (Ch. 521, Statutes 

of 2016), no longer permits the selection of a lease-leaseback contractor without advertising, and instead 

requires districts to use a comprehensive "best value" selection process. Education Code 17406, as amended, 

mandates that any district choosing to award a lease-leaseback contract adopt and publish procedures and 

guidelines for evaluating the qualifications of proposers that ensure the fair and impartial selection of the "best 

value" for the district. In addition, for any project that will involve the use of preconstruction services, the 

request for sealed proposals must require proposers to include the fee to perform the preconstruction services 

as part of their sealed proposal to the district. Such procedures and guidelines must include, at a minimum, 

the provisions specified in Education Code 17406 as reflected in the following regulation.  

 

The lease-leaseback financing method should only be used in coordination with competent technical 

consultants and legal counsel to ensure all legal requirements are met.  

 

The district may lease currently owned district property to any person, firm, or corporation for 

a minimum of $1 per year for a term not to exceed 99 years, as long as the lease requires the 

person, firm, or corporation to construct a building or buildings on the property for the district's 

use during the lease and the property and building(s) will vest in the district at the expiration 

of the lease ("lease-leaseback").  (Education Code 17403, 17406) 

 
(cf. 3280 - Sale or Lease of District-Owned Real Property) 

(cf. 3312 - Contracts) 

 

Before the district enters into such a lease or agreement, it shall have available a site upon 

which a building may be constructed for use by the district, shall have complied with 

requirements related to the selection and approval of sites, and shall have prepared and 

adopted plans and specifications for the building that have been approved in accordance 

with Education Code 17280-17316.  (Education Code 17402) 

 
(cf. 7150 - Site Selection and Development) 

 

Procedures for Awarding the Contract 

 

Note:  The following optional paragraph may be revised to reflect district practice.  Pursuant to 

Education Code 17417, the Governing Board must adopt a resolution of intent to enter into a lease or 

agreement related to real property and buildings to be used by the district. However, pursuant to 

Education Code 17406, Education Code 17417 is not applicable to lease-leaseback agreements.  As a 

best practice, the district may choose to adopt such a resolution for lease-leaseback contracts in order 

to inform the public and prospective proposers of the available site and the procedures for awarding 

the contract. 

 

 

 

 AR 3311.2(b) 

 

 

LEASE-LEASEBACK CONTRACTS  (continued) 

 

 

Page 50



The district's intent to enter into a lease-leaseback contract may be described in a  

resolution adopted by the Governing Board which includes, but is not be limited to, a 

description of the available site and the building to be constructed, the amount and term 

of the lease, and where to obtain information about the procedures for submitting a 

proposal.   

 

Any lease-leaseback contract shall be awarded through a competitive "best value" procurement 

process whereby a person, firm, or corporation is selected on the basis of objective criteria for 

evaluating the qualifications of proposers, with the resulting selection representing the best 

combination of price and qualifications. To make this determination, the district shall use the 

following procedures: (Education Code 17400, 17406) 

 

To make this determination, the district shall use the following procedures:  (Education Code 

17406; Public Contract Code 2600) 

 

1. Request for Sealed Proposals:  The Superintendent or designee shall prepare a request 

for sealed proposals which shall include:   

 

a. An estimate of the project's price 

 

b. A clear, precise description of any preconstruction services that may be required 

and the facilities to be constructed 

 

c. The key elements of the contract to be awarded 

 

d. A description of the format that proposals shall follow and the elements they 

shall contain 

 

e. The standards the district will use in evaluating proposals and the qualifications 

of the proposers, including: 

 

(1) Relevant experience 

 

(2) Safety record 

 

(3) Price proposal, including, at the district's discretion, either a lump-sum 

price for the contract to be awarded or the proposer's proposed fee to 

perform the services requested, including the proposer's proposed fee to 

perform preconstruction services or any other work related to the 

facilities to be constructed, as requested by the district 

 

 

 

 AR 3311.2(c) 

 

 

LEASE-LEASEBACK CONTRACTS  (continued) 

 

 

Page 51



(4) Whether each criterion will be evaluated on a pass-fail basis or will be 

scored as part of the "best value" score, and whether proposers must 

achieve any minimum qualification score for award of the contract 

 

(5) For each scored criterion, the methodology and rating or weighting 

system that will be used by the district in evaluating the criterion, 

including the weight assigned to the criterion and any minimum 

acceptable score 

 

(6) Other factors established by the district 

 

f. The date on which proposals are due 

 

g. The timetable the district will follow in reviewing and evaluating proposals 

 
Note:  Public Contract Code 2600, as amended by AB 2311 (Ch. 347, Statutes of 2020), adds a 

requirement to include in all bid documents and construction contracts, when applicable, a notice that 

the project is subject to the skilled and trained workforce requirements specified in Public Contract 

Code 2600-2603.  Pursuant to Education Code 17407.5, lease-leaseback contracts are subject to such 

requirements.  See the section "Skilled and Trained Workforce" below for additional requirements. 

 

h. A statement that the project is subject to the skilled and trained workforce 

requirements specified in Public Contract Code 2600-2603   

 

2. Notice:  At least 10 days before the date for receipt of the proposals, the Superintendent 

or designee shall give notice of the request for sealed proposals using both of the 

following methods: 

 

a. Providing notice at least once a week for two weeks in a local newspaper of 

general circulation pursuant to Public Contract Code 20112  

 

b. Providing notice in a trade paper of general circulation published in the county 

where the project is located 

 
Note: The following paragraph is optional and may be revised to reflect district practice. 

 

The Superintendent or designee also may post the notice on the district's web site or 

through an electronic portal. 

 

Note:  Pursuant to Education Code 17406, the prequalification requirements for contracts that meet the criteria 

specified in Public Contract Code 20111.6 are also applicable to lease-leaseback contracts. Education Code 

17406 requires prequalification for such projects irrespective of whether or not they are funded locally or 

through state sources.  

 

 AR 3311.2(d) 

 

 

LEASE-LEASEBACK CONTRACTS  (continued) 

 

 

Page 52



3. Prequalification:  A proposer shall be prequalified in accordance with Public Contract 

Code 20111.6(b)-(m) in order to submit a proposal. Any electrical, mechanical, and 

plumbing subcontractors shall be subject to the same prequalification requirements. 

 
(cf. 3311 - Bids) 

 

4. Evaluation Criteria: The request for sealed proposals shall identify all criteria that the 

district will consider in evaluating the proposals and qualifications of the proposers, 

including relevant experience, safety record, price proposal, and other factors specified 

by the district. The price proposal shall include, at the district's discretion, either a 

lump-sum price for the contract to be awarded or the proposer's proposed fee to perform 

the services requested, including the proposer's proposed fee to perform 

preconstruction services or any other work related to the facilities to be constructed, as 

requested by the district.  

 

 The request for sealed proposals shall specify whether each criterion will be evaluated 

on a pass-fail basis or will be scored as part of the "best value" score, and whether 

proposers must achieve any minimum qualification score for award of the contract. For 

each scored criterion, the district shall identify the methodology and rating or weighting 

system that will be used by the district in evaluating the criterion, including the weight 

assigned to the criterion and any minimum acceptable score. 

 

5.4. Evaluation of Proposals:  All proposals received shall be reviewed to determine 

whether they meet the format requirements and the standards specified in the request 

for sealed proposals. The district shall evaluate the qualifications of the proposers based 

solely upon the criteria and evaluation methodology set forth in the request for sealed 

proposals, and shall assign a best value score to each proposal. Once the evaluation is 

complete, all responsive proposals shall be ranked from the highest best value to the 

lowest best value to the district. 

 

6.5. Award of Contract:  The award of the contract shall be made by the Governing Board 

to the responsive proposer whose proposal is determined, in writing by the Board, to 

be the best value to the district. 

 

If the selected proposer refuses or fails to execute the tendered contract, the Board may 

award the contract to the proposer with the second highest best value score, if deemed 

in the best interest of the district. If that proposer then refuses or fails to execute the 

tendered contract, the Board may award the contract to the proposer with the third 

highest best value score. 

 

 

 

 AR 3311.2(e) 

 

 

LEASE-LEASEBACK CONTRACTS  (continued) 

 

 

Page 53



Upon issuance of a contract award, the district shall publicly announce its award, 

identifying the entity to which the award is made, along with a statement regarding the 

basis of the award. The statement regarding the contract award and the contract file 

shall provide sufficient information to satisfy an external audit.  

 

7.6. Rejection of Proposals:  At its discretion, the Board may reject all proposals and 

request new proposals. 

 

Prior to entering into a lease-leaseback agreement, the Superintendent or designee shall have 

on file the contractor's enforceable commitment that the contractor and its subcontractors at 

every tier will use a skilled and trained workforce to perform all work on the project or contract 

that falls within an apprenticeable occupation in the building and construction trades.     
(Education Code 17407.5) 
 

Any lease-leaseback agreement shall be reviewed by the district's legal counsel to ensure that 

all required terms, including a lease term that provides for the district's occupancy of the 

building or improved property during the lease and an appropriate financing component, are 

included in the agreement. 

 

Skilled and Trained Workforce 

 
Note:  Education Code 17407.5 requires the district to obtain an enforcement commitment that the 

contractor will comply with the requirements to use a skilled and trained workforce, as defined, in 

accordance with Public Contract Code 2600-2603.  Pursuant to Public Contract Code 2600.5, as added 

by AB 2311, failure to provide the notice described in item #1h above does not excuse the district from 

the requirement to obtain an enforceable commitment that a contractor or other entity will use a skilled 

and trained workforce to complete a contract or project.  

 

Prior to entering into a lease-leaseback agreement, the Superintendent or designee shall have 

on file the contractor's enforceable commitment that the contractor and its subcontractors at 

every tier will use a skilled and trained workforce to perform all work on the project or contract 

that falls within an apprenticeable occupation in the building and construction trades.  The 

entity may demonstrate such commitment through a project labor agreement, by 

becoming a party to the district's project labor agreement, or through an agreement with 

the district to provide evidence of compliance on a monthly basis during the performance 

of the project or contract.  (Education Code 17407.5; Public Contract Code 2602) 

 

Skilled and trained workforce means that all the workers performing the work are either 

skilled journeypersons or apprentices registered in a state-approved apprenticeship 

program.  At least 60 percent of the skilled journeypersons employed to perform the work 

shall be graduates of an apprenticeship program for the applicable occupation or at least 

60 percent of the hours worked by skilled journeypersons shall be performed by  

 

 AR 3311.2(f) 

 

 

LEASE-LEASEBACK CONTRACTS  (continued) 

 

 

Page 54



graduates of an apprenticeship program, with the exception of certain occupations 

specified in Public Contract Code 2601 which are subject to a 30 percent threshold.  

(Public Contract Code 2601) 

 

If the contractor fails to provide the monthly report demonstrating compliance with the 

skilled and trained workforce requirements or provides an incomplete report, the district 

shall withhold further payments until a complete report is provided.  If a report does not 

demonstrate compliance with the skilled and trained workforce requirements, the 

district shall withhold further payments until the contractor provides a sufficient plan to 

achieve substantial compliance with respect to the relevant apprenticeable occupation, 

prior to completion of the contract or project.  In addition, the district shall forward to 

the Labor Commissioner a copy of the monthly report, any plan to achieve compliance, 

and the district's response to that plan.  (Public Contract Code 2602) 

 
(cf. 9124 - Attorney) 

 

 

 
Legal Reference: 

EDUCATION CODE 

17280-17316  Construction of school buildings; approvals 

17400-17429  Leasing property, especially: 

17400  Definitions 

17403  Term of lease or agreement 

17406  Lease-leaseback contract 

17407.5  Use of a skilled and trained workforce 

PUBLIC CONTRACT CODE 

2600-2603  Skilled and trained workforce requirements 

20111.6  Prequalification procedures 

20112  Notices 

COURT DECISIONS 

McGee v. Balfour Beatty Construction, LLC, et al. (4/12/16, No. B262850) (2016) 247 Cal. App. 4th 

235 

Davis v. Fresno Unified School District, (2015) 237 Cal.App.4th 261 

 
Management Resources: 

WEB SITES 

CSBA: http:// www.csba.org 

California Association of School Business Officials:  http://www.casbo.org 

 

 

 

 (12/16)  3/21 

 
Policy Reference UPDATE Service 

Copyright 2021 by California School Boards Association, West Sacramento, California 95691 

All rights reserved. 

CSBA Sample 
Administrative Regulation 

 

Business and Noninstructional Operations AR 3311.3(a) 

 

Page 55



DESIGN-BUILD CONTRACTS 

 

 
Note:  As an alternative to the more traditional design-bid-build process (see BP/AR 3311 - Bids) or a lease-

leaseback process (see AR 3311.2 - Lease-Leaseback Contracts), the district may enter into a design-build 

contract for a public works project in excess of $1 million pursuant to Education Code 17250.10-17250.55. 

As defined by Education Code 17250.15, "design-build" means a project delivery process in which both the 

design and construction of a project are procured from a single entity.  Education Code 17250.15 and 17250.25 

provide that such contracts may be awarded to either the low bid or best value, as defined.  Pursuant to 

Education Code 17250.50 and 17250.55, this authority applies to bid requests issued on or after July 1, 2016 

and will be repealed January 1, 2025 unless legislation is enacted to delete or extend that date. 

 

The Governing Board may approve a contract with a single entity for both design and 

construction of any school facility in excess of $1,000,000, awarding the contract to either the 

low bid or the best value as determined by evaluation of objective criteria.  (Education Code 

17250.20) 

 
(cf. 3311 - Bids) 

(cf. 3312 - Contracts) 

(cf. 7110 - Facilities Master Plan) 

(cf. 7140 - Architectural and Engineering Services) 

 

Design-build documents shall not include provisions for long-term project operations, but may 

include operations during a training or transition period.  (Education Code 17250.25) 

 

Procedures for Awarding the Contract 

 

The procurement process for design-build projects shall be as follows:  (Education Code 

17250.25, 17250.35; Public Contract Code 2600) 

 

1. Performance Specifications:  The district shall prepare a set of documents setting 

forth the scope and estimated price of the project. The documents may include, but are 

not limited to: 

 

a. The size, type, and desired design character of the project  

 

b. Performance specifications that cover the quality of materials, equipment, and 

workmanship  

 

c. Preliminary plans or building layouts  

 

d. Any other information deemed necessary to describe adequately the district's 

needs  

 

 AR 3311.3(b) 

 

 

DESIGN-BUILD CONTRACTS  (continued) 

 

 

Page 56



 The performance specifications and any plans shall be prepared by a design 

professional who is duly licensed and registered in California. 

 

2. Prequalification:  The district shall prepare and issue a request for qualifications in 

order to prequalify, or develop a short list of, the design-build entities whose proposals 

shall be evaluated for final selection. The request for qualifications shall include, but is 

not limited to, all of the following elements: 

 

a. Identification of the basic scope and needs of the project or contract, the 

expected cost range, the methodology that will be used by the district to 

evaluate proposals, the procedure for final selection of the design-build entity, 

and any other information deemed necessary by the district to inform interested 

parties of the contracting opportunity 

 

b. Significant factors that the district reasonably expects to consider in evaluating 

qualifications, including technical design and construction expertise, acceptable 

safety record, and all other non-price-related factors 

 

c. A standard template request for statements of qualifications prepared by the 

district, which shall contain all of the information required pursuant to 

Education Code 17250.25 

 
Note:  Public Contract Code 2600, as amended by AB 2311 (Ch. 347, Statutes of 2020), adds a 

requirement to include in all bid documents and construction contracts, when applicable, a notice that 

the project is subject to the skilled and trained workforce requirements specified in Public Contract 

Code 2600-2603.  Pursuant to Education Code 17250.25, design-build contracts are subject to such 

requirements. 

 

d. A notice that the project is subject to the skilled and trained workforce 

requirements specified in Public Contract Code 2600-2603  

 

The district also may identify specific types of subcontractors that must be included in 

the statement of qualifications and proposal. 

 

 A design-build entity shall not be prequalified or short-listed unless the entity provides 

an enforceable commitment to the district that the entity and its subcontractors at every 

tier will use a skilled and trained workforce, as defined in Education Code 17250.25,  

to perform all work on the project or contract that falls within an apprenticeable 

occupation in the building and construction trades. The entity may demonstrate such 

commitment through a project labor agreement, by becoming a party to the district's 

project labor agreement, or through an agreement with the district to provide evidence 

of compliance on a monthly basis during the performance of the project or contract.  

 

 AR 3311.3(c) 

 

 

DESIGN-BUILD CONTRACTS  (continued) 

 

 

Page 57



3. Request for Proposals:  The district shall prepare a request for proposals (RFP) that 

invites prequalified or short-listed entities to submit competitive sealed proposals in a 

manner prescribed by the district. The RFP shall include the information identified in 

items #2a, and 2b, and 2d above and the relative importance or weight assigned to each 

of the factors. If the district uses a best value selection method for a project, the district 

may reserve the right to request proposal revisions and hold discussions and 

negotiations with responsive proposers, in which case the district shall so specify in the 

request for proposals and shall publish separately or incorporate into the request for 

proposals applicable procedures to be observed by the district to ensure that any 

discussions or negotiations are conducted in good faith. 

 

4. Selection Based on Low Bid:  For those projects utilizing low bid as the final selection 

method, the bidding process shall result in lump-sum bids by the prequalified or short-

listed design-build entities, and the contract shall be awarded to the lowest responsible 

bidder. 

 

5. Selection Based on Best Value:  For those projects utilizing best value as a selection 

method, the following procedures shall be used: 

 

a. Competitive proposals shall be evaluated using only the criteria and selection 

procedures specifically identified in the request for proposals. Criteria shall be 

weighted as deemed appropriate by the district and shall, at a minimum, include 

price, unless a stipulated sum is specified; technical design and construction 

experience; and life-cycle costs over 15 or more years. 

 

b. Following any discussions or negotiations with responsive proposers and 

completion of the evaluation process, the responsive proposers shall be ranked 

on a determination of value provided, provided that no more than three 

proposers are required to be ranked. 

 

c. The contract shall be awarded to the responsible entity whose proposal is 

determined by the district to have offered the best value to the public. 

 

d. The district shall publicly announce the contract award, identifying the entity 

to which the award is made and the basis of the award. This statement and the 

contract file shall provide sufficient information to satisfy an external audit. 

 

Skilled and Trained Workforce 

 
Note:  Education Code 17250.25 requires the district to obtain an enforceable commitment that the 

contractor will comply with the requirements to use a skilled and trained workforce, as defined, in 

accordance with Public Contract Code 2600-2603.  Pursuant to Public Contract Code 2600.5, as  

 

 

 AR 3311.3(d) 

 

 

DESIGN-BUILD CONTRACTS  (continued) 

 

 

Page 58



added by AB 2311, failure to provide the notice described in items #2d and 3 above does not excuse the 

district from the requirement to obtain an enforceable commitment that a contractor or other entity 

will use a skilled and trained workforce to complete a contract or project.  

 

A design-build entity shall not be prequalified or short-listed unless the entity provides an 

enforceable commitment to the district that the entity and its subcontractors at every tier will 

use a skilled and trained workforce, as defined in Education Code 17250.25, to perform all 

work on the project or contract that falls within an apprenticeable occupation in the building 

and construction trades. The entity may demonstrate such commitment through a project labor 

agreement, by becoming a party to the district's project labor agreement, or through an 

agreement with the district to provide evidence of compliance on a monthly basis during the 

performance of the project or contract.  (Education Code 17250.25; Public Contract Code 

2602) 

 

Skilled and trained workforce means that all the workers performing the work are either 

skilled journeypersons or apprentices registered in a state-approved apprenticeship 

program.  At least 60 percent of the skilled journeypersons employed to perform the work 

shall be graduates of an apprenticeship program for the applicable occupation or at least 

60 percent of the hours worked by skilled journeypersons shall be performed by 

graduates of an apprenticeship program, with the exception of certain occupations 

specified in Public Contract Code 2601 which are subject to a 30 percent threshold.  

(Public Contract Code 2601) 

 

If the contractor fails to provide the monthly report demonstrating compliance with the 

skilled and trained workforce requirements or provides an incomplete report, the district 

shall withhold further payments until a complete report is provided.  If a report does not 

demonstrate compliance with the skilled and trained workforce requirements, the 

district shall withhold further payments until the contractor provides a sufficient plan to 

achieve substantial compliance with respect to the relevant apprenticeable occupation, 

prior to completion of the contract or project. In addition, the district shall forward to 

the Labor Commissioner a copy of the monthly report, any plan to achieve compliance, 

and the district's response to that plan.  (Public Contract Code 2602) 

 

 

 
Legal Reference:  (see next page) 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 AR 3311.3(e) 

 

 

DESIGN-BUILD CONTRACTS  (continued) 

 

 

Page 59



 
Legal Reference: 

EDUCATION CODE 

17250.10-17250.55  Design-build contracts 

PUBLIC CONTRACT CODE 

2600-2603  Skilled and trained workforce requirements 

 
Management Resources: 

WEB SITES 

CSBA: http:// www.csba.org 

California Association of School Business Officials:  http://www.casbo.org 

California Department of Education, Facilities: http://www.cde.ca.gov/ls/fa 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 (12/16)  3/21 

 
Policy Reference UPDATE Service 

Copyright 2021 by California School Boards Association, West Sacramento, California 95691 

All rights reserved. 

CSBA Sample 
Board Policy 
 

Business and Noninstructional Operations AR 3320(a) 

 

Page 60



CLAIMS AND ACTIONS AGAINST THE DISTRICT 

 

 
Note:  The Government Claims Act (Government Code 810-996.6) sets forth prelitigation requirements and 

deadlines for claims against public entities, including school districts.  In City of Stockton v. Superior Court, 

the California Supreme Court held that the claim requirements in Government Code 900-915.4 also apply to 

claims for breach of contract.  For any cause of action that is excepted from the Government Claims Act 

pursuant to Government Code 905 but has its claim presentation procedure specified in another statute 

or regulation, such as childhood sexual abuse assault, a claim must be presented in accordance with that 

statute or regulation. For any cause of action that is excepted from the Government Claims Act 

pursuant to Government Code 905 but is not governed by any procedure in another statute or 

regulation, the district may establish its own claim presentation procedure in accordance with 

Government Code 935. The district should consult legal counsel as necessary if questions arise 

regarding the proper procedure. 
 

Because a district's insurance carrier or joint powers authority (JPA) may require the district to comply with 

certain claims management conditions as part of the district's contractual coverage obligation, it is strongly 

recommended that this administrative regulation be reviewed for consistency with any applicable conditions 

of coverage.  A district's failure to follow those contractual conditions may result in a loss of coverage benefits. 

The district's risk manager and legal counsel should also be consulted, as appropriate. 
 

Pursuant to Government Code 935, district claims procedures may include a requirement that a claim be 

presented and acted upon in accordance with those procedures as a prerequisite to a lawsuit. Failure to include 

such a requirement may subject the district to increased liability. 

 

Any claim against the district for money or damages shall be filed and acted upon in 

accordance with the Government Claims Act (Government Code 810-996.6) or other 

applicable law.  Claims that are specifically excepted from the Government Claims Act 

by Government Code 905 and are not governed by any other statute or regulation may 

be filed and acted upon in accordance with district-established procedures pursuant to 

Government Code 935. 

 

Note:  Pursuant to Government Code 935, district claims procedures established by the district may include 

a requirement that a claim be presented and acted upon in accordance with those procedures as a prerequisite 

to the filing of a lawsuit against the district. Failure to include such a requirement may subject the district 

to increased liability. The following paragraph extends this requirement to claims filed under other 

statutes and may be revised to reflect district practice. 

 

Unless otherwise provided by law, prior to filing a lawsuit against the district for money or 

damages, a written claim shall be filed presented to and acted upon by the Governing Board 

in accordance with the following administrative regulation such procedures prior to filing a 

lawsuit against the district for money or damages. 

 

 

 

 

 

 AR 3320(b) 

 

 

CLAIMS AND ACTIONS AGAINST THE DISTRICT  (continued) 

 

 

Page 61



Time Limitations 

 
Note:  Items #1-4 below list reflect timelines for presenting claims in relation to different causes of action, 

pursuant to the Government Claims Act and other applicable statutes.  Pursuant to Government Code 935, the 

district's authority to adopt local claim presentation procedures for causes of action which are excepted from 

the Government Claims Act by Government Code 905 is not applicable to those excepted causes of action 

which have their claim presentation procedures specified in other statutes or regulations. such as childhood 

sexual abuse. 

 

Rather, claims for childhood sexual abuse are governed by the timelines and procedures specified in Code of 

Civil Procedure 340.1. 

 

The following time limitations apply to the presentation of claims for money or damages 

against the district: 

 

3.1. Claims for money or damages relating to a cause of action for death or for injury to a 

person, personal property, or growing crops shall be presented to the Board not later 

than six months after the accrual of the cause of action.  (Government Code 911.2) 

 

4.2. Claims for money or damages relating to any other cause of action subject to the 

Government Claims Act shall be filed not later than one year after the accrual of the 

cause of action.  (Government Code 911.2) 

 
Note:  Rather, cClaims for childhood sexual abuse assault are governed by the timelines and procedures 

specified in Code of Civil Procedure 340.1.  Pursuant to Code of Civil Procedure 340.1, the time limit for 

beginning an action for recovery of damages suffered as a result of childhood sexual assault is 22 years 

from the date the plaintiff attains age 18 or within five years of the date the plaintiff discovers or 

reasonably should have discovered that psychological injury or illness occurring after age 18 was caused 

by sexual assault, whichever is later. A claim may be filed on or after the plaintiff's 40th birthday only 

if the plaintiff files certificates of merit by an attorney and a licensed mental health practitioner selected 

by the plaintiff setting forth the facts which support the declaration. 

 

1.3. Claims for money or damages relating to childhood sexual abuse assault or any and 

other causes of action which are specifically excepted from the Government Claims 

Act by Government Code 905 and for which but are subject to a claims presentation 

procedure in another a statute or regulation provides a claims presentation procedure 

shall be filed presented to the Board in accordance with the applicable governing 

statute or regulation.  (Government Code 905, 935) 

 
(cf. 4157.1/4257.1/4357.1 - Work-Related Injuries) 

(cf. 5141.4 - Child Abuse Prevention and Reporting) 

 
Note:  Pursuant to Government Code 935, a district may establish its own procedure for the presentation of 

those claims which are excluded from the Government Claims Act as specified in Government Code 905 and 

which are not governed by any other applicable statutes or regulations. Optional item #24 below is for  

 

 AR 3320(c) 

 

 

CLAIMS AND ACTIONS AGAINST THE DISTRICT  (continued) 

 

 

Page 62



use by any district whose board has chosen to exercise the authority in Government Code 935 to establish 

district procedures for such claims; see its own procedure for the presentation of claims which are excluded 

from the Government Claims Act by Government Code 905 and which are not governed by any other 

applicable statute or regulation.  See the accompanying Board policy. Item #2 provides six months as the time 

limitation for filing such claims, which is consistent with the requirement in Pursuant to Government Code 

935, that the district's procedure cannot require a shorter time for presentation of a claim than the time 

specified in Government Code 911.2. However, the Governing Board has the discretion to adopt a more 

flexible time limitation and may increase the amount of time allowed for filing such claims. If the Board 

adopts a more flexible time limitation, item #24 should be revised accordingly. 

 

If a claimant misses a deadline for a claim required to be submitted in accordance with item #2 or #3 below, 

the claimant may present an application to present a late claim pursuant to Government Code 911.4; see 

section below entitled "Late Claims." 

 

2.4. In accordance with the Governing Board's authority pursuant to Government Code 935, 

claims for money or damages which relate to a Claims relating to any cause of action 

which is specifically excepted from the Government Claims Act by Government Code 

905 and which are but is not governed by any other claim presentation statute or 

regulation shall be filed presented to the Board within the time limits specified in 

items #1 and 2 above, depending on the applicable cause of action. not later than 

six months after the accrual of the cause of action.  (Government Code 905 911.2, 935) 
 

3. Claims for money or damages relating to a cause of action for death or for injury to a 

person, personal property, or growing crops shall be presented to the Board not later 

than six months after the accrual of the cause of action.  (Government Code 911.2) 

 

4. Claims for money or damages relating to any other cause of action shall be filed not 

later than one year after the accrual of the cause of action.  (Government Code 911.2) 

 

Receipt of Claims 

 

A claim, any amendment thereto, or an application to present a late claim shall be deemed 

presented and received when delivered to the district office or deposited in a post office, 

mailbox, sub-post office, substation, mail chute, or other similar facility maintained by the U.S. 

government, in a sealed envelope properly addressed to the district office with postage paid, 

or when otherwise actually received in the district office or by the Board secretary or clerk.  

(Government Code 915, 915.2) 

 
Note:  Government Code 915, as amended by SB 1473 (Ch. 371, Statutes of 2020), authorizes a claim, 

amendment to a claim, or application for a late claim to be submitted through electronic means, if so 

authorized by a Board resolution.  In practice, such electronic means involve online completion of a 

fillable form and/or transmission by email.  The following paragraph may be revised to specify the 

electronic means authorized by the district.  If the Board has not adopted a resolution authorizing 

electronic submission, the district should delete the following paragraph. 

 

 AR 3320(d) 

 

 

CLAIMS AND ACTIONS AGAINST THE DISTRICT  (continued) 

 

 
Pursuant to Government Code 915.4, as amended by SB 1473, if the Board authorizes electronic 

submission, then any notice required of the district in response to a claim, amendment, or application 

Page 63



for a late claim must be sent to the electronic address from which the district received the claim or 

application, unless the claimant or applicant specified an alternative electronic address for that 

purpose. 

 

Also see the sections "Notice of Claim Insufficiency," "Late Claims," and "Action on Claims" below. 

 

A claim may be submitted electronically in the manner specified by the Superintendent 

or designee.  (Government Code 915, 915.2) 

 

Note:  In most circumstances, a district's insurance provider or JPA is responsible for claims management, 

including investigating, defending, and managing a district's response to a claim presented under the 

Government Claims Act. The following paragraph requires the Superintendent or designee to immediately 

forward any claims received to the district's JPA or insurance provider in order to help ensure compliance 

with any conditions of coverage. 

 

Upon receipt of a claim against the district pursuant to the Government Claims Act, the 

Superintendent or designee shall promptly provide written notice to the district's joint powers 

authority or insurance carrier in accordance with the applicable conditions of coverage. 

 

Review of Contents of the Claim 

 

Note:  Most JPAs and insurance carriers provide a claim form. The person submitting the claim need not use 

the claim form provided by the district but, pursuant to Government Code 910 and 910.2, the claim must 

contain a signature and all the information listed below. 

 

The Superintendent or designee shall review any claim received to ensure that the claim 

contains all of the following information as specified in Government Code 910 and 910.2: 

 

1. The name and post office address of the claimant 

 

2. The post office address to which the person presenting the claim desires notices to be 

sent 

 

3. The date, place, and other circumstances of the occurrence or transaction which gave 

rise to the claim asserted 

 

4. A general description of the indebtedness, obligation, injury, damage, or loss incurred 

insofar as it may be known at the time of presentation of the claim 

 

5. The name(s) of the district employee(s) causing the injury, damage, or loss, if known 

 

 

 

 AR 3320(e) 

 

 

CLAIMS AND ACTIONS AGAINST THE DISTRICT  (continued) 

 

 

6. The amount claimed if it totals less than $10,000, including the estimated amount of 

any prospective injury, damage, or loss, insofar as it may be known at the time of the 

Page 64



claim, together with the basis of computation of the amount claimed. If the amount 

claimed exceeds $10,000, the dollar amount shall not be included in the claim and the 

claimant shall indicate whether the claim is a limited civil case of $25,000 or less. 
 

7. The signature of the claimant or the person acting on the claimant's behalf 
 

Notice of Claim Insufficiency 
 

Note:  Pursuant to Government Code 910.8, if a claim is found insufficient, the district must notify the 

claimant of the defects or omission in the claim.  Government Code 915.4, as amended by SB 1473, 

authorizes such notice to be personally delivered or mailed or, if the Board has adopted a resolution 

authorizing electronic submission of claims (see section "Receipt of Claims" above), then any notice of 

claim insufficiency must be sent to the electronic address from which the claim was sent unless the 

claimant specifies an alternative electronic address for that purpose. 
 

Pursuant to Government Code 911, if the district, or the JPA or insurance carrier acting on the district's behalf, 

fails to give notice that the claim is insufficient, as specified below, then the district may not later raise that 

issue as a defense to the claim. 

 

If a claim is found insufficient or not to satisfy the form requirements under Government Code 

910 and 910.2, the Board or its designee shall, within 20 days of receipt of the claim, personally 

deliver or mail to the claimant, at the address stated in the claim or application, provide a 

notice in the manner specified in Government Code 915.4 that states the particular defects 

or omission in the claim.    (Government Code 910.8, 915.4) 
 

Note:  Districts should be cautious before rejecting a claim because of insufficiency of information and consult 

legal counsel and/or the district's JPA or insurance provider, as appropriate. Courts have held that a claim is 

sufficient as long as enough information is disclosed to allow the district to adequately conduct an 

investigation of the claim's merits. 

 

The Board shall not act upon the claim until at least 15 days after such notice is given.  

(Government Code 910.8) 
 

Amendment to Claims 
 

Within the time limits provided in the section "Time Limitations" above or prior to final action 

by the Board, whichever is later, a claim may be amended if, as amended, it relates to the same 

transaction or occurrence which gave rise to the original claim.  (Government Code 910.6) 
 

Late Claims 

 

Note:  The reference to item #2 in the following paragraph should be deleted if the district has not established 

district procedures pursuant to Government Code 935 for claims that are specifically exempted in Government 

Code 905 or adopted a time limitation that is not less than one year (see the accompanying Board policy and 

item #2 in the section "Time Limitations" above). 

 AR 3320(f) 

 

 

CLAIMS AND ACTIONS AGAINST THE DISTRICT  (continued) 

 

 

For claims under items #2 and #3 in the section "Time Limitations" above, any person who 

presents a claim later than six months after the accrual of the cause of action shall present, 

along with the claim, an application to present a late claim. When a claim that is required to 

Page 65



be presented not later than six months after the accrual of the cause of action, as specified 

in the section "Time Limitations" above, is not presented within that time, an application 

to present a late claim may be presented to the Board, in the manner specified in 

Government Code 915 and 915.2, within a reasonable time not to exceed Such claim and 

the application to present a late claim shall be presented not later than one year after the accrual 

of the cause of action.  The application shall include the proposed claim and shall state the 

reason for the delay in presenting the claim.  (Government Code 905, 911.4, 915, 915.2) 

 

Note:  If the claim is presented late and is not accompanied by an application to present a late claim, the Board 

or its agent should notify the claimant that "no action" was taken because the claim was presented late. If the 

Board were to state that the claim was "rejected," this would indicate that the Board had accepted the filing of 

the late claim and taken action to reject it. 

 

If the claim is presented late and is not accompanied by an application to present a late claim, 

the Board or its designee may, within 45 days, give written notice that the claim was not 

presented timely and that it is being returned without further action.  (Government Code 911.3) 

 

The Board shall grant or deny the application to present a late claim within 45 days after it is 

presented. This 45-day period may be extended by written agreement of the claimant and the 

Board provided that such agreement is made before the expiration of the 45-day period.  

(Government Code 911.6) 

 

The Board shall grant the application to present a late claim where one or more of the following 

conditions are applicable:  (Government Code 911.6) 

 

1. The failure to present the claim was through mistake, inadvertence, surprise, or 

excusable neglect and the district was not prejudiced in its defense regarding the claim 

by the claimant's failure to present the claim within the time limit. 

 

2. The person who sustained the alleged injury, damage, or loss was a minor during all of 

the time specified for presentation of the claim. 

 

3. The person who sustained the alleged injury, damage, or loss was physically or 

mentally incapacitated during all of the time specified for presentation of the claim and 

the disability was the reason the person failed to present the claim. 

 

4. The person who sustained the alleged injury, damage, or loss died before the expiration 

of the time specified for the presentation of the claim. 

 AR 3320(g) 

 

 

CLAIMS AND ACTIONS AGAINST THE DISTRICT  (continued) 

 

 

If the application to present a late claim is denied, the claimant shall be given notice in 

substantially the same form as set forth in Government Code 911.8 and in the manner 

specified in Government Code 915.4.  (Government Code 911.8, 915.4) 

 

Page 66



If the Board does not take action on the application to present a late claim within 45 days, the 

application shall be deemed to have been denied on the 45th day unless the time period has 

been extended, in which case it shall be denied on the last day of the period specified in the 

extension agreement.  (Government Code 911.6) 

 

Action on Claims 

 

Note:  Pursuant to Government Code 945.6, if the Board formally acts to reject a claim and provides notice 

of such rejection, the claimant has only six months from the rejection to initiate a lawsuit.  If the Board takes 

no action or fails to provide written notice rejecting the claim, the claimant then has two years to initiate a suit 

against the district.  The notice of rejection must comply with the notification requirements of Government 

Code 913 unless the claim has no address on it. 

 

Although the Board takes final action on claims as specified below, such action is based on the evaluation of 

the claim by the district's insurance provider or JPA. 

 

Within 45 days after the presentation or amendment of a claim, the Board shall take action on 

the claim.  This time limit may be extended by written agreement between the district and the 

claimant before the expiration of the 45-day period.  If the 45-day period has expired, the time 

limit may be extended if legal action has not commenced or been barred by legal limitations.  

(Government Code 912.4) 

 

The Board may act on the claim in one of the following ways:  (Government Code 912.4, 

912.6) 

 

1. If the Board finds that the claim is not a proper charge against the district, the claim 

shall be rejected. 

 

2. If the Board finds that the claim is a proper charge against the district and is for an 

amount justly due, the claim shall be allowed. 

 

3. If the Board finds that the claim is a proper charge against the district but is for an 

amount greater than is justly due, the Board shall either reject the claim or allow it in 

the amount justly due and reject it as to the balance. 

 

4. If legal liability of the district or the amount justly due is disputed, the Board may reject 

or compromise the claim. 

 

5. If the Board takes no action on the claim, the claim shall be deemed rejected. 

 

 AR 3320(h) 

 

 

CLAIMS AND ACTIONS AGAINST THE DISTRICT  (continued) 

 

 

If the Board allows the claim in whole or in part or compromises the claim and the claimant 

accepts the amount allowed or offered to settle the claim, the Board may require the claimant 

to accept it in settlement of the entire claim.  (Government Code 912.6) 

 

Page 67



The Board or its designee shall transmit to the claimant written notice of action taken or of 

inaction which is deemed rejection. The notice shall be in the form set forth in Government 

Code 913 and shall be provided in the manner specified in Government Code 915.4. and 

shall either be personally delivered or mailed to the address stated in the claim or application.  

(Government Code 913, 915.4) 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 (10/18  7/19)  3/21 

 
Policy Reference UPDATE Service 

Copyright 2020 by California School Boards Association, West Sacramento, California 95691 

All rights reserved. 

CSBA Sample 
Board Policy 
 

Business and Noninstructional Operations BP 3452(a) 

 

STUDENT ACTIVITY FUNDS 

 

 

Page 68



Note:  Pursuant to Education Code 48930, the Governing Board may approve the formation of associated 

student body organizations (ASBs), which are composed entirely of students and are subject to the Board's 

control and regulation.  Generally, there are two types of ASBs.  ASBs in high schools and middle schools 

are called referred to as "organized ASBs" since the students, organizing their activities around student clubs 

and/or a student council, have primary responsibility for the ASB, with the assistance, oversight, and co-

approval of an district-employed advisoer.  In elementary schools, the ASBs are considered to be is 

"unorganized" because there is no student council and the principal or designee usually oversees the 

fundraising and spending decisions, with more limited involvement from the students. 

 

Unlike parent-teacher associations or other school-connected organizations, ASBs, which are subject to the 

Board's control and regulation pursuant to Education Code 48930, are legally considered part of the 

district.  In contrast, booster clubs, education foundations, parent-teacher associations, and other 

parent-run organizations operate independently of the district.  See BP /AR 1230 - School-Connected 

Organizations.  Districts with questions regarding the distinction between an ASB and a school-

connected organization should consult legal counsel. 

 

The following optional policy may be modified to reflect district practice. 

 

The Governing Board recognizes that student organizations can provide students with an 

opportunity to conduct worthwhile cocurricular activities beyond those provided by the district 

and can also while helping students learn about effective financial practices and develop 

leadership and management skills.  To that end, the Board may approve the formation of 

associated student body organizations which are composed entirely of students, operate 

under the oversight of the principal or other district-employed advisor, and are subject 

to the control and regulation of the Board.  Student organizations may raise and spend 

funds to support activities that promote the general welfare, morale, and educational 

experiences of the student body. 

 
(cf. 1230 - School Connected Organizations) 

(cf. 3260 - Fees and Charges) 

(cf. 5000 - Concepts and Roles) 

(cf. 6145 - Extracurricular and Cocurricular Activities) 

(cf. 6145.5 - Student Organizations and Equal Access) 

 

Fund Raising Events Fundraising 

 

Note:  Education Code 48932 requires the Board to approve a student organization's fundraising events and 

to determine whether such fundraising activities that are held on school property during school hours will 

interfere with the normal conduct of the schools.  The following paragraph provides for the Board to delegate 

the review and approval of ASB fundraising events to the Superintendent or designee and should be modified 

to reflect district practice. 

 

 

 

 BP 3452(b) 

 

 

STUDENT ACTIVITY FUNDS  (continued) 

 

 
Education Code 49431 and 49431.5 limit the number of fund-raising events and types of food that may be 

sold on school grounds, see BP/AR 3550 - Other Food Sales.  For a list of activities that may be prohibited on 

school grounds because of safety concerns, see AR 5142 - Safety. For information regarding online 

fundraising, see BP 3290 - Gifts, Grants and Bequests. 

Page 69



 

At the beginning of each school year, each principal or designee shall submit to the 

Superintendent or designee a list of the fund-raising fundraising events that each student 

organization proposes to hold that year.  The Superintendent or designee shall review the 

proposed events and determine whether the events contribute to the educational experience and 

are not in do not conflict with or detract from the school's educational program.  When 

reviewing proposed events, the Superintendent or designee shall consider the effects of the 

activities on student health and safety, evaluate the risk of liability to the district, and ensure 

that the proposed activities are in compliance with law, Board policy, and administrative 

regulation. 

 
(cf. 1321 - Solicitation of Funds from and by Students) 

(cf. 3290 - Gifts, Grants and Bequests) 

(cf. 3530 - Risk Management/Insurance) 

(cf. 3554 - Other Food Sales) 

(cf. 5030 - Student Wellness) 

(cf. 5142 - Safety) 

(cf. 5143 - Insurance) 

 

Note:  Education Code 49431, 49431.2, and 49431.5 prescribe the types of foods and beverages that may 

be sold on school grounds limit the number of and restrict when fundraising events that involve the sale of 

noncompliant foods and beverages on school grounds may occur. and types of food that may be sold on 

school grounds, sSee BP/AR 3550 3554 - Other Food Sales. 

 

Fundraising events that involve the sale of food and/or beverages shall comply with 

applicable state and/or federal nutrition standards and BP/AR 3554 - Other Food Sales. 

If the fundraising event involves the sale of noncompliant food and/or beverages, it shall 

not take place from midnight until at least one-half hour after the end of the school day, 

or not be conducted on school premises. 

 
(cf. 3554 - Other Food Sales) 

 

Management and Reporting of Funds 

 

Note:  Education Code 48937 requires the district to provide for the supervision of all funds raised by any 

student body organization or student organization using the name of the school.  The acceptable investment 

and use of such funds are detailed in Education Code 48933, 48934, and 48936. The Fiscal Crisis & and 

Management Assistance Team (FCMAT) has developed the Associated Student Body Accounting Manual, 

Fraud Prevention Guide and & Desk Reference, available on its web site, to outline the district's fiscal and 

managerial responsibilities relative to these funds. 

 

 

 BP 3452(c) 

 

 

STUDENT ACTIVITY FUNDS  (continued) 

 

 

Student body funds shall be managed in accordance with law, regulations, Board policies, 

and sound business procedures designed to encourage the largest possible educational return 

to students without sacrificing the security of funds. 

 
Page 70



The Superintendent or designee shall develop internal control procedures to safeguard the 

organization's assets, promote the success of fund-raising fundraising ventures, provide 

reliable financial information, protect employees and volunteers from accusations of 

impropriety, and reduce the risk and promote the detection of fraud and abuse.  These 

procedures shall detail the oversight of activities and funds including, but not limited to, the 

appropriate role and provision of training for staff and students, parameters for events on 

campus, appropriate and prohibited uses of funds, and accounting and record-keeping 

processes, including procedures for handling questionable expenditures. 

 
(cf. 3400 - Management of District Assets/Accounts) 

 

The principal or designee shall be responsible for the proper conduct of all student organization 

financial activities.  The budget adopted by the student body organization should serve as the 

financial plan for the school year and shall be submitted to the Superintendent or designee at 

the beginning of each school year.  The Superintendent or designee shall monitor the budget 

and periodically review the organization's use of funds to ensure compliance with the district's 

internal control procedures. 

 

Funds derived from the student body shall be expended disbursed according to procedures 

established by the student organization.  All expenditures disbursements must be approved by 

a Board-designated employee or official, the certificated employee who is the designated 

student organization advisor, and a student organization representative.  (Education Code 

48933) 

 
Note:  The following paragraph is optional.  5 CCR 4922 and 34 CFR 106.41 require districts to ensure 

that the district's athletic program provides equivalent opportunities for both sexes.  The factors that 

districts must consider when determining whether equivalent opportunities are being provided include, 

but are not limited to, the provision of necessary funds, equipment, supplies, and travel allowances.  See 

AR 6145.2 - Athletic Competition. 

 

When student body funds are expended for equipment, supplies, or activities that support 

the district's athletic program, the Superintendent or designee shall ensure that the 

expenditures are aligned with the district's commitment to provide equitable 

opportunities for males and females. 

 
(cf. 6145.2 - Athletic Competition) 

 
Note:  Pursuant to Governmental Accounting Standards Board (GASB) Statement 84, if the district has 

administrative or direct financial involvement with the ASB's assets, as defined, the student activity 

fund may be considered a governmental fund subject to accounting and financial reporting  

 

 BP 3452(d) 

 

 

STUDENT ACTIVITY FUNDS  (continued) 

 

 
within thedistrict's funds. FCMAT's Fiscal Alert:  GASB 84 and its Impact on Associated Student Body 

Accounts clarifies that, under state law, the district's considerable administrative involvement in both 

organized and unorganized ASBs means that ASBs will typically be considered governmental activities, 

rather than fiduciary responsibilities of the district. As such, ASB accounts should be reported in either 

Page 71



a special reserve fund or the general fund. For further information see GASB 84, GASB's 

Implementation Guide No. 2019-2, Fiduciary Activities, and FCMAT's Fiscal Alert:  GASB 84 and its 

Impact on Associated Student Body Accounts. Districts are encouraged to consult legal counsel in the 

determination of whether its ASB(s) are fiduciary or nonfiduciary in order to properly report the 

accounts. 

 

Because of the district's administrative and/or direct financial involvement in the assets 

of the student organization, the student activity fund shall be reported within the 

district's fund in accordance with Governmental Accounting Standards Board Statement 

84. 

 

Note:  Because an the ASB is an entity of the district, ASB funds are reviewed as part of the annual audit of 

the district conducted pursuant to Education Code 41020, as specified below. 

 

The Board shall provide an annual audit of student organization accounts by a certified public 

accountant or licensed public accountant.  The cost of the audit shall be paid from district 

funds.  (Education Code 41020) 

 
(cf. 3460 - Financial Reports and Accountability) 

 

 

 
Legal Reference:  (see next page) 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 BP 3452(e) 

 

 

STUDENT ACTIVITY FUNDS  (continued) 

 

 

 
Legal Reference: 

EDUCATION CODE 

35182.5  Non-nutritious foods and beverages, vending machines 

Page 72



35564  Funds, obligations of the student body 

41020  Requirement for annual audit 

48930-48938  Student body organization 

49431  Sale of food and beverages, elementary school 

49431.2  Sale of food, middle and high schools 

49431.5  Sale of food and beverages, elementary, middle, and high schools 

51520  School premise, prohibited solicitations 

51521  Fund-raising Fundraising projects 

CODE OF REGULATIONS, TITLE 5 

4922  Nondiscrimination in intramural, interscholastic, and club activities 

15500  Food sales, elementary schools 

15501  Food sales, middle high schools and junior high schools 

CODE OF FEDERAL REGULATIONS, TITLE 34 

106.41  Nondiscrimination in athletic programs 

COURT DECISIONS 

Prince v. Jacoby, (2002) 303 F.3d 1074 

 
Management Resources: 

FISCAL CRISIS MANAGEMENT & ASSISTANCE TEAM PUBLICATIONS 

Fiscal Alert:  GASB 84 and Its Impact on Associated Student Body Accounts, May 2020 

Associated Student Body Accounting Manual, Fraud Prevention Guide and & Desk Reference, 20015 

GOVERNMENTAL ACCOUNTING STANDARDS BOARD PUBLICATIONS 

Implementation Guide No. 2019-2, Fiduciary Activities, June 2019 

Statement No. 84, January 2017 

WEB SITES 

California Department of Education:  http://www.cde.ca.gov 

Fiscal Crisis Management & Assistance Team:  http://www.fcmat.org 

Governmental Accounting Standards Board:  www.gasb.org 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 (9/88  7/07)  3/21 

 
Policy Reference UPDATE Service 

Copyright 2021 by California School Boards Association, West Sacramento, California 95691 

All rights reserved. 

CSBA Sample 
Board Policy 
 

Business and Noninstructional Operations BP 3515.3(a) 
 

DISTRICT POLICE/SECURITY DEPARTMENT 

 

 

Page 73



Note:  Education Code 38000 authorizes the Governing Board to establish a district police or security 

department and to employ personnel to ensure the safety of district students and staff and the security of 

district real and personal property.  The following optional policy may be revised as desired, including 

appropriate modifications to indicate whether the district has a "police" or "security" department.  However, 

as amended by SB 98 (Ch. 24, Statutes of 2020), Education Code 38000 expresses legislative intent to 

encourage districts to redirect resources currently allocated to district police departments or to 

contracts with local law enforcement into student support services (e.g., mental health services) and 

professional development on cultural competency and restorative justice, if found to be a more 

appropriate use of resources based on student and school needs. 

 

This policy and  accompanying administrative regulation are for use by districts that choose to establish 

a district police or security department and  may be revised to reflect district practice, including appropriate 

modifications to indicate whether the district has a "police" or "security" department. Pursuant to 

Government Code 7286, district police departments are required to establish policy on the use of force.  

See the section "Conduct of Officers" below and in the accompanying administrative regulation. 

 

Districts that elect not to establish a police or security department, but instead contract with local law 

enforcement, should consider additional training requirements for any contracted peace officers to 

include, but not be limited to, professional development focused on cultural competency, restorative 

justice, and adolescent development as applied in public schools. 

 

To help ensure protect the safety of district students and staff and the security of district 

property, the Governing Board shall maintain a district police or security department.  The 

Board commits to providing a positive school climate, mental health services, other 

student support services, and restorative justice practices to resolve conflicts and reduce 

law enforcement interactions with students. 

 
(cf. 0450 - Comprehensive Safety Plan) 

(cf. 1250 - Visitors/Outsiders) 

(cf. 3515 - Campus Security) 

(cf. 3515.2 - Disruptions) 

(cf. 3515.5 - Sex Offender Notification) 

(cf. 3516.2 - Bomb Threats) 

(cf. 5131.4 - Student Disturbances) 

(cf. 5131.5 - Vandalism and Graffiti) 

(cf. 5131.6 - Alcohol and Other Drugs) 

(cf. 5131.7 - Weapons and Dangerous Instruments) 

(cf. 5136 - Gangs) 

(cf. 5141.5 - Mental Health) 

(cf. 5142.1 - Identification and Reporting of Missing Children) 

(cf. 5145.11 - Questioning and Apprehension by Law Enforcement) 

(cf. 5145.12 - Search and Seizure) 

 

 

 

 BP 3515.3(b) 

 

 

DISTRICT POLICE/SECURITY DEPARTMENT  (continued) 

 

 

The Superintendent or designee shall provide training to staff regarding the role of 

district police or security officers and the appropriate circumstances for contacting such 

officers. 

 

Page 74



Note:  Pursuant to Penal Code 13651, as added by AB 846 (Ch. 322, Statutes of 2020), entities that 

employ peace officers are required to review the job description that is used in recruitment and hiring 

and make changes that emphasize community-based policing, familiarization between law enforcement 

and community residents, and collaborative problem solving while de-emphasizing the paramilitary 

aspects of the job. 

 

In addition, the U.S. Department of Education's Guiding Principles:  A Resource Guide for Improving 

School Climate and Discipline recommends that educators, rather than police or security officers, 

should handle student discipline issues. 

 

Duties of district police officers or security officers shall be delineated in a job description 

developed by the Superintendent or designee.  Such duties shall focus on collaborative 

problem solving and, when circumstances warrant intervention with students, the use of 

positive and restorative approaches in accordance with Penal Code 1365.  Job duties shall 

not include the handling of routine student disciplinary matters. 

 
(cf. 4158/4258/4358 - Employee Security) 

(cf. 4200 - Classified Personnel) 

(cf. 5144 - Discipline) 

(cf. 5144.1 - Suspension and Expulsion/Due Process) 

 

Note:  The district may select either or both options below depending on whether it has a "security" and/or 

"police" department. 

 

OPTION 1:  (Security Department) 

 

Persons employed or assigned as school security officers shall serve as watchpersons, security 

guards, or patrolpersons on or about district premises to protect persons or property, prevent 

the theft or unlawful taking of district property, or report unlawful activity to the district and 

local law enforcement agencies.  (Education Code 38001.5) 

 

When district security officers are unable to perform their duties because of an emergency, 

including, but not be limited to, war, epidemic, fire, flood, or work stoppage, or when the 

emergency necessitates additional security services, the Board may contract with a private 

licensed security agency. In such cases, the Board shall make a specific finding that an 

emergency exists and shall include this finding in the Board minutes.  (Education Code 38005) 

 

 

 

 

 BP 3515.3(c) 

 

 

DISTRICT POLICE/SECURITY DEPARTMENT  (continued) 

 

 

OPTION 2:  (Police Department) 

 

Persons employed as members of the district police department, when appointed and duly 

sworn, are peace officers for the purposes of carrying out their duties pursuant to Penal Code 

830.32.  (Education Code 38001) 

Page 75



 

Note:  AB 1436 (Ch. 292, Statutes of 2003) amended Education Code 35021.5 to delete the requirement that 

a school police reserve officer corps consist of unpaid volunteers.  However, Education Code 35021.5 

continues to express legislative intent that districts be allowed to use volunteer reserve officers to the extent 

necessary to provide a safe and secure school environment.  The following optional paragraph is for use by 

districts that have a police department and choose to establish a reserve officer corps, and may be revised 

to reflect district practice. Education Code 35021.5 expresses legislative intent that districts be allowed to use 

volunteer reserve officers to the extent necessary to provide a safe and secure school environment. 

 

The district's police department may be supplemented by a school police reserve officer corps, 

which may include unpaid volunteer reserve police officers. For the duration of their specific 

assignment, school police reserve officers shall have the same powers and duties as other 

school police officers.  (Education Code 35021.5; Penal Code 830.6) 

 
(cf. 1240 - Volunteer Assistance) 

 

Conduct of Officers 

 

The Board expects district police or security officers to cooperate and regularly communicate 

with local law enforcement agencies, and to work collaboratively with other district staff and 

community members to develop long-term, proactive approaches that address the conditions 

affecting school safety. 

 
(cf. 1400 - Relations Between Other Governmental Agencies and the Schools) 

 

District police or security officers shall conduct themselves in ways that promote goodwill and 

cooperation on the part of students, district staff, and the general public. District police or 

security officers shall not discriminate against or treat any person differently on the basis 

race, color, ancestry, nationality, national origin, immigration status, ethnic group 

identification, ethnicity, age, religion, marital status, pregnancy, parental status, physical 

or mental disability, sex, sexual orientation, gender, gender identity, gender expression, 

or genetic information; a perception of one or more of such characteristics; or association 

with a person or group with one or more of these actual or perceived characteristics. 

 
(cf. 0410 - Nondiscrimination in District Programs and Activities) 

 

District police or security officers shall not solicit or collect information or documents 

 

 BP 3515.3(d) 

 

 

DISTRICT POLICE/SECURITY DEPARTMENT  (continued) 

 

 

regarding the citizenship or immigration status of students or their family members or 

provide assistance with immigration enforcement at district schools, except as may be 

required by state and/or federal law.  (Education Code 234.7) 

 
(cf. 5145.13 - Response to Immigration Enforcement) 

 

Page 76



Note:  Pursuant to Government Code 7286, district police departments are required to adopt a policy 

by January 1, 2021 that provides a minimum standard on the use of force.  See the accompanying 

administrative regulation for information about the required components of such policy. 

 

Whenever possible, district police or security officers shall use tactics such as de-

escalation techniques to mitigate the use of force.  The district police department shall 

maintain and make accessible to the public a policy on the use of force in accordance with 

Government Code 7286 and consistent with district policy and administrative regulation.  

Officers shall periodically receive training regarding applicable district policies and the 

guidelines from the Commission on Peace Officer Standards and Training. 

 

Firearms Equipment 

 

Note:  Penal Code 626.9 exempts peace officers from the Gun Free Schools Act, which prohibits the 

possession of a firearm on school grounds.  Pursuant to Penal Code 830.32, the Board may determine 

whether or not its police officers will carry firearms. Education Code 38001.5 implies that security officers 

also may or may not be permitted to carry firearms. 

 

OPTION 1:  The Board authorizes district police or security officers to carry firearms in 

accordance with law, Board policy, and administrative regulations. 

 
(cf. 3515.7 - Firearms on School Grounds) 

 

OPTION 2:  District police or security officers shall not carry firearms. 

 

Note:  The following paragraph may be used by all districts that maintain a police department. 

 

The district police department shall be eligible to receive surplus military equipment 

pursuant to 10 USC 2576a only if, at a regularly scheduled public Board meeting, the 

Board approves the acquisition of such equipment after providing parents/guardians and 

members of the public an opportunity to comment on the proposed acquisition. The 

Board shall provide a detailed description of the function and purpose of the surplus 

military equipment, identify safe and secure storage for the equipment, and ensure that 

district police officers have adequate training in the safe use and handling of the 

equipment to be received.  (Education Code 38004.5) 

 

 

 BP 3515.3(e) 

 

 

DISTRICT POLICE/SECURITY DEPARTMENT  (continued) 

 

 

Records 

 

District police or security officers shall not have access to student records, nor release 

student information to another person, agency, or organization, without written 

permission from the parent/guardian or adult student, unless specifically allowed or 

required by state or federal law.  (Education Code 49076; 34 CFR 99.1) 

 

Page 77



(cf. 5125 - Student Records) 

 

Records created and maintained by the district police or security department for a law 

enforcement purpose are not considered disclosable student records under the Family 

Educational Rights and Privacy Act.  (34 CFR 99.3) 

 

 

 
Legal Reference: 

EDUCATION CODE 

234.7  Student protections relating to immigration and citizenship status 

35021.5  School police reserve corps 

38000-38005  Security and police departments 

39672  School peace officers, fingerprinting 

45122.1  Classified employees, conviction of a violent or serious felony 

45133.5  School police department, work schedule 

49076  Student records 

49079  Notification to teacher; student who has engaged in acts constituting grounds for suspension or 

expulsion 

BUSINESS AND PROFESSIONS CODE 

7583-7583.46  Private patrol operators 

FAMILY CODE 

6240-6274  Emergency protective orders 

GOVERNMENT CODE 

3300-3312  Public safety officers, rights and protections 

7286-7286.5  Law enforcement use of force policies 

8597-8598  Peace officers 

12525.2  Reports of incidents involving peace officers 

PENAL CODE 

290.45  Sex offenders, authority of peace officers 

626.9  Gun Free School Zone Act 

646.91  Emergency protective order for stalking 

830-832.9  Peace officers, especially: 

830.32  School district and community college police 

830.6  Reserve police officers, powers and duties 

832  Course of training prescribed by Commission on Peace Officer Standards and Training 

832.2  School peace officers; training 

832.7  Disclosure of personnel files in criminal or civil proceedings 

 
Legal Reference continued:  (see next page) 

 

 BP 3515.3(f) 

 

 

DISTRICT POLICE/SECURITY DEPARTMENT  (continued) 

 

 

 
Legal Reference:  (continued) 

PENAL CODE  (continued) 

832.15-832.16  Notice of prohibition against possession of firearm 

836  Peace officers; warrants 

12028.5  Taking custody of weapons 

13510-13519.9 10  Standards for recruitment and training 

13651  Peace officers, job descriptions 

13700-13702  Response to domestic violence 

Page 78



WELFARE AND INSTITUTIONS CODE 

707  List of crimes 

828-828.1  Disclosure of information re minors by law enforcement agency 

UNITED STATES CODE, TITLE 10 

2576a  Surplus military equipment 

CODE OF FEDERAL REGULATIONS, TITLE 34 

99.1-99.67  Family Educational Rights and Privacy Act 

COURT DECISIONS 
San Diego Police Officers Association et al. v. City of San Diego Civil Service Commission et al., 

(2002)  104 Cal.App.4th 275 (2002) 

 
Management Resources: 

CDE PUBLICATIONS 

Safe Schools:  A Planning Guide for Action, 2002 

COMMISSION ON PEACE OFFICER STANDARDS AND TRAINING PUBLICATIONS 

POST Use of Force Standards and Guidelines, November 2020 
U.S. DEPARTMENT OF EDUCATION PUBLICATIONS 

Guiding Principles:  A Resource Guide for Improving School Climate and Discipline, 2014 

WEB SITES 

Commission on Peace Officer Standards and Training:  http://www.post.ca.gov 

California Attorney General's Office:  http://www.oag.ca.gov 

California Department of Education, Safe Schools and Violence Prevention Office:  

http://www.cde.ca.gov/ls/ss 

Attorney General's Office, Crime and Violence Prevention Center:  http://www.safestate.org 

Commission on Peace Officer Standards and Training:  http://www.post.ca.gov 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 (11/00  11/03)  3/21 

 
Policy Reference UPDATE Service 

Copyright 2021 by California School Boards Association, West Sacramento, California 95691 

All rights reserved. 

CSBA Sample 
Administrative Regulation 
 

Business and Noninstructional Operations AR 3515.3(a) 

 

DISTRICT POLICE/SECURITY DEPARTMENT 

 

 

Note:  The following regulation is for use by districts whose Governing Board has established a police 

or security department pursuant to Education Code 38000.  Districts should revise the following optional 

regulation to reflect whether the district has a "police" or "security" department as authorized by Education 

Code 38000. 

 

Page 79



To be employed as district police or security officers, persons shall meet all the requirements 

for classified personnel in addition to specialized requirements as described below. 

 
(cf. 4112.4/4212.4/4312.4 - Health Examinations) 

(cf. 4112.41/4212.41/4312.41 - Employee Drug Testing) 

(cf. 4211 - Recruitment and Selection) 

(cf. 4212 - Appointment and Conditions of Employment) 

(cf. 4215 - Evaluation/Supervision) 

 

Chief of Police/Chief of Security 

 

The district police or security department shall be supervised by a chief of police or chief of 

security designated by the Superintendent and working under the Superintendent's direction.  

(Education Code 38000) 

 

Note:  Pursuant to Education Code 38000, the Board must set minimum qualifications for employment of the 

police chief or security chief, including but not limited to the qualifications described in the following 

paragraph. The district may expand the following paragraph to specify additional qualifications if desired. 

 

Qualifications for the position of police or security chief include, but are not limited to, prior 

employment as a peace officer or completion of a peace officer training course approved by 

the Commission on Peace Officer Standards and Training (POST). The police or security chief 

shall comply with this requirement within one year of initial employment in this position by 

the district.  (Education Code 38000) 

 

Qualifications of Security Officers 

 

Note:  The following section is for use by districts that employ security officers pursuant to Education Code 

38000 and 38001.5. 

 

Every A person employed as a school security officer shall:  (Education Code 38001.5) 

 

1. Under the conditions described in Education Code 38001.5, submit fingerprints to the 

district copies of his/her fingerprints on forms or electronically, as prescribed by the 

Department of Justice 

 

 AR 3515.3(b) 

 

 

DISTRICT POLICE/SECURITY DEPARTMENT  (continued) 

 

 

2. Be determined to be a person not prohibited from employment by a school district 

pursuant to Education Code 44237 or 45122.1 

 
(cf. 3515.6 - Criminal Background Checks for Contractors) 

(cf. 4112.5/4212.5/4312.5 - Criminal Record Check) 

(cf. 4112.62/4212.62/4312.62 - Maintenance of Criminal Offender Records) 

(cf. 4112.5/4212.5/4312.5 - Criminal Record Check) 

 

Page 80



Note:  Item #3 below is for use by districts that authorize security officers to carry firearms; see BP 3515.3 

the accompanying Board policy. Pursuant to Penal Code 832.15-832.16, after receiving an applicant's 

or employee's fingerprints, the Department of Justice will notify the district as to whether the individual 

is prohibited from possessing a firearm. 

 

3. Be determined by the Department of Justice to be a person who is not prohibited from 

possessing a firearm  (Education Code 38001.5) 

 

Note:  Education Code 38001.5 requires security officers employed by the district to complete the 

training described below.  Effective July 1, 2021, Education Code 38001.5 extends the training 

requirement to include security officers who work 20 hours per week or less.  Education Code 38001.5 

also requires that the district provide the training during regular work hours unless otherwise 

negotiated with the employee's exclusive representative.  Districts that have otherwise negotiated this 

provision should modify the following paragraph accordingly. 

 

The district shall provide each Each employee who works more than 20 hours a week as a 

school security officer, during the employee's regular working hours, shall complete a 

course of training developed by the Bureau of Security and Investigative Services of the 

Department of Consumer Affairs in consultation with the Commission on Peace Officer 

Standards and Training POST.  (Education Code 38001.5) 

 

Note:  The following paragraph is for use by districts that require school authorize security officers to carry 

a firearms; while performing their duties. see the accompanying Board policy. 

 

School security officers who carry a firearm while performing their duties shall 

additionally satisfy the training requirements of Penal Code 832.  (Education Code 38001.5) 

 

Qualifications of Police Officers 

 

Note:  The following section is for use by districts that employ police officers pursuant to Education Code 

38000 and 38001. 

 

Before exercising the powers of a peace officer, district police officers shall satisfactorily 

complete an introductory course of training prescribed by the Commission on Peace Officer 

Standards and Training POST and shall pass the commission's POST examination.  (Penal 

Code 832, 832.3) 

 

 AR 3515.3(c) 

 

 

DISTRICT POLICE/SECURITY DEPARTMENT  (continued) 

 

 

If a A person who has passed this examination more than three years before being employed 

as a peace officer, or has a break in service of three or more years, he/she shall be required to 

pass the examination before beginning duties as a district police officer, unless he/she meets 

criteria required by law exempted pursuant to Penal Code 832.  (Penal Code 832) 

 
Note:  Pursuant to Penal Code 832.3, within two years of the date of first employment, district police 

officers must complete specialized training on the unique safety needs of a school environment.  As a 

best practice, it is recommended that district police officers complete such specialized training prior to 

Page 81



beginning employment with the district.  Districts may revise the following paragraph to reflect district 

practice. 

 

Within a reasonable time but not to exceed two years of the date of first employment, 

police officers shall complete supplementary specialized training approved by POST on 

the unique safety needs of a school environment.  (Penal Code 832.3) 

 

Note:  The following paragraph may be expanded to include other trainings provided by the district. 

 

The Superintendent or designee may provide district police officers with additional training in 

other public safety skills, including but not limited to first aid, rescue, cardiopulmonary 

resuscitation, emergency medical technician training, juvenile procedures and specialized 

safety equipment.  (Education Code 38002) 

 
(cf. 4119.43/4219.43/4319.43 - Universal Precautions) 

(cf. 4231 - Staff Development) 

(cf. 5141 - Health Care and Emergencies) 

 

Note:  The following paragraph is for use by districts whose Boards that have established a school police 

reserve corps as authorized by Education Code 35021.5 and 38000; see BP 3515.3 the accompanying Board 

policy.  AB 1436 (Ch. 292, Statutes of 2003) amended Education Code 35021.5 to delete the requirement that 

such a reserve corps be unpaid volunteers. 

 

School police reserve officers shall complete a course of training directly related to the role of 

school police reserve officers as prescribed in Penal Code 832.2.  (Education Code 35021.5) 

 

Equipment 

 

Each district police or security officer shall wear a badge bearing the name of the district, carry 

an identification card bearing his/her a photograph and signature and the signature of the 

Superintendent, and carry any other identification data required by local law enforcement 

agencies.  (Education Code 38003) 

 

Note:  Pursuant to Education Code 38003, the cost for the above items must be borne by the district.  If a 

uniform is not required, If the district does not require officers to wear a uniform, the word "uniforms" 

should be deleted from the following paragraph. 

 AR 3515.3(d) 

 

 

DISTRICT POLICE/SECURITY DEPARTMENT  (continued) 

 

 

The district shall bear the cost of all required uniforms, equipment, identification badges, and 

cards.  (Education Code 38003) 

 

The Board district may provide and maintain motor vehicles for use by police or security 

department staff. When operated by a district officer in the performance of his/her the officer's 

duties, any vehicle is an authorized emergency vehicle and may be equipped and operated as 

such, as provided by the Vehicle Code.  (Education Code 38004) 

 

Page 82



Use of Force 

 
Note:  Government Code 7286.5, as added by AB 1196 (Ch. 324, Statutes of 2020), prohibits a law 

enforcement agency from authorizing the use of carotid restraints or choke holds, as defined. 

 

District police or security officers shall not use a carotid restraint or choke hold involving 

the application of pressure to a person's neck, trachea, or windpipe.  (Government Code 

7286.5) 

 

Note:  Pursuant to Government Code 7286, district police departments are required to adopt policy on 

the use of force.  Penal Code 13519.10 requires the Commission on Peace Officer Standards and 

Training (POST) to develop uniform, minimum guidelines for use in the development of local policies.  

These guidelines are contained in POST Use of Force Standards and Guidelines, available on the POST 

web site. 

 

Districts may expand the following section to include the policy adopted by the district police 

department.  Districts whose officers do not carry firearms should delete or revise items #4-5 and 17 

below. 

 

The district police department shall maintain a policy, consistent with guidelines 

provided by POST, that provides a minimum standard on the use of force and includes 

all of the following:  (Government Code 7286; Penal Code 13519.10) 

 

1. A requirement that officers utilize de-escalation techniques, crisis intervention 

tactics, and other alternatives to force when feasible 

 

2. A requirement that officers only use a level of force that they reasonably believe 

is proportional to the seriousness of the suspected offense or the reasonably 

perceived level of actual or threatened resistance 

 

3. A requirement that officers report potential excessive force to a superior officer 

when present and observing another officer using force that the officer believes to 

be beyond that which is necessary, as determined by an objectively reasonable 

officer under the circumstances based upon the totality of information actually 

known to the officer 

 

 AR 3515.3(e) 

 

 

DISTRICT POLICE/SECURITY DEPARTMENT  (continued) 

 

 

4. Clear and specific guidelines regarding situations in which officers may or may 

not draw a firearm or point a firearm at a person 

 

5. A requirement that officers consider their surroundings and potential risks to 

bystanders, to the extent reasonable under the circumstances, before discharging 

a firearm 

 

6. Procedures for disclosing public records in accordance with Penal Code 832.7 

Page 83



 

7. Procedures for the filing, investigation, and reporting of citizen complaints 

regarding use of force incidents 

 

8. A requirement that an officer intercede when present and observing another 

officer using force that is clearly beyond that which is necessary, as determined 

by an objectively reasonable officer under the circumstances, taking into account 

the possibility that other officers may have additional information regarding the 

threat posed 

 

9. Comprehensive and specific guidelines regarding approved methods and devices 

available for the application of force 

 

10. An explicitly stated requirement that officers carry out duties, including use of 

force, in a manner that is fair and unbiased 

 

11. Comprehensive and specific guidelines for the application of deadly force 

 

12. Comprehensive and detailed requirements for prompt internal reporting and 

notification regarding a use of force incident, including reporting use of force 

incidents to the Department of Justice in compliance with Government Code 

12525.2 

 

13. The role of supervisors in the review of use of force applications 

 

14. A requirement that officers promptly provide, if properly trained, or otherwise 

promptly procure medical assistance for persons injured in a use of force incident, 

when reasonable and safe to do so 

 

15. Training standards and requirements relating to demonstrated knowledge and 

understanding of the district's use of force policy by officers, investigators, and 

supervisors 

 

 

 

 AR 3515.3(f) 

 

 

DISTRICT POLICE/SECURITY DEPARTMENT  (continued) 

 

 

16. Training and guidelines regarding vulnerable populations, including, but not 

limited to, children, elderly persons, people who are pregnant, and people with 

physical, mental, and developmental disabilities 

 

17. Comprehensive and specific guidelines under which the discharge of a firearm at 

or from a moving vehicle may or may not be permitted 

 

18. Factors for evaluating and reviewing all use of force incidents 

Page 84



 

19. Minimum training and course titles required to meet the objectives in the use of 

force policy 

 

20. A requirement for the regular review and updating of the policy to reflect 

developing practices and procedures 
 

Note:  The following paragraph is optional. 

 

The district prohibits retaliation against an officer or other district employee who reports 

a suspected violation of this policy by another officer. 

 

Personnel Files 

 

Note:  The following section is for use by districts that have established a police department and may be 

adapted for use by districts that have established a security department. 

 

Before any record containing an adverse comment is placed in a district police officer's 

personnel file, he/she the employee shall read and sign the record indicating he/she is aware 

awareness of the comment. The police officer shall have 30 days to file a written response, 

which shall be attached to the adverse comment.  (Government Code 3305-3306) 

 
(cf. 4112.6/4212.6/4312.6 - Personnel Files) 

 

A police officer may inspect his/her the personnel file during usual business hours with no loss 

of compensation. If the officer believes that any portion of the material is mistakenly or 

unlawfully placed in the file, the officer may request, in writing, that the mistaken or unlawful 

portion be corrected or deleted and shall describe the reasons supporting those corrections or 

deletions. Within 30 days of the request, the Superintendent or designee shall either grant the 

officer's request or notify the officer of the decision to refuse to grant the request. The 

Superintendent or designee shall state in writing the reasons for refusing any request.  

(Government Code 3306.5) 

 

 

 

 AR 3515.3(g) 

 

 

DISTRICT POLICE/SECURITY DEPARTMENT  (continued) 

 

 

Disciplinary Action 

 

Note:  The following section is for use by districts that have established a "police" department.  When a district 

police officer is under disciplinary investigation, Government Code 3300 provides the officer with the right 

to receive copies of any reports or complaints made by investigators or other persons, except those that are 

confidential.  The court in San Diego Police Officers Association et al. v. City of San Diego Civil Service 

Commission et al. ruled that personnel records of a public safety officer cannot be disclosed at public 

disciplinary appeal hearings without the officer's consent. 

 

Page 85



Any investigation of a district police officer that could lead to punitive action shall be 

conducted in accordance with Government Code 3303-3304. 

 

If the Superintendent or designee decides to impose discipline following investigation and any 

predisciplinary response or procedure, he/she shall notify the police officer shall be notified 

in writing within 30 days of the decision, including the date that the discipline shall be imposed.  

(Government Code 3304) 

 
(cf. 4112.9/4212.9/4312.9 - Employee Notifications) 

 

Note:  Pursuant to Government Code 3304.5, an administrative appeal initiated by a police officer shall be 

conducted in accordance with district rules and procedures. Districts should consult legal counsel prior to 

initiating discipline against a police officer or whenever an investigation is undertaken. 

 

Any appeal by a police officer shall be conducted in accordance with Board policy and 

administrative regulation.  (Government Code 3304.5) 

 
(cf. 4218 - Dismissal/Suspension/Disciplinary Action) 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 (11/00  11/03)  3/21 

 
Policy Reference UPDATE Service 

Copyright 2021 by California School Boards Association, West Sacramento, California 95691 

All rights reserved. 

CSBA Sample 
Board Policy 
 

Business and Noninstructional Operations BP 3600(a) 

 

CONSULTANTS 

 

 

The Governing Board authorizes the use of consultants and other independent contractors to 

provide expert professional advice or specialized technical or training services which are not 

needed on a continuing basis and which cannot be provided by district staff because of 

limitations of time, experience, or knowledge.  Individuals, firms, or organizations employed 

as independent contractors may assist management with decisions and/or project development 

Page 86



related to financial, economic, accounting, engineering, legal, administrative, instructional, or 

other matters. 

 
(cf. 3551 - Food Service Operations/Cafeteria Fund) 

 
Note:  Labor Code 2750.3 2775, as added by AB 5 2257 (Ch. 296 38, Statutes of 2019 2020), recodifies is a 

recodification of the three-part "ABC" test established in Dynamex Operations West, Inc. v. Superior Court 

of Los Angeles to determine whether a person providing services for remuneration should be classified as an 

employee or an independent contractor. Although Labor Code 2750.3 does not explicitly state whether it 

applies to public agencies, CSBA recommends that districts adhere to its provisions. 

 

AB 5 also amended Unemployment Insurance Code 606.5 and 621 to incorporate the three-part ABC test 

from the Dynamex decision.  Since public school employers are subject to certain provisions in the 

Unemployment Insurance Code, districts should apply the three-part ABC test to determine a worker's 

eligibility for unemployment benefits. 

  

Pursuant to Labor Code 2750.3 2775, a person is considered to be an independent contractor rather than an 

employee if the person (1) is free from the control and direction of the district in connection with the 

performance of the work, (2) performs work that is outside the usual course of providing educational services, 

(i.e. services provided by the person's own independent business and not services that ordinarily would be 

performed by district employees), and (3) is customarily engaged in an independently established trade, 

occupation, or business.   

 

Labor Code 2750.3 establishes exceptions to the use of the three-part ABC test, including (1) when a person's 

status as an employee or independent contractor is defined by the Labor Code, Unemployment Insurance 

Code, or an applicable wage order of the Industrial Welfare Commission; (2) when a court rules that the three-

part test cannot be applied to a particular context; or (3) when specifically exempted within Labor Code 

2750.3. Under the second and third scenarios, the determination of whether a person is an employee or 

independent contractor is then made pursuant to the court's decision in S.G. Borello & Sons, Inc. v. 

Department of Industrial Relations, which made  employment status a fact-dependent ruling based on the 

extent to which the employer had a right to control the work that was being done. Tutors are potentially 

excepted from the three-part test in Labor Code 2750.3 if they develop and teach their own curriculum, but 

not if they teach a curriculum created by a public school or contract with a public school through a referral 

company. 

 

As this area of law is complex and may alter the legal and financial obligations of the district to particular 

workers (e.g., eligibility for workers compensation, unemployment and disability insurance benefits, and 

district health and welfare benefits), legal counsel should be consulted when questions arise regarding the 

status of those who provide services to the district for remuneration.  

 

 BP 3600(b) 

 

 

CONSULTANTS  (continued) 

 

 

As part of the contract process, the Superintendent or designee shall determine that the 

individual, firm, or organization is properly classified as an independent contractor.  

 

A person, firm, or organization providing labor or services for remuneration shall be 

considered an employee rather than an independent contractor unless the district is able to 

demonstrate that all of the following conditions have been met:  (Labor Code 2750.3  2775) 

 

1. The person or entity is free from the control and direction of the district in connection 

with the performance of the work. 

Page 87



 

2. The person or entity is performing work that is outside the usual course of the district 

providing educational services. 

 

3. The person or entity is customarily engaged in an independently established trade, 

occupation, or business of the same nature as the work to be performed. 

 
Note:  Labor Code 2750.3-2775-2785, as added by AB 2257 and amended by AB 323 (Ch. 341, Statutes 

of 2020), establishes exceptions to the use of the three-part ABC test, including (1) when a person's status as 

an employee or independent contractor is defined expressly made by the Labor Code, Unemployment 

Insurance Code, or an applicable wage order of the Industrial Welfare Commission, in which case the status 

remains in effect for purposes set forth in those provisions; (2) when a court rules that the three-part test 

cannot be applied to a particular context; or (3) when specifically exempted from the three-part test by 

within Labor Code 2750.3 2776-2785. Under the second and third scenarios, with the exception of 

exemptions pursuant to Labor Code 2779, the determination of whether a person is an employee or 

independent contractor is then made pursuant to the court's decision in S.G. Borello & Sons, Inc. v. 

Department of Industrial Relations, which made  found employment status to be a fact-dependent ruling based 

on the extent to which the employer had a right to control the work that was being done. Pursuant to Labor 

Code 2776, the rule in Borello applies to "business-to-business" exceptions (including when a sole 

proprietor or business entity contracts to provide services to a public agency) when specified conditions 

are met. Additionally, tTutors are potentially excepted from the three-part test in Labor Code 2750.3 2775 

if they develop and teach their own curriculum, but not if they teach a curriculum created by a public school 

or contract with a public school through a referral company. 

 

Specific statutory exceptions to this analysis for the determination of whether a person, firm, 

or organization is an independent contractor may apply.  (Labor Code 2750.3) The 

determination of whether an individual acting as a sole proprietor or a firm or other 

business organization is an independent contractor shall be made in accordance with 

Labor Code 2775-2785, as applicable. 

 

All consultant contracts shall be brought to the Board for approval. 

 
(cf. 3311 - Bids) 

(cf. 3312 - Contracts) 

(cf. 4132/4232/4332 - Publication or Creation of Materials) 

 

 

 BP 3600(c) 

 

 

CONSULTANTS  (continued) 

 

 
Note:  Government Code 12940, as amended by AB 3364 (Ch. 36, Statutes of 2020), changes the term 

"military and veteran status" to "veteran or military status." 

 

All qualified independent contractors shall be accorded equal opportunity for contracts 

regardless of actual or perceived race, ethnicity, color, national origin, ancestry, age, religious 

creed, marital status, pregnancy, physical or mental disability, medical condition, genetic 

information, military and veteran or military status, sex, sexual orientation, gender, gender 

identity, gender expression, immigration status, or association with a person or group with one 

Page 88



or more of these actual or perceived characteristics.  (Education Code 220; Government Code 

12940) 

 
(cf. 0410 - Nondiscrimination in District Programs and Activities) 

(cf. 0415 - Equity) 

(cf. 4030 - Nondiscrimination in Employment) 
 

Independent contractors shall submit a written conflict of interest statement disclosing 

financial interests as determined necessary by the Superintendent or designee, depending on 

the range of duties to be performed by the consultant.  The Superintendent or designee shall 

consider this statement when deciding whether to recommend approval of the contract.   

 

Any consultant hired by the district who is subject to the filing requirements in the district's 

conflict of interest code shall file a Statement of Economic Interests within the time period 

required by law.  (Government Code 87302) 

 
(cf. 9270 - Conflict of Interest) 

 

When employees of a public university, county office of education, or other public agency 

serve as consultants or independent contractors in other capacities for the district, they shall 

certify as part of the agreement that they will not receive salary or remuneration other than 

vacation pay from any other public agency for the specific days when they work for the district. 

 
Note:  Pursuant to Government Code 12940, certain protections afforded to employees are extended to 

independent contractors; see BP/AR 4030 - Nondiscrimination in Employment.  Government Code 12940 

also provides that the district may be held liable for sexual harassment committed against employees by 

nonemployees, including independent contractors, if the district knew, or should have known, of the 

harassment and failed to take immediate and appropriate corrective action to stop the harassment. 

 

The Board prohibits the harassment of an independent contractor by any district employee or 

by any other person with whom the independent contractor comes in contact during the course 

of employment with the district.  Additionally, the Board prohibits the harassment of a district 

employee by an independent contractor.  Any complaint of harassment shall be investigated 

and resolved in accordance with applicable district complaint procedures.  (Government Code 

12940) 

 BP 3600(d) 

 

 

CONSULTANTS  (continued) 

 

 
(cf. 4119.11/4219.11/4319.11 - Sexual Harassment) 

(cf. 4119.12/4219.12/4319.12 - Title IX Sexual Harassment Complaint Procedures) 

 

 

 
Legal Reference: 

EDUCATION CODE 

220  Prohibition of discrimination 

10400-10407  Cooperative improvement programs 

17596  Limit on continuing contracts 

35010  Control of districts; prescription and enforcement of rules 

Page 89



35172  Promotional activities 

35204  Contract with attorney 

44925  Part-time readers employed as independent contractors 

45103  Classified service in districts not incorporating the merit system 

45103.5  Contracts for food service consulting services 

45134-45135  Employment of retired classified employee 

45256  Merit system districts; classified service; positions established for professional experts on a 

temporary basis 

GOVERNMENT CODE 

12940  Unlawful employment practices 

53060  Contract for special services and advice 

82019  Designated employee; definition 

87302  Conflict of interest code 

LABOR CODE 

2750.3 2775-2787 ABC three-part test: employees and independent contractors Worker status: 

employees 

UNEMPLOYMENT INSURANCE CODE 

606.5  Determination of employment status 

621  Employer and eEmployee defined 

CODE OF REGULATIONS, TITLE 2 

18700.3  Consultant 

COURT DECISIONS 

Dynamex Operations West, Inc. v. Superior Court of Los Angeles (2018) 4 Cal. 5th 903 

S.G. Borello & Sons, Inc. v. Department of Industrial Relations (1989) 48 Cal. 3d 341 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 (10/96  12/19)  3/21 

 
Policy Reference UPDATE Service 

Copyright 2021 by California School Boards Association, West Sacramento, California 95691 

All rights reserved. 

CSBA Sample 
Exhibit 
 

All Personnel E 4112.9(a) 

 4212.9 

EMPLOYEE NOTIFICATIONS 4312.9 

 

 
Note:  The following exhibit lists notices which the law requires be provided to employees. See the referenced 

Board policy, administrative regulation, or Board bylaw for further information about related program and 

notice requirements. 

 
 Education or Board Policy/  

When/Whom  Other Legal Administrative 

to Notify Code Regulation #  Subject 

Page 90



 

I.  To All Employees 

 

At the beginning of school year Education Code AR  4119.11 The district's policy on 

or upon employment 231.5; Government   4219.11 sexual harassment, legal 

 Code 12950  4319.11 remedies, complaints 

  
Annually to all employees,  Education Code  AR  3514.2 Use of pesticide product, 

and 72 hours before pesticide 17612  active ingredients, Internet 

application   address to access information 

 on pesticides 

 

To all employees, pPrior to Education Code BP 6117 Public hearing on year-round 

implementing year-round 37616   program 

schedule 

 

To all employees, pPrior to Education Code BP 6112 Public hearing on alternative 

implementing alternative schedule 46162  schedule in secondary grades 

 

Annually to all employees Education Code AR 1312.3 Uniform complaint procedures, 

 49013; 5 CCR 4622 BP 0460 appeals, civil law remedies, 

  BP 3260 coordinator, complaints about 

   student fees and local control 

   and accountability plan 

 

Annually to all employees Education Code AR 5141.21 Request for volunteers to be 

 49414   trained to administer 

    epinephrine auto-injectors 

 

At least once per year Education Code AR 5141.21 Request for volunteers to be 

 49414.3   trained to administer opioid 

    antagonist 

 

To all employees Government Code BP 4136 Prohibition of activities that 

 1126  4236 are inconsistent, incompatible, 

   4336 in conflict with, or inimical to 

    duties; discipline; appeal 

 

 

 

 E 4112.9(b) 

 4212.9 

 4312.9 

 

 

EMPLOYEE NOTIFICATIONS  (continued) 

 

 
 Education or Board Policy/  

When/Whom  Other Legal Administrative 

to Notify Code Regulation #  Subject 

 

I.  To All Employees  (continued) 

 

To all employees Government Code BP  4020 District's drug- and alcohol- 

 8355; 41 USC 8102; BP 4159 free workplace; actions to be 

 34 CFR 84.205,   4259 taken if violated; available 

Page 91



 84.210  4359 employee assistance programs 

 

Upon employment Government Code  None Right to purchase PERS  

  21029   service credit for military 

     service performed prior to  

     public employment 

 

Upon placement of automated Health and Safety AR 5141 Proper use of AED; location 

external defibrillator (AED) in   Code 1797.196  of all AEDs on campus, 

school, and annually thereafter   sudden cardiac arrest, school's 

   emergency response plan 

 

To all employees, iIf the  Health and Safety AR  3513.3 District's tobacco-free schools 

district receives Tobacco-Use  Code 104420  policy and enforcement 

Prevention Education funds   procedures 

 

Annually to all employees, or Health and Safety BP 4119.43 AIDS and hepatitis B, 

more frequently if there is new Code 120875,   4219.43 including methods to prevent 

information 120880  4319.43 exposure 

 

To new employees upon Labor Code 230.1 AR 4161.2 Rights pursuant to Labor  

hire and other employees         4261.2 Code 230-230.1 pertaining 

upon request, in districts with         4361.2 to leaves and 

25 or more employees    accommodations for victims  

    of crime or abuse 

 

To all employees, wWith each Labor Code 246 AR 4161.1 Amount of sick leave available 

paycheck   4361.1 

  AR 4261.1 
 

Upon hire, in employee Labor Code BP 4033 The district's policy on 

handbook, and upon request 1034   lactation accommodation 

for parental leave 
 

To covered employees and Labor Code AR  4154 Availability of COBRA/ 

former employees 2800.2 4254 Cal-COBRA continuation 

   4354 and conversion coverage; 

   statement encouraging careful 

   examination of options before 

   declining coverage 

 

 E 4112.9(c) 

 4212.9 

 4312.9 

 

 

EMPLOYEE NOTIFICATIONS  (continued) 

 

 
 Education or Board Policy/  

When/Whom  Other Legal Administrative 

to Notify Code Regulation #  Subject 

 

I.  To All Employees  (continued) 

 

To employees participating Labor Code None Deadline to withdraw funds 

in a flexible spending account 2810.7  from account before the end  

   of the plan year 

Page 92



 

To every new employee, either Labor Code AR 4157.1 Workers' compensation 

at the time employee is hired 3551  4257.1 benefits, how to obtain medical 

or by end of first pay period   4357.1 care, role of primary physician, 

    form for reporting personal 

    physician/chiropractor 

 

Within one day of receiving Labor Code 6409.6 AR 4157 Potential exposure to   

notice of potential exposure         4257 COVID-19; benefits to which 

to COVID-19, to employees         4357 employees may be entitled; 

who were on the premises   available leave options;  

during the infectious period,   protection against  

the exclusive representative, and   discrimination and  

the employer of subcontracted   retaliation; district's  

employees as applicable   disinfection and safety plan 

 
Prior to beginning employment Penal Code  AR  5141.4 Status as a mandated reporter 

 11165.7, 11166.5  of child abuse, reporting 

   obligations, confidentiality 

   rights, copy of law 

 

Upon employment, and when Unemployment AR 4154 Disability insurance rights and 

employee goes on leave  Insurance Code   4254 benefits 

for specified reasons 2613  4354 

 

To all employees and job 2 CCR 11023; 34 BP 0410 District's policy on 

applicants CFR 104.8, 106.9 AR 4030 nondiscrimination and  

   related complaint procedures 

 

To all employees via employee 2 CCR 11091, AR 4161.8 Benefits through Family and 

handbook, or to each new 11095; 29 CFR  4261.8 Medical Leave Act (FMLA) 

employee 825.300  4361.8 and California Family Rights 

    Act (CFRA); obligation  

    to provide 30 days' notice of 

    need for leave when possible 

 

To all employees 8 CCR 3203 AR 4157 The right and procedure to 

   4257 access the injury and illness 

   4357 prevention program 

 

 E 4112.9(d) 

 4212.9 

 4312.9 

 

 

EMPLOYEE NOTIFICATIONS  (continued) 

 

 
 Education or Board Policy/  

When/Whom  Other Legal Administrative 

to Notify Code Regulation #  Subject 

 

I.  To All Employees  (continued) 

 

To all employees 34 CFR 106.8 AR 4119.11 Nondiscrimination on the 

         4219.11 basis of sex; contact  

         4319.11 information for district's  

Page 93



 Title IX Coordinator;  

 referral of inquiries to Title  

    IX Coordinator and/or  

    Office for Civil Rights 

 

Annually to all employees 40 CFR 763.84, AR 3514 Availability of asbestos 

 763.93  management plan; inspections, 

   response actions, post-response 

   actions planned or in progress 

 

II.  To Certificated Employees 

 

To eligible certificated Education Code  AR 4121 Criteria for membership in 

employees in a timely manner, 22455.5  retirement system; right to 

and to part-time and substitute   elect membership at any time 

certificated employees    

within 30 days of hire    

 

Upon employment of a Education Code  AR 4117.14 Postretirement earnings 

retired certificated individual  22461  4317.14 limitation or employment 

    restriction; monthly report of 

    compensation 

 

To certificated employees Education Code  AR  4115 District regulations related to 

 35171 BP 4315 performance evaluations 

 

30 days before last day of    Education Code  AR 4115 Copy of employee's evaluation 

school year for instructional 44663 

staff, or by June 30 for 

noninstructional certificated 

staff, in any year in which 

employee is evaluated 

 

To a certificated employee Education Code  AR  4115 Notice and description of the 

with unsatisfactory evaluation, 44664   unsatisfactory performance 

once per year for probationary 

employee or at least once every 

other year for permanent employee 

 

 

 E 4112.9(e) 

 4212.9 

 4312.9 

 

 

EMPLOYEE NOTIFICATIONS  (continued) 

 

 
 Education or Board Policy/  

When/Whom  Other Legal Administrative 

to Notify Code Regulation #  Subject 

 

II.  To Certificated Employees (continued) 

 

By May 30, if district issues  Education Code  AR  4112.1 Request that the employee 

reemployment notices to 44842  notify district of intent to 

certificated employees   remain in service next year 

Page 94



 

To certificated probationary Education Code  AR 4112.1 Employment status and salary 

and temporary certificated 44916 AR 4121 

employees upon employment,   

and to nonpermanent employees  

and every July thereafter in July 

of each school year 

 

To probationary employee,  Education Code BP 4116 Whether or not employee 

by March 15 44929.21, 44929.23,   is reelected for next school 

 44948.5   year 

 

When certificated employee is Education Code  BP 4118 Notice of charges, procedures, 

subject to disciplinary action 44934, 44934.1, AR 4118 and employee rights; intent to 

for cause, at any time of year 44936  dismiss or suspend 30 days 

or, for charge of unsatisfactory   after notice 

performance, during instructional 

year 

 

To certificated employee charged Education Code  BP 4118 Notice of deficiency and 

with unprofessional conduct, at 44938  opportunity to correct 

least 45 days prior to suspension/ 

dismissal notice 

 

To certificated employee charged Education Code  BP 4118 Notice of deficiency and 

with unsatisfactory performance, 44938   opportunity to correct 

at least 90 days prior to 

suspension/dismissal notice or 

prior to last quarter of school year 
 

To certificated employee charged  Education Code  AR  4118 Notice of intent to dismiss 

with mandatory leave of absence 44940.5  30 days from notice unless 

offense, within 10 days of entry   employee demands hearing 

of judgment in proceedings 
 

To probationary employees   Education Code AR 4118 Reasons for dismissal and 

30 days prior to dismissal during   44948.3  opportunity to appeal 

school year, but not later than 

March 15 for a second-year 

probationary employees 

 

 E 4112.9(f) 

 4212.9 

 4312.9 

 

 

EMPLOYEE NOTIFICATIONS  (continued) 

 

 
 Education or Board Policy/  

When/Whom  Other Legal Administrative 

to Notify Code Regulation #  Subject 

 

II.  To Certificated Employees (continued) 

 

By March 15 when necessary   Education Code BP  4117.3 Reasons for personnel 

to reduce certificated personnel, 44949, 44955  reduction and employees' right 

with final notice by May 15    to hearing; final notice of 

Page 95



    Board decision re: termination 

 

On or before June 30, Before the 

end of the school year to    Education Code  BP  4121 District's decision not to 

temporary employee who  44954  reelect employee for 

served 75 percent of school year   following school year 

but will be released 

 

To teacher, when a student Education Code  AR 4158 Student has committed 

engages in or is reasonably 49079  4258 specified act that constitutes 

suspected of specified acts   4358 ground for suspension or 

    expulsion 

 

To certificated employee upon 5 CCR 80303 AR 4117.7 Contents of state regulation 

change in employment status   4317.7 re: report to Commission on 

due to alleged misconduct or   Teacher Credentialing 

while allegation is pending 

 

III.  To Classified Employees 

 

When classified employee is Education Code AR  4218 Notice of charges, right to 

subject to disciplinary action 45113  hearing, timeline for 

for cause, in nonmerit district   requesting hearing  

 

To classified employees at At Education Code  AR  4217.3 Notice of layoff and 

least 60 days prior to layoff, or 45117  reemployment rights 

by April 29 for specially funded 

program that expires at end of 

school year 

 

To classified employees uUpon  Education Code  AR  4212 Employee's class specification,  

employment and upon each  45169  salary data, assignment or 

change in classification   work location, duty hours, 

   prescribed workweek 

 

To classified permanent  Education Code  AR 4261.1 Exhaustion of leave, 

employee whose leave 45192, 45195 AR 4261.11 opportunity to request 

is exhausted   additional leave 

 

 

 E 4112.9(g) 

 4212.9 

 4312.9 

 

 

EMPLOYEE NOTIFICATIONS  (continued) 

 

 
 Education or Board Policy/  

When/Whom  Other Legal Administrative 

to Notify Code Regulation #  Subject 

 

III.  To Classified Employees  (continued) 

 

To school bus drivers and 13 CCR 1234 AR 3542 Expiration date of driver's 

school activity bus drivers   license, driver's certificate and 

prior to expiration of   medical certificate; need to 

Page 96



specified documents   renew 

 

To school bus drivers and 13 CCR 2480 AR 3542 Limitations on vehicle 

school activity bus drivers   idling; consequences of not 

upon employment and at   complying 

least once per year thereafter 

 

To school bus drivers, prior to 49 CFR 382.113, AR 4112.42 Explanation of federal 

district drug testing program 382.601  4212.42 requirements for drug testing 

and thereafter upon employment   4312.42 program and district's policy 

  

To school bus drivers, prior to 49 CFR 382.303 AR 4112.42 Post-accident information, 

operating school bus        4212.42 procedures, and instructions 

        4312.42 

 

IV.  To Administrative/Supervisory Personnel 

 

To superintendent, deputy, Education Code  BP  2121 Decision not to reelect or 

associate, or assistant 35031 BP  4312.1 reemploy upon expiration of 

superintendent or senior   contract or term 

manager of classified service, 

at least 45 days before 

expiration of contract 

 

Upon request by administrative  Education Code  AR  4313.2 Statement of the reasons for 

or supervisory employee    44896  the release or reassignment 

transferred to teaching position 

 

By March 15 to employee Education Code  AR 4313.2 Notice that employee may be 

who may be released/reassigned 44951  released or reassigned the 

the following school year   following school year 

 

V.  To Individual Employees Under Special Circumstances 

 

In the event of a breach of Civil Code 1798.29 BP 3580 Types of records affected, 

security of district records,    date of breach, description 

to affected employees     of incident, and, as applicable, 

    contact information for credit 

    reporting agencies 

 

 E 4112.9(h) 

 4212.9 

 4312.9 

 

 

EMPLOYEE NOTIFICATIONS  (continued) 

 

 
 Education or Board Policy/  

When/Whom  Other Legal Administrative 

to Notify Code Regulation #  Subject 

 

V.  To Individual Employees Under Special Circumstances  (continued) 

 

Prior to placing derogatory Education Code  AR  4112.6 Notice of derogatory 

information in personnel file 44031 4212.6 information, opportunity to 

  4312.6 review and comment 

Page 97



 

To employees who volunteer Education Code  AR 5141.21 Defense and indemnification 

to administer epinephrine 49414   from civil liability by the 

auto-injector    district 

 

To district police officer,  Government AR 3515.3 Decision to impose discipline, 

within 30 days of decision  Code 3304  including the date that  

to impose discipline   discipline will be imposed 

 

To employees returning from Government Code AR 4161.5 Right to receive PERS 

military leave of absence, 20997  4261.5 service credit for military 

within 30 days of return   4361.5 service; application form 

 

24 hours before Board meets in Government Code BB 9321 Employee's right to have 

closed session to hear complaints 54957   complaints/charges heard in 

or charges against employee    open session 

 

When taking disciplinary action  Government Code BP 4119.23 Law prohibiting disclosure of 

against employee for disclosure 54963  4219.23 confidential information 

of confidential information   4319.23 obtained in closed session 

 

Within one working day of  Labor Code 3553, AR 4157.1 Potential eligibility for 

work-related injury or  5401  4257.1 workers' compensation 

victimization of crime    4357.1 benefits, claim form 

 

When adverse employment Penal Code 11105, AR 4112.5 Copy of DOJ notification 

action is based on DOJ criminal 11105.2        4212.5 

history information or         4312.5 

subsequent arrest notification 

 

To any employee with  8 CCR 3204 AR 4119.42 The existence, location, and 

exposure to blood or other  4219.42 availability of exposure and 

potentially infectious materials,   4319.42 medical records; person 

upon initial employment and at   responsible for maintaining 

least annually thereafter   and providing access to 

   records; right to access records 

 

 

 

 

 E 4112.9(i) 

 4212.9 

 4312.9 

 

 

EMPLOYEE NOTIFICATIONS  (continued) 

 

 
 Education or Board Policy/  

When/Whom  Other Legal Administrative 

to Notify Code Regulation #  Subject 

 

V.  To Individual Employees Under Special Circumstances  (continued) 

 

To any employee assigned to a 8 CCR 5191 AR 3514.1 Location and availability of 

work area where hazardous    chemical hygiene plan, 

chemicals are present, upon    exposure limits, signs and 

Page 98



initial assignment and upon new    symptoms of exposure, 

exposure situation    location of reference material 

 

To any employee who may 8 CCR 5194 AR 3514.1 Any presence of hazardous 

be exposed to hazardous    substances in the work area, 

substances in the work area,    location and availability of 

upon initial assignment and    hazard communication 

when new hazard is    program, new material safety 

introduced into work area    data sheet, employee rights 

  

To employee eligible for 38 USC 4334 AR 4161.5 Notice of rights, benefits, and 

military leave   4261.5 obligations under military 

   4361.5 leave 

 

Within five days of employee's 29 CFR 825.300; AR 4161.8 Designation of leave as 

request for FMLA leave, 2 CCR 11049,          4261.8 FMLA or non-FMLA; if not 

receipt of supporting 11091        4361.8 eligible, reason not eligible; 

information, or district's    requirement to use paid leave; 

knowledge that the requested    any requirement for fitness- 

leave may qualify as FMLA     for-duty certification; any 

leave    subsequent changes in 

    designation notice 

 

Whenever notice of eligibility 29 CFR 825.300 AR 4161.8 Rights and responsibilities re: 

for FMLA is provided to   4261.8 use of FMLA; consequences of 

employee   4361.8 failure to meet obligations 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 (3/20  5/20)  3/21 

 
Policy Reference UPDATE Service 

Copyright 2021 by California School Boards Association, West Sacramento, California 95691 

All rights reserved. 

CSBA Sample 
Administrative Regulation 
 

All Personnel AR 4161.2(a) 

  4261.2 

PERSONAL LEAVES  4361.2 

 

 
Note:  The following administrative regulation is subject to collective bargaining agreements. 

 

Personal leaves granted to district employees shall be used as permitted in this administrative 

regulation, other Board-approved policy or district regulation, or applicable collective 

bargaining agreement. 

 

Page 99



Note: As provided in the following paragraph, Family Code 297.5 extends to registered domestic partners the 

same rights that are available under state law to spouses. Thus, any reference to an employee's spouse 

throughout this administrative regulation also applies to a registered domestic partner, even if not expressly 

stated in the applicable state codes (e.g., Education Code, Military and Veterans Code). Districts should 

consult legal counsel if a question arises as to leave provisions relative to an employee's domestic partner. 

 

For the purpose of any personal leave offered pursuant to state law, a registered domestic 

partner shall have the same rights, protections, and benefits as a spouse and protections 

provided to a spouse's child shall also apply to a child of a registered domestic partner.  (Family 

Code 297.5) 

 

Whenever possible, employees shall request personal leaves in advance and prepare suitable 

instructions, including lesson plans as applicable, for a substitute employee. 

 
(cf. 4121 - Temporary/Substitute Personnel) 

 

Bereavement 

 
Note:  Education Code 44985 and 45194 allow the Governing Board to expand the class of relatives listed 

below and enlarge the benefits provided by law. The following two paragraphs may be revised to reflect 

district practice. 

 

Employees are entitled to a leave of up to three days, or five days if out-of-state travel is 

required, upon the death of any member of the employee's immediate family. No deduction 

shall be made from the employee's salary, nor shall such leave be deducted from any other 

leave to which the employee is entitled.  (Education Code 44985, 45194) 

 
(cf. 4161/4261/4361 - Leaves) 

 

Members of the immediate family include:  (Education Code 44985, 45194) 

 

1. The mother, father, grandmother, grandfather, or grandchild of the employee or of the 

employee's spouse 

 

2. The employee's spouse, son, son-in-law, daughter, daughter-in-law, brother, or sister 

 AR 4161.2(b) 

  4261.2 

  4361.2 
 

 

PERSONAL LEAVES  (continued) 

 

 

3. Any relative living in the employee's immediate household 
 

At the employee's request, bereavement leave may be extended under personal necessity leave 

provisions as provided in the section "Personal Necessity" below.  (Education Code 44981, 

45207) 
 

Personal Necessity 

 

Page 100



Note:  Employees may use a maximum of seven days of accumulated personal illness/injury leave (sick leave) 

for reasons of personal necessity pursuant to Education Code 44981 (certificated employees) and 45207 

(classified employees). Pursuant to Education Code 44981 and 45207, a higher maximum may be set for 

certificated and/or classified employees in their collective bargaining agreement or by Board resolution for 

classified employees who are not covered by a collective bargaining agreement.  Districts that have established 

a maximum that is higher than seven days should modify the following paragraph accordingly. 

 

Education Code 45207 clarifies that provisions pertaining to personal necessity leave also apply to districts 

that have adopted the merit system for classified employees in accordance with Education Code 45240-45320. 

 

Employees may use a maximum of seven days of their accrued personal illness/injury leave 

(sick leave) during each school year for reasons of personal necessity.  (Education Code 44981, 

45207) 

 
(cf. 4161.1/4361.1 - Personal Illness/Injury Leave) 

(cf. 4261.1 - Personal Illness/Injury Leave) 

 

Acceptable reasons for the use of personal necessity leave include: 

 

1. Death of a member of the employee's immediate family when the number of days of 

absence exceeds the limits set by bereavement leave provisions  (Education Code 

44981, 45207) 

 

2. An accident involving the employee or his/her the employee's property, or the person 

or property of a member of the employee's immediate family  (Education Code 44981, 

45207) 
 

Note:  Pursuant to Education Code 44981, provides that a certificated employee may use personal necessity 

leave for the serious illness of a member of his/her the employee's immediate family. The Board may extend 

these provisions to classified employees under the authority granted to the Board by Education Code 45207. 

Districts are cautioned to consult legal counsel regarding any interaction of Education Code provisions with Labor 

Code 233, 245.5, and 246.5, as amended by AB 1522 (Ch. 319, Statutes of 2014), which allow the use of sick 

leave for the need of the employee or his/her family member for the diagnosis, care, or treatment of an existing 

health condition or for preventive care and which expand include in the definition of "family member" to include 

a registered domestic partner, grandparent, and sibling. See AR 4161.1/4361.1 - Personal Illness/Injury Leave 

and AR 4261.1 - Personal Illness/Injury Leave. 
 

 AR 4161.2(c) 

  4261.2 

  4361.2 

 

 

PERSONAL LEAVES  (continued) 

 

 
Also see AR 4161.8/4261.8/4361.8 - Family Care and Medical Leave for federal and state provisions related 

to leaves for the birth, adoption, or foster placement of a new child; the care of a seriously ill child, parent, or 

spouse/registered domestic partner; or the employee's own serious health condition. 

 

3. Illness, preventive care, or other need of a member of the employee's family, as defined 

in Labor Code 245.5  (Education Code 44981; Labor Code 246.5) 

 
(cf. 4161.8/4261.8/4361.8 - Family Care and Medical Leave) 

Page 101



 
Note: Education Code 45207 provides that classified employees may use sick leave for required court 

appearances, as provided in item #4 below.  Circumstances under which employees may take time off, with 

pay, for court appearances are described in the section on "Legal Duties" below. 

 

4. A classified employee's appearance in any court or before any administrative tribunal 

as a litigant, party, or witness under subpoena or other order  (Education Code 45207) 

 

Note:  Items #5 and #6 are optional and may be deleted or modified to reflect district practice. 

 

5. Fire, flood, or other immediate danger to the home of the employee 

 

6. Personal business of a serious nature which the employee cannot disregard 

 

Leave for personal necessity may be allowed for other reasons at the discretion of the 

Superintendent or designee. However, personal necessity leave shall not be granted for 

purposes of personal convenience, for the extension of a holiday or vacation, or for matters 

which can be taken care of outside of working hours. The Superintendent or designee shall 

have final discretion as to whether or not a request reflects personal necessity. 

 

Note: The following paragraph is optional. The district is prohibited from requiring employees to obtain 

advance permission prior to taking leaves in certain situations. Pursuant to Education Code 44981 and 45207, 

the district may not require advance permission for leaves taken by classified employees for the reasons 

specified in items #1-2 above and by certificated employees for the reasons specified in items #1-3 above. In 

addition, Labor Code 246.5 requires an employer to grant paid sick leave "upon the oral or written request of 

an employee." According to the Department of Industrial Relations, employers may not require advance notice 

when the need for the leave was unforeseeable, as in the case of unanticipated illness or a medical emergency. 

 

Also see AR 4161.8/4261.8/4361.8 - Family Care and Medical Leave for requirements pertaining to requests 

for leaves that qualify under the federal Family and Medical Leave Act (29 USC 2601-2654) or the California 

Family Rights Act (Government Code 12945.1-12945.2), including provisions that allow employees to 

provide notice as soon as practicable when 30-day advance notice is not practicable due to lack of knowledge 

of the date the leave will be needed, a change in circumstances, or a medical emergency. 

 

 

 AR 4161.2(d) 

  4261.2 

  4361.2 

 

 

PERSONAL LEAVES  (continued) 

 

 

Advance permission shall not be required of an employee in any case involving the death of a 

member of the employee's immediate family, an accident involving the employee's person or 

property or the person or property of a member of his/her the employee's immediate family, 

or the illness, preventive care, or other need of a member of the employee's family.  (Education 

Code 44981, 45207) 

 

Page 102



For any leave that is planned, or where the need for leave is foreseeable, an employee shall 

notify the Superintendent or designee in advance. In all other circumstances, the employee 

shall notify the Superintendent or designee of the need for the leave as soon as practicable. 

 
Note: Education Code 44981 and 45207 mandate the adoption of regulations requiring proof of personal 

necessity and prescribing the manner of the required proof. The following paragraph may be revised to specify 

the manner of proof required by the district. 

 

After any absence due to personal necessity, the employee shall verify the absence by 

submitting a completed and signed district absence form to his/her the employee's immediate 

supervisor. 

 

Legal Duties 

 

Note: Pursuant to Education Code 44037, it is unlawful for the district or personnel commission to (1) adopt 

any rule, regulation, or policy that encourages employees to seek exemption from jury duty; (2) directly or 

indirectly solicit or suggest to any employee that he/she the employee seek exemption from jury duty; or (3) 

discriminate against any employee with respect to assignment, employment, promotion, or in any other 

manner because of his/her the employee's service on a jury panel. However, the Board or personnel 

commission may establish a rule providing that only a percentage of district staff, which shall not be less than 

two percent, shall be granted such leave with pay at any one time.  The following section may be revised to 

reflect district practice. 

 

Labor Code 230 prohibits the discharge of or discrimination or retaliation against an employee for taking time 

off for the activities specified in items #1-2 below. 

 

An employee may take time off work in order to:  (Labor Code 230) 
 

1. Serve on an inquest jury or trial jury 
 

2. Comply with a subpoena or other court order to appear as a witness 
 

Notices, summons, and subpoenas for court appearances shall be submitted to the district office 

when requesting leave. 

 

A classified employee called for jury duty shall be granted leave with pay up to the amount of 

the difference between his/her the employee's regular earnings and any amount received for 

jury fees.  (Education Code 44037) 

 AR 4161.2(e) 

  4261.2 

  4361.2 

 

 

PERSONAL LEAVES  (continued) 

 

 
Note: The following optional paragraph is for use by districts that choose to provide leave of absence with 

pay for certificated employees called for jury duty, as authorized by Education Code 44036. Districts that do 

not grant such leave should delete this paragraph. 

 

Page 103



A certificated employee who is called for jury duty also shall be granted leave with pay up to 

the difference between his/her the employee's regular earnings and any jury fees he/she 

received. 

 
Note: The following paragraph is optional. Education Code 44036 allows the Board, at its discretion, to 

provide paid leaves for employees to appear in court as witnesses other than as litigants or to respond to orders 

from another governmental jurisdiction. Districts that do not grant such leave should delete this paragraph. 

 

An employee shall be granted leave with pay to appear in court as a witness other than a litigant 

or to respond to an official order from another governmental jurisdiction for reasons not 

brought about through the connivance or misconduct of the employee. Such an employee shall 

receive the difference between his/her the employee's regular earnings and any witness fees 

he/she received. 

 

Leaves for Crime Victims for Judicial Proceedings 

 

Note: Labor Code 230.2 prohibits a district from taking adverse employment action against an employee who 

takes leave as described below. 

 

An employee may be absent from work in order to attend judicial proceedings related to a 

crime when he/she the employee is a victim, or an immediate family member, registered 

domestic partner, or child of a registered domestic partner of a victim, of any of the following 

crimes:  (Labor Code 230.2) 

 

1. A violent felony as defined in Penal Code 667.5(c) 

 

2. A serious felony as defined in Penal Code 1192.7(c) 

 

3. A felony provision of law proscribing theft or embezzlement 

 

Note: Pursuant to Labor Code 230.2, employees may use any of the types of leave listed in the following 

paragraph, unless otherwise provided by a collective bargaining agreement, although a collective bargaining 

agreement cannot diminish the entitlement of an employee. 

 

For these purposes, the employee may use vacation, personal leave, personal illness/injury 

leave, unpaid leave, or compensatory time off that is otherwise available to the employee.  

(Labor Code 230.2) 

 AR 4161.2(f) 

  4261.2 

  4361.2 

 

 

PERSONAL LEAVES  (continued) 

 

 

Prior to taking time off, an employee shall give his/her supervisor the Superintendent or 

designee a copy of the notice of each scheduled proceeding that is provided by the responsible 

agency, unless advance notice is not feasible. When advance notice is not feasible or an 

unscheduled absence occurs, the employee shall, within a reasonable time after the absence, 

provide documentation evidencing the judicial proceeding from the court or government 

Page 104



agency setting the hearing, the district attorney or prosecuting attorney's office, or the 

victim/witness office that is advocating on behalf of the victim.  (Labor Code 230.2) 

 

The district shall keep confidential any records pertaining to the employee's absence from work 

by reason of this leave.  (Labor Code 230.2) 

 

Leaves for Victims of Domestic Violence, Sexual Assault and Stalking Crime or Abuse 

 
Note: Labor Code 230 and 230.1 allow employees who are victims of domestic violence, sexual assault, or 

stalking to use their available vacation, personal leave, or compensatory time off for the purposes described 

in items #1-5 below and prohibit a district from taking adverse employment action against an employee for 

taking leave for any of those purposes.  Pursuant to Labor Code 230.1, items #2-5 apply to districts with 

25 or more employees. 

 

As amended by AB 2992 (Ch. 224, Statutes of 2020), Labor Code 230 and 230.1 expand these provisions 

to include employees who are victims of a crime that caused physical injury, or mental injury with a 

threat of physical injury, and employees whose immediate family member is deceased as the direct 

result of a crime. 

 

An employee who is a victim of domestic violence, sexual assault, or stalking, who is a victim 

of a crime that caused physical injury or that caused mental injury with a threat of 

physical injury, or whose immediate family member, as defined, is deceased as the direct 

result of a crime as defined by law may use vacation, sick leave, personal leave, or 

compensatory time off that is otherwise available to him/her the employee under the terms of 

his/her employment to attend to the following activities:  (Labor Code 230, 230.1, 246.5) 

 

1. Obtain or attempt to obtain any relief, including, but not limited to, a temporary 

restraining order, restraining order, or other injunctive relief to help ensure the health, 

safety, or welfare of the employee or his/her the employee's child 

 

2. Seek medical attention for injuries caused by domestic violence, sexual assault, or 

stalking crime or abuse 

 

3. Obtain services from a domestic violence shelter, program, or rape crisis center, or 

victim services organization or agency as a result of domestic violence, sexual 

assault, or stalking the crime or abuse 

 

 

 AR 4161.2(g) 

  4261.2 

  4361.2 

 

 

PERSONAL LEAVES  (continued) 

 

 

4. Obtain psychological counseling or mental health services related to an experience of 

domestic violence, sexual assault, or stalking crime or abuse 

 

Page 105



5. Participate in safety planning and take other actions to increase safety from future 

domestic violence, sexual assault, or stalking crime or abuse, including temporary or 

permanent relocation 

 
Note: Pursuant to Labor Code 230, as amended by AB 2992, the following certification may include 

documentation from a victim advocate (defined as an individual, whether paid or serving as a volunteer, 

who provides services to victims under the auspices or supervision of an agency or organization that 

has a documented record of providing services to victims, a court, or a law enforcement or prosecution 

agency) or any other form of documentation that reasonably verifies that the crime or abuse occurred, 

including, but not limited to, a written statement signed by the employee or by an individual acting on 

the employee's behalf. 

 

Prior to taking time off, an employee shall give reasonable notice to his/her supervisor the 

Superintendent or designee, unless advance notice is not feasible. When an unscheduled 

absence occurs, the employee shall provide, within a reasonable period of time, certification 

of the absence in the form of any of the following:  (Labor Code 230, 230.1) 

 

1. A police report indicating that the employee was a victim of domestic violence, sexual 

assault, or stalking 

 

2. A court order protecting or separating the employee from the perpetrator of an act of 

domestic violence, sexual assault, or stalking, the  crime or abuse, or other evidence 

from the court or prosecuting attorney that the employee has appeared in court 

 

3. Documentation from a domestic violence or sexual assault counselor as defined in 

Evidence Code 1037.1 or 1035.2, licensed medical professional or health care provider, 

victim advocate, or counselor that the employee was undergoing treatment or 

receiving services for physical or mental injuries or abuse resulting in victimization 

from an act of domestic violence, sexual assault, or stalking the crime or abuse 

 

4. Any other form of documentation that reasonably verifies that the crime or abuse 

occurred, including, but not limited to, a written statement signed by the employee 

or by an individual acting on the employee's behalf certifying that the absence is 

for a purpose authorized under Labor Code 230 or 230.1 

 

The district shall maintain the confidentiality of such an employee to the extent authorized by 

law.  (Labor Code 230, 230.1) 

 

 AR 4161.2(h) 

  4261.2 

  4361.2 

 

 

PERSONAL LEAVES  (continued) 

 

 

Note:  Pursuant to Labor Code 230.1, districts with 25 or more employees are required to notify their 

employees of their rights under Labor Code 230 and 230.1.  The district may use a form developed by 

the Labor Commissioner for this purpose, available on the web site of the Department of Industrial 

Relations, or may develop its own form that is substantially similar in content and clarity to the Labor 

Commissioner's form.  As amended by AB 2992, Labor Code 230.1 requires the Labor Commissioner 

Page 106



to revise the form by January 1, 2022.  Until that form is revised, the district should update its form to 

reflect current law. 

 

The Superintendent or designee shall inform employees of their rights pursuant to Labor 

Code 230 and 230.1 using a form developed by the Labor Commissioner or a substantially 

similar form developed by the district.  Such information shall be provided to new 

employees upon hire and to other employees upon request.  (Labor Code 230.1)  

 
(cf. 4112.9/4212.9/4312.9 - Employee Notifications) 

 

Personal Leave for Child-Related Activities 

 
Note: Pursuant to Labor Code 230.8, the following section applies to any district employing 25 or more 

employees at the same location.  A district with fewer than 25 employees at the same location may use or 

delete this section at its discretion.  SB 579 (Ch. 802, Statutes of 2015) amended Labor Code 230.8 to expand 

the purposes of leave for child-related activities to include enrolling or reenrolling a child in a school or with 

a licensed child care provider and addressing a school or child care emergency, as defined. 

 

Pursuant to Labor Code 230.8, an employee who is discharged, threatened with discharge, demoted, 

suspended, or otherwise discriminated against for using the leave is entitled to reinstatement and 

reimbursement for lost wages and benefits, and an employer who willfully refuses to rehire, promote, or 

otherwise reinstate such an employee is subject to a civil penalty equal to three times the amount of the lost 

wages and benefits. 

 

Any employee who is a parent/guardian of one or more children of an age to attend any of 

grades K-12 or a program offered by a licensed child care provider may use up to 40 hours of 

personal leave, vacation, or compensatory time off each school year in order to:  (Labor Code 

230.8) 

 

1. Find, enroll, or reenroll his/her a child in a school or with a licensed child care provider 

or to participate in activities of the school or child care provider, provided the employee 

gives reasonable advance notice of the absence. Time off for this purpose shall not 

exceed eight hours in any calendar month. 

 

2. Address a school or child care emergency, provided the employee gives notice. An 

emergency exists when the child cannot remain in school or with a child care provider 

due to one of the following circumstances: 

 

 AR 4161.2(i) 

  4261.2 

  4361.2 

 

 

PERSONAL LEAVES  (continued) 

 

 

a. A request by the school or child care provider that the child be picked up 

 

b. An attendance policy, excluding planned holidays, that prohibits the child from 

attending or requires that the child be picked up from the school or child care 

provider 

Page 107



 

c. Behavioral or discipline problems 

 

d. Closure or unexpected unavailability of the school or child care provider, 

excluding planned holidays 

 

e. A natural disaster, including, but not limited to, fire, earthquake, or flood 

 
(cf. 5148 - Child Care and Development) 

 
Note: SB 579 (Ch. 802, Statutes of 2015) amended Labor Code 230.8 to expand the definition of "parent" to 

add a stepparent, foster parent, or person who stands in loco parentis to the child. 

 

For purposes of this leave, parent/guardian includes a parent, guardian, stepparent, foster 

parent, grandparent, or person who stands in loco parentis to a child.  (Labor Code 230.8) 

 

Note: Labor Code 230.8 provides that the employee may use time off without pay to the extent the district 

makes it available. The following optional paragraph may be revised to reflect district practice. 

 

In lieu of using vacation, personal leave, or compensatory time off, eligible employees may 

take unpaid leave for this purpose. 
 

If two or more parents/guardians of a child are employed at the same work site, this leave shall 

be allowed for the parent/guardian who first gives notice to the district. Simultaneous absence 

by another parent/guardian of the child may be granted by the Superintendent or designee.  

(Labor Code 230.8) 
 

Upon request by the Superintendent or designee, the employee shall provide documentation 

from the school or licensed child care provider that he/she the employee engaged in permitted 

child-related activities on a specific date and at a particular time.  (Labor Code 230.8) 
 

Service on Education Boards and Committees 
 

Upon request, a certificated employee shall be granted up to 20 school days of paid leave per 

school year for service performed within the state on any education board, commission,  

 

 AR 4161.2(j) 

  4261.2 

  4361.2 

 

 

PERSONAL LEAVES  (continued) 

 

 

committee, or group authorized by Education Code 44987.3 provided that all of the following 

conditions are met:  (Education Code 44987.3) 

 

1. The service is performed within the state. 

 

Page 108



2. The board, commission, organization, or group informs the district in writing of the 

service. 

 

3. The board, commission, organization, or group agrees, prior to the service, to reimburse 

the district, upon the district's request, for compensation paid to the employee's 

substitute and for actual related administrative costs. 

 

Employee Organization Activities 

 
Note:  The following optional section may be deleted by any district whose collective bargaining agreements 

expressly provide for a paid leave of absence for participation in the activities described in this section. 

 

Education Code 44987 and 45210 provide that certificated and classified employees may take time off without 

loss of compensation to serve as elected officers of their local, statewide, or national employee organization. 

Following the district's payment to the employee for the leave of absence, the employee organization must 

reimburse the district within 10 days after receiving the district's certification of payment of compensation to 

the employee. This leave of absence is in addition to the release time granted to representatives of an employee 

organization pursuant to Government Code 3543.1. 

 

Upon request, any certificated or classified employee shall be granted a leave of absence 

without loss of compensation to serve as an elected officer of a district employee organization 

or any statewide or national employee organization with which the employee organization is 

affiliated. The leave shall include, but is not limited to, absence for purposes of attending 

periodic, stated, special, or regular meetings of the body of the organization.  (Education Code 

44987, 45210) 

 
(cf. 4140/4240/4340 - Bargaining Units) 

(cf. 4143/4243 - Negotiations) 

 
Note: Education Code 45210 requires districts to grant a paid leave of absence to a reasonable number of 

classified employees serving as unelected members of the employee organization or a statewide or national 

public employee organization when the employee attends "important organizational activities authorized by 

the public employee organization." Compensation must include the required retirement fund contributions. 

The employee will continue to earn full service credit during the leave and must pay member contributions as 

specified. The maximum amount of service credit an employee may earn cannot exceed 12 years. Education 

Code 45210 also requires that an employee organization provide reasonable notification to the district when 

requesting a leave of absence without loss of compensation for an employee. 

 

 AR 4161.2(k) 

  4261.2 

  4361.2 

 

 

PERSONAL LEAVES  (continued) 

 

 

Upon request of an employee organization in the district or its state or national affiliate, a 

reasonable number of unelected classified employees shall be granted a leave of absence 

without loss of compensation for the purpose of attending important organizational activities 

authorized by the organization. The employee organization shall provide reasonable 

notification to the Superintendent or designee when requesting a leave of absence for 

employees for this purpose.  (Education Code 45210) 

Page 109



 

When leave is granted for any of the above purposes, the employee organization shall 

reimburse the district within 10 days after receiving the district's certification of payment of 

compensation to the employee. (Education Code 44987, 45210) 

 

Religious Leave 

 

Note: The following optional section is for use by any district that chooses to grant religious leave and may 

be revised to reflect district practice. A district that does not grant such leave should delete this section. 

However, the district should consult legal counsel before denying a request for religious leave since the 

Constitution requires districts to provide "reasonable accommodation" to employee religious practices. 

 

The Superintendent or designee may grant an employee up to three days of leave per year for 

religious purposes, provided that the leave is requested in advance and that it does not cause 

additional district expenditures, the neglect of assigned duties, or any other unreasonable 

hardship on the district. 

 

Note: The following optional paragraph reflects the California Supreme Court's interpretation of Article 1, 

Section 8 of the California Constitution as stated in Rankin v. Commission on Professional Competence. 

 

The Superintendent or designee shall deduct the cost of hiring a substitute, when required, from 

the wages of the employee who takes religious leave. 

 

No employee shall be discriminated against for using this leave or any additional days of 

unpaid leave granted for religious observances at the discretion of the Superintendent or 

designee. 

 

Spouse on Leave from Military Deployment 

 
Note:  Military and Veterans Code 395.10 requires any district with 25 or more employees to allow up to 10 

days of unpaid leave to an employee whose spouse is on leave from military deployment. A district with fewer 

than 25 employees may use the following section at its discretion. In addition, 29 USC 2612 authorizes an 

employee to take up to 26 work weeks of unpaid military caregiver leave or up to 12 weeks of "exigency" 

leave during a single 12-month period, as determined by the district; see AR 4161.8/4261.8/4361.8 - Family 

Care and Medical Leave. 

 

 AR 4161.2(l) 

  4261.2 

  4361.2 

 

 

PERSONAL LEAVES  (continued) 

 

 

An employee who works an average of 20 hours or more per week and whose spouse is a 

member of the United States Armed Forces, National Guard, or reserves may take up to 10 

days of unpaid leave during a period that his/her the employee's spouse is on leave from 

deployment during a military conflict, as defined in Military and Veterans Code 395.10.  

(Military and Veterans Code 395.10) 

 

Page 110



Within two business days of receiving official notice that his/her the employee's spouse will 

be on leave from deployment, the employee shall provide the Superintendent or designee with 

notice of his/her the intention to take the leave. The employee shall submit written 

documentation certifying that his/her the employee's spouse will be on leave from deployment 

during the time that the leave is requested.  (Military and Veterans Code 395.10) 

 

Leave for Emergency Duty 

 

Note: Labor Code 230.3 prohibits a district from discharging or discriminating against an employee who takes 

time off to perform emergency duty as specified below. Labor Code 230.3 defines emergency rescue personnel 

as a member of a federal, state, local, or private fire department or agency, as well as a sheriff or police 

department. 

 

An employee may take time off to perform emergency duty as a volunteer firefighter, a reserve 

peace officer, or emergency rescue personnel.  (Labor Code 230.3) 

 
Note: Pursuant to Labor Code 230.4, a district with 50 or more employees must grant an employee who is a 

volunteer firefighter, reserve peace officer, or emergency rescue personnel a leave of absence for up to 14 

days per calendar year for training purposes.  A district with fewer than 50 employees may use or delete this 

paragraph at its discretion. 

 

Any employee who performs duty as a volunteer firefighter, reserve peace officer, or 

emergency rescue personnel shall be permitted to take temporary leaves of absence, not to 

exceed an aggregate total of 14 days per calendar year, for the purpose of engaging in fire, law 

enforcement, or emergency rescue training.  (Labor Code 230.4) 

 

Civil Air Patrol Leave 

 
Note:  Labor Code 1500-1507 require a district with more than 15 employees to provide at least 10 days of 

unpaid leave per year, beyond any leave otherwise available to employees, to employees who volunteer with 

the Civil Air Patrol and are directed to respond to an emergency operational mission, as provided below.  

Labor Code 1503 specifies that a district may not require an employee to first exhaust all accrued vacation, 

personal, sick, or any other available leave in order to use Civil Air Patrol leave. 

 

If the district chooses to offer more than 10 days of such leave per year or to provide paid leave, it should 

modify the following paragraph accordingly. A district with 15 or fewer employees may use or delete this 

section at its discretion. 

 AR 4161.2(m) 

  4261.2 

  4361.2 
 

 

PERSONAL LEAVES  (continued) 
 

 

An employee may take up to 10 days of unpaid leave per calendar year, beyond any leave 

otherwise available to him/her the employee, to respond to an emergency operational mission 

of the California Civil Air Patrol, provided that the employee has been employed by the district 

for at least a 90-day period immediately preceding the leave. Such leaves shall not exceed three 

days for a single mission, unless an extension is granted by the governmental entity authorizing 

the mission and is approved by the Superintendent or designee.  (Labor Code 1501, 1503) 
 

Page 111



The employee shall give the district as much advance notice as possible of the intended dates 

of the leave. The Superintendent or designee may require certification from the proper Civil 

Air Patrol authority to verify the eligibility of the employee for the leave and may deny the 

leave if the employee fails to provide the required certification.  (Labor Code 1503) 
 

 

 

Legal Reference: 

EDUCATION CODE 

44036-44037  Leaves of absence for judicial and official appearances 

44963  Power to grant leaves of absence (certificated) 

44981  Leave of absence for personal necessity (certificated) 

44985  Leave of absence due to death in immediate family (certificated) 

44987  Service as officer of employee organization (certificated) 

44987.3  Leave of absence to serve on certain boards, commissions, etc. 

45190  Leaves of absence and vacations (classified) 

45194  Bereavement leave of absence (classified) 

45198  Effect of provisions authorizing leaves of absence 

45207  Personal necessity (classified) 

45210  Service as officer of employee organization (classified) 

45240-45320  Merit system, classified employees 

EVIDENCE CODE 

1035.2  Sex assault counselor; definition 

1037.1  Domestic violence counselor; definition 

FAMILY CODE 

297-297.5  Registered domestic partner rights, protections, and benefits 

GOVERNMENT CODE 

3543.1  Release time for representatives of employee organizations 

12945.1-12945.2  California Family Rights Act 

LABOR CODE 

230-230.2  Leave for victims of domestic violence, sexual assault, or specified felonies 

230.3  Leave for emergency personnel 

230.4  Leave for volunteer firefighters 

230.8  Leave to visit child's school 

233  Illness of child, parent, spouse, domestic partner or domestic partner's child 

234  Absence control policy 

246.5  Paid sick days, purposes for use 

1500-1507  Civil Air Patrol leave 

 
Legal Reference continued: (see next page) 

 AR 4161.2(n) 

  4261.2 

  4361.2 

 

 

PERSONAL LEAVES  (continued) 

 

 

 
Legal Reference: (continued) 

MILITARY AND VETERANS CODE 

395.10  Leave when spouse on leave from military deployment 

PENAL CODE 

667.5  Violent felony, defined 

1192.7  Serious felony, defined 

CALIFORNIA CONSTITUTION 

Page 112



Article 1, Section 8  Religious discrimination 

UNITED STATES CODE, TITLE 29 

2601-2654  Family and Medical Leave Act 

UNITED STATES CODE, TITLE 42 

2000d-2000d-7  Title VII, Civil Rights Act of 1964 

COURT DECISIONS 

Rankin v. Commission on Professional Competence, (1988) 24 Cal.3d 167 

PUBLIC EMPLOYMENT RELATIONS BOARD DECISIONS 

Berkeley Council of Classified Employees v. Berkeley Unified School District, (2008) PERB Decision 

No. 1954 

 
Management Resources: 

WEB SITES 

California Department of Industrial Relations:  http://www.dir.ca.gov 

California Federation of Teachers:  http://www.cft.org 

California School Employees Association:  http://www.csea.com 

California Teachers Association:  http://www.cta.org 

Public Employment Relations Board: http://www.perb.ca.gov 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 (12/14  3/16)  3/21 

 
Policy Reference UPDATE Service 

Copyright 2021 by California School Boards Association, West Sacramento, California 95691 

All rights reserved. 

CSBA Sample 
Administrative Regulation 

 

All Personnel AR 4161.8(a) 

 4261.8 

 4361.8 

FAMILY CARE AND MEDICAL LEAVE 

 

 
Note:  The following optional administrative regulation addresses mandatory subjects of bargaining.  The 

laws referenced in this regulation provide minimum amounts of leave which the district must grant its 

employees if more generous benefits are not provided as part of its collective bargaining agreement. Any 

covered subject that is already addressed in the district's collective bargaining agreements should be deleted 

from this administrative regulation. 

Page 113



 

Both federal and state law provide for family care and medical leave (29 USC 2601-2654, the Family and 

Medical Leave Act of 1993 (FMLA), and Government Code 12945.1-12945.2, the California Family Rights 

Act(cfRA)).  However, these laws do not always provide identical rights or operate in the same manner.  For 

example, pregnancy as a "serious health condition" is covered under FMLA but not under CFRA. Instead, 

under California state law, an employee who is disabled due to pregnancy, childbirth, or a related medical 

condition is entitled to pregnancy disability leave (PDL) pursuant to Government Code 12945. Where there 

is a difference between state and federal law, the law that grants the greatest benefits generally controls. In 

those situations, legal counsel should be consulted as needed. 

 

As amended by AB 1556 (Ch. 799, Statutes of 2017), Government Code 12945 and 12945.2 delete references 

to females with regard to pregnancy disability leave and clarify that all employees are protected against 

pregnancy discrimination regardless of their gender identity. 

 

The district shall not deny any eligible employee the right to family care, or medical leave, or 

pregnancy disability leave (PDL) pursuant to the Family and Medical Leave Act (FMLA), or 

the California Family Rights Act(CFRA), or leave for pregnancy disability pursuant to 

California Pregnancy Disability Leave (PDL)., or the Fair Employment and Housing Act 

(FEHA) nor restrain or interfere with the employee's exercise of such right. In addition, tThe 

district shall not interfere with, restrain, or deny the exercise of an employee's right to any 

such leave, nor shall the district discharge,  an employee or discriminate against, or retaliate 

against an employee him/her for taking such leave, or for his/her opposition to or challenge of 

opposing or challenging any unlawful district employment practice in relation to any of these 

laws, or for his/her involvement being involved in any related inquiry or proceeding.  

(Government Code 12945, 12945.2; 2 CCR 11094; 29 USC 2615) 

 
(cf. 4030 - Nondiscrimination in Employment) 

(cf. 4032 - Reasonable Accommodation) 

(cf. 4033 - Lactation Accommodation) 

 

Definitions 

 

The words and phrases defined below shall have the same meaning throughout this 

administrative regulation except where a different meaning is otherwise specified. 

 
Note:  Government Code 12945.2, as amended by SB 1383 (Ch. 86, Statutes of 2020), includes a child of 

a registered domestic partner in the definition of "child" for purposes of CFRA leave. 

 AR 4161.8(b) 

 4261.8 

 4361.8 

 

 

FAMILY CARE AND MEDICAL LEAVE  (continued) 

 

 

Child (son or daughter) means a biological, adopted, or foster child; a stepchild; a legal ward; 

or a child person to whom the employee stands in loco parentis, as long as the child is under 

18 years of age or an adult dependent child.  For purposes of CFRA leave, child also includes 

a child of a registered domestic partner.  (Government Code 12945.2; 2 CCR 11087; 29 

USC 2611) 

 

Page 114



Eligible employee, for FMLA and CFRA purposes, means an employee who has been 

employed with the district for at least 12 months and who has at least 1,250 hours of service 

with the district during the previous 12-month period during the 12 months immediately 

preceding the leave. However, these requirements shall not apply when an employee applies 

for PDL.  (Government Code 12945.2; 2 CCR 11087; 29 USC 2611; 29 CFR 825.110) 

 

Eligible family member means an employee's child, parent, or spouse.  For purposes of 

leave to care for a family member with a serious health condition pursuant to CFRA, 

eligible family member includes an employee's child, parent, spouse, registered domestic 

partner, grandparent, grandchild, or sibling.  (Government Code 12945.2; 2 CCR 11087; 

29 USC 2612) 

 

Employee disabled by pregnancy means an employee whose health care provider states that 

the employee is:  (2 CCR 11035) 

 

1. Unable because of pregnancy to perform any one or more of the essential functions of 

the job or to perform any of them without undue risk to the employee or other persons 

or to the pregnancy's successful completion 

 

2. Suffering from severe "morning sickness" or needs to take time off for prenatal or 

postnatal care, bed rest, gestational diabetes, pregnancy-induced hypertension, 

preeclampsia, postpartum depression, childbirth, loss or end of pregnancy, recovery 

from childbirth or loss or end of pregnancy, or any other pregnancy-related condition 

 

Parent means a biological, foster, or adoptive parent; a stepparent; a legal guardian; or another 

person who stood in loco parentis to the employee when the employee was a child. Parent 

does not include a spouse's parents.  (Government Code 12945.2; 2 CCR 11087; 29 USC 2611; 

29 CFR 825.122) 

 
Note:  For purposes of CFRA leave, Government Code 12945.2, as amended by SB 1383, includes an 

employee's grandparent, grandchild, sibling, and registered domestic partner with a serious health condition 

as one for whom an employee may take family care and medical leave. 

 

 

 

 AR 4161.8(c) 

 4261.8 

 4361.8 

 

 

FAMILY CARE AND MEDICAL LEAVE  (continued) 

 

 

Serious health condition means an illness, injury (including, but not limited to, on-the-job 

injuries), impairment, or physical or mental condition of the employee or an eligible family 

member of the employee his/her child, parent, or spouse, that involves either of the following 

inpatient care or continuing treatment, including treatment for substance abuse, as 

follows:  (Government Code 12945.2; 2 CCR 11087, 11097; 29 USC 2611, 2612; 29 CFR 

825.113-825.115) 

Page 115



 

1. Inpatient care in a hospital, hospice, or residential health care facility, any subsequent 

treatment in connection with such inpatient care, or any period of incapacity 

 

A person is considered an inpatient when formally admitted to a health care facility 

formally admits him/her to the facility with the expectation of that he/she will 

remaining overnight and occupying a bed, even if it later develops that the person can 

be discharged or transferred to another facility and does not actually remain overnight. 

 

Incapacity means the inability to work, attend school, or perform other regular daily 

activities due to a serious health condition, its treatment, or the recovery that it requires. 

 

2. Continuing treatment or continuing supervision by a health care provider, including 

one or more of the following: 

 

a. A period of incapacity of more than three consecutive full days 

 

b. Any period of incapacity or treatment for such incapacity due to a chronic 

serious health condition 

 

c. Any period of incapacity due to pregnancy or for prenatal care under FMLA 

 

d. Any period of incapacity which is permanent or long term due to a condition 

for which treatment may not be effective 

 

e. Any period of absence to receive multiple treatments, including recovery, by a 

health care provider 

 

Spouse means a partner in marriage as defined in Family Code 300, including same sex partners 

in marriage or.  For purposes of CFRA leave, spouse also includes a registered domestic 

partner within the meaning of Family Code 297-297.5.  (Family Code 297, 297.5, 300; 2 CCR 

11087; 29 CFR 825.122) 

 

 AR 4161.8(d) 

 4261.8 

 4361.8 

 

 

FAMILY CARE AND MEDICAL LEAVE  (continued) 

 

 

Eligibility 

 
Note:  Pursuant to Government Code 12945.2 and 29 USC 2611-2612, require a district is required to grant 

family care and medical leave to an eligible employee for any of the reasons stated below. These requirements 

generally apply to all public agencies regardless of the number of employees. circumstances where the 

district employs 50 or more employees within 75 miles of the worksite where the employee requesting the 

leave is employed. 

 

Page 116



Government Code 12945.6, as added by SB 63 (Ch. 686, Statutes of 2017), extends the right to parental leave 

to an eligible employee who is not covered by FMLA or CFRA when the district employs 20-49 employees 

within 75 miles of the worksite where the employee requesting the leave is employed. 

 

The district shall grant FMLA or CFRA leave to eligible employees for any of the following 

reasons:  (Government Code 12945.2, 12945.6; 29 USC 2612; 29 CFR 825.112, 825.126, 

825.127) 

 

1. The birth of a child of the employee or placement of a child with the employee in 

connection with the employee's adoption or foster care of the child (parental leave) 

 

2. To care for the employee's child, parent, or spouse the employee's eligible family 

member with a serious health condition 

 

3. The employee's own serious health condition that makes the employee him/her unable 

to perform one or more essential job functions of his/her the position 

 
Note:  Pursuant to 29 CFR 825.126, FMLA military family leave is available to any eligible employee for a 

qualifying exigency while the employee's spouse, son, daughter child, or parent who is a military member is 

on covered active duty during deployment to a foreign country. Government Code 12945.2, as amended by 

SB 1383, provides exigency leave under CFRA for an employee whose registered domestic partner is 

on active duty. For requirements related to qualifying exigency leave, see the section "Military Family Leave 

Resulting from Qualifying Exigencies" below. 

 

4. Any qualifying exigency arising out of the fact that the employee's spouse, child, or 

parent, or, for CFRA leave only, a registered domestic partner, is a military member 

on covered active duty or call to covered active duty (or has been notified of an 

impending call or order to covered active duty) 

 
Note:  Pursuant to 29 CFR 825.127, military caregiver leave is available to any eligible employee who is a 

family member of a covered servicemember with a serious injury or illness. For requirements related to 

military caregiver leave, see the section on "Military Caregiver Leave" below. 

 

5. To care for a covered servicemember with a serious injury or illness if the covered 

servicemember is the employee's spouse, child, parent, or next of kin, as defined 

 AR 4161.8(e) 

 4261.8 

 4361.8 

 

 

FAMILY CARE AND MEDICAL LEAVE  (continued) 

 

 
Note:  Under federal law, pregnancy as a "serious health condition" is covered as part of FMLA leave.  

However, disability due to pregnancy is explicitly excluded from coverage under CFRA (2 CCR 11093). 

Instead, pursuant to Government Code 12926 and 12945, any California employee who is "disabled because 

of pregnancy, childbirth, or related medical conditions" is entitled to unpaid PDL of up to four months if the 

employer has five or more employees. Therefore, such an employee is entitled to up to four months of PDL 

and an additional 12 weeks of CFRA leave following the birth of the child. 

 

Additionally, pursuant to 2 CCR 11037, PDL is not subject to eligibility requirements for other FMLA and 

CFRA leaves, such as minimum hours worked or length of service. 

Page 117



 

In addition, the district shall grant PDL to any employee who is disabled by pregnancy, 

childbirth, or other related medical condition.  (Government Code 12945; 2 CCR 11037) 

 

Terms of Leave 

 
Note:  Leaves common to CFRA and FMLA run concurrently so that total leave to which an employee is 

entitled would be 12 work weeks.  However, when they do not run concurrently, an employee may be 

eligible for up to 12 work weeks under both CFRA and FMLA, for a total of 24 work weeks. 

 

An eligible employee shall be entitled to a total of 12 work weeks of FMLA or CFRA leave 

during any 12-month period, except in the case of leave to care for a covered servicemember 

as provided under "Military Caregiver Leave" below.  To the extent allowed by law, CFRA 

and FMLA leaves shall run concurrently.  In circumstances where the leaves do not run 

concurrently under the law, the employee may take up to 12 work weeks for both CFRA 

and FMLA, for a total of 24 work weeks.  (Government Code 12945.2; 29 USC 2612) 

 
Note:  To determine the 12-month period in which the leave entitlement occurs, the district may use any of 

the methods identified in 29 CFR 825.200 and specified in options #1-4 below. However, a district may choose 

not to use any of these options and may instead choose some other fixed 12-month period. Whichever option 

is selected, it must be applied uniformly to all employees. If the district fails to select a method for 

calculating the 12-month period, the method that provides the most beneficial outcome for the employee will 

be used. Pursuant to 2 CCR 11090, if the district decides to change the calculation method, it must provide at 

least 60 days' notice to all employees. 

 

OPTION 1:  This 12-month period shall coincide with the calendar year.  (29 CFR 825.200) 

 

OPTION 2:  This 12-month period shall coincide with the fiscal year.  (29 CFR 825.200) 

 

OPTION 3:  This 12-month period shall be measured forward from the date the employee's 

first family care and medical leave begins.  (29 CFR 825.200) 

 

 

 

 AR 4161.8(f) 

 4261.8 

 4361.8 

 

 

FAMILY CARE AND MEDICAL LEAVE  (continued) 

 

 

OPTION 4:  This 12-month period shall be a rolling period measured backward from the date 

an employee uses any family care and medical leave, as defined in 29 CFR 825.200.  (29 CFR 

825.200) 

 
Note:  2 CCR 11042 clarifies that the four months of PDL to which an employee is entitled means the number 

of days or hours that the employee would normally work within the four calendar months.  For employees 

who work 40 hours per week, PDL leave is defined as 17-1/3 weeks, 122 days, or 693 hours. 

 

Page 118



In addition, any employee who is disabled by pregnancy, childbirth, or other related condition 

shall be entitled to PDL for the period of the disability not to exceed four months. For a part-

time employee, the four months shall be calculated on a proportional basis.  (Government Code 

12945; 2 CCR 11042) 

 
Note:  While leaves common to CFRA and FMLA run concurrently, PDL is separate and distinct from CFRA 

leave. Consequently, pursuant to 2 CCR 11046, an employee who is "disabled by pregnancy" may be entitled 

to up to four months of PDL, followed by 12 work weeks of CFRA leave for the birth of the child (baby 

bonding). Determining which leaves run concurrently is a complex endeavor and districts should consult legal 

counsel as needed. 

 

PDL shall run concurrently with FMLA leave for disability caused by an employee's 

pregnancy. At the end of the employee's FMLA leave for disability caused by pregnancy, or at 

the end of four months of PDL, whichever occurs first, a CFRA-eligible employee may request 

to take CFRA leave of up to 12 work weeks, for the reason of the birth of a child or to bond 

with or care for the child.  (Government Code 12945, 12945.2; 2 CCR 11046, 11093) 

 

Leave taken for the birth or placement of a child must be concluded within the 12-month period 

beginning on the date of the birth or placement of the child. Such leave does not need to be 

taken in one continuous period of time.  (2 CCR 11090; 29 USC 2612) 

 
Note:  Government Code 12945.6, which limited the amount of leave related to the birth or placement 

of a child to a combined total of 12 work weeks when both parents work for the district, was repealed 

by SB 1383, thereby allowing both parents to take up to 12 work weeks of leave for this purpose.  

Although 29 USC 2612 allows the district to limit the aggregate number of work weeks of leave to which 

two parents may be entitled when both parents work for the district, such leave is covered under both 

FMLA and CFRA and state law prevails since it provides greater rights to employees. The following 

optional paragraph is for use by districts that choose to limit family care and medical leave related to the birth 

or placement of a child to a total of 12 work weeks when both parents work for the district, as authorized by 

Government Code 12945.2 and 12945.6. However, pursuant to 2 CCR 11088, such limit on employees' 

entitlement to family care and medical leave for any other qualifying purpose is prohibited. 

 

If both parents of a child work for the district, their family care and medical leave related to 

the birth or placement of the child shall be limited to a combined total of 12 work weeks.  

 

 AR 4161.8(g) 

 4261.8 

 4361.8 

 

 

FAMILY CARE AND MEDICAL LEAVE  (continued) 

 

 

Each eligible employee shall be granted up to 12 work weeks for family care and medical 

leave related to the birth or placement of a child, regardless of whether both parents of 

the child work for the district.  This restriction shall apply regardless of the legal status of 

both parents' relationship.  (Government Code 12945.2, 12945.6; 2 CCR 11088; 29 USC 2612) 

 

Use/Substitution of Paid Leave 

 

Page 119



Note:  The district may require employees (Option 1) or employees may elect (Option 2) to use paid leave 

during an otherwise unpaid portion of CFRA or FMLA leave or PDL. Pursuant to 2 CCR 11044 and 11092, 

the district may only require an employee to use sick leave if the leave is for the employee's own serious health 

condition or for PDL, unless mutually agreed to by the district and the employee. The district and employee 

may also negotiate for the employee's use of any paid or unpaid time off instead of using the employee's CFRA 

leave. 

 

OPTION 1:  An employee shall use his/her accrued vacation leave, other accrued time off, 

and any other paid time off negotiated with the district for any otherwise unpaid FMLA or 

CFRA leave not involving his/her own serious health condition. For PDL, CFRA, or FMLA 

leave due to an employee's own serious health condition, the employee shall use accrued sick 

leave and may use accrued vacation leave and other paid time off at his/her option.  During 

any otherwise unpaid period of FMLA or CFRA leave, except leave for an employee's 

own serious health condition, an employee shall use accrued paid leave, including, but 

not limited to, vacation leave, personal leave, or family leave.  If the leave is for the 

employee's own serious health condition, the employee shall use accrued paid leave, 

including but not limited to, vacation leave, personal leave, or sick leave.   During an 

unpaid period of PDL, the employee shall use any accrued sick leave and may elect to use 

any vacation time or other accrued personal time off.  (Government Code 12945, 12945.2, 

12945.6; 2 CCR 11044, 11092; 29 USC 2612) 

 

OPTION 2:  During the any otherwise unpaid period of PDL or any FMLA or CFRA leave, 

the employee may elect to use his/her accrued vacation leave, accrued sick leave, or any other 

paid time off negotiated with the district that the employee he/she is eligible to use.  If the 

leave is for the employee's own serious health condition or PDL, the employee may also 

elect to use accrued sick leave during the period of leave.  (Government Code 12945, 

12945.2, 12945.6; 2 CCR 11044; 11092; 29 USC 2612) 

 
Note:  The following paragraph is for use with either option above. 

 

The district and employee may also negotiate for the employee's come to agreement 

regarding the use of any additional paid or unpaid time off instead of using the employee's 

CFRA leave.  (2 CCR 11092) 

 

 AR 4161.8(h) 

 4261.8 

 4361.8 

 

 

FAMILY CARE AND MEDICAL LEAVE  (continued) 

 

 
(cf. 4141/4241 - Collective Bargaining Agreement) 

(cf. 4161/4261/4361 - Leaves) 

(cf. 4161.1/4361.1 - Personal Illness/Injury Leave) 

(cf. 4261.1 - Personal Illness/Injury Leave) 

 

Intermittent Leave/Reduced Work or Leave Schedule 

 

Page 120



PDL and family care and medical leave for the serious health condition of an employee or 

his/her child, parent, or spouse eligible family member may be taken intermittently or on a 

reduced work or leave schedule when medically necessary, as determined by the health care 

provider of the person with the serious health condition. However, the district shall limit leave 

increments to the shortest period of time that the district's payroll system uses to account for 

absences or use of leave provided it is not to be greater than one hour.  (Government Code 

12945.2; 2 CCR 11042, 11090; 29 USC 2612) 

 
(cf. 4113.4/4213.4/4313.4 - Temporary Modified/Light-Duty Assignment) 

 
Note:  Pursuant to 2 CCR 11090, the minimum duration of CFRA parental leave for the birth, adoption, or 

foster care placement of a child is generally two weeks.  However, the district must grant a request for CFRA 

leave of less than two weeks duration on any two occasions and may grant additional requests. 

 

The basic minimum duration of leave for the birth, adoption, or foster care placement of a child 

shall be two weeks.  However, the district shall grant a request for such leave of less than two 

weeks on any two occasions.  (2 CCR 11090; 29 USC 2612) 

 

The district may require an employee to transfer temporarily to an available alternative position 

under any of the following circumstances:  (2 CCR 11041, 11090; 29 USC 2612) 

 

1. The employee needs intermittent leave or leave on a reduced work schedule that is 

foreseeable based on a planned medical treatment for the employee or family member. 

 
Note:  Pursuant to 2 CCR 11041, the district must accommodate the transfer request of a pregnant employee 

to the same extent that it accommodates transfer requests for other temporarily disabled employees. 

 

2. A medical certification is provided by the employee's health care provider that, because 

of pregnancy, the employee has a medical need to take intermittent leave or leave on a 

reduced work schedule. 

 

3. The district agrees to permit intermittent leave or leave on a reduced work schedule 

due to the birth, adoption, or foster care placement of the employee's child. 

 

 AR 4161.8(i) 

 4261.8 

 4361.8 

 

 

FAMILY CARE AND MEDICAL LEAVE  (continued) 

 

The alternative position must have equivalent pay and benefits and must better accommodate 

recurring periods of leave than the employee's regular job, and the employee must be qualified 

for the position. Transfer to an alternative position may include altering an existing job to better 

accommodate the employee's need for intermittent leave or a reduced work or leave schedule.  

(2 CCR 11041, 11090; 29 USC 2612) 

 

Request for Leave 

 

Page 121



Note:  Pursuant to 2 CCR 11050 and 11091, an employee is required to notify the district of the need to take 

PDL or family care and medical leave. The employee must provide at least verbal notice sufficient to make 

the district aware that the employee needs qualifying leave, and the anticipated timing and duration of the 

leave. However, the employee does not need to assert rights under CFRA or FMLA or even mention CFRA 

or FMLA to meet the notice requirement, but must state the reason the leave is needed. If there is a question 

about whether leave is FMLA/CFRA qualifying or if the district is considering denying CFRA leave based on 

an employee's refusal to provide further information, legal counsel should be consulted. 

 

The district shall consider an employee's request for PDL or family care and medical leave 

only if the employee provides at least verbal notice sufficient to make the district aware of the 

need to take the leave and the anticipated timing and duration of the leave.  (2 CCR 11050, 

11091) 

 

For family care and medical leave, the employee need not expressly assert or mention 

FMLA/CFRA to satisfy this requirement. However, the employee he/she must state the reason 

the leave is needed (e.g., birth of child, medical treatment).  If more information is necessary 

to determine whether the employee is eligible for family care and medical leave, the 

Superintendent or designee shall inquire further and obtain the necessary details of the leave 

to be taken.  (2 CCR 11091) 

 

The district shall respond to requests for leave as soon as practicable, but no later than five 

business days after receiving the employee's request.  (2 CCR 11091) 

 
Note:  Both 29 CFR 825.300 and 2 CCR 11091 require the district to provide an employee with notice of the 

designation of leave as either qualifying for CFRA or FMLA protection. See section entitled "Notifications" 

below for further requirements of this "designation notice" as well as other required notifications. 

 

Pursuant to 2 CCR 11091, an employee has the obligation to respond to questions designed to determine 

whether an absence is potentially CFRA qualifying. If the district is unable to determine whether requested 

leave is CFRA qualifying because of employee's refusal to respond to its inquiries, the employee may be 

denied CFRA protection. 

 

Based on the information provided by the employee, the Superintendent or designee shall 

designate the leave, paid or unpaid, as FMLA/CFRA qualifying leave and shall give notice of  

 

 

 AR 4161.8(j) 

 4261.8 

 4361.8 

 

 

FAMILY CARE AND MEDICAL LEAVE  (continued) 

 

 

such designation to the employee. Failure of an employee to respond to permissible inquiries 

regarding the leave request may result in denial of CFRA protection if the district is unable to 

determine whether the leave is CFRA qualifying.  (2 CCR 11091; 29 CFR 825.300) 

 
Note:  Pursuant to 2 CCR 11091, the district may require an employee to provide at least 30 days advance 

notice of the need for family care and medical leave, if the need is foreseeable. If the district requires such 

advance notice from employees, then the district's notification of FMLA/CFRA rights must so specify; see 

section below entitled "Notifications." 

Page 122



 

Pursuant to 2 CCR 11050, an employee requesting PDL is required to provide the district at least 30 days 

advance notice if the need for PDL is foreseeable. 

 

When an employee is able to foresee the need for PDL or family care and medical leave at 

least 30 days in advance of the leave, the employee shall provide the district with at least 30 

days advance notice before the leave. When the 30 days' notice is not practicable because of a 

lack of knowledge of when leave will be required to begin, a change in circumstances, a 

medical emergency, or other good cause, the employee shall provide the district with notice as 

soon as practicable. Failure of an employee to provide required notice may result in a denial 

of leave.  (2 CCR 11050, 11091) 

 

In all instances, the employee shall consult with the Superintendent or designee and make a 

reasonable effort to schedule, subject to the health care provider's approval, any planned 

appointment or medical treatment or supervision so as to minimize disruption to district 

operations.  (Government Code 12945.2; 2 CCR 11050, 11091) 

 

Certification of Health Condition 

 
Note:  The following optional section is for use by districts that require an employee to submit a medical 

certification of the need for leave along with the request for PDL or family care and medical leave for his/her 

an employee's own serious health condition or to care for a the employee's eligible family member child, 

parent, or spouse with a serious health condition. In order to help avoid claims of discrimination, the district 

should generally treat all such employees uniformly; thus, districts using this section should request a medical 

certification from all such employees. 

 

Districts requiring written medical certification from employees who request reasonable accommodation, 

transfer, or disability leave because of pregnancy may develop their own form, utilize one provided by the 

employee's health care provider, or use the form provided in 2 CCR 11050 or 11097, as applicable. 

 

Within five business days of an employee's request for family care and medical leave for  

his/her own or his/her child's, parent's, or spouse's the serious health condition of the employee 

or an eligible family member, the Superintendent or designee shall request that the employee 

provide certification by a health care provider of the need for leave. Upon  

 

 AR 4161.8(k) 

 4261.8 

 4361.8 

 

 

FAMILY CARE AND MEDICAL LEAVE  (continued) 

 

 

receiving the district's request, the employee shall provide the certification within 15 calendar 

days, unless either the Superintendent or designee provides additional time or it is not 

practicable under the particular circumstances, despite the employee's diligent, good faith 

efforts.  (2 CCR 11087, 11091; 29 CFR 825.305) 

 

The certification shall include the following:  (Government Code 12945.2; 2 CCR 11087; 29 

USC 2613) 

 

Page 123



1. The date on which the serious health condition began 

 

2. The probable duration of the condition 

 
Note:  Item #3 below addresses an eligible employee's request for leave to care for his/her child, parent, or 

spouse an eligible family member. In such a case, 2 CCR 11087 provides that the health care provider's 

certification need not identify the serious health condition involved.  The U.S. Department of Labor (DOL) 

provides a form, Certification of Health Care Provider for Family Member's Serious Health Condition 

under the Family and Medical Leave Act, that districts may use for this purpose to avoid unauthorized 

disclosure of the serious health condition. 

 

3. If the employee is requesting leave to care for a child, parent, or spouse an eligible 

family member with a serious health condition, both of the following: 

 

a. Statement that the serious health condition warrants the participation of the 

employee to provide care, such as by providing psychological comfort, 

arranging for third party care, or directly providing or participating in the 

medical care of the child, parent, or spouse the eligible family member during 

a period of the treatment or supervision 

 

b. Estimated amount of time the health care provider believes the employee needs 

to care for the child, parent, or spouse eligible family member 

 

4. If the employee is requesting leave because of the employee's his/her own serious 

health condition, a statement that due to the serious health condition, the employee 

he/she is unable to work at all or is unable to perform one or more essential job 

functions of the position of his/her job 

 

5. If the employee is requesting leave for intermittent treatment or on a reduced work or 

leave schedule for planned medical treatment, a statement of the medical necessity for 

the leave, the dates on which treatment is expected to be given, the duration of such 

treatment, and the expected duration of the leave 

 

 

 AR 4161.8(l) 

 4261.8 

 4361.8 

 

 

FAMILY CARE AND MEDICAL LEAVE  (continued) 

 

 

Note:  Government Code 12940 and other provisions of the California Genetic Information Nondiscrimination 

Act of 2011 prohibit an employer from requesting or requiring genetic information of employees or family 

members of employees unless specifically authorized by law making a non-job related inquiry into an 

employee's genetic information. A district which believes that an employee's leave may require obtaining 

this information should consult with legal counsel. 

 

Page 124



The Superintendent or designee shall not request any genetic information related to an 

employee except as authorized by law in accordance with the California Genetic Information 

Nondiscrimination Act of 2011.  (Government Code 12940) 

 

When an employee has provided sufficient medical certification to enable the district to 

determine whether the employee's leave request is FMLA/CFRA-eligible, the Superintendent 

or designee shall notify the employee within five business days whether the leave is 

FMLA/CFRA-eligible.  The Superintendent or designee may also retroactively designate leave 

as FMLA/CFRA leave as long as appropriate notice is given to the employee and there is no 

harm or injury to the employee.  (2 CCR 11091; 29 CFR 825.301) 

 

If the Superintendent or designee doubts has a good faith objective reason to doubt the 

validity of a certification that accompanies a request for leave for the employee's own serious 

health condition, the Superintendent or designee he/she may require the employee to obtain 

a second opinion from a district-approved health care provider, at district expense. If the second 

opinion is contrary to the first, the Superintendent or designee may require the employee to 

obtain a third medical opinion from a third health care provider approved by both the employee 

and the district, again at district expense. The opinion of the third health care provider shall be 

final and binding.  (Government Code 12945.2; 2 CCR 11091; 29 USC 2613) 

 

Certification for PDL 

 

Note:  The following optional section is for use by districts that require an employee to submit a medical 

certification of the need for leave along with the request for PDL. Districts requiring written medical 

certification from employees who request reasonable accommodation, transfer, or disability leave because of 

pregnancy may develop their own form, utilize one provided by the employee's health care provider, or use 

the form provided in 2 CCR 11050 or 11097, as applicable. 

 

For PDL, tThe Superintendent or designee shall request that the an employee who is 

requesting PDL provide certification by a health care provider of the need for leave at the 

time the employee gives notice of the need for PDL, or within two business days of giving the 

notice. If the need for PDL is unforeseen, the Superintendent or designee shall request the 

medical certification within two business days after the leave commences. The  

 

 

 AR 4161.8(m) 

 4261.8 

 4361.8 

 

 

FAMILY CARE AND MEDICAL LEAVE  (continued) 

 

 

Superintendent or designee may request certification at some later date if the Superintendent 

or designee he/she has reason to question the appropriateness of the leave or its duration.  (2 

CCR 11050) 

 

For PDL that is foreseeable and for which at least 30 days' notice has been given, the employee 

shall provide the medical certification before the leave begins. When this is not practicable, 

the employee shall provide the certification within the time frame specified by the 

Page 125



Superintendent or designee which must be at least 15 calendar days after the request, unless 

it is not practicable under the particular circumstances despite the employee's diligent, good 

faith efforts.  (2 CCR 11050) 

 

Medical certification for PDL purposes shall include a statement that the employee needs to 

take the leave because the employee is disabled by pregnancy, childbirth, or a related medical 

condition, the date on which the employee became disabled because of pregnancy, and the 

estimated duration of the leave.  (2 CCR 11050) 

 

If additional PDL or family care and medical leave is needed when the time estimated by the 

health care provider expires, the district may require the employee to provide recertification in 

the manner specified for the leave.  (Government Code 12945.2; 2 CCR 11050; 29 USC 2613) 

 

Note:  Government Code 12940 and other provisions of the California Genetic Information Nondiscrimination 

Act of 2011 prohibit employers from requesting or requiring genetic information of employees or family 

members of employees unless specifically authorized by law. A district which believes that an employee's 

leave may require obtaining this information should consult with legal counsel. 

 

The Superintendent or designee shall not request any genetic information related to an 

employee except as authorized by law in accordance with the California Genetic Information 

Nondiscrimination Act of 2011. 

 

Release to Return to Work 

 
Note:  The following optional section is for use by districts that choose to require a return-to-work 

certification and may be modified to list the specific positions for which certification is required. Pursuant to 

2 CCR 11091, the district may require an employee to submit a return-to-work certification from the 

employee's his/her health provider, stating that the employee he/she is able to return to work. However, this 

requirement may only be made if the district has a uniformly applied practice of requiring such releases when 

employees return to work after illness, injury, or disability, the any fitness-for-duty examination is job related 

and consistent with business necessity, and the practice is not forbidden by its collective bargaining agreement. 

2 CCR 11050 has similar requirements when an employee is returning to work after PDL. 

 

 

 

 AR 4161.8(n) 

 4261.8 

 4361.8 

 

 

FAMILY CARE AND MEDICAL LEAVE  (continued) 

 

 
Pursuant to 29 CFR 825.312, when the health care provider certifies that the employee is able to resume work, 

the district may also require the health care provider to address the employee's ability to perform the essential 

functions of the job. If such a requirement is imposed, then the district must provide the employee with a list 

of the employee's essential job functions of his/her job with the "designation notice"; see section entitled 

"Notifications" below. 

 

Upon expiration of an employee's PDL or family care and medical leave taken for the 

employee's his/her own serious health condition, the employee shall present certification from 

the health care provider of the employee's ability that he/she able to resume work. The 

Page 126



certification shall address the employee's ability to perform the essential job functions of 

his/her job the position. 

 
(cf. 4112.4/4212.4/4312.4 - Health Examinations) 

 

Rights to Reinstatement 

 
Note:  Pursuant to Government Code 12945.2, 2 CCR 11043 and 11089, and 29 USC 2614, an employee on 

PDL or family care and medical leave has the right to be reinstated to the same or a comparable position upon 

when he/she returns from such leave. However, such an employee has no greater right to reinstatement or 

other benefits than the employee he/she would have if he/she had been continuously employed employment 

had been continuous. In addition, in certain situations described below, the district may be relieved of the 

obligation to reinstate an employee.  As amended by SB 1383, Government Code 12945.2 eliminates the 

district's authority to deny reinstatement of a "key employee" in certain situations. 

 

The process for determining whether an employee is a "key employee" to whom the guarantee of reinstatement 

would not apply requires a detailed analysis and specific notifications to the employee. Legal counsel should 

be consulted if the district intends to deny leave or reinstatement. 

 

Upon granting an employee's request for PDL or FMLA/CFRA leave, the Superintendent or 

designee shall guarantee to reinstate the employee in the same or a comparable position when 

the leave ends.  (Government Code 12945.2; 2 CCR 11043, 11089; 29 USC 2614) 

 

However, the district may refuse to reinstate an employee returning from FMLA or CFRA 

leave to the same or a comparable position if all of the following apply:  (Government Code 

12945.2; 2 CCR 11089; 29 USC 2614) 

 

1. The employee is a salaried "key employee" who is among the highest paid 10 percent 

of district employees who are employed within 75 miles of the employee's worksite. 

 

2. The refusal is necessary to prevent substantial and grievous economic injury to district 

operations. 

 

 

 

 AR 4161.8(o) 

 4261.8 

 4361.8 

 

 

FAMILY CARE AND MEDICAL LEAVE  (continued) 

 

 

3. The district informs the employee of its intent to refuse reinstatement at the time it 

determines that the refusal is necessary, and the employee fails to immediately return 

to service. 

 
(cf. 4117.3 - Personnel Reduction) 

(cf. 4217.3 - Layoff/Rehire) 

 

Page 127



The district may also refuse to reinstate an employee to the same or a comparable position if 

the FMLA/CFRA leave was fraudulently obtained by the employee.  (2 CCR 11089; 29 CFR 

825.216) 

 

The district may refuse to reinstate an employee to the same position after taking PDL if, at 

the time the reinstatement is requested, the employee would not otherwise have been employed 

in that position for legitimate business reasons unrelated to the employee's PDL.  (2 CCR 

11043) 

 

Maintenance of Benefits/Failure to Return from Leave 

 

During the period when an employee is on PDL or family care and medical leave, he/she the 

employee shall maintain his/her employee status with the district and the leave shall not 

constitute a break in service for purposes of longevity, seniority under any collective 

bargaining agreement, or any employee benefit plan.  (Government Code 12945.2; 2 CCR 

11092; 29 USC 2614) 

 

Note:  Pursuant to 2 CCR 11044 and 11092, the time that the district maintains and pays for group health 

coverage during PDL shall not be used to meet its obligation to pay for 12 weeks of group health coverage 

during leave taken under CFRA, even where the district designates the PDL as FMLA or CFRA leave. The 

entitlements to employer-paid group health coverage during PDL and during CFRA are two separate and 

distinct entitlements. 

 

For up to a maximum of four months for PDL and 12 work weeks for other family care and 

medical leave, the district shall continue to provide an eligible employee the group health plan 

coverage that was in place before the employee he/she took the leave. The employee shall 

reimburse the district for premiums paid during the leave if the employee he/she fails to return 

to district employment after the expiration of all available leaves and the failure is for a reason 

other than the continuation, recurrence, or onset of a serious health condition or other 

circumstances beyond the employee's his/her control.  (Government Code 12945.2; 2 CCR 

11044, 11092; 29 USC 2614; 29 CFR 825.213) 

 
(cf. 4154/4254/4354 - Health and Welfare Benefits) 

 

 

 AR 4161.8(p) 

 4261.8 

 4361.8 

 

 

FAMILY CARE AND MEDICAL LEAVE  (continued) 

 

 

In addition, during the period when an employee is on PDL or family care and medical leave,  

the employee shall be entitled to continue to participate in other employee benefit plans 

including life insurance, short-term or long-term disability insurance, accident insurance, 

pension and retirement plans, and supplemental unemployment benefit plans to the same extent 

and under the same conditions as would apply to an unpaid leave taken for any other purpose.  

However, for purposes of pension and retirement plans, the district shall not make plan 

payments for an employee during any unpaid portion of the leave period and the leave period 

Page 128



shall not be counted for purposes of time accrued under the plan.  (Government Code 12945.2; 

2 CCR 11044, 11092) 

 

Military Family Leave Resulting from Qualifying Exigencies 

 
Note:  The following optional section reflects 29 USC 2611 and 2612 which authorize an eligible employee 

to take up to 12 work weeks of unpaid FMLA leave to attend to an "exigency" arising out of the fact that the 

employee's spouse, child, or parent is on active duty or on call to active duty status in the National Guard or 

Reserves, or is a member of the regular Armed Forces on deployment to a foreign country.  Pursuant to 

Government Code 12945.2, as amended by SB 1383, an employee may take unpaid leave under CFRA 

to attend to an exigency involving the employee's registered domestic partner. 

 

Pursuant to 29 CFR 825.200, an employee is entitled to 12 work weeks of qualifying exigency leave during 

each 12-month period established by the district; see section entitled "Terms of Leave" above. According to 

the U.S. Department of Labor's (DOL) DOL's Military Family Leave Provisions of the FMLA Frequently 

Asked Questions and Answers, an employee may take all 12 weeks of his/her FMLA leave entitlement as a 

qualifying exigency leave or take a combination of the 12 weeks of leave for both qualifying exigency leave 

and other FMLA leave, such as leave for a serious health condition. 

 

Because CFRA does not cover similar leave, CFRA leave is not exhausted when utilizing military family 

leave. 

 

An eligible employee may take up to 12 work weeks of unpaid FMLA/CFRA leave, during 

each 12-month period established by the district in the section entitled "Terms of Leave" above, 

for one or more qualifying exigencies while his/her the employee's child, parent, or spouse, 

or, for purposes of CFRA leave, registered domestic partner, who is a military member is 

on covered active duty or on call to covered active duty status.  (Government Code 12945.2; 

29 USC 2612; 29 CFR 825.126) 

 

Covered active duty means, for members of the Regular Armed forces, duty during the 

deployment of a member of the regular Armed Forces to a foreign country or and, for 

members of the Reserve components of the Armed forces, duty during the deployment of a 

member of the National Guard or Reserves to a foreign country under a call or an order to 

active duty in support of a contingency operation pursuant to law.  Deployment to a foreign 

county includes deployment to international waters.  (29 USC 2611; 29 CFR 825.126) 

 

 

 AR 4161.8(q) 

 4261.8 

 4361.8 

 

 

FAMILY CARE AND MEDICAL LEAVE  (continued) 

 

 

Note:  Pursuant to 29 CFR 825.126, a "qualifying exigency" may include "any other events" agreed to by the 

district and the employee.  As an example of such other event, DOL's Military Family Leave Provisions of 

the FMLA Frequently Asked Questions and Answers and the California Department of Human Resources' 

Questions and Answers - Military Family Leave - FMLA list leave to spend time with the military member 

either prior to or post deployment or to attend to household emergencies that would normally have been 

handled by the military member. 

 

Page 129



Qualifying exigencies include time needed to:  (29 CFR 825.126) 

 

1. Address issues arising from short notice deployment of up to seven calendar days from 

the date of receipt of call or order of short notice deployment 

 

2. Attend military events and related activities, such as any official ceremony or family 

assistance program related to the covered active duty or call to covered active duty 

status 

 

3. Arrange child care or attend school activities arising from the covered active duty or 

call to covered active duty, such as arranging for alternative child care, enrolling or 

transferring a child to a new school, or attending meetings 

 

4. Make or update financial and legal arrangements to address a military member's 

absence 

 

5. Attend counseling provided by someone other than a health care provider 

 

6. Spend time (up to 15 calendar days of leave per instance) with a military member who 

is on short-term, temporary, rest and recuperation leave during deployment 

 

7. Attend to certain post-deployment activities, such as arrival ceremonies or reintegration 

briefings 

 

8. Care for a military member's parent who is incapable of self-care when the care is 

necessitated by the military member's covered active duty 

 

9. Address any other event that the employee and district agree is a qualifying exigency 

 

The employee shall provide the Superintendent or designee with notice of the need for the 

qualifying exigency leave as soon as practicable, regardless of how far in advance such leave 

is foreseeable.  (29 CFR 825.302) 

 

 

 

 AR 4161.8(r) 

 4261.8 

 4361.8 

 

 

FAMILY CARE AND MEDICAL LEAVE  (continued) 

 

 

Note:  The district may require the employee to provide certification of the qualifying exigency containing 

the information specified in 29 CFR 825.309. A form has been developed by DOL for this purpose and is 

available on its web site. 

 

The following paragraph is optional and should be deleted by those districts that do not require such 

documentation. In order to help avoid claims of discrimination, the district should generally treat all 

Page 130



employees uniformly; thus, districts using this paragraph should request certification from all employees 

requesting such leave. 

 

An employee who is requesting leave for qualifying exigencies shall provide the 

Superintendent or designee with a copy of the military member's active duty orders, or other 

documentation issued by the military, and the dates of the service. In addition, the employee 

shall provide the Superintendent or designee with certification of the qualifying exigency 

necessitating the leave. The certification shall contain the information specified in 29 CFR 

825.309. 

 

The employee's qualifying exigency leave may be taken on an intermittent or reduced work or 

leave schedule basis.  (29 CFR 825.302) 

 

Note:  Pursuant to 29 USC 2612 and 29 CFR 825.207, the district has the option to require or give employees 

discretion to use paid leave when taking FMLA/CFRA leave; see Options 1 and 2 in the section entitled 

"Use/Substitution of Paid Leave" above. Whichever option is selected by the district with regards to 

FMLA/CFRA leave is also applicable to qualified exigency leave. 

 

During the period of qualified exigency leave, the district's rule regarding an employee's use 

of his/her accrued vacation leave and any other accrued paid or unpaid time off, as specified 

in the section "Use/Substitution of Paid Leave" above, shall apply. 

 

Military Caregiver Leave 

 
Note:  29 USC 2612 and 29 CFR 825.127 authorize an eligible employee to take up to 26 work weeks of 

unpaid military caregiver leave, as defined below, during a single 12-month period.  As is the case with other 

FMLA leaves, only districts that employ at least 50 employees within 75 miles of the worksite where the 

employee requesting the leave is employed are required to grant the military caregiver leave; see the section 

entitled "Eligibility" above.  According to DOL's Military Family Leave Provisions of the FMLA Frequently 

Asked Questions and Answers, if an employee does not use the entire 26-week entitlement in a single 12-

month period, unused weeks cannot be carried over into another 12-month period. However, the employee 

may qualify for nonmilitary FMLA leave. 

 

The district shall grant an eligible employee up to a total of 26 work weeks of leave during a 

single 12-month period, measured forward from the first date the leave is taken, to care for a 

covered servicemember with a serious illness or injury.  In order to be eligible for such military 

caregiver leave, the employee must be the spouse, son, daughter child, parent, or  

 

 AR 4161.8(s) 

 4261.8 

 4361.8 

 

 

FAMILY CARE AND MEDICAL LEAVE  (continued) 

 

 

next of kin of the covered servicemember. This 26-week period is not in addition to, but rather 

is inclusive of, the 12 work weeks of leave that may be taken for other FMLA qualifying 

reasons.  (29 USC 2611, 2612; 29 CFR 825.127) 

 

Covered servicemember may be:  (29 CFR 825.127) 

Page 131



 

1. A current member of the Armed Forces, including a member of the National Guard or 

Reserves, who is undergoing medical treatment, recuperation, or therapy; is otherwise 

in outpatient status; or is otherwise on the temporary disability retired list for a serious 

injury or illness 

 

2. A veteran who was discharged or released under conditions other than dishonorable at 

any time during the five-year period prior to the first date the eligible employee takes 

FMLA leave to care for the covered veteran 

 

Note:  Unlike the provisions for other FMLA/CFRA leave, 29 CFR 825.127 places no age limit on the 

definition of "son or daughter child," as detailed below. In addition, 29 CFR 825.127 defines "next of kin" of 

a covered servicemember in relation to military caregiver leave. 

 

Son or daughter Child of a covered servicemember means the covered servicemember's 

biological, adopted, or foster child, stepchild, legal ward, or a child of any age for whom the 

covered servicemember stood in loco parentis, and who is of any age.  (29 CFR 825.127) 

 

Parent of a covered servicemember means the covered servicemember's biological, adopted, 

step, or foster parent, or any other individual who stood in loco parentis to the covered 

servicemember (except "parents in law").  (29 CFR 825.127) 

 

Next of kin means the nearest blood relative to the covered servicemember, other than the 

spouse, parent, son, or daughter or child, unless or as designated in writing by the covered 

servicemember.  (29 USC 2611, 2612; 29 CFR 825.127) 

 

Outpatient status means the status of a member of the Armed Forces assigned to a military 

medical treatment facility as an outpatient or a unit established for the purpose of providing 

command and control of members of the Armed Forces receiving medical care as outpatients.  

(29 USC 2611; 29 CFR 825.127) 

 

Note:  29 USC 2611 defines "serious injury or illness" for active members of the Armed Forces and for 

veterans, as provided below. Pursuant to 29 CFR 825.127, one of the four conditions listed in item #2 below 

must be present for a veteran's injury or illness to qualify as a "serious injury or illness" for the purpose of this 

leave. 

 

 

 AR 4161.8(t) 

 4261.8 

 4361.8 

 

 

FAMILY CARE AND MEDICAL LEAVE  (continued) 

 

 

Serious injury or illness means:  (29 USC 2611; 29 CFR 825.127) 

 

1. For a current member of the Armed Forces, an injury or illness incurred by the member 

in the line of duty on active duty, or that existed before the beginning of the member's 

active duty and was aggravated by the member's service in the line of duty while on 

Page 132



active duty in the Armed Forces, and that may render the member medically unfit to 

perform the duties of the member's office, grade, rank, or rating. 

 

2. For a veteran, an injury or illness incurred or aggravated by the member's service in the 

line of duty on active duty in the Armed Forces, including the National Guard or 

Reserves, that manifested itself before or after the member became a veteran and that 

is at least one of the following: 

 

a. A continuation of a serious injury or illness incurred or aggravated while the 

veteran was a member of the Armed Forces and rendered the servicemember 

him/her unable to perform the duties of the servicemember's his/her office, 

grade, rank, or rating 

 

b. A physical or mental condition for which the veteran has received a U.S. 

Department of Veterans Affairs (VA) Service-Related Disability Rating of 50 

percent or greater, based wholly or partly on that physical or mental condition 

 

c. A physical or mental condition that substantially impairs the veteran's ability to 

secure or follow a substantially gainful occupation by reason of one or more 

disabilities related to the servicemember's his/her military service or that 

would do so but for treatment received by the veteran 

 

d. An injury, including a psychological injury, on the basis of which the veteran 

has been enrolled in the VA's Program of Comprehensive Assistance for Family 

Caregivers 

 
Note:  As is the case for other types of FMLA/CFRA leave, 29 CFR 825.302 and 825.303 requires the 

employee, when the need for the leave is foreseeable, to provide 30 days advance notice to the district before 

the leave is to begin. 

 

The employee shall provide reasonable and practicable notice of the need for the leave in 

accordance with the procedures in the section entitled "Request for Leave" above. 

 
Note:  29 CFR 825.310 authorizes the district to require employees to provide certification of the need for the 

leave, which is to be completed by an authorized health care provider of the covered servicemember. 

 

 

 AR 4161.8(u) 

 4261.8 

 4361.8 

 

 

FAMILY CARE AND MEDICAL LEAVE  (continued) 

 

 
The following paragraph is optional. In order to help avoid claims of discrimination, the district should 

generally treat all employees uniformly; thus, districts using this paragraph should request a medical 

certification from all employees requesting such leave. 

 

Page 133



An employee requesting leave to care for a covered servicemember with a serious injury or 

illness shall provide the Superintendent or designee with certification from an authorized 

health care provider of the servicemember that contains the information specified in 29 CFR 

825.310. 

 
Note:  Pursuant to 29 CFR 825.127, an employee may take up to a total of 26 work weeks of leave for both 

regular FMLA and military caregiver leave during the 12-month leave entitlement period. However, the 

employee may not take more than 12 weeks for regular FMLA leave. For example, according to DOL's 

Military Family Leave Provisions of the FMLA Frequently Asked Questions and Answers, an employee could 

take 12 weeks of FMLA leave to care for a newborn child and 14 weeks of military caregiver leave, but could 

not take 16 weeks to care for a newborn and 10 weeks of military caregiver leave. If the leave qualifies as 

both military caregiver leave and leave to care for a family member with a serious health condition, 29 CFR 

825.127 specifies that the district must first designate the leave as military caregiver leave. 

 

The leave may be taken intermittently or on a reduced work or leave schedule when medically 

necessary. An employee taking military caregiver leave in combination with other family care 

and medical leaves pursuant to this administrative regulation shall be entitled to a combined 

total of 26 work weeks of leave during a single 12-month period. When both spouses work for 

the district and both wish to take such leave, the spouses are limited to a maximum combined 

total of 26 work weeks during a single 12-month period.  (29 USC 2612) 

 

Note:  Pursuant to 29 USC 2612 and 29 CFR 825.207, the district has the option to require or give employees 

discretion to substitute paid leave when taking FMLA/CFRA leave; see Options 1 and 2 in section entitled 

"Use/Substitution of Paid Leave" above. Whichever option is selected by the district with regard to 

FMLA/CFRA leave is also applicable to military caregiver leave. 

 

During the period of military caregiver leave, the district's rule regarding an employee's use of 

his/her accrued vacation leave and other accrued paid or unpaid time off, as specified in the 

section "Use/Substitution of Paid Leave" above, shall apply. 

 

Notifications 

 
Note:  Both 29 CFR 825.300 and 2 CCR 11095 require employers to provide general notification to employees 

of their rights under the FMLA/CFRA as well as specific notifications when an employee has requested leave, 

as detailed below. 2 CCR 11049 contains similar notice requirements for PDL purposes. Samples of notices 

which describe an employee's rights are available on the web sites of the California Department of Fair 

Employment and Housing and the DOL. 

 

 AR 4161.8(v) 

 4261.8 

 4361.8 

 

 

FAMILY CARE AND MEDICAL LEAVE  (continued) 

 

 
Pursuant to 2 CCR 11095, the district must translate the notice into every language that is spoken by at least 

10 percent of the district's employees at any facility. 

 

The Superintendent or designee shall provide the following notifications regarding state and 

federal law related to PDL or FMLA/CFRA leave: 

 

Page 134



1. General Notice:  Information explaining the provisions of the FEHA/PDL and 

FMLA/CFRA and employee rights and obligations shall be posted in a conspicuous 

place on district premises, or electronically, and shall be included in employee 

handbooks.  (2 CCR 11049, 11095; 29 USC 2619) 

 

Note:  Pursuant to 2 CCR 11050 and 11091, a district may require an employee, when the need for the leave 

is foreseeable, to provide at least 30 days advance notice before the leave is to begin; see the section entitled 

"Request for Leave" above. 2 CCR 11049 and 11091 specify that districts requiring such notice from 

employees must give them "reasonable advance notice" of their obligation and that incorporation of the 

requirement into the general notice satisfies the "advance notice" requirement. 

 

The following optional paragraph is for use by districts that require employees to provide advance notice. 

 

The general notice shall also explain an employee's obligation to provide the 

Superintendent or designee with at least 30 days' notice of the need for the requested 

leave, when the need is reasonably foreseeable at least 30 days prior to the start of the 

leave.  (2 CCR 11049, 11050, 11091) 

 
(cf. 4112.9/4212.9/4312.9 - Employee Notifications) 

 

2. Eligibility Notice:  When an employee requests leave, including PDL, or when the 

Superintendent or designee acquires knowledge that an employee's leave may be for an 

FMLA/CFRA qualifying reason, the Superintendent or designee shall, within five 

business days, provide notification to the employee of his/her eligibility to take such 

leave.  (2 CCR 11049, 11091; 29 CFR 825.300) 

 

3. Rights and Responsibilities Notice:  Each time the eligibility notice is provided to an 

employee, the Superintendent or designee shall provide written notification explaining 

the specific expectations and obligations of the employee, including any consequences 

for a failure to meet those obligations. Such notice shall include, as applicable:  (29 

CFR 825.300) 

 

a. A statement that the leave may be designated and counted against the 

employee's annual FMLA/CFRA leave entitlement and the appropriate 12-

month entitlement period, if qualifying 

 

 AR 4161.8(w) 

 4261.8 

 4361.8 

 

 

FAMILY CARE AND MEDICAL LEAVE  (continued) 

 

 

Note:  Item #3b below is for use by districts that require medical certification to the effect that the employee 

is able to resume work. See the section entitled "Release to Return to Work" above. 

 

b. Any requirements for the employee to furnish medical certification of a serious 

health condition, serious injury or illness, or qualifying exigency arising out of 

Page 135



active duty or call to active duty status and the consequences of failing to 

provide the certification 

 

c. The employee's right to use paid leave, whether the district will require use of 

paid leave, conditions related to any use of paid leave, and the employee's 

entitlement to take unpaid leave if the employee does not meet the conditions 

for paid leave 

 

d. Any requirements for the employee to make premium payments necessary to 

maintain health benefits, the arrangement for making such payments, and the 

possible consequences of failure to make payments on a timely basis 

 

e. The employee's status as a "key employee" if applicable, potential consequence 

that restoration may be denied following the FMLA leave, and explanation of 

the conditions required for such denial 

 

f.e. The employee's right to maintenance of benefits during the leave and restoration 

to the same or an equivalent job upon return from leave 

 

g.f. The employee's potential liability for health insurance premiums paid by the 

district during the employee's unpaid FMLA leave should the employee not 

return to service after the leave 

 

Any time the information provided in the above notice changes, the Superintendent or 

designee shall, within five business days of his/her receipt of an employee's first notice 

of need for leave, provide the employee with a written notice referencing the prior 

notice and describing any changes to the notice.  (29 CFR 825.300) 

 

4. Designation Notice:  When the Superintendent or designee has information (e.g., 

sufficient medical certification) to determine whether the leave qualifies as 

FMLA/CFRA leave, he/she shall, within five business days, provide written 

notification designating the leave as FMLA/CFRA qualifying or, if the leave will not 

be so designated, the reason for that determination.  (2 CCR 11091; 29 CFR 825.300) 

 

 

 AR 4161.8(x) 

 4261.8 

 4361.8 

 

 

FAMILY CARE AND MEDICAL LEAVE  (continued) 

 

 

If the amount of leave needed is known, the notice shall include the number of hours, 

days, or weeks that will be counted against the employee's FMLA/CFRA entitlement. 

If it is not possible to provide that number at the time of the designation notice, 

notification shall be provided of the amount of leave counted against the employee's 

entitlement upon request by the employee and at least once in every 30-day period if 

leave was taken in that period.  (29 CFR 825.300) 

Page 136



 
Note:  29 CFR 825.300 requires the designation notice to specify whether the district requires paid leave to 

be used during an otherwise unpaid family care and medical leave, whether the district requires an employee 

to present release to return to work certification, and whether that certification must address the employee's 

ability to perform the essential functions of the job.  See the sections entitled "Use/Substitution of Paid Leave" 

and "Release to Return to Work" above.  The following paragraph should be revised to reflect district practice. 

 

If the district requires paid leave to be used during an otherwise unpaid family care and 

medical leave, the notice shall so specify.  If the district requires an employee to present 

a release to return to work certification that addresses the employee's ability to perform 

the essential functions of the job, the notice shall also specify that requirement.  (2 CCR 

11091, 11097; 29 CFR 825.300) 

 

Any time the information provided in the designation notice changes, the 

Superintendent or designee shall, within five business days, provide the employee with 

written notice referencing the prior notice and describing any changes to the notice.  

(29 CFR 825.300) 

 

Records 

 

Note:  Government Code 12946, 29 USC 2616, and 29 CFR 825.500 require districts to maintain records of, 

among other things, applications, dates, and personnel and employment action related to family care and 

medical leave. Pursuant to 42 USC 2000ff-1, any individually identifiable genetic information possessed by 

the district must be treated as a confidential medical record of the employee involved. 

 

The Superintendent or designee shall maintain records pertaining to an individual employee's 

use of family care and medical leave in accordance with law.  (Government Code 12946; 29 

USC 2616; 42 USC 2000ff-1; 29 CFR 825.500) 

 

 

 

Legal Reference:  (see next page) 

 

 

 

 AR 4161.8(y) 

 4261.8 

 4361.8 

 

 

FAMILY CARE AND MEDICAL LEAVE  (continued) 

 

 

 

Legal Reference: 

EDUCATION CODE 

44965  Granting of leaves of absence for pregnancy and childbirth 

FAMILY CODE 

297-297.5  Rights, protections, and benefits under law; registered domestic partners 

300  Validity of marriage 

Page 137



GOVERNMENT CODE 

12926  Fair employment and housing act, definitions 

12940  Unlawful employment practices 

12945  Pregnancy; childbirth or related medical condition; unlawful practice 

12945.1-12945.2  California Family Rights Act 

12945.6  Parental leave 

12946  Fair Employment and Housing Act:  discrimination prohibited 

UNEMPLOYMENT INSURANCE CODE 

3300-3308  Paid family leave 

CODE OF REGULATIONS, TITLE 2 

11035-11051  Sex discrimination:  pregnancy, childbirth and related medical conditions 

11087-110978  California Family Rights Act 

UNITED STATES CODE, TITLE 1 

7  Definition of marriage and spouse 

UNITED STATES CODE, TITLE 29 

2601-2654  Family and Medical Leave Act of 1993, as amended 

UNITED STATES CODE, TITLE 42 

2000ff-1-2000ff-11  Genetic Information Nondiscrimination Act of 2008 

CODE OF FEDERAL REGULATIONS, TITLE 29 

825.100-825.702  Family and Medical Leave Act of 1993 

COURT DECISIONS 

United States v. Windsor, (20123) 699 F.3d 169 

Faust v. California Portland Cement Company, (2007) 150 Cal.App.4th 864 

Tellis v. Alaska Airlines, (9th Cir., 2005) 414 F.3d 1045 

 
Management Resources: 

U.S. DEPARTMENT OF LABOR PUBLICATIONS 

Certification of Health Care Provider for Family Member's Serious Health Condition under the 

Family and Medical Leave Act, Form WH-380-F 

Military Family Leave Provisions of the FMLA Frequently Asked Questions and Answers 

CALIFORNIA DEPARTMENT OF HUMAN RESOURCES PUBLICATIONS 

Questions and Answers - Military Family Leave - FMLA 

WEB SITES 

California Department of Fair Employment and Housing:  http://www.dfeh.ca.gov 

California Department of Human Resources:  https://www.calhr.ca.gov 

U.S. Department of Labor, FMLA:  http://www.dol.gov/whd/fmla 

 (7/15  3/18)  3/21 

 
Policy Reference UPDATE Service 

Copyright 2020 by California School Boards Association, West Sacramento, California 95691 

All rights reserved. 

CSBA Sample 
Board Policy 
 

Instruction BP 6142.8(a) 

 

COMPREHENSIVE HEALTH EDUCATION 

 

 

Note:  The following optional policy may be revised to reflect district practice. 

 

The Governing Board believes that health education should foster the knowledge, skills, and 

attitudes that students need in order to lead healthy lives and avoid high-risk behaviors, and 

that creating a safe, supportive, inclusive, and nonjudgmental environment is crucial in 

Page 138



promoting healthy development for all students.  The district's health education program 

shall be part of a coordinated school health system which supports the physical, mental, and 

social well-being of students and is linked to district and community services and resources. 

 
(cf. 0415 - Equity) 

(cf. 3513.3 - Tobacco-Free Schools) 

(cf. 3514 - Environmental Safety) 

(cf. 3550 - Food Service/Child Nutrition Program) 

(cf. 3554 - Other Food Sales) 

(cf. 5131.6 - Alcohol and Other Drugs) 

(cf. 5131.62 - Tobacco) 

(cf. 5131.63 - Steroids) 

(cf. 5137 - Positive School Climate) 

(cf. 5141.22 - Infectious Diseases) 

(cf. 5141.23 - Asthma Management) 

(cf. 5141.3 - Health Examinations) 

(cf. 5141.32 - Health Screening for School Entry) 

(cf. 5141.4 - Child Abuse Prevention and Reporting) 

(cf. 5141.5 - Mental Health) 

(cf. 5141.52 - Suicide Prevention) 

(cf. 5141.6 - School Health Services) 

(cf. 5141.7 - Sun Safety) 

(cf. 5142 - Safety) 

(cf. 5145.3 - Nondiscrimination/Harassment) 

(cf. 5146 - Married/Pregnant/Parenting Students) 

(cf. 6164.2 - Guidance/Counseling Services) 

 

Note:  The federal Child Nutrition and Women, Infants and Children (WIC) Reauthorization Act of 2004 (42 

USC 1758b) requires each district participating in the National School Lunch program (42 USC 1751-1769j) 

or any program in the Child Nutrition Act of 1966, including the School Breakfast Program (42 USC 1771-

1791 1793), including the School Breakfast Program, to adopt a districtwide school wellness policy which 

includes goals for nutrition promotion and education, education and physical activity, and other school-

based activities that promote student wellness education.  See BP 5030 - Student Wellness for language 

fulfilling this mandate. 

 

Goals for the district's health education program shall be designed to promote student wellness 

and shall include, but not be limited to, goals for nutrition promotion and education, and 

physical activity, and other school-based activities that promote student well-being. 

 BP 6142.8(b) 

 

 

COMPREHENSIVE HEALTH EDUCATION  (continued) 

 

 
(cf. 0200 - Goals for the School District) 

(cf. 5030 - Student Wellness) 

(cf. 6142.7 - Physical Education and Activity) 

 
Note:  The following optional paragraph should be revised as necessary to reflect grade levels offered by the 

district.  Education Code 51210 requires that the adopted course of study for grades 1-6 include instruction in 

health, including instruction in the principles and practices of individual, family, and community health. 

Education Code 51202 requires that certain health-related topics be addressed at the appropriate elementary 

and secondary grade levels and in appropriate subject areas, as determined by the district.   

 

Page 139



Education Code 51934 requires that students be districts provided comprehensive sexual health education 

and HIV/AIDS prevention instruction, at least once in middle school or junior high school and at least once 

in high school, by instructors trained in the appropriate courses. Education Code 51934 also authorizes, 

but does not require, districts to provide age-appropriate comprehensive sexual health education prior 

to grade 7 on any of the topics specified in Education Code 51934.  See AR 6143 - Courses of Study and 

BP/AR 6142.1 - Sexual Health and HIV/AIDS Prevention Instruction. 

 

Additionally, Education Code 51900.6 authorizes districts to provide age-appropriate instruction in 

grades K-12 in sexual abuse and sexual assault awareness and prevention pursuant to content standards 

developed by the State Board of Education (SBE), provided that students are allowed to be excused 

from such instruction upon the written request of their parents/guardians. SBE has not yet adopted 

content standards regarding sexual abuse and sexual assault awareness and prevention. Also see BP 

5141.4 - Child Abuse Prevention and Reporting.  

 

The Health Education Framework for California Public Schools, Kindergarten through Grade Twelve 

provides nonprescriptive instructional guidance and support to California teachers, administrators, 

curriculum specialists, other educators, and school boards for implementation of the voluntary health 

education standards, which include the following six content areas: nutrition and physical activity; 

growth, development, and sexual health; injury prevention and safety; alcohol, tobacco, and other 

drugs; mental, emotional, and social health; and personal and community health.  

 

In March 2008, the State Board of Education adopted voluntary content standards for health education as 

required by Education Code 51210.8; see the accompanying administrative regulation.  The state's Health 

Framework for California Public Schools, provides nonprescriptive guidance on the scope and sequence of 

the health curriculum. 

 

The district shall provide a planned, sequential, research-based, and developmentally 

appropriate health education curriculum for students in grades K-12 which is aligned with the 

state's content standards and curriculum framework and integrated with other content areas 

of the district's curriculum. The Superintendent or designee shall determine the grade levels 

and subject areas in which health-related topics will be addressed, in accordance with law, 

Board policy, and administrative regulation. 

 
(cf. 6011 - Academic Standards) 

(cf. 6141 - Curriculum Development and Evaluation) 

(cf. 6142.1 - Sexual Health and HIV/AIDS Prevention Instruction) 

(cf. 6143 - Courses of Study) 

 

 BP 6142.8(c) 

 

 

COMPREHENSIVE HEALTH EDUCATION  (continued) 

 

 

Note:  The following optional paragraph may be revised to reflect district practice. Education Code 51890 

defines a "comprehensive health education program" as one that includes community participation in the 

teaching of health, including classroom participation by practicing professional health and safety 

personnel in the community.  Education Code 51891 defines "community participation" as active including 

participation in the planning, implementation, and evaluation of comprehensive health education by 

parents/guardians, practicing health care and public safety personnel, and public and private health care and 

service agencies in the planning, implementation, and evaluation of the program. 

 

As appropriate, the Superintendent or designee shall involve school administrators, teachers, 

school nurses, health professionals representing various fields of health care, 

parents/guardians, community-based organizations, and other community members in the 

Page 140



development, implementation, and evaluation of the district's health education program.  

Health and safety professionals may be invited to provide related instruction in the classroom, 

school assemblies, and other instructional settings. 

 
(cf. 1220 - Citizen Advisory Committees) 

(cf. 1240 - Volunteer Assistance) 

(cf. 1400 - Relations Between Other Governmental Agencies and the Schools) 

(cf. 1700 - Relations Between Private Industry and the Schools) 

(cf. 6020 - Parent Involvement) 

(cf. 6145.8 - Assemblies and Special Events) 

(cf. 6162.8 - Research) 

 

The Superintendent or designee shall provide professional development as needed to ensure 

that health education teachers are knowledgeable about academic content standards, the state 

curriculum framework, and effective instructional methodologies. 

 
(cf. 4131 - Staff Development) 

 

Note:  The following optional paragraph should be revised to reflect indicators agreed upon by the Governing 

Board and Superintendent for evaluating the district's health education program. 

 

The Superintendent or designee shall provide periodic reports to the Board regarding the 

implementation and effectiveness of the district's health education program, which may 

include, but not be limited to, a description of the district's program and the extent to which it 

is aligned with the state's content standards and curriculum framework, the amount of time 

allotted for health instruction at each grade level, and student achievement of district standards 

for health education, and the manner in which the district's health education program 

supports the physical, mental, and social well-being of students. 

 
(cf. 0500 - Accountability) 

(cf. 6190 - Evaluation of the Instructional Program) 

 

 
Legal Reference:  (see next page) 

 

 BP 6142.8(d) 

 

 

COMPREHENSIVE HEALTH EDUCATION  (continued) 

 

 

 
Legal Reference: 

EDUCATION CODE 

8850.5  Family relationships and parenting education 

35183.5  Sun protection 

49413  First aid and cardiopulmonary resuscitation training 

49430-49434  Pupil Nutrition, Health and Achievement Act of 2001 

49490-49494  School breakfast and lunch programs 

49500-49505  School meals 

51202  Instruction in personal and public health and safety 

51203  Instruction on alcohol, narcotics and dangerous drugs 

51210  Areas of study; grades 1-6 

Page 141



51210.8  State content standards for health education 

51220.5  Parenting skills; areas of instruction 

51225.36  Sexual harassment and violence instruction; affirmative consent standard 

51225.6  Compression-only cardiopulmonary resuscitation instruction 

51260-51269  Drug education 

51513  Personal beliefs; exams, questionnaires, and surveys 

51880-51881.5  Health education, legislative findings and intent 

51890-51891  Comprehensive health education programs and community participation; definitions 

51900.6  Sexual abuse and sexual assault awareness and prevention 

51913  District health education plan 

51920  Inservice training, health education 

51930-51939  California Healthy Youth Act; Comprehensive sexual health and HIV/AIDS prevention 

education 

67386  Affirmative consent; definition 

CALIFORNIA CODE OF REGULATIONS, TITLE 5 

11800-11801 District health education plan 

UNITED STATES CODE, TITLE 42 

1751-1769j  National School Lunch Program, especially: 

1758b  Local wellness policy 

1771-1793  Child nutrition programs, including National School Breakfast Program 

 
Management Resources: 

CSBA PUBLICATIONS 

Why Schools Hold the Promise for Adolescent Mental Health, Governance Brief, May 2019 

The Impact of Marijuana Legalization on K-12: The Effect of Marijuana on the Brain, November 

2018 

Preventing Catastrophic Heal Illness, Governance Brief, July 2018 

Integrating Physical Activity into the School Day, April 2016 

Promoting Healthy Relationships for Adolescents: Board Policy Considerations, August 2014 

Asthma Management in the Schools, Policy Brief, March 2008 

Monitoring for Success: A Guide for Assessing and Strengthening Student Wellness Policies Student 

Wellness Policy Implementation Monitoring Report and Guide, 2007 2012 

Physical Education and California Schools, Policy Brief, rev. October 2007 

Promoting Oral Health for California's Students: New Roles, New Opportunities for Schools, Policy 

Brief, March 2007 November 2008 

Asthma Management in the Schools, Policy Brief, March 2008 

 
Management Resources continued: (see next page) 

 

 BP 6142.8(e) 

 

 

COMPREHENSIVE HEALTH EDUCATION  (continued) 

 

 
Management Resources:  (continued) 

CSBA PUBLICATIONS  (continued) 

Sun Safety in Schools, Policy Brief, July 2006 

Student Wellness: A Healthy Food and Physical Activity Policy Resource Guide, rev. April 2006 

AMERICAN ASSOCIATION FOR HEALTH EDUCATION PUBLICATIONS 

National Health Education Standards:  Achieving Excellence, 2007 rev. November 2012 

CALIFORNIA DEPARTMENT OF EDUCATION PUBLICATIONS 

Health Education Content Standards for California Public Schools, Kindergarten Through Grade 

Twelve, 2008 

Health Education Framework for California Public Schools: Kindergarten Through Grade Twelve, 

2003 2019 

Page 142



Health Education Content Standards for California Public Schools, Kindergarten Through Grade 

Twelve, 2008 

HUMAN RIGHTS CAMPAIGN FOUNDATION PUBLICATIONS 

California LGBTQ Youth Report, January 2019  

WEB SITES 

CSBA: http://www.csba.org 

American Association for Health Education: http://www.aahperd.org 

American School Health Association: http://www.ashaweb.org 

California Association of School Health Educators: http://www.cashe.org 

California Department of Education, Health Education: http://www.cde.ca.gov/ci/he 

California Department of Public Health: http://www.cdph.ca.gov 

California Healthy Kids Resource Center: http://www.californiahealthykids.org 

California Subject Matter Project, Physical Education-Health Project: https://csmp.online 

http://csmp.ucop.edu/cpehp 

Center for Injury Prevention Policy and Practice: http://www.cippp.org 

Centers for Disease Control and Prevention: http://www.cdc.gov 

Human Rights Campaign Foundation: https://www.hrc.org/ 

National Center for Health Education: http://www.nche.org 

National Hearing Conservation Association:  http://www.hearingconservation.org 

Shape American Association for Society of Health and Physical Educatorsion: http://www.aahperd.org 

https://www.shapeamerica.org 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

  

(11/05  7/08)  3/21 

 
Policy Reference UPDATE Service 

Copyright 2021 by California School Boards Association, West Sacramento, California 95691 

All rights reserved. 

CSBA Sample 
Administrative Regulation 
 

Instruction AR 6142.8(a) 

 

COMPREHENSIVE HEALTH EDUCATION 

 

 

Content of Instruction 

 

Note:  Items #1-6 below reflect six content areas delineated in the voluntary content standards for health 

education adopted by the State Board of Education (SBE) in March 2008.  The district may revise the 

following list to reflect the topics to be addressed in the district's program. 

 

Page 143



The district's health education program shall include instruction at the appropriate grade levels 

in the following content areas: 

 

1. Alcohol, tobacco, and other drugs 

 
(cf. 3513.3 - Tobacco-Free Schools) 

(cf. 5131.6 - Alcohol and Other Drugs) 

(cf. 5131.62 - Tobacco) 

(cf. 5131.63 - Steroids) 

 
Note:  Education Code 51934 requires that districts provide comprehensive sexual health education and 

HIV prevention instruction, at least once in middle school or junior high school and at least once in 

high school, by instructors trained in the appropriate courses.  Education Code 51934 also authorizes, 

but does not require, districts to provide age-appropriate comprehensive sexual health education prior 

to grade 7 on any of the topics specified in Education Code 51934.  See AR 6143 - Courses of Study and 

BP/AR 6142.1 - Sexual Health and HIV/AIDS Prevention Instruction. 

 

Education Code 51900.6 authorizes districts to provide age-appropriate instruction in grades K-12 in 

sexual abuse and sexual assault awareness and prevention pursuant to content standards developed by 

SBE, provided that students are allowed to be excused from such instruction upon the written request 

of their parents/guardians.  SBE has not yet adopted content standards regarding sexual abuse and 

sexual assault awareness and prevention.  Also see BP 5141.4 - Child Abuse Prevention and Reporting.  

 

2. Human growth, development, and sexual health 

 
(cf. 6142.1 - Sexual Health and HIV/AIDS Prevention Instruction Education) 

 

Note:  The optional paragraph under item #3 below includes examples of topics that are addressed in the state 

content standards within the content area of injury prevention and safety.  In addition, pursuant to Education 

Code 51940, districts may, on a voluntary basis, use curricula distributed by the California Healthy Kids 

Resource Center that focuses on prevention of brain and spinal cord injuries. 

 

3. Injury prevention and safety 

 

 

 

 AR 6142.8(b) 

 

 

COMPREHENSIVE HEALTH EDUCATION  (continued) 

 

 

Instruction related to injury prevention and safety may include, but is not limited to, 

first aid, protective equipment such as helmets, prevention of brain and spinal cord 

injuries, violence prevention, topics related to bullying and harassment, emergency 

procedures, and Internet safety. 

 
(cf. 0450 - Comprehensive Safety Plan) 

(cf. 3516 - Emergencies and Disaster Preparedness Plan) 

(cf. 3543 - Transportation Safety and Emergencies) 

(cf. 5131 - Conduct) 

(cf. 5138 - Conflict Resolution/Peer Mediation) 

(cf. 5141 - Health Care and Emergencies) 

Page 144



(cf. 5142 - Safety) 

(cf. 5145.3 - Nondiscrimination/Harassment) 

(cf. 5145.7 - Sexual Harassment) 

(cf. 5145.9 - Hate-Motivated Behavior) 

(cf. 6145.2 - Athletic Competition) 

(cf. 6163.4 - Student Use of Technology) 

 

4. Mental, emotional, and social health 

 
(cf. 5137 - Positive School Climate) 

(cf. 5141.5 - Mental Health) 

(cf. 5141.52 - Suicide Prevention) 

 

5. Nutrition and physical activity 

 
(cf. 3550 - Food Service/Child Nutrition Program) 

(cf. 5030 - Student Wellness) 

(cf. 6142.7 - Physical Education and Activity) 

 

Note:  The optional paragraph under item #6 below includes examples of topics that are addressed in the state 

content standards within the content area of personal and community health. 

 

6. Personal and community health 

 

Instruction in personal and community health may include, but is not limited to, oral 

health, personal hygiene, sun safety, vision and hearing protection, transmission of 

germs and communicable diseases, symptoms of common health problems and chronic 

diseases such as asthma and diabetes, emergency procedures, and the effect of behavior 

on the environment. 

 
(cf. 3516 - Emergencies and Disaster Preparedness Plan) 

(cf. 5141 - Health Care and Emergencies) 

(cf. 5141.21 - Administering Medication and Monitoring Health Conditions) 

(cf. 5141.22 - Infectious Diseases) 

(cf. 5141.23 - Asthma Management) 

(cf. 5141.7 - Sun Safety) 

 AR 6142.8(c) 

 

 

COMPREHENSIVE HEALTH EDUCATION  (continued) 

 

 
(cf. 5146 - Married/Pregnant/Parenting Students) 

(cf. 6142.5 - Environmental Education) 

 

Note:  Items #1-6 below combine eight "overarching standards" described in the state content standards as 

essential concepts and skills to be taught to students. 

 

Within each of the above content areas, instruction shall be designed to assist students in 

developing: 

 

1. An understanding of essential concepts related to enhancing health 

 
Page 145



2. The ability to analyze internal and external influences that affect health 

 

3. The ability to access and analyze health information, products, and services 

 
(cf. 5141.6 - School Health Services) 

 

4. The ability to use interpersonal communication skills, decision-making skills, and goal-

setting skills to enhance health 

 

5. The ability to practice behaviors that reduce risk and promote health 

 

6. The ability to promote and support personal, family, and community health 

 

High School Health Education 

 
Note:  The following section is for use by districts that serve students in grades 9-12 and require a course 

in health education as a requirement for graduation from high school. Pursuant to Education Code 

51225.36, districts that require a course in health education for graduation from high school must 

include instruction in sexual harassment and violence, including, but not limited to, the affirmative 

consent standard as defined in Education Code 67386.  In addition, pursuant to Education Code 

51225.6, districts that require a course in health education for graduation from high school must include 

instruction in performing compression-only cardiopulmonary resuscitation, as specified. 

 

Whenever the Board requires a course in health education for graduation from high 

school, the district's high school health education course(s) shall include instruction in:  

 

1. Sexual harassment and violence, including, but not limited to, the affirmative 

consent standard as defined in Education Code 67386. When delivering such 

instruction, teachers shall consult information related to sexual harassment and 

violence in the Health Education Framework for California Public Schools.  

(Education Code 51225.36)  

 

 

 

 AR 6142.8(d) 

 

 

COMPREHENSIVE HEALTH EDUCATION  (continued) 

 

 

2. Compression-only cardiopulmonary resuscitation (CPR), which is based on 

national evidence-based emergency cardiovascular care guidelines for the 

performance of compression-only CPR and includes instruction relative to the 

psychomotor skills necessary to perform compression-only CPR.  (Education 

Code 51225.6) 

 
(cf. 6146.1 - High School Graduation Requirements) 

 

Exemption Students Excused from Health Instruction 

 

Page 146



Upon written request from a parent/guardian, a student shall be excused from any part of health 

instruction that conflicts with his/her the student's religious training and beliefs, including 

personal moral convictions.  (Education Code 51240) 

 
(cf. 6141.2 - Recognition of Religious Beliefs and Customs) 

 
Note:  Pursuant to Education Code 51938, a student's parent/guardian has the right to excuse the 

student from all or part of comprehensive sexual health education, HIV prevention education, and 

assessments related to that education through a passive consent ("opt-out") process. The district may 

not require active parental consent ("opt-in") for such purpose. The district's notice to 

parents/guardians regarding planned instruction for the school year in the area of comprehensive 

sexual health education and HIV prevention education must include notification of the right to excuse 

a student from such education by written request to the district. See BP/E 5145.6 - Parental Notifications 

and BP/AR 6142.1 - Sexual Health and HIV/AIDS Prevention Instruction. 

 

The district shall excuse a student from instruction in comprehensive sexual health 

education and HIV prevention education if the student's parent/guardian requests in 

writing that the student be excused.  (Education Code 51938) 

 
(cf. 5145.6 - Parental Notifications) 

(cf. 6145.8 - Assemblies and Special Events) 

 
Note:  Pursuant to Education Code 51900.6, districts that provide instruction in sexual abuse and sexual 

assault awareness and prevention are required to excuse students whose parent/guardian has made a 

written request. The following paragraph is for districts that provide instruction in sexual abuse and/or 

sexual assault awareness and prevention. 

 

In addition, the district shall excuse a student from instruction in sexual abuse and/or 

sexual assault awareness and prevention if the student's parent/guardian requests in 

writing that the student be excused.  (Education Code 51900.6) 

 

Note:  Pursuant to Education Code 51513, districts may not administer exams, surveys, or questionnaires 

containing questions about a student's or his/her a student's family's personal beliefs or practices in sex, 

family life, morality, and religion unless the student's parent/guardian is notified in writing of such 

administration and has provided prior written consent.  See AR 5022 - Student and Family Privacy Rights. 

 

 AR 6142.8(e) 

 

 

COMPREHENSIVE HEALTH EDUCATION  (continued) 

 

 

The district shall not administer any exam, survey, or questionnaire which contains 

questions about the student's or the student's family's personal beliefs or practices in sex, 

family life, morality, or religion unless the student's parent/guardian has given written 

permission. Upon written request from a parent/guardian, a student shall be excused from any 

part of health instruction that conflicts with his/her religious training and beliefs, including 

personal moral convictions. (Education Code 51240 51513) 

 
(cf. 5020 - Parent Rights and Responsibilities) 

(cf. 5022 - Student and Family Privacy Rights) 

 

Page 147



Note:  Notwithstanding Education Code 51513, Education Code 51938 authorizes anonymous, 

voluntary, and confidential research and evaluation tools to measure students' health behaviors and 

risks, including tests, questionnaires, and surveys containing age-appropriate questions about the 

student's attitudes concerning or practices relating to sex, to students in grades 7-12.  Parents/guardians 

have the right to excuse their child from such research and evaluations through a passive ("opt-out") 

process and may not be required to provide active ("opt-in") consent. The district is required to notify 

parents/guardians of the test, questionnaire, or survey to be administered, given the opportunity to 

review such research or evaluation tool, and notified of their right to excuse their child by making such  

request in writing to the district. The following paragraph is for use by districts that serve students in 

any of grades 7-12 and should be deleted by districts that do not serve such students. 

 

However, the district may administer anonymous, voluntary, and confidential tests, 

questionnaires, and surveys containing age-appropriate questions about students' 

attitudes concerning or practices relating to sex, as long as parents/guardians are notified 

of the right to request in writing that the student be excused from participation.  A 

student shall be excused from participating in any such research or evaluation tools if the 

student's parent/guardian requests in writing to excuse the student from participation.  

(Education Code 51938) 

 
(cf. 5020 - Parent Rights and Responsibilities) 

(cf. 5022 - Student and Family Privacy Rights) 

(cf. 6141.2 - Recognition of Religious Beliefs and Customs) 

(cf. 6145.8 - Assemblies and Special Events) 

 

Students so excused shall be given an alternative educational activity. 

 

Involvement of Health Professionals 

 

Health care professionals, health care service plans, health care providers, and other entities 

participating in a voluntary initiative with the district are prohibited from communicating about 

a product or service in a way that is intended to encourage persons to purchase or use the 

product or service.  However, the following activities may be allowed:  (Education Code 

51890) 

 

 

 AR 6142.8(f) 

 

 

COMPREHENSIVE HEALTH EDUCATION  (continued) 

 

 

1. Health care or health education information provided in a brochure or pamphlet that 

contains the logo or name of a health care service plan or health care organization, if 

provided in coordination with the voluntary initiative 

 

2. Outreach, application assistance, and enrollment activities relating to federal, state, or 

county-sponsored health care insurance programs if the activities are conducted in 

compliance with the statutory, regulatory, and programmatic guidelines 

applicable to those programs. 

 
(cf. 1325 - Advertising and Promotion) 

Page 148



 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 (11/05  7/08)  3/21 

 
Policy Reference UPDATE Service 

Copyright 2021 by California School Boards Association, West Sacramento, California 95691 

All rights reserved. 

CSBA Sample 
Board Policy 
 

Facilities BP 7210(a) 

 

FACILITIES FINANCING 

 

 

The Governing Board recognizes its responsibility to identify the most cost-efficient and 

effective method of financing when purchasing or modifying district facilities.  Financing 

may be necessary Wwhen it is determined that school facilities must be built or expanded to 

accommodate an increased or projected increased enrollment, the Governing Board shall 

consider appropriate methods of financing for the purchase of school sites and the construction 

of buildings.  In addition, financing may be needed or when safety considerations and 

Page 149



educational program improvements require the replacement, reconstruction, or modernization 

of existing facilities. 

 

The Superintendent or designee shall research funding alternatives and recommend to the 

Board the method of funding that would will best serve district needs as identified in the 

district's master plan for school facilities.   

 
(cf. 7110 - Facilities Master Plan) 

 

Note:  The following list describes some of the facilities financing options available to school districts. 

 

These fFunding alternatives may include, but are not be limited to: 

 

1. Levying developer fees pursuant to Education Code 17620 and Government Code 

65995-65998 

 
(cf. 7211- Developer Fees) 

 

2. Forming a community facilities district pursuant to Government Code 53311-53368.3, 

the Mello-Roos Community Facilities Act 

 
(cf. 7212 - Mello-Roos Districts) 

 

3. Forming a school facilities improvement district pursuant to Education Code 15300-

15425 

 
(cf. 7213 - School Facilities Improvement Districts) 

 

4. Issuing voter-approved general obligation bonds 

 
(cf. 7214 - General Obligation Bonds) 

 

5. Imposing a qualified parcel tax pursuant to Government Code 50079 

 

 BP 7210(b) 

 

 

FACILITIES FINANCING  (continued) 

 

 
(cf. 3471 - Parcel Taxes) 

 

6. Using lease revenues for capital outlay purposes from surplus school property 

 
(cf. 3280 - Sale or Lease of District-Owned Real Property) 

 
Note:  Pursuant to the Leroy F. Greene School Facilities Act of 1998 (Education Code 17070.10-

17079.30), the State Allocation Board provides state per-pupil funding, including hardship funding, for 

new school facilities construction and school facilities modernization for applicant school districts.  

 

Page 150



7. Applying for state facilities funding pursuant to the Leroy F. Greene School 

Facilities Act  (Education Code 17070.10-17079.30) 

 
Note:  Pursuant to Education Code 41024, districts that receive state facilities funding pursuant to the 

Leroy F. Greene School Facilities Act must annually report a detailed list of all expenditures of state 

funds and of the district's matching funds for completed projects until all funds are expended, and 

submit an audit of completed facilities projects within one year of project completion. As amended by 

SB 820 (Ch. 110, Statutes of 2020), Education Code 41024 requires the auditor to file the audit with the 

California State Controller, who will then provide a copy of the audit to the California Department of 

Education and notify the Office of Public School Construction of any audit findings and any identified 

amounts to be adjusted.  See AR 3460 - Financial Reports and Accountability for more specific 

information about reporting and auditing requirements.  

 

The district shall provide reports, maintain records, and provide for audits of the 

expenditure of state facilities funds as required by law and AR 3460 - Financial 

Reports and Accountability.  (Education Code 41024) 

 
(cf. 3460 - Financial Reports and Accountability) 

 
Note:  Government Code 8855 requires districts to adopt a debt management policy prior to issuing 

any debt, such as general obligation bonds.  The policy must include (1) the purposes for which the debt 

proceeds may be used; (2) the types of debt that may be issued; (3) the relationship of the debt to, and 

integration with, the district's capital improvement program or budget, if applicable; (4) policy goals 

related to the district's planning goals and objectives; and (5) internal control procedures to ensure that 

the proceeds of the proposed debt issuance will be directed to the intended use.  See BP 3470 - Debt 

Issuance and Management. 

 

As applicable, the district shall comply with BP 3470 - Debt Issuance and Management.  

 
(cf. 3470 - Debt Issuance and Management) 

 

 

 
Legal Reference:  (see next page) 

 

 

 BP 7210(c) 

 

 

FACILITIES FINANCING  (continued) 

 

 

 
Legal Reference: 

EDUCATION CODE 

15100-17059.2  17199.6  School bonds, especially: 

15122.5  Ballot statement 

15300-15327  School facilities improvement districts 

17000-17059.2  State School Building Lease-Purchase Law of 1976 

17060-17066  Joint venture school facilities construction projects 

17070.10-17076.10 17079.30  Leroy F. Greene School Facilities Act of 1998 

17085-17095 17096  State Relocatable Classroom Law of 1979 

17582  District deferred maintenance fund 

17620-17626  Levies against development projects by school districts, especially: 

Page 151



17621  Procedures for levying fees 

41024  Accounting system and audits 

GOVERNMENT CODE 

6061  One time Manner of notice as prescribed in designated section 

6066  Two weeks' notice 

8855  Debt issuance and management 

50075-50077.5  Voter-approved special taxes 

50079  School districts; qualified special taxes 

53175-53187  Integrated Financing District Act 

53311-53368.3  Mello-Roos Community Facilities Act of 1982 

53753  Assessment notice and hearing requirements 

53753.5  Exemptions 

54954.1  Mailinged of agenda notice to property owners 

54954.6  New or increased tax or assessment; public meetings and hearings; notice 

65864-65867 65869.5 Development agreements 

65970-65980.1 65981 School facilities development project 

65995-65998  Payment of fees against a development project 

66000-66008  Fees for development projects 

66016-66018.5  66019  Development project fees 

66020-66025  Protests and audits 

HEALTH AND SAFETY CODE 

33445.5  Overcrowding of schools resulting from redevelopment 

33446  School construction by redevelopment agency 

CALIFORNIA CONSTITUTION 

Article 13D, Sections 1-6  Assessment and property related fee reform 

UNCODIFIED STATUTES 

17696-17696.98  Greene-Hughes School Building Lease-Purchase Bond Law of 1986 

CODE OF REGULATIONS, TITLE 2 

1859-1859.106199 School facility program 

 

 

 
Legal Reference continued:  (see next page) 

 

 

 

 

 

 BP 7210(d) 

 

 

FACILITIES FINANCING  (continued) 

 

 
Legal Reference:  (continued) 

COURT DECISIONS 

Ehrlich v. City of Culver City (1996) 12 Cal.4th 854 

Loyola Marymount University v. Los Angeles Unified School District (1996) 45 Cal.App.4th 1256 

Ehrlich v. City of Culver City (1996) 12 Cal.4th 854 

Dolan v. City of Tigard  (1994) 114 S.Ct. 2309 

Canyon North Co. v. Conejo Valley Unified School District (1993) 19 Cal.App.4th 243, 23 Cal.Rptr.2d 

495 

Garlic Development Co. v. Hayward Unified School District  (1992) 3 Cal.App.4th 320, 4 Cal.Rptr.2d 

897 

Nollan v. California Coastal Commission (1987) 107 S.Ct. 3141 

ATTORNEY GENERAL OPINIONS 

Page 152



79 Ops.Cal.Atty.Gen. 149 (1996) 

 
Management Resources: 

WEB SITES 

California Department of Education:  www.cde.ca.gov 

California State Controller:  www. sco.ca.gov 

Department of General Services, Office of Public School Construction:  http://www.opsc.dgs.ca.gov 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 (10/97  2/99)  3/21 

 
Policy Reference UPDATE Service 

Copyright 2021 by California School Boards Association, West Sacramento, California 95691 

All rights reserved. 

Page 153



HAMILTON UNIFIED SCHOOL DISTRICT 

 

Agenda Item Number:  13a Date:  03-24-2021 

Agenda Item Description: 2018-19 and 2019-20 Measure F Bond Building Fund Audit Reports. 

Background:  In 2000, California voters passed Proposition 39, which amended Article XIII of the 
California Constitution to require each school district that passes a general obligation bond under 55 
percent majority rule to conduct two independent annual audits. One audit examines finances; while the 
other focuses on the performance of the bond program to ensure that general obligation bond money 
was expended appropriately on the specific projects listed during the election campaign. 
 
The auditors believe the financial statements present fairly, in all material respects, the financial position 
of the Measure F Bond Building Fund of Hamilton Unified School District, as of June 30, 2019 and June 
June 30, 2020. 
 
The auditors also believe Hamilton Unified School District complied, in all material respects, with the 
types of compliance requirements for a performance audit that are applicable to the Measure F Bond 
Building Fund for the year ended June 30, 2019 and June 30, 2020. 
 

There were no financial statement findings or performance audit findings for 2018-19 and 2019-20. 
 
The 2018-19 and 2019-20 Measure F Bond Building Fund Audit Reports will be given to the Citizens’ Bond 
Oversight Committee. 
 
The independent financial and performance audits should be submitted each year to the Citizens’ Bond 
Oversight Committee by March 31. 
 

Status:  Pending board approval. 

Fiscal Impact:  There were no financial statement audit findings.  As a result, there was no fiscal impact. 

Educational Impact:  The effective management of the District’s resources allows our students a safe, 
rigorous, and engaging educational experience that promotes student academic success, respect, and 
citizenship in a caring environment. 

Recommendation:  Recommend board approve the 2018-19 and 2019-20 Measure F Bond Building Fund 
Audit Reports. 

 

Page 154



HAMILTON UNIFIED SCHOOL DISTRICT 
MEASURE F BOND BUILDING FUND 

AUDIT REPORT 

FOR THE YEAR ENDED

JUNE 30, 2019 

Page 155



  

 

HAMILTON UNIFIED SCHOOL DISTRICT 
MEASURE F BOND BUILDING FUND 
TABLE OF CONTENTS 
JUNE 30, 2019  

 
 
 Page 
 
Introduction and Citizens’ Bond Oversight Committee Member Listing .............................................................................. 1 
 
Independent Auditors’ Report .................................................................................................................................................... 2 
 
 

FINANCIAL SECTION 
 
Balance Sheet .............................................................................................................................................................................. 4 
 
Statement of Revenues, Expenditures and Changes in Fund Balance ................................................................................ 5 
 
Notes to Financial Statements ................................................................................................................................................... 6 
 
 

OTHER INDEPENDENT AUDITORS’ REPORTS 
 

Independent Auditors’ Report on Internal Control over Financial Reporting and on Compliance and  
Other Matters Based on an Audit of Financial Statements Performed in Accordance with Government Auditing 
Standards ........................................................................................................................................................................... 11 

 
Independent Auditors’ Report on Performance .................................................................................................................... 13 
 
 

AUDIT PROCEDURES AND RESULTS SECTION 
 
Audit Procedures and Results ................................................................................................................................................. 15 
 

 
FINDINGS AND RECOMMENDATIONS SECTION 

 
Schedule of Findings and Recommendations ....................................................................................................................... 16 

 
 
 
 

Page 156



  

1 

HAMILTON UNIFIED SCHOOL DISTRICT 
MEASURE F BOND BUILDING FUND  
INTRODUCTION AND CITIZENS’ BOND OVERSIGHT COMMITTEE MEMBER LISTING  
JUNE 30, 2019 

 
 
The Hamilton Unified School District was established on July 1, 2009 upon the unification of Hamilton High School 
District and Hamilton Elementary School District. The boundaries of the former districts changed in accordance with 
the approved plan of unification. There were no changes in the boundaries of the District during the current year. The 
District is operating one elementary school, one high school, two community day schools, one continuation high 
school, one preschool, and an adult education program. 
 
In an election held on November 6, 2018, the voters authorized the District to issue and sell not more than $7,000,000 
principal amount of general obligation bonds. These bonds were issued to acquire land and facilities for school and 
educational uses, improvement and modernization of classrooms and school facilities, improvement to health and 
safety including lighting and fire suppression systems, and upgrades and modernization to agricultural facilities. 
 
Series A was issued on June 5, 2019 for $2,200,000 with an interest rate of 4%. The original issuance consisted of 
$645,000 in current interest serial bonds and $1,555,000 in current interest term bonds. The bonds have a final 
maturity date of August 1, 2053. At June 30, 2019 the principal amount outstanding was $2,200,000. 

 
The Citizens’ Bond Oversight Committee had the following members as of June 30, 2019: 
 

Name Title Representation 
Gee Singh Member Business Organization Representative

Tomas Loera Member Bona fide Taxpayers' Organization Representative
Merrilee Johnson Member Senior Citizens' Organization Representative

Rosalinda Sanchez Member Parent and PTA/PTO Representative
Froylan Mendoza Member Parent Representative

Megan Odom Member Community At-Large
*Vacant Member Community At-Large  

 
*The District is actively seeking community participation to fill vacant position. 
 

Page 157



O: 619-270-8222   
F: 619-260-9085
christywhite.com

348 Olive Street
San Diego, CA 
92103

Certified Public Accountants serving 
K-12 School Districts and Charter 
Schools throughout California

 

2 

INDEPENDENT AUDITORS’ REPORT 
 
 

Measure F Citizens’ Bond Oversight Committee and 
Governing Board Members of the  
Hamilton Unified School District 
Hamilton, California 
 
Report on the Financial Statements 
 
We have audited the accompanying financial statements of the Measure F Bond Building Fund of Hamilton Unified 
School District (the “District”), as of and for the year ended June 30, 2019, and the related notes to the financial 
statements, as listed in the table of contents. 
 
Management’s Responsibility for the Financial Statements 
 
Management is responsible for the preparation and fair presentation of these financial statements in accordance with 
accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of America; this includes the design, implementation, 
and maintenance of internal control relevant to the preparation and fair presentation of financial statements that are 
free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error. 
 
Auditors’ Responsibility 
 
Our responsibility is to express an opinion on these financial statements based on our audit. We conducted our audit 
in accordance with auditing standards generally accepted in the United States of America and the standards 
applicable to financial audits contained in Government Auditing Standards. Those standards require that we plan and 
perform the audit to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial statements are free from material 
misstatement. 
 
An audit involves performing procedures to obtain audit evidence about the amounts and disclosures in the financial 
statements. The procedures selected depend on the auditor’s judgment, including the assessment of the risks of 
material misstatement of the financial statements, whether due to fraud or error. In making those risk assessments, 
the auditor considers internal control relevant to the entity’s preparation and fair presentation of the financial 
statements in order to design audit procedures that are appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of 
expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the entity’s internal control. Accordingly, we express no such opinion. 
An audit also includes evaluating the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the reasonableness of 
significant accounting estimates made by management, as well as evaluating the overall presentation of the financial 
statements. 
 
We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our audit 
opinion. 
 
Opinion 
 
In our opinion, the financial statements referred to above present fairly, in all material respects, the financial position 
of the Measure F Bond Building Fund of Hamilton Unified School District, as of June 30, 2019, and the changes in 
financial position thereof for the year then ended in accordance with accounting principles generally accepted in the 
United States of America. 

Page 158



 

3 

Emphasis of Matter 
 
As discussed in Note 1A, the financial statements present only the Measure F Bond Building Fund and do not purport 
to, and do not present fairly the financial position of the Hamilton Unified School District, as of June 30, 2019, the 
changes in its financial position for the year then ended in accordance with accounting principles generally accepted 
in the United States of America.  Our opinion is not modified with respect to this matter. 
 
Other Reporting Required by Government Auditing Standards 
 
In accordance with Government Auditing Standards, we have also issued our report dated March 3, 2021 on our 
consideration of the District’s internal control over financial reporting and on our tests of its compliance with certain 
provisions of laws, regulations, contracts, and grant agreements and other matters specific to the Measure F Bond 
Building Fund. The purpose of that report is solely to describe the scope of our testing of internal control over financial 
reporting and compliance and the results of that testing, and not to provide an opinion on the effectiveness of the 
Measure F Bond Building Fund’s internal control over financial reporting or on compliance.  That report is an integral 
part of an audit performed in accordance with Government Auditing Standards in considering the District’s internal 
control over financial reporting and compliance. 
 
Report of Other Legal and Regulatory Requirements 
 
In accordance with the requirements of Proposition 39, as incorporated in California Constitution Article 13A, we have 
issued our performance audit dated March 3, 2021, on our consideration of the District’s compliance with the 
requirements of Proposition 39 as it directly relates to the Measure F Bond Building Fund.  That report is an integral 
part of our audit of the Measure F Bond Building Fund of Hamilton Unified School District, as of and for the year ended 
June 30, 2019, and should be considered in assessing the results of our financial audit. 
 
 
 
 
San Diego, California 
March 3, 2021 
 

Page 159



 

 

 

 

FINANCIAL SECTION 
 

 
 

Page 160



 

The accompanying notes to financial statements are an integral part of this statement. 

4 

HAMILTON UNIFIED SCHOOL DISTRICT 
MEASURE F BOND BUILDING FUND 
BALANCE SHEET 
JUNE 30, 2019 

 
 

ASSETS
Cash and investments 1,663,729$              
Accounts receivable 1,592                       

Total Assets 1,665,321$              

LIABILITIES
Due to other funds 79,658                     

Total Liabilities 79,658                     

FUND BALANCE
Restricted for Measure F capital projects 1,585,663                

Total Fund Balance 1,585,663                
Total Liabilities and Fund Balance 1,665,321$               

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 161



 

The accompanying notes to financial statements are an integral part of this statement. 

5 

HAMILTON UNIFIED SCHOOL DISTRICT 
MEASURE F BOND BUILDING FUND 
STATEMENT OF REVENUES, EXPENDITURES, AND CHANGES IN FUND BALANCE 
FOR THE YEAR ENDED JUNE 30, 2019 

 
 

REVENUES
Local sources 1,592$                     

Total Revenues 1,592                       

EXPENDITURES
Facilities acquisition and maintenance 79,658                     
Debt service

Issuance costs 186,271                   
Total Expenditures 265,929                   

Excess (Deficiency) of Revenues
Over Expenditures (264,337)                  

Other Financing Sources (Uses)
Other sources 2,200,000                
Transfers out (350,000)                  

Net Financing Sources (Uses) 1,850,000                

NET CHANGE IN FUND BALANCE 1,585,663                
Fund Balance - Beginning -                                
Fund Balance - Ending 1,585,663$               

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 162



 

6 

HAMILTON UNIFIED SCHOOL DISTRICT 
MEASURE F BOND BUILDING FUND 
NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 
JUNE 30, 2019 

 
 
NOTE 1 – SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES 
 
A. Financial Reporting Entity 

 
The Hamilton Unified School District (the “District”) accounts for its financial transactions in accordance with the 
policies and procedures of the Department of Education's California School Accounting Manual. The accounting 
policies of the District conform to generally accepted accounting principles as prescribed by the Governmental 
Accounting Standards Board (GASB) and the American Institute of Certified Public Accountants (AICPA). 
 
An oversight committee to the District’s Governing Board and Superintendent, called the Citizens’ Bond Oversight 
Committee (CBOC), was established pursuant to the requirements of state law and the provisions of the Measure 
F bond. The CBOC is required by state law to actively review and report on the proper expenditure of taxpayers’ 
money for school construction. The CBOC provides oversight and advises the public whether the District is 
spending the Measure F bond funds for school capital improvements within the scope of projects outlined in the 
Measure F bond project list. In fulfilling its duties, the CBOC reviews, among other things, the District’s annual 
performance and financial audits of Measure F activity.   
 
The statements presented are for the individual Measure F Bond Building Fund of the District, consisting of the 
net construction proceeds of Election 2018 Series A, as issued by the District, through Glenn County, and are 
not intended to be a complete presentation of the District’s financial position or results of operations. There are 
no related parties or component units included in this financial statement presentation.  
 

B. Basis of Accounting 
 
Basis of accounting refers to when revenues and expenditures are recognized in the accounts and reported in 
the financial statements. Basis of accounting relates to the timing of measurement made, regardless of the 
measurement focus applied. 
 
The financial statements are presented on the modified accrual basis of accounting. Under the modified accrual 
basis of accounting, revenues are recorded when susceptible to accrual; i.e., both measurable and available. 
“Available” means the resources will be collected within the current fiscal year or are expected to be collected 
soon enough thereafter to be used to pay liabilities of the current fiscal year. Expenditures are generally 
recognized under the modified accrual basis of accounting when the related liability is incurred. 
 

C. Cash and Cash Equivalents 
 
The District’s cash and cash equivalents consist of cash on hand, demand deposits and short-term investments 
with original maturities of three months or less from the date of acquisition. Cash equivalents also include cash 
with county treasury balances for purposes of the statement of cash flows. 
 

D. Interfund Balances 
 
Receivables and payables resulting from short-term interfund loans are classified as "Due from other funds/Due 
to other funds.” 
 

E. Accrued Liabilities 
 
In general, payables and accrued liabilities that, once incurred, are paid in a timely manner and in full from current 
financial resources are reported as obligations of the fund. 

  

Page 163



 

7 

HAMILTON UNIFIED SCHOOL DISTRICT 
MEASURE F BOND BUILDING FUND 
NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS, continued 
JUNE 30, 2019 

 
 
NOTE 1 – SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued) 
 
F. Fund Balance 

 
Under GASB Statement No. 54, fund balance is divided into five classifications based primarily on the extent to 
which the District is bound to observe constraints imposed upon the use of the resources in the governmental 
funds. The fund balance in Measure F is considered restricted. 
 
The restricted fund balance classification reflects amounts subject to externally imposed and legally enforceable 
constraints. Such constraints may be imposed by creditors, grantors, contributors, or laws regulations of other 
governments, or may be imposed by law through constitutional provisions or enabling legislation. 

 
G. Interfund Activity 

 
Exchange transactions between funds are reported as revenues in the seller funds and as expenditures/expenses 
in the purchaser funds. Flows of cash or goods from one fund to another without a requirement for repayment 
are reported as interfund transfers. Repayments from funds responsible for particular expenditures/expenses to 
the funds that initially paid for them are not presented in the financial statements. 
 

H. Estimates 
 
The preparation of the financial statements in conformity with accounting principles generally accepted in the 
United States of America requires management to make estimates and assumptions that affect the amounts 
reported in the financial statements and accompanying notes. Actual results may differ from those estimates. 
 

I. Budgetary Data 
 
The budgetary process is prescribed by provisions of the California Education Code and requires the governing 
board to hold a public hearing and adopt an operating budget no later than July 1 of each year. The District 
governing board satisfied these requirements. The adopted budget is subject to amendment throughout the year 
to give consideration to unanticipated revenue and expenditures primarily resulting from events unknown at the 
time of budget adoption with the legal restriction that expenditures cannot exceed appropriations by major object 
account. 
 

 
NOTE 2 – CASH AND INVESTMENTS 
 
Cash as of June 30, 2019 consisted of $1,663,729 deposited in the Glenn County Treasury Investment Pool.  
 
A. Policies and Practices 
 

The District is authorized under California Government Code to make direct investments in local agency bonds, 
notes, or warrants within the state; U.S. Treasury instruments; registered state warrants or treasury notes; 
securities of the U.S. Government, or its agencies; bankers acceptances; commercial paper; certificates of deposit 
placed with commercial banks and/or savings and loan companies; repurchase or reverse repurchase 
agreements; medium term corporate notes; shares of beneficial interest issued by diversified management 
companies, certificates of participation, obligations with first priority security; collateralized mortgage obligations; 
and the County Investment Pool.  

  

Page 164



 

8 

HAMILTON UNIFIED SCHOOL DISTRICT 
MEASURE F BOND BUILDING FUND 
NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS, continued 
JUNE 30, 2019 

 
 
NOTE 2 – CASH AND INVESTMENTS (continued) 
 
A. Policies and Practices (continued) 
 

Investment in County Treasury – The District maintains substantially all of its cash in the County Treasury in 
accordance with Education Code Section 41001. The Glenn County Treasurer’s pooled investments are managed 
by the County Treasurer who reports on a monthly basis to the board of supervisors. In addition, the function of 
the County Treasury Oversight Committee is to review and monitor the County’s investment policy. The 
committee membership includes the Treasurer and Tax Collector, the Auditor-Controller, Chief Administrative 
Officer, Superintendent of Schools Representative, and a public member. The fair value of the District's 
investment in the pool is based upon the District's pro-rata share of the fair value provided by the County 
Treasurer for the entire portfolio (in relation to the amortized cost of that portfolio). The balance available for 
withdrawal is based on the accounting records maintained by the County Treasurer, which is recorded on the 
amortized cost basis. 

 
B. General Authorizations 
 

Except for investments by trustees of debt proceeds, the authority to invest District funds deposited with the 
county treasury is delegated to the County Treasurer and Tax Collector. Additional information about the 
investment policy of the County Treasurer and Tax Collector may be obtained from its website. The table below 
identifies the investment types permitted by California Government Code. 

 
 

Authorized 
Investment Type 

 Maximum 
Remaining 

Maturity 

 Maximum 
Percentage 
of Portfolio 

 Maximum 
Investment 

in One Issuer 
Local Agency Bonds, Notes, Warrants  5 years  None  None 
Registered State Bonds, Notes, Warrants  5 years  None  None 
U.S. Treasury Obligations  5 years  None  None 
U.S. Agency Securities  5 years  None  None 
Banker’s Acceptance  180 days  40%  30% 
Commercial Paper  270 days  25%  10% 
Negotiable Certificates of Deposit  5 years  30%  None 
Repurchase Agreements  1 year  None  None 
Reverse Repurchase Agreements  92 days  20% of base  None 
Medium-Term Corporate Notes  5 years  30%  None 
Mutual Funds  N/A  20%  10% 
Money Market Mutual Funds  N/A  20%  10% 
Mortgage Pass-Through Securities  5 years  20%  None 
County Pooled Investment Funds  N/A  None  None 
Local Agency Investment Fund (LAIF)  N/A  None  None 
Joint Powers Authority Pools  N/A  None  None 

 
C. Interest Rate Risk 
 

Interest rate risk is the risk that changes in market interest rates will adversely affect the fair value of an investment. 
Generally, the longer the maturity of an investment, the greater the sensitivity of its fair value to changes in market 
interest rates. The District manages its exposure to interest rate risk by investing in the County Treasury. The 
District maintains a pooled investment with the County Treasury with a fair value of approximately $1,658,903 
and an amortized book value of $1,663,729.  

Page 165



 

9 

HAMILTON UNIFIED SCHOOL DISTRICT 
MEASURE F BOND BUILDING FUND 
NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS, continued 
JUNE 30, 2019 

 
 
NOTE 2 – CASH AND INVESTMENTS (continued) 
 
D. Credit Risk 
 

Credit risk is the risk that an issuer of an investment will not fulfill its obligation to the holder of the investment. 
This is measured by the assignment of a rating by a nationally recognized statistical rating organization. The 
investments in the County Treasury are not required to be rated. As of June 30, 2019, the pooled investments in 
the County Treasury were not rated. 

 
E. Fair Value 
 

The District categorizes the fair value measurements of its investments based on the hierarchy established by 
generally accepted accounting principles. The fair value hierarchy is based on the valuation inputs used to 
measure an asset's fair value. The following provides a summary of the hierarchy used to measure fair value: 
 
Level 1 - Quoted prices (unadjusted) in active markets for identical assets. 
 
Level 2 - Observable inputs other than Level 1 prices such as quoted prices for similar assets in active markets, 
quoted prices for identical or similar assets in markets that are not active, or other inputs that are observable, 
either directly or indirectly. 

 
Level 3 - Unobservable inputs should be developed using the best information available under the circumstances, 
which might include the District's own data. The District should adjust that data if reasonable available information 
indicates that other market participants would use different data or certain circumstances specific to the District 
are not available to other market participants. 

 
Uncategorized - Investments in the Glenn County Treasury Investment Pool are not measured using the input 
levels above because the District's transactions are based on a stable net asset value per share. All contributions 
and redemptions are transacted at $1.00 net asset value per share. 
 
The District's fair value measurements at June 30, 2019 were as follows: 

 
 Uncategorized 

Investment in county treasury 1,658,903$             
Total fair market value of investments 1,658,903$              

 
 
 
 

Page 166



 

10 

HAMILTON UNIFIED SCHOOL DISTRICT 
MEASURE F BOND BUILDING FUND 
NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS, continued 
JUNE 30, 2019 

 
 
NOTE 3 – ACCOUNTS RECEIVABLE 
 
Accounts receivable at June 30, 2019 consisted of $1,592 from interest earned on investments in the county treasury. 
 
 
NOTE 4 – INTERFUND TRANSACTIONS 
 
A. Interfund Receivables/Payables (Due From/Due To) 
 

Individual interfund payable balances at June 30, 2019 consisted of $79,658 due to the General Fund for land 
acquisition costs, legal fees, and professional consulting services. 

 
B. Operating Transfers 
 

Interfund transfers as of June 30, 2019 consisted of $350,000 transferred to the General Fund for reimbursement 
of Hog Barn project expenditures. 

 
 
NOTE 5 – COMMITMENTS AND CONTINGENCIES 
 
A. Litigation 
 

The District is involved in various litigation arising from the normal course of business. In the opinion of 
management and legal counsel, the disposition of all litigation pending is not expected to have a material adverse 
effect on the overall financial position of the District at June 30, 2019. 

 
B. Construction Commitments 
 

As of June 30, 2019, the District had no commitments with respect to unfinished capital projects. 
 
 

Page 167



 

 

 

 

OTHER INDEPENDENT AUDITORS’ REPORTS 
 

 
 

Page 168



O: 619-270-8222   
F: 619-260-9085
christywhite.com

348 Olive Street
San Diego, CA 
92103

Certified Public Accountants serving 
K-12 School Districts and Charter 
Schools throughout California

 

11 

REPORT ON INTERNAL CONTROL OVER FINANCIAL REPORTING AND ON COMPLIANCE AND OTHER 
MATTERS BASED ON AN AUDIT OF FINANCIAL STATEMENTS PERFORMED IN ACCORDANCE WITH  

GOVERNMENT AUDITING STANDARDS 
 

Independent Auditors’ Report 
 

Measure F Citizens’ Bond Oversight Committee and 
Governing Board Members of the  
Hamilton Unified School District 
Hamilton, California 
 
We have audited, in accordance with the auditing standards generally accepted in the United States of America and 
the standards applicable to financial audits contained in Government Auditing Standards issued by the Comptroller 
General of the United States, the financial statements of the Measure F Bond Building Fund of Hamilton Unified School 
District (the “District”), as of and for the year ended June 30, 2019, and the related notes to the financial statements, 
which collectively comprise the Hamilton Unified School District’s basic financial statements of the Measure F Bond 
Building Fund, and have issued our report thereon dated March 3, 2021.   
 
Internal Control over Financial Reporting 
 
In planning and performing our audit of the financial statements, we considered Hamilton Unified School District’s 
internal control over financial reporting (internal control) as a basis for designing audit procedures that are appropriate 
in the circumstances for the purpose of expressing our opinions on the financial statements of the Measure F Bond 
Building Fund, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of Hamilton Unified School 
District’s internal control. Accordingly, we do not express an opinion on the effectiveness of Hamilton Unified School 
District’s internal control. 
 
A deficiency in internal control exists when the design or operation of a control does not allow management or 
employees, in the normal course of performing their assigned functions, to prevent, or detect and correct, 
misstatements on a timely basis. A material weakness is a deficiency, or a combination of deficiencies, in internal 
control, such that there is a reasonable possibility that a material misstatement of the entity's financial statements will 
not be prevented, or detected and corrected on a timely basis. A significant deficiency is a deficiency, or a 
combination of deficiencies, in internal control that is less severe than a material weakness, yet important enough to 
merit attention by those charged with governance.  
 
Our consideration of internal control was for the limited purpose described in the first paragraph of this section and 
was not designed to identify all deficiencies in internal control that might be material weaknesses or significant 
deficiencies. Given these limitations, during our audit we did not identify any deficiencies in internal control that we 
consider to be material weaknesses. However, material weaknesses may exist that have not been identified.  
 

Page 169



 

12 

Compliance and Other Matters 
 
As part of obtaining reasonable assurance about whether Hamilton Unified School District's financial statements of 
the Measure F Bond Building Fund are free from material misstatement, we performed tests of its compliance with 
certain provisions of laws, regulations, contracts, and grant agreements, noncompliance with which could have a 
direct and material effect on the financial statements. However, providing an opinion on compliance with those 
provisions was not an objective of our audit, and accordingly, we do not express such an opinion. The results of our 
tests disclosed no instances of noncompliance or other matters that are required to be reported under Government 
Auditing Standards. 
 
Purpose of this Report 
 
The purpose of this report is solely to describe the scope of our testing of internal control and compliance and the 
results of that testing, and not to provide an opinion on the effectiveness of the entity's internal control or on 
compliance. This report is an integral part of an audit performed in accordance with Government Auditing Standards 
in considering the entity's internal control and compliance. Accordingly, this communication is not suitable for any 
other purpose. 
 
 
 
 
San Diego, California 
March 3, 2021 
 

 
  
 

Page 170



O: 619-270-8222   
F: 619-260-9085
christywhite.com

348 Olive Street
San Diego, CA 
92103

Certified Public Accountants serving 
K-12 School Districts and Charter 
Schools throughout California

 

13 

REPORT ON PERFORMANCE 
 

Independent Auditors’ Report 
 

Measure F Citizens’ Bond Oversight Committee and 
Governing Board Members of the 
Hamilton Unified School District  
Hamilton, California 
 
Report on Performance 
 
We have audited Hamilton Unified School District’s compliance with the performance audit procedures described in 
the 2018-19 Guide for Annual Audits of K-12 Local Education Agencies and State Compliance Reporting, prescribed 
in Title 5, California Code of Regulations, section 19810, that could have a direct and material effect on Hamilton 
Unified School District’s Measure F Bond Building Fund for the year ended June 30, 2019, as identified below.   
 
Management’s Responsibility 
 
Management is responsible for compliance with the requirements of laws, regulations, contracts, and grants 
applicable to local school construction bonds.  
 
Auditor’s Responsibility 
 
Our responsibility is to express an opinion on compliance of Hamilton Unified School District's Measure F Bond 
Building Fund based on our performance audit of the types of compliance requirements referred to above. We 
conducted our performance audit in accordance with generally accepted government auditing standards; the 
standards applicable to financial audits contained in Government Auditing Standards, issued by the Comptroller 
General of the United States; and the 2018-19 Guide for Annual Audits of K-12 Local Education Agencies and State 
Compliance Reporting, prescribed in Title 5, California Code of Regulations, section 19810. Those standards require 
that we plan and perform the performance audit to obtain sufficient, appropriate evidence to provide a reasonable 
basis for our findings and conclusions based on our audit objectives.  An audit includes examining, on a test basis, 
evidence about Hamilton Unified School District's compliance with those requirements and performing such other 
procedures as we considered necessary in the circumstances. 
 
We believe that the evidence obtained in our performance audit provides a reasonable basis for our findings and 
conclusions based on our audit objectives. However, our audit does not provide a legal determination of Hamilton 
Unified School District's compliance with those requirements. 
 
Opinion on Performance 
 
In our opinion, Hamilton Unified School District complied, in all material respects, with the types of compliance 
requirements referred to above that are applicable to the Measure F Bond Building Fund noted below for the year 
ended June 30, 2019.   
 

Page 171



 

14 

Procedures Performed 
 
In connection with the performance audit referred to above, we selected and tested transactions and records to 
determine Hamilton Unified School District's compliance with the state laws and regulations applicable to the Financial 
Audit Procedures and Performance Audit Procedures over the Measure F Bond Building Fund. Additional agreed 
upon procedures relating the Measure F Bond Building Fund may also be included. 
 
The results of the procedures performed and the related results are further described in the accompanying audit 
procedures and results section following this Report on Performance. 
 
 
 
 
San Diego, California 
March 3, 2021 

Page 172



 

 

 

 

AUDIT PROCEDURES AND RESULTS SECTION 
 

 
 
 

Page 173



 

The previous Report on Performance is an integral part of the above performance audit results. 

15 

HAMILTON UNIFIED SCHOOL DISTRICT 
MEASURE F BOND BUILDING FUND  
AUDIT PROCEDURES AND RESULTS 
FOR THE YEAR ENDED JUNE 30, 2019 

 
 
SECTION I – FINANCIAL AUDIT PROCEDURES AND RESULTS 
 

Financial Statements 

As mentioned in the Report on Financial Statements, we have issued an unmodified opinion over the financial 
statements of the Measure F Bond Building Fund as of and for the year ended June 30, 2019. 
 

Internal Control Evaluation 

We tested internal controls over financial reporting and compliance with laws, regulations, or provisions of contracts 
or agreements and have determined through our inquiry of management and our evaluation of District processes that 
no significant deficiencies were noted.   
 
 
SECTION II – PERFORMANCE AUDIT PROCEDURES AND RESULTS 
 

Facility Project Expenditures 

We selected a representative sample of expenditures charged to the Measure F Bond Building Fund and reviewed 
supporting documentation to ensure funds were properly expended on specific project(s) listed in the text of the 
Measure F ballot. 
 
We tested $186,271 of non-personnel expenditures or 30% of total 2018-19 Measure F Bond Building Fund 
expenditures for validity, allowability and accuracy and concluded that the sampled expenditures were in compliance 
with the terms of Measure F ballot language, the District approved facilities plan, and applicable state laws and 
regulations. 
 

Personnel Expenditures 

Based on review of expenditure information, we noted that there were no salaries or benefits charged to the Measure 
F Bond Building Fund during the fiscal year ended June 30, 2019. Audit procedures over personnel expenditures was 
not applicable. 
 

Contract and Bid Procedures 

We inquired with management and reviewed related documents to determine that there were no Measure F bids 
awarded during the year ended June 30, 2019. Audit procedures over contracts and bidding procedures was not 
applicable. 
 

Contracts and Change Orders 

We inquired with management and reviewed related documents to determine that there were no change orders 
related to Measure F during the year ended June 30, 2019. Audit procedures over change orders was not applicable. 
 

Page 174



 

 

 

 

FINDINGS AND RECOMMENDATIONS SECTION 
 

 
 
 

Page 175



 

16 

HAMILTON UNIFIED SCHOOL DISTRICT 
MEASURE F BOND BUILDING FUND 
SCHEDULE OF FINDINGS AND RECOMMENDATIONS 
FOR THE YEAR ENDED JUNE 30, 2019 

 
 
PART I – SUMMARY OF AUDITORS’ RESULTS 
 

FINANCIAL STATEMENTS  

Type of auditors’ report issued Unmodified 

Internal control over financial reporting:  

Material weakness(es) identified? No 

Significant deficiency(ies) identified? None Reported 

Non-compliance material to the financial statements? No 

  

PERFORMANCE AUDIT  

Internal control over financial reporting:  

Material weakness(es) identified? No 

Significant deficiency(ies) identified? None Reported 
Type of auditor’s report issued on performance for local 

school construction bonds: Unmodified 
 
 

PART II – FINANCIAL STATEMENT FINDINGS 
 
There were no financial statement findings for the year ended June 30, 2019. 
 
 
PART III – PERFORMANCE AUDIT FINDINGS 
 
There were no findings or recommendations related to local school construction bonds for the year ended June 30, 
2019. 
 
 
PART IV – PRIOR AUDIT FINDINGS 
 
There were no findings and recommendations for the year ended June 30, 2018 as the year ended June 30, 2019 
was the first year of operation for the Measure F bond program. 

Page 176



HAMILTON UNIFIED SCHOOL DISTRICT 
MEASURE F BOND BUILDING FUND 

AUDIT REPORT 

FOR THE YEAR ENDED

JUNE 30, 2020 

Page 177



 

HAMILTON UNIFIED SCHOOL DISTRICT 
MEASURE F BOND BUILDING FUND 
TABLE OF CONTENTS 
JUNE 30, 2020  

 
 
 Page 
 
Introduction and Citizens’ Bond Oversight Committee Member Listing .............................................................................. 1 
 
Independent Auditors’ Report .................................................................................................................................................... 2 
 
 

FINANCIAL SECTION 
 
Balance Sheet .............................................................................................................................................................................. 4 
 
Statement of Revenues, Expenditures and Changes in Fund Balance ................................................................................ 5 
 
Notes to Financial Statements ................................................................................................................................................... 6 
 
 

OTHER INDEPENDENT AUDITORS’ REPORTS 
 

Independent Auditors’ Report on Internal Control over Financial Reporting and on Compliance and  
Other Matters Based on an Audit of Financial Statements Performed in Accordance with Government Auditing 
Standards ........................................................................................................................................................................... 11 

 
Independent Auditors’ Report on Performance .................................................................................................................... 13 
 
 

AUDIT PROCEDURES AND RESULTS SECTION 
 
Audit Procedures and Results ................................................................................................................................................. 15 
 

 
FINDINGS AND RECOMMENDATIONS SECTION 

 
Schedule of Findings and Recommendations ....................................................................................................................... 16 

 
 
 
 

Page 178



1 

HAMILTON UNIFIED SCHOOL DISTRICT 
MEASURE F BOND BUILDING FUND  
INTRODUCTION AND CITIZENS’ BOND OVERSIGHT COMMITTEE MEMBER LISTING  
JUNE 30, 2020 

 
 
The Hamilton Unified School District was established on July 1, 2009 upon the unification of Hamilton High School 
District and Hamilton Elementary School District. The boundaries of the former districts changed in accordance with 
the approved plan of unification. There were no changes in the boundaries of the District during the current year. The 
District is operating one elementary school, one high school, two community day schools, one continuation high 
school, one preschool, and an adult education program. 
 
In an election held on November 6, 2018, the voters authorized the District to issue and sell not more than $7,000,000 
principal amount of general obligation bonds. These bonds were issued to acquire land and facilities for school and 
educational uses, improvement and modernization of classrooms and school facilities, improvement to health and 
safety including lighting and fire suppression systems, and upgrades and modernization to agricultural facilities.   
 
Series A was issued on June 5, 2019 for $2,200,000 with an interest rate of 4%. The original issuance consisted of 
$645,000 in current interest serial bonds and $1,555,000 in current interest term bonds. The bonds have a final 
maturity date of August 1, 2053. At June 30, 2020 the principal amount outstanding was $2,200,000. 

 
The Citizens’ Bond Oversight Committee had the following members as of June 30, 2020: 
 

Name Title Representation 
Gee Singh Member Business Organization Representative

Tomas Loera Member Bona fideTaxpayers' Organization Representative
Rosalinda Sanchez Member Parent and PTA/PTO Representative
Froylan Mendoza Member Parent Representative

*Vacant Member Senior Citizens' Organization Representative
*Vacant Member Community At-Large
*Vacant Member Community At-Large  

 
*The District is actively seeking community participation to fill vacant position. 
 

Page 179



O: 619-270-8222   
F: 619-260-9085
christywhite.com

348 Olive Street
San Diego, CA 
92103

Certified Public Accountants serving 
K-12 School Districts and Charter 
Schools throughout California

 

2 

INDEPENDENT AUDITORS’ REPORT 
 
 

Measure F Citizens’ Bond Oversight Committee and 
Governing Board Members of the  
Hamilton Unified School District 
Hamilton, California 
 
Report on the Financial Statements 
 
We have audited the accompanying financial statements of the Measure F Bond Building Fund of Hamilton Unified 
School District (the “District”), as of and for the year ended June 30, 2020, and the related notes to the financial 
statements, as listed in the table of contents. 
 
Management’s Responsibility for the Financial Statements 
 
Management is responsible for the preparation and fair presentation of these financial statements in accordance with 
accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of America; this includes the design, implementation, 
and maintenance of internal control relevant to the preparation and fair presentation of financial statements that are 
free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error. 
 
Auditors’ Responsibility 
 
Our responsibility is to express an opinion on these financial statements based on our audit. We conducted our audit 
in accordance with auditing standards generally accepted in the United States of America and the standards 
applicable to financial audits contained in Government Auditing Standards. Those standards require that we plan and 
perform the audit to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial statements are free from material 
misstatement. 
 
An audit involves performing procedures to obtain audit evidence about the amounts and disclosures in the financial 
statements. The procedures selected depend on the auditor’s judgment, including the assessment of the risks of 
material misstatement of the financial statements, whether due to fraud or error. In making those risk assessments, 
the auditor considers internal control relevant to the entity’s preparation and fair presentation of the financial 
statements in order to design audit procedures that are appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of 
expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the entity’s internal control. Accordingly, we express no such opinion. 
An audit also includes evaluating the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the reasonableness of 
significant accounting estimates made by management, as well as evaluating the overall presentation of the financial 
statements. 
 
We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our audit 
opinion. 
 
Opinion 
 
In our opinion, the financial statements referred to above present fairly, in all material respects, the financial position 
of the Measure F Bond Building Fund of Hamilton Unified School District, as of June 30, 2020, and the changes in 
financial position thereof for the year then ended in accordance with accounting principles generally accepted in the 
United States of America. 

Page 180



 

3 

Emphasis of Matter 
 
As discussed in Note 1A, the financial statements present only the Measure F Bond Building Fund and do not purport 
to, and do not present fairly the financial position of the Hamilton Unified School District, as of June 30, 2020, the 
changes in its financial position for the year then ended in accordance with accounting principles generally accepted 
in the United States of America.  Our opinion is not modified with respect to this matter. 
 
Other Reporting Required by Government Auditing Standards 
 
In accordance with Government Auditing Standards, we have also issued our report dated March 3, 2021 on our 
consideration of the District’s internal control over financial reporting and on our tests of its compliance with certain 
provisions of laws, regulations, contracts, and grant agreements and other matters specific to the Measure F Bond 
Building Fund.  The purpose of that report is solely to describe the scope of our testing of internal control over financial 
reporting and compliance and the results of that testing, and not to provide an opinion on the effectiveness of the 
Measure F Bond Building Fund’s internal control over financial reporting or on compliance.  That report is an integral 
part of an audit performed in accordance with Government Auditing Standards in considering the District’s internal 
control over financial reporting and compliance. 
 
Report of Other Legal and Regulatory Requirements 
 
In accordance with the requirements of Proposition 39, as incorporated in California Constitution Article 13A, we have 
issued our performance audit dated March 3, 2021, on our consideration of the District’s compliance with the 
requirements of Proposition 39 as it directly relates to the Measure F Bond Building Fund. That report is an integral 
part of our audit of the Measure F Bond Building Fund of Hamilton Unified School District, as of and for the year ended 
June 30, 2020, and should be considered in assessing the results of our financial audit. 
 
 
 
 
San Diego, California 
March 3, 2021 
 

Page 181



 

 

 

 

FINANCIAL SECTION 
 

 
 

Page 182



 

The accompanying notes to financial statements are an integral part of this statement. 

4 

HAMILTON UNIFIED SCHOOL DISTRICT 
MEASURE F BOND BUILDING FUND 
BALANCE SHEET 
JUNE 30, 2020 

 
 

ASSETS
Cash and investments 1,433,916$              
Accounts receivable 14,193                     

Total Assets 1,448,109$              

LIABILITIES
Accrued liabilities 14,117$                   

Total Liabilities 14,117                     

FUND BALANCE
Restricted for Measure F capital projects 1,433,992                

Total Fund Balance 1,433,992                
Total Liabilities and Fund Balance 1,448,109$               

 
 

 

Page 183



 

The accompanying notes to financial statements are an integral part of this statement. 

5 

HAMILTON UNIFIED SCHOOL DISTRICT 
MEASURE F BOND BUILDING FUND 
STATEMENT OF REVENUES, EXPENDITURES, AND CHANGES IN FUND BALANCE 
FOR THE YEAR ENDED JUNE 30, 2020 

 
 

REVENUES
Local sources 42,190$                   

Total Revenues 42,190                     

EXPENDITURES
Facilities acquisition and maintenance 193,861                   

Total Expenditures 193,861                   

NET CHANGE IN FUND BALANCE (151,671)                  
Fund Balance - Beginning 1,585,663                
Fund Balance - Ending 1,433,992$               

 
 

Page 184



 

6 

HAMILTON UNIFIED SCHOOL DISTRICT 
MEASURE F BOND BUILDING FUND 
NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 
JUNE 30, 2020 

 
 
NOTE 1 – SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES 
 
A. Financial Reporting Entity 

 
The Hamilton Unified School District (the “District”) accounts for its financial transactions in accordance with the 
policies and procedures of the Department of Education's California School Accounting Manual.  The accounting 
policies of the District conform to generally accepted accounting principles as prescribed by the Governmental 
Accounting Standards Board (GASB) and the American Institute of Certified Public Accountants (AICPA). 
 
An oversight committee to the District’s Governing Board and Superintendent, called the Citizens’ Bond Oversight 
Committee (CBOC), was established pursuant to the requirements of state law and the provisions of the Measure 
F bond. The CBOC is required by state law to actively review and report on the proper expenditure of taxpayers’ 
money for school construction. The CBOC provides oversight and advises the public whether the District is 
spending the Measure F bond funds for school capital improvements within the scope of projects outlined in the 
Measure F bond project list. In fulfilling its duties, the CBOC reviews, among other things, the District’s annual 
performance and financial audits of Measure F activity.   
 
The statements presented are for the individual Measure F Bond Building Fund of the District, consisting of the 
net construction proceeds of Election 2018 Series A, as issued by the District, through Glenn County, and are 
not intended to be a complete presentation of the District’s financial position or results of operations. There are 
no related parties or component units included in this financial statement presentation.  
 

B. Basis of Accounting 
 
Basis of accounting refers to when revenues and expenditures are recognized in the accounts and reported in 
the financial statements. Basis of accounting relates to the timing of measurement made, regardless of the 
measurement focus applied. 
 
The financial statements are presented on the modified accrual basis of accounting. Under the modified accrual 
basis of accounting, revenues are recorded when susceptible to accrual; i.e., both measurable and available. 
“Available” means the resources will be collected within the current fiscal year or are expected to be collected 
soon enough thereafter to be used to pay liabilities of the current fiscal year. Expenditures are generally 
recognized under the modified accrual basis of accounting when the related liability is incurred. 
 

C. Cash and Cash Equivalents 
 
The District’s cash and cash equivalents consist of cash on hand, demand deposits and short-term investments 
with original maturities of three months or less from the date of acquisition. Cash equivalents also include cash 
with county treasury balances for purposes of the statement of cash flows. 
 

D. Interfund Balances 
 
Receivables and payables resulting from short-term interfund loans are classified as "Due from other funds/Due 
to other funds.” 
 

E. Accrued Liabilities 
 
In general, payables and accrued liabilities that, once incurred, are paid in a timely manner and in full from current 
financial resources are reported as obligations of the fund. 

  

Page 185



 

7 

HAMILTON UNIFIED SCHOOL DISTRICT 
MEASURE F BOND BUILDING FUND 
NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS, continued 
JUNE 30, 2020 

 
 
NOTE 1 – SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued) 
 
F. Fund Balance 

 
Under GASB Statement No. 54, fund balance is divided into five classifications based primarily on the extent to 
which the District is bound to observe constraints imposed upon the use of the resources in the governmental 
funds. The fund balance in Measure F is considered restricted. 
 
The restricted fund balance classification reflects amounts subject to externally imposed and legally enforceable 
constraints. Such constraints may be imposed by creditors, grantors, contributors, or laws regulations of other 
governments, or may be imposed by law through constitutional provisions or enabling legislation. 

 
G. Interfund Activity 

 
Exchange transactions between funds are reported as revenues in the seller funds and as expenditures/expenses 
in the purchaser funds. Flows of cash or goods from one fund to another without a requirement for repayment 
are reported as interfund transfers. Repayments from funds responsible for particular expenditures/expenses to 
the funds that initially paid for them are not presented in the financial statements. 
 

H. Estimates 
 
The preparation of the financial statements in conformity with accounting principles generally accepted in the 
United States of America requires management to make estimates and assumptions that affect the amounts 
reported in the financial statements and accompanying notes. Actual results may differ from those estimates. 
 

I. Budgetary Data 
 
The budgetary process is prescribed by provisions of the California Education Code and requires the governing 
board to hold a public hearing and adopt an operating budget no later than July 1 of each year. The District 
governing board satisfied these requirements. The adopted budget is subject to amendment throughout the year 
to give consideration to unanticipated revenue and expenditures primarily resulting from events unknown at the 
time of budget adoption with the legal restriction that expenditures cannot exceed appropriations by major object 
account. 
 

 
NOTE 2 – CASH AND INVESTMENTS 
 
Cash as of June 30, 2020 consisted of $1,433,916 deposited in the Glenn County Treasury Investment Pool.  
 
A. Policies and Practices 
 

The District is authorized under California Government Code to make direct investments in local agency bonds, 
notes, or warrants within the state; U.S. Treasury instruments; registered state warrants or treasury notes; 
securities of the U.S. Government, or its agencies; bankers acceptances; commercial paper; certificates of deposit 
placed with commercial banks and/or savings and loan companies; repurchase or reverse repurchase 
agreements; medium term corporate notes; shares of beneficial interest issued by diversified management 
companies, certificates of participation, obligations with first priority security; collateralized mortgage obligations; 
and the County Investment Pool.  

  

Page 186



 

8 

HAMILTON UNIFIED SCHOOL DISTRICT 
MEASURE F BOND BUILDING FUND 
NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS, continued 
JUNE 30, 2020 

 
 
NOTE 2 – CASH AND INVESTMENTS (continued) 
 
A. Policies and Practices (continued) 
 

Investment in County Treasury – The District maintains substantially all of its cash in the County Treasury in 
accordance with Education Code Section 41001. The Glenn County Treasurer’s pooled investments are managed 
by the County Treasurer who reports on a monthly basis to the board of supervisors.  In addition, the function of 
the County Treasury Oversight Committee is to review and monitor the County’s investment policy. The 
committee membership includes the Treasurer and Tax Collector, the Auditor-Controller, Chief Administrative 
Officer, Superintendent of Schools Representative, and a public member. The fair value of the District's 
investment in the pool is based upon the District's pro-rata share of the fair value provided by the County 
Treasurer for the entire portfolio (in relation to the amortized cost of that portfolio). The balance available for 
withdrawal is based on the accounting records maintained by the County Treasurer, which is recorded on the 
amortized cost basis. 

 
B. General Authorizations 
 

Except for investments by trustees of debt proceeds, the authority to invest District funds deposited with the 
county treasury is delegated to the County Treasurer and Tax Collector. Additional information about the 
investment policy of the County Treasurer and Tax Collector may be obtained from its website. The table below 
identifies the investment types permitted by California Government Code. 

 
 

Authorized 
Investment Type 

 Maximum 
Remaining 

Maturity 

 Maximum 
Percentage 
of Portfolio 

 Maximum 
Investment 

in One Issuer 
Local Agency Bonds, Notes, Warrants  5 years  None  None 
Registered State Bonds, Notes, Warrants  5 years  None  None 
U.S. Treasury Obligations  5 years  None  None 
U.S. Agency Securities  5 years  None  None 
Banker’s Acceptance  180 days  40%  30% 
Commercial Paper  270 days  25%  10% 
Negotiable Certificates of Deposit  5 years  30%  None 
Repurchase Agreements  1 year  None  None 
Reverse Repurchase Agreements  92 days  20% of base  None 
Medium-Term Corporate Notes  5 years  30%  None 
Mutual Funds  N/A  20%  10% 
Money Market Mutual Funds  N/A  20%  10% 
Mortgage Pass-Through Securities  5 years  20%  None 
County Pooled Investment Funds  N/A  None  None 
Local Agency Investment Fund (LAIF)  N/A  None  None 
Joint Powers Authority Pools  N/A  None  None 

 
C. Interest Rate Risk 
 

Interest rate risk is the risk that changes in market interest rates will adversely affect the fair value of an investment. 
Generally, the longer the maturity of an investment, the greater the sensitivity of its fair value to changes in market 
interest rates. The District manages its exposure to interest rate risk by investing in the County Treasury. The 
District maintains a pooled investment with the County Treasury with a fair value of approximately $1,435,552 
and an amortized book value of $1,433,916.  

Page 187



 

9 

HAMILTON UNIFIED SCHOOL DISTRICT 
MEASURE F BOND BUILDING FUND 
NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS, continued 
JUNE 30, 2020 

 
 
NOTE 2 – CASH AND INVESTMENTS (continued) 
 
D. Credit Risk 
 

Credit risk is the risk that an issuer of an investment will not fulfill its obligation to the holder of the investment. 
This is measured by the assignment of a rating by a nationally recognized statistical rating organization. The 
investments in the County Treasury are not required to be rated. As of June 30, 2020, the pooled investments in 
the County Treasury were not rated. 

 
E. Fair Value 
 

The District categorizes the fair value measurements of its investments based on the hierarchy established by 
generally accepted accounting principles. The fair value hierarchy is based on the valuation inputs used to 
measure an asset's fair value. The following provides a summary of the hierarchy used to measure fair value: 
 
Level 1 - Quoted prices (unadjusted) in active markets for identical assets. 
 
Level 2 - Observable inputs other than Level 1 prices such as quoted prices for similar assets in active markets, 
quoted prices for identical or similar assets in markets that are not active, or other inputs that are observable, 
either directly or indirectly. 

 
Level 3 - Unobservable inputs should be developed using the best information available under the circumstances, 
which might include the District's own data. The District should adjust that data if reasonable available information 
indicates that other market participants would use different data or certain circumstances specific to the District 
are not available to other market participants. 

 
Uncategorized - Investments in the Glenn County Treasury Investment Pool are not measured using the input 
levels above because the District's transactions are based on a stable net asset value per share. All contributions 
and redemptions are transacted at $1.00 net asset value per share. 
 
The District's fair value measurements at June 30, 2020 were as follows: 

 
 Uncategorized 

Investment in county treasury 1,435,552$             
Total fair market value of investments 1,435,552$              

 
 
 
 
 

Page 188



 

10 

HAMILTON UNIFIED SCHOOL DISTRICT 
MEASURE F BOND BUILDING FUND 
NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS, continued 
JUNE 30, 2020 

 
 
NOTE 3 – ACCOUNTS RECEIVABLE 
 
Accounts receivable at June 30, 2020 consisted of $14,193 from interest earned on investments in the county 
treasury. 
 
 
NOTE 4 – ACCRUED LIABILITIES 
 
Accrued liabilities at June 30, 2020 consisted of $14,117 due to vendors for building/expansion facility planning, and 
legal fees. 
 
 
NOTE 5 – COMMITMENTS AND CONTINGENCIES 
 
A. Litigation 
 

The District is involved in various litigation arising from the normal course of business. In the opinion of 
management and legal counsel, the disposition of all litigation pending is not expected to have a material adverse 
effect on the overall financial position of the District at June 30, 2020. 

 
B. Construction Commitments 
 

As of June 30, 2020, the District had no commitments with respect to unfinished capital projects. 
 
 

Page 189



 

 

 

 

OTHER INDEPENDENT AUDITORS’ REPORTS 
 

 
 

Page 190



O: 619-270-8222   
F: 619-260-9085
christywhite.com

348 Olive Street
San Diego, CA 
92103

Certified Public Accountants serving 
K-12 School Districts and Charter 
Schools throughout California

 

11 

REPORT ON INTERNAL CONTROL OVER FINANCIAL REPORTING AND ON COMPLIANCE AND OTHER 
MATTERS BASED ON AN AUDIT OF FINANCIAL STATEMENTS PERFORMED IN ACCORDANCE WITH  

GOVERNMENT AUDITING STANDARDS 
 

Independent Auditors’ Report 
 

Measure F Citizens’ Bond Oversight Committee and 
Governing Board Members of the  
Hamilton Unified School District 
Hamilton, California 
 
We have audited, in accordance with the auditing standards generally accepted in the United States of America and 
the standards applicable to financial audits contained in Government Auditing Standards issued by the Comptroller 
General of the United States, the financial statements of the Measure F Bond Building Fund of Hamilton Unified School 
District (the “District”), as of and for the year ended June 30, 2020, and the related notes to the financial statements, 
which collectively comprise the Hamilton Unified School District’s basic financial statements of the Measure F Bond 
Building Fund, and have issued our report thereon dated March 3, 2021.   
 
Internal Control over Financial Reporting 
 
In planning and performing our audit of the financial statements, we considered Hamilton Unified School District’s 
internal control over financial reporting (internal control) as a basis for designing audit procedures that are appropriate 
in the circumstances for the purpose of expressing our opinions on the financial statements of the Measure F Bond 
Building Fund, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of Hamilton Unified School 
District’s internal control. Accordingly, we do not express an opinion on the effectiveness of Hamilton Unified School 
District’s internal control. 
 
A deficiency in internal control exists when the design or operation of a control does not allow management or 
employees, in the normal course of performing their assigned functions, to prevent, or detect and correct, 
misstatements on a timely basis. A material weakness is a deficiency, or a combination of deficiencies, in internal 
control, such that there is a reasonable possibility that a material misstatement of the entity's financial statements will 
not be prevented, or detected and corrected on a timely basis. A significant deficiency is a deficiency, or a 
combination of deficiencies, in internal control that is less severe than a material weakness, yet important enough to 
merit attention by those charged with governance.  
 
Our consideration of internal control was for the limited purpose described in the first paragraph of this section and 
was not designed to identify all deficiencies in internal control that might be material weaknesses or significant 
deficiencies. Given these limitations, during our audit we did not identify any deficiencies in internal control that we 
consider to be material weaknesses. However, material weaknesses may exist that have not been identified. 

Page 191



 

12 

Compliance and Other Matters 
 
As part of obtaining reasonable assurance about whether Hamilton Unified School District's financial statements of 
the Measure F Bond Building Fund are free from material misstatement, we performed tests of its compliance with 
certain provisions of laws, regulations, contracts, and grant agreements, noncompliance with which could have a 
direct and material effect on the financial statements. However, providing an opinion on compliance with those 
provisions was not an objective of our audit, and accordingly, we do not express such an opinion. The results of our 
tests disclosed no instances of noncompliance or other matters that are required to be reported under Government 
Auditing Standards. 
 
Purpose of this Report 
 
The purpose of this report is solely to describe the scope of our testing of internal control and compliance and the 
results of that testing, and not to provide an opinion on the effectiveness of the entity's internal control or on 
compliance. This report is an integral part of an audit performed in accordance with Government Auditing Standards 
in considering the entity's internal control and compliance. Accordingly, this communication is not suitable for any 
other purpose. 
 
 
 
 
San Diego, California 
March 3, 2021 
 

 

Page 192



O: 619-270-8222   
F: 619-260-9085
christywhite.com

348 Olive Street
San Diego, CA 
92103

Certified Public Accountants serving 
K-12 School Districts and Charter 
Schools throughout California

 

13 

REPORT ON PERFORMANCE 
 

Independent Auditors’ Report 
 

Measure F Citizens’ Bond Oversight Committee and 
Governing Board Members of the 
Hamilton Unified School District  
Hamilton, California 
 
Report on Performance 
 
We have audited Hamilton Unified School District’s compliance with the performance audit procedures described in 
the 2019-20 Guide for Annual Audits of K-12 Local Education Agencies and State Compliance Reporting, prescribed 
in Title 5, California Code of Regulations, section 19810, that could have a direct and material effect on Hamilton 
Unified School District’s Measure F Bond Building Fund for the year ended June 30, 2020, as identified below.   
 
Management’s Responsibility 
 
Management is responsible for compliance with the requirements of laws, regulations, contracts, and grants 
applicable to local school construction bonds.  
 
Auditor’s Responsibility 
 
Our responsibility is to express an opinion on compliance of Hamilton Unified School District's Measure F Bond 
Building Fund based on our performance audit of the types of compliance requirements referred to above. We 
conducted our performance audit in accordance with generally accepted government auditing standards; the 
standards applicable to financial audits contained in Government Auditing Standards, issued by the Comptroller 
General of the United States; and the 2019-20 Guide for Annual Audits of K-12 Local Education Agencies and State 
Compliance Reporting, prescribed in Title 5, California Code of Regulations, section 19810. Those standards require 
that we plan and perform the performance audit to obtain sufficient, appropriate evidence to provide a reasonable 
basis for our findings and conclusions based on our audit objectives.  An audit includes examining, on a test basis, 
evidence about Hamilton Unified School District's compliance with those requirements and performing such other 
procedures as we considered necessary in the circumstances. 
 
We believe that the evidence obtained in our performance audit provides a reasonable basis for our findings and 
conclusions based on our audit objectives. However, our audit does not provide a legal determination of Hamilton 
Unified School District's compliance with those requirements. 
 
Opinion on Performance 
 
In our opinion, Hamilton Unified School District complied, in all material respects, with the types of compliance 
requirements referred to above that are applicable to the Measure F Bond Building Fund noted below for the year 
ended June 30, 2020.   

Page 193



 

14 

Procedures Performed 
 
In connection with the performance audit referred to above, we selected and tested transactions and records to 
determine Hamilton Unified School District's compliance with the state laws and regulations applicable to the Financial 
Audit Procedures and Performance Audit Procedures over the Measure F Bond Building Fund. Additional agreed 
upon procedures relating the Measure F Bond Building Fund may also be included. 
 
The results of the procedures performed and the related results are further described in the accompanying audit 
procedures and results section following this Report on Performance. 
 
 
 
 
San Diego, California 
March 3, 2021 

Page 194



 

 

 

 

AUDIT PROCEDURES AND RESULTS SECTION 
 

 
 
 

Page 195



 

The previous Report on Performance is an integral part of the above performance audit results. 

15 

HAMILTON UNIFIED SCHOOL DISTRICT 
MEASURE F BOND BUILDING FUND  
AUDIT PROCEDURES AND RESULTS 
FOR THE YEAR ENDED JUNE 30, 2020 

 
 
SECTION I – FINANCIAL AUDIT PROCEDURES AND RESULTS 
 

Financial Statements 

As mentioned in the Report on Financial Statements, we have issued an unmodified opinion over the financial 
statements of the Measure F Bond Building Fund as of and for the year ended June 30, 2020. 
 

Internal Control Evaluation 

We tested internal controls over financial reporting and compliance with laws, regulations, or provisions of contracts 
or agreements and have determined through our inquiry of management and our evaluation of District processes that 
no significant deficiencies were noted.  
 
 
SECTION II – PERFORMANCE AUDIT PROCEDURES AND RESULTS 
 

Facility Project Expenditures 

We selected a representative sample of expenditures charged to the Measure F Bond Building Fund and reviewed 
supporting documentation to ensure funds were properly expended on specific project(s) listed in the text of the 
Measure F ballot. 
 
We tested $109,617 of non-personnel expenditures or 57% of total 2019-20 Measure F Bond Building Fund 
expenditures for validity, allowability and accuracy and concluded that the sampled expenditures were in compliance 
with the terms of Measure F ballot language, the District approved facilities plan, and applicable state laws and 
regulations. 
 

Personnel Expenditures 

Based on review of expenditure information, we noted that there were no salaries or benefits charged to the Measure 
F Bond Building Fund during the fiscal year ended June 30, 2020. Audit procedures over personnel expenditures was 
not applicable. 
 

Contract and Bid Procedures 

We inquired with management and reviewed related documents to determine that there were no Measure F bids 
awarded during the year ended June 30, 2020. 
 

Contracts and Change Orders 

We inquired with management and reviewed related documents to determine that there were no change orders 
related to Measure F during the year ended June 30, 2020. Audit procedures over change orders were not applicable. 
 
 

Page 196



 

 

 

 

FINDINGS AND RECOMMENDATIONS SECTION 
 

 
 
 

Page 197



16 

HAMILTON UNIFIED SCHOOL DISTRICT 
MEASURE F BOND BUILDING FUND 
SCHEDULE OF FINDINGS AND RECOMMENDATIONS 
FOR THE YEAR ENDED JUNE 30, 2020 

PART I – SUMMARY OF AUDITORS’ RESULTS 

FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 

Type of auditors’ report issued Unmodified 

Internal control over financial reporting: 

Material weakness(es) identified? No 

Significant deficiency(ies) identified? None Reported 

Non-compliance material to the financial statements? No 

PERFORMANCE AUDIT 

Internal control over financial reporting: 

Material weakness(es) identified? No 

Significant deficiency(ies) identified? None Reported 
Type of auditor’s report issued on performance for local 

school construction bonds: Unmodified 

PART II – FINANCIAL STATEMENT FINDINGS 

There were no financial statement findings for the year ended June 30, 2020. 

PART III – PERFORMANCE AUDIT FINDINGS 

There were no findings or recommendations related to local school construction bonds for the year ended June 30, 
2020. 

PART IV – PRIOR AUDIT FINDINGS 

There were no findings and recommendations for the year ended June 30, 2019. 

Page 198



HAMILTON UNIFIED SCHOOL DISTRICT

Agenda Item Number: 13b Date: 3/24/2021 

Agenda Item Description: 
Approve HUSD 2021-2022 Option A Calendar Chosen by HULC 

Background: 
 HULC reviews, comments and approves annual school calendars. Once approved by HULC, they 
come to the board for final approval. 

Status: Pending board approval 

Fiscal Impact: None 

Educational Impact: None 

Recommendation: 
Approve HUSD 2021-2022 Option A Calendar Chosen by HULC 

Page 199



Su M T W Th F S Su M T W Th F S Su M T W Th F S Su M T W Th F S Su M T W Th F S Su M T W Th F S

1 2 3 1 2 3 4 5 6 7 1 2 3 4 1 2 1 2 3 4 5 6 1 2 3 4

4 5 6 7 8 9 10 8 9 10 11 12 13 14 5 6 7 8 9 10 11 3 4 5 6 7 8 9 7 8 9 10 11 12 13 5 6 7 8 9 10 11

11 12 13 14 15 16 17 15 16 17 18 19 20 21 12 13 14 15 16 17 18 10 11 12 13 14 15 16 14 15 16 17 18 19 20 12 13 14 15 16 17 18

18 19 20 21 22 23 24 22 23 24 25 26 27 28 19 20 21 22 23 24 25 17 18 19 20 21 22 23 21 22 23 24 25 26 27 19 20 21 22 23 24 25

25 26 27 28 29 30 31 29 30 31 26 27 28 29 30 24 25 26 27 28 29 30 28 29 30 26 27 28 29 30 31

0 16 36 31  57 73 86

Su M T W Th F S Su M T W Th F S Su M T W Th F S Su M T W Th F S Su M T W Th F S Su M T W Th F S

  1 1 2 3 4 5 1 2 3 4 5 1 2 1 2 3 4 5 6 7 1 2 3 4

2 3 4 5 6 7 8 6 7 8 9 10 11 12 6 7 8 9 10 11 12 3 4 5 6 7 8 9 8 9 10 11 12 13 14 5 6 7 8 9 10 11

9 10 11 12 13 14 15 13 14 15 16 17 18 19 13 14 15 16 17 18 19 10 11 12 13 14 15 16 15 16 17 18 19 20 21 12 13 14 15 16 17 18

16 17 18 19 20 21 22 20 21 22 23 24 25 26 20 21 22 23 24 25 26 17 18 19 20 21 22 23 22 23 24 25 26 27 28 19 20 21 22 23 24 25

23 24 25 26 27 28 29 27 28 27 28 29 30 31 24 25 26 27 28 29 30 29 30 31 26 27 28 29 30

30 31 101 119 141 156 177 180

8/13, 8/27, 9/3, 9/10, 9/24, 10/1, 10/8, 10/15, 10/29, 11/5, 11/12/, 11/19, 12/3, 12/10, 1/14, 1/21, 1/28, 2/4, 2/11, 2/18, 2/25, 3/4, 3/25, 4/1, 4/8, 4/29, 5/6, 5/20, 5/27

8/20, 9/17, 10/22, 12/17, 3/11, 5/11-5/13 (Glenn County Fair)

Spring 2022

January 2022 June 2022February 2022 March 2022 April 2022 May 2022

8/6 (District-wide - No Student Atten.) & 8/9 (Teachers Only - No Student Atten.), 9/20 ( District-wide - No Student Atten.), 3/18 (Teachers Only - No Student Atten.) 

7/4 4th of July (observed on 7/5), 9/6 Labor Day, 11/11 Veterans Day, 11/22-11/26 Thanksgiving Break, 12/20-1/7 Winter Break, 

Progress/Report Cards

District Minimum Day

Holidays/Breaks:

7/28, 8/25, 9/22, 10/27, 12/8, 1/26, 2/23, 3/23, 4/27, 5/25, 6/9, 6/23

9/10, 10/15, 11/5, 2/4, 3/25, 4/29, 6/10

Board Meetings

1st/Last Day of School

HULC Meeting 9/15, 10/20, 12/1, 1/19, 2/16, 3/16, 4/13, 5/18

Hamilton Unified School District
2021-2022 Option A

Fall 2021

July 2021 August 2021 September 2021 October 2021 December 2021November 2021

Teacher/District In Service:

6/2 (8th Grade Promotion 7:00pm, HHS Stadium/Teacher Prep), 6/3 (HHS Grad 8:00pm, HHS Stadium/Teacher Prep)

HES/HHS Prep/PLC Min. Day

1/17 Martin Luther King Jr. Day, 2/12 Lincoln's Birthday (obser. 2/18), 2/21 President's Day, 4/15 Good Friday, 4/15-4/22 Spring Break, 5/30 Memorial Day

8/10 1st Day of School, 6/3 Last Day of School

Page 200



HAMILTON UNIFIED SCHOOL DISTRICT 
REGULAR BOARD MEETING MINUTES 

Hamilton High School Library/Zoom/Facebook Live 
Wednesday, February 24, 2021 

 
5:30 p.m.  Public session for purposes of opening the meeting only via Zoom:  
5:30 p.m.  Closed session to discuss closed session items listed below via Zoom (For Board Only) 
6:00 p.m. Reconvene to open session no later than 6:30 p.m. via Facebook Live or Zoom (see below) 

 

Hamilton Unified School District Board Meetings are open to the public. We are still adhering to social distancing for 
public safety so in-person seating capacity in the Hamilton High School Library is limited to thirteen attendees.  
As authorized by the Governor’s Emergency Executive Orders issued on March 12 and 17, 2020, the Hamilton Unified 
School District Board of Education will continue to conduct Board of Education meetings by video conference until 
further notice. Please join the meeting by attending the livestream via Facebook Live on the District’s Facebook page 
or through the below Zoom link or dial by phone as listed below: 
 

Join Zoom Meeting 
https://us02web.zoom.us/j/85626743829?pwd=TG1QdnN6dHdRQjJUVUMwLzBOYlQyUT09 
 
Meeting ID: 856 2674 3829 
Passcode: board 
 
Dial in: 
        +1 669 900 6833 
Meeting ID: 856 2674 3829 
Passcode: 329644 

 

1.0 OPENING BUSINESS: at 5:30 p.m. 
a. Call to order and roll call 

 

√_ Hubert “Wendell” Lower, President    ______Rod Boone, Clerk   √_ Gabriel Leal 

√_ Genaro Reyes    √_ Ray Odom 

 
2.0 IDENTIFY CLOSED SESSION ITEMS: 

 
3.0 PUBLIC COMMENT ON CLOSED SESSION ITEMS: Public comment will be heard on any closed session items. The 

board may limit comments to no more than three minutes per speaker and 15 minutes per item. – No comments 
 

4.0 ADJOURN TO CLOSED SESSION: To consider qualified matters. 
a. Government Code Section 54957 (b), Personnel Issue. To consider the employment, evaluation, 

reassignment, resignation, dismissal, or discipline of a classified and certificated employees. 
b. Government Code Section 54957.6, Labor Negotiations. To confer with the District’s Labor Negotiator, 

Superintendent Jeremy Powell regarding HTA and CSEA negotiations. 
c. Government Code Section 54956.9, Subdivision (a), Existing litigation. Name of case: Crews v. Hamilton 

Unified School District, Glenn County Superior Court, Case No. 15CV01394. 
d. Conference with Real Property Negotiators. Property: Westermann property north of Hamilton High School, 

approximately located at 500 Sixth Street, Hamilton City, CA 95951 (APN: 032-230-015-000). Agency 
Negotiator: Jeremy Powell, Superintendent; Matt Juhl-Darlington, Attorney for District. Negotiating Parties: 
Westermann Family and Hamilton Unified School District. Under negotiation: Price and terms of payment. 

e. Conference with labor Negotiator Gov. Code sec. 54957.6, subd. (a). Agency designated representative: Dr. 
Jeremy Powell; Employee Organization: Hamilton Teachers Association. 

 
The board gave direction to the Superintendent and legal counsel on items C and D. 

 
5.0 PUBLIC SESSION/FLAG SALUTE:  Lead by Mr. Odom 

 
6.0 ADOPT THE AGENDA: (M) 

Page 201

https://www.google.com/url?q=https://us02web.zoom.us/j/85626743829?pwd%3DTG1QdnN6dHdRQjJUVUMwLzBOYlQyUT09&sa=D&source=calendar&ust=1614098168073000&usg=AOvVaw38JMjbFdOXiJpz75m_qKVQ


 

Mr. Lower noted that there is a correction the agenda from the January regular meeting. [This correction is noted as 
an information item 10.0 a on this agenda].  

Motion to adopt the agenda with noted correction by Mr. Mr. Leal 2nd  by Mr. Reyes.   Motion Carried 4-0 
Leal: AYE Lower: AYE 

Boone: ABSENT Reyes: AYE 

Odom: AYE  

 
 

7.0   COMMUNICATIONS/REPORTS: 
a. Board Member Comments/Reports. 

i. Mr. Reyes & Mr. Lower thanked the staff for their written reports. 
b. District Reports (written) 

i. Technology Report by Frank James & Derek Hawley (p. 5) 
ii. Nutrition Services Report by Sean Montgomery (p. 6) 

iii. Operations Report by Alan Joksch (p.7) 
c. Principal and Dean of Student Reports (written) 

i. Kathy Thomas, Hamilton Elementary School Principal (p. 8) 
ii. Maria Reyes, District Dean of Students (p. 9) 

iii. Cris Oseguera, Hamilton High School Principal (p. 10) 
iv. Sylvia Robles, Adult School (p. 11) 

d. Chief Business Official Report by Kristen Hamman (p. 12) 
e. Superintendent Report by Jeremy Powell (p. 13) 

 
8.0  PRESENTATIONS: 

a.  Teacher presentations 
i. Kile Taylor from Midddle School SPED presented on behalf of the Elmentary & Highs School SPED 

 
9.0  CORRESPONDENCE: 

a. None 
 

10.0   INFORMATION ITEMS: 
a. Note that Agenda Item 13b “Approve Spring 2021 Schedule” on the January 20th Board Agenda has a 

correction: The description should have said, “During their special board meeting held on December 17, 
2020 …” The agenda incorrectly stating, “During their regular board meeting held on December 9, 2020 …” 

b. Form 700 – Annual Statement of Economic Interests (p. 14) 
c. HUSD Enrollment History for 5 years (p. 18) 
d. Bond Status (Fund 21) Update (p. 20)  
e. HHS Site Expansion Permitting Status Update – Mike Cannon (p. 23) 

 
11.0   DISCUSSION ITEMS: 

a. None 
 

12.0   PUBLIC COMMENT: Public comment on any item of interest to the public that is within the Board’s jurisdiction will 
be heard (agenda and non-agenda items). The Board may limit comments to no more than three minutes per speaker 
and 15 minutes per topic. Public comment will also be allowed on each specific action item prior to board action 
thereon. 

a. Parents, teachers and students gave public comment. 
  

Page 202



 
13.0   ACTION ITEMS: 

a. Approve Spring 2021 Instructional Schedule (p. 25) 
Dr. Powell reviewed and answered and all present Board members made comments. 
Motion for the District to continue with the current schedule, K-12, AM/PM schedule for the rest of this school year 

by Mr. Odom 2nd  by Mr. Leal.   Motion Carried 4-0 
Leal: AYE Lower: AYE 

Boone: ABSENT Reyes: AYE 

Odom: AYE  

 
b. Accept HUSD Audit Report June 30, 2020 (p. 26) 

Dr. Powell reviewed the audit. 
Mr. Odom commented on the audit. 

Motion to accept the Audit Report by Mr. Leal 2nd  by Mr. Reyes.   Motion Carried 4-0 
Leal: AYE Lower: AYE 

Boone: ABSENT Reyes: AYE 

Odom: AYE  

 
c. Accept HUSD Updated Protocols Scenarios Matrix (p. 113) 

Dr. Powell reviewed the protocols. 
Motion to accept the Updated Protocols Matrix by Mr. Odom 2nd  by Mr. Reyes.   Motion Carried 4-0 

Leal: AYE Lower: AYE 

Boone: ABSENT Reyes: AYE 

Odom: AYE  

 
d. Accept Local Plan Section B: Governance and Administration FY 2020-21 SELPA (p. 118) 

Dr. Powell reviewed the Local Plan Section B. 
Motion to accept Local Plan Section B by Mr. Reyes 2nd  by Mr. Odom.   Motion Carried 4-0 

Leal: AYE Lower: AYE 

Boone: ABSENT Reyes: AYE 

Odom: AYE  

 
e. Approve COVID State Regulations Updates: (p. 167) 

i. HUSD COVID-19 School Guidance Checklist 
ii. HUSD CPP 

Dr. Powell reviewed the state regulations updates. 
Motion to approve the above by Mr. Odom 2nd  by Mr. Leal.   Motion Carried 4-0 

Leal: AYE Lower: AYE 

Boone: ABSENT Reyes: AYE 

Odom: AYE  

 
f. Approve School site Safety Plans (full plans available on https://www.husdschools.org/ and available by 

request from the District Office): (p. 195) 
i. Hamilton Elementary School (includes Hamilton State Preschool and Hamilton Special Education) 

ii. Hamilton High School (includes District Office, Ella Barkley High School, Hamilton Community Day 
School and Hamilton Adult School) 

Dr. Powell reviewed the safety plans and answered questions from Mr. Odom. 
Motion to approve site safety plans by Mr. Odom 2nd  by Mr. Reyes.   Motion Carried 4-0 

Leal: AYE Lower: AYE 

Boone: ABSENT Reyes: AYE 

Odom: AYE  

 
  

Page 203

https://www.husdschools.org/


 
g. Adopt Resolution No. 20-21-106 Emergency Management Resolution – Hamilton Unified School District has 

implemented a School Emergency Plan for all school sites and facilities. (p. 215) 
Motion to adopt Resolution No. 20-21-106 by Mr. Reyes 2nd  by Mr. Leal.   Motion Carried 4-0 

Leal: AYE Lower: AYE 

Boone: ABSENT Reyes: AYE 

Odom: AYE  

 
h. Adopt Updates to Gamut CSBA Policy Conversion Reconciliation (p. 217) 

i. Deletion of Board Policy BP 0520.2 – Title I Program Improvement Schools 
ii. Deletion of Board Policy BP 0520.3 – Title I Program Improvement Schools 

iii. Deletion of Board Policy BP 1020 – Youth Services 
iv. Deletion of Board Policy BP 4112.24 – Teacher Qualifications Under the No Child Left Behind Act 
v. Deletion of Board Policy BP 6161.3 – Toxic Art Supplies 

vi. Deletion of Board Policy BP 6162.52 – High School Exit Examination 
vii. Renaming Board Policy BP 6146.5 – Elementary/Middle School Promotion/Graduation 

Requirements to Elementary/Middle School Graduation Requirements 
viii. Renaming Board Policy BP 6164.5 – Student Study Team to Student Success Teams 

ix. Renaming Board Policy BP 9240 – Board Development to Board Training 
x. Renumber Board Policy (current) BP 3541.2(a) to CSBA BP 3541.2 – Transportation for Students 

with Disabilities 
xi. Deletion of Administrative Regulation AR 0520.2 – Title I Program Improvement Schools 

xii. Deletion of Administrative Regulation AR 0520.3 – Title I Program Improvement Districts 
xiii. Deletion of Administrative Regulation AR 4112.24 – Teacher Qualifications Under the No Child Left 

Behind Act 
xiv. Deletion of Administrative Regulation AR 6162.52 – High School Exit Examination 
xv. Renaming Administrative Regulation AR 6164.5 – Student Study Team to Student Success Teams 

Motion to update Gamut updates i-xv by Mr. Odom 2nd  by Mr. Reyes.   Motion Carried 4-0 
Leal: AYE Lower: AYE 

Boone: ABSENT Reyes: AYE 

Odom: AYE  

 
i. Adopt CSBA Policies for 2nd Reading Review and adoption (p. 220) 

i. Administrative Regulation AR 0430 – Comprehensive Local Plan for Special Education 
ii. Board Policy BP 1312.3 - Uniform Complaint Procedures 

iii. Administrative Regulation AR 1312.3 – Uniform Complaint Procedures  
iv. Board Policy BP 4119.25/4219.23/4319.25 – Political Activities of Employees 
v. Administrative Regulation AR 4119.25/4219.25/4319.25 – Political Activities of Employees 

vi. Board Policy BP 4140/4240/4340 – Bargaining Units  
vii. Board Policy BP 5113.2 – Work Permits 

viii. Administrative Regulation AR 5113.2 – Work Permits 
ix. Board Policy BP 5126 – Awards for Achievement 
x. Administrative Regulation AR 5126 – Awards for Achievement 

xi. Board Policy BP 5141.31 – Immunizations 
xii. Administrative Regulation AR 5441.31 – Immunizations 

xiii. Board Policy BP 5148.3 – Preschool/Early Childhood Education 
xiv. Administrative Regulation AR 5148.3 – Preschool/Early Childhood Education 
xv. Board Policy BP 6146.1 – High School Graduation Requirements 

xvi. Board Policy BP 6146.2 – Certificate of Proficiency/High School Equivalency 
xvii. Administrative Regulation AR 6146.2 – Certificate of Proficiency/High School Equivalency 

xviii. Exhibit E 6146.2 – Certificate of Proficiency/High School Equivalency 
xix. Board Policy BP 6170.1 – Transitional Kindergarten 
xx. Board Bylaw BB 9012 – Board Member Electronic Communications 

xxi. Board Bylaw BB 9320 – Meetings and Notices 
Motion to adopt CSBA policies i-xxi by Mr. Reyes 2nd  by Mr. Leal.   Motion Carried 4-0 

Leal: AYE Lower: AYE 

Boone: ABSENT Reyes: AYE 

Page 204



Odom: AYE  

 
j. Adopt California AB 908 Establishing a probationary period for students involved in extracurricular and 

cocurricular activities due to COVID-19 for the remainder of the 2020-21 school year. (p. 222) 
Mr. Oseguera reviewed and commented on AB 908. 
Mr. Odom commented and questioned. 
Mr. Oseguera replied to questions. 

Motion to adopt AB 908 by Mr. Leal  2nd  by Mr. Reyes.   Motion Carried 4-0 
Leal: AYE Lower: AYE 

Boone: ABSENT Reyes: AYE 

Odom: AYE  

 
k. Waive Senior Project Graduation Requirement for Hamilton High School Class of 2021. (p. 225) 

Mr. Oseguera commented on the graduation requirement waiver request. 
Motion to waive Senior Project Graduation Requirement by Mr. Reyes 2nd  by Mr. Odom.   Motion Carried 4-0 

Leal: AYE Lower: AYE 

Boone: ABSENT Reyes: AYE 

Odom: AYE  

 
l. Donation of Edgewater Property to Hamilton City Community Service District (p. 226) 

Dr. Powell indicated that he will not be asking for a vote on this item tonight. 
 

m. Approve change to Middle School Bell Schedule Lunch to end at 12:25 p.m. (p. 243) 
Dr. Powell reviewed the bell schedule change request. 

Motion to approve change to bell schedule as written by Mr. Reyes 2nd  by Mr. Leal.   Motion Carried 4-0 
Leal: AYE Lower: AYE 

Boone: ABSENT Reyes: AYE 

Odom: AYE  

 
 

14.0   CONSENT AGENDA: Items in the consent agenda are considered routine and are acted upon by the Board in one 
motion.  There is no discussion of these items prior to the Board vote and unless a member of the Board, staff, or 
public request specific items be discussed and/or removed from the consent agenda. Each item on the consent 
agenda approved by the Board shall be deemed to have been considered in full and adopted as recommended. 

a. Minutes from Regular Board Meeting on January 20, 2021 (p. 245) 
b. Certificated and Classified Seniority Lists 2020-21 (p. 251) 
c. Williams Quarterly January 2021 (p. 253) 
d. Hamilton Elementary SSC Minutes from November 10, 2020 (p. 254) 
e. Hamilton Elementary SSC Agenda, February 9, 2021 (p. 256) 
f. Hamilton High School SSC Agenda from January 15, 2021 (p. 266) 
g. Hamilton High School SSC Minues from January 15, 2021 (p. 267) 
h. Warrants and Expenditures (p. 269) 
i. Interdistrict Transfers (new only; elementary students reapply annually). 

i. Out 
1. Hamilton Elementary School 

a. K x 2 (2021-22) 
2. Hamilton High School 

a. None 
ii. In 

1. Hamilton Elementary School 
a. K x 2 (2021-22) 

2. Hamilton High School 
a. 12th x 1 (2020-21) 
b. 11th x 2 (2020-21) 

 
j. Personnel Actions as Presented: 

i. New hires: 

Page 205



Kelley Chandler Varsity Girls Basketball Coach HHS 

Marilyn Langan Paraeducator/Library Media Technician HES 

Doris Velazquez Child Nutrition Assistant HHS/HES 

 
ii. Resignations/Retirement: 

Tara Teeter Paraeducator/Library Media Technician HES 

Motion to accept the consent agenda by Mr. Reyes 2nd  by Mr. Odom.   Motion Carried X-X 
Leal: AYE Lower: AYE 

Boone: ABSENT Reyes: AYE 

Odom: AYE  

 
 

15.0   ADJOURNMENT: 8:06 p.m. 
1. Prior to adjournment Dr. Powell asked to table the special board meeting scheduled to follow this board 

meeting. 
2. In closing, Mr. Lower quoted Jackson Browne: “Don’t say you don’t have enough time. You have exactly the 

same number of hours per day that were given to Helen Keller, Pasteur, Michaelangelo, Mother Teresa, 
Leonardo da Vinci, Thomas Jefferson, and Albert Einstein” 

 
 
 
 
 
 

X

 
 
 

X

 
 

Page 206



HAMILTON UNIFIED SCHOOL DISTRICT 
SPECIAL BOARD MEETING MINUTES 

2nd Interim and LCAP Workshop 
Hamilton High School Library/Zoom/Facebook Live 

Wednesday, March 10, 2021 

 
5:30 p.m.  Public session for purposes of opening the meeting only via Zoom:  
5:30 p.m.  Closed session to discuss closed session items listed below via Zoom (For Board Only) 
6:00 p.m. Reconvene to open session no later than 6:30 p.m. via Facebook Live or Zoom (see below) 

 

Hamilton Unified School District Board Meetings are open to the public. We are still adhering to social distancing for 
public safety so in-person seating capacity in the Hamilton High School Library is limited to thirteen attendees.  
As authorized by the Governor’s Emergency Executive Orders issued on March 12 and 17, 2020, the Hamilton Unified 
School District Board of Education will continue to conduct Board of Education meetings by video conference until further 
notice. Please join the meeting by attending the livestream via Facebook Live on the District’s Facebook page or through 
the below Zoom link or dial by phone as listed below: 
 

Join Zoom Meeting 
https://us02web.zoom.us/j/83491737547?pwd=bisrUVlQM2g5bm5hdE9zTkVmVXk0Zz09 
 
Meeting ID: 834 9173 7547 
Passcode: board 
 
Dial in: 
        +1 669 900 6833 
Meeting ID: 834 9173 7547 
Passcode: 147712 

 

1.0 OPENING BUSINESS: 
a. Call to order and roll call at 5:30 p.m. 

 

√_ Hubert “Wendell” Lower, President  √_ Rod Boone, Clerk   √_ Gabriel Leal 

√_ Genaro Reyes    √_ Ray Odom 

 
 

2.0 IDENTIFY CLOSED SESSION ITEMS: 
 

3.0 PUBLIC COMMENT ON CLOSED SESSION ITEMS: Public comment will be heard on any closed session items. The board 
may limit comments to no more than three minutes per speaker and 15 minutes per item. – No comments 

 
4.0 ADJOURN TO CLOSED SESSION: To consider qualified matters. 

a. Government Code Section 54957 (b), Personnel Issue. To consider the employment, evaluation, reassignment, 
resignation, dismissal, or discipline of a classified and certificated employees. 

b. Government Code Section 54957.6, Labor Negotiations. To confer with the District’s Labor Negotiator, 
Superintendent Jeremy Powell regarding HTA and CSEA negotiations. 

c. Government Code Section 54956.9, Subdivision (a), Existing litigation. Name of case: Crews v. Hamilton Unified 
School District, Glenn County Superior Court, Case No. 15CV01394. 

d. Conference with Real Property Negotiators. Property: Westermann property north of Hamilton High School, 
approximately located at 500 Sixth Street, Hamilton City, CA 95951 (APN: 032-230-015-000). Agency 
Negotiator: Jeremy Powell, Superintendent; Matt Juhl-Darlington, Attorney for District. Negotiating Parties: 
Westermann Family and Hamilton Unified School District. Under negotiation: Price and terms of payment. 
 
Report out action taken in closed session. -No items to report out 

 
 

5.0 PUBLIC SESSION/FLAG SALUTE:  Lead by Dr. Powell 
 

Page 207

https://www.google.com/url?q=https://us02web.zoom.us/j/83491737547?pwd%3DbisrUVlQM2g5bm5hdE9zTkVmVXk0Zz09&sa=D&source=calendar&ust=1614453919926000&usg=AOvVaw1sbWGx1N5bmeTshtatClID


6.0 ADOPT THE AGENDA: (M) 
Motion to adopt the agenda by Mr. Leal 2nd  by Mr. Boone.   Motion Carried 5-0 

Leal: AYE Lower: AYE 

Boone: AYE Reyes: AYE 

Odom: AYE  

 
7.0   PUBLIC COMMENT: Public comment on any item of interest to the public that is within the Board’s jurisdiction will be 

heard (agenda and non-agenda items). The Board may limit comments to no more than three minutes per speaker and 
15 minutes per topic. Public comment will also be allowed on each specific action item prior to board action thereon. 
No public comments were made 

 
8.0   ACTION ITEMS: 

a. Second Interim Report (p. 3) 
i. Ms. Hamman reviewed the report. 

ii. Dr. Powell and Mr. Odom commented on the report. 
iii. Mr. Odom, Ms. Reyes and Ms. Ortiz asked questions. 

Motion to accept the 2nd Interim Report by Mr. Reyes 2nd  by Mr. Leal.   Motion Carried 5-0 
Leal: AYE Lower: AYE 

Boone: AYE Reyes: AYE 

Odom: AYE  

 
b. Approve Updated HHS and HUSD COVID-19 Participation Liability Waiver 
c. Approve HUSD COVID-19 Athletics Update and Althetics Specator Guidelines 

i. Dr. Powell asked the board to consider approving items b & c together 
ii. Mr. Oseguera reviewed the above items and answered questions 

iii. Mr. Odom and Mr. Leal asked questions 
iv. Erin Johnson answered questions and made comments 

Motion to approve items b & c by Mr. Leal 2nd  by Mr. Boone.   Motion Carried 5-0 
Leal: AYE Lower: AYE 

Boone: AYE Reyes: AYE 

Odom: AYE  

 
 

9.0   DISCUSSION ITEMS: 
a. Strategic Planning (p. 144) 
b. LCAP Planning (p. 146) 

i. Dr. Powell reviewed LCAP and Strategic Planning 
ii. Janice Lohse made comments 

 
10.0   ADJOURNMENT: 7:40 p.m. 

“It is better to know how to learn than to know” – Dr. Seuss  

X

 

X

 

Page 208



P
age 209



P
age 210



P
age 211



P
age 212



P
age 213



P
age 214



P
age 215



P
age 216



P
age 217



P
age 218



P
age 219



P
age 220



P
age 221



P
age 222



P
age 223



P
age 224



P
age 225



P
age 226



P
age 227



P
age 228



P
age 229



P
age 230



P
age 231


	13A2 Hamilton USD 2019 Measure F FINAL 3.16.2021 UNSECURED.pdf
	Measure F Citizens’ Bond Oversight Committee and
	Governing Board Members of the
	Independent Auditors’ Report
	Measure F Citizens’ Bond Oversight Committee and
	Governing Board Members of the
	Internal Control over Financial Reporting
	Compliance and Other Matters
	REPORT ON PERFORMANCE
	Measure F Citizens’ Bond Oversight Committee and
	Governing Board Members of the

	13A3 Hamilton USD 2020 Measure F FINAL 3.12.2021 UNSECURED.pdf
	Measure F Citizens’ Bond Oversight Committee and
	Governing Board Members of the
	Independent Auditors’ Report
	Measure F Citizens’ Bond Oversight Committee and
	Governing Board Members of the
	Internal Control over Financial Reporting
	Compliance and Other Matters
	REPORT ON PERFORMANCE
	Measure F Citizens’ Bond Oversight Committee and
	Governing Board Members of the




